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Author’s Preface

Treason in America: From Aaron Burr to Averell Harri-
man first circulated as a feature series in New Solidarity,
the newspaper of the Lyndon LaRouche political move-
ment, beginning Jan. 17, 1983. In March 1984, Chapters
1-13 of the Treason series were gathered together in the
317-page first edition of this book.

Chapters 14-19 appeared in New Solidarity from April
1984 through July 1985. The completed, 607-page second
edition, with footnotes, index, and bibiliography, was
released in December 1985.

A certain steady demand having continued for the book
while it has long been out of print, this second printing
of the second edition is now issued. No changes have
been made, except for the substitution of this preface
for those of the previous printings, and the updating of
the author’s biography.

The historical method employed in this book arose
from the author’s association with Lyndon H. LaRouche,
Jr., since 1966, in a political war against the power elite
of the London-New York financial axis. That conflict
reached a climactic intensity in the period the Treason

Xiii




Xiv PREFACE

series first appeared. LaRouche’s fight for a just eco-
nomic order and Third World industrialization, rallied

nationalist leaders everywhere, and led to Mexican Presi-

dent Jose Lopez Portillo’s 1982 call for a debt morato-
rium. LaRouche aides wrote akey part of U.S. President
Ronald Reagan’s March 23, 1983, national address an-
nouncing the Strategic Defense Initiative, the beam-
weapons defense program developed and fought for by
LaRouche over the preceding several years.

Such initiatives, designed to break Western policy out
of the paradigm imposed by British and Anglophile
“globalists,” brought responses of fearful fury from
LaRouche’s opponents. Over many years, an arena of
this global scope and at this level gave to the participants
a uniquely elevated vantage point from which to appreci-
ate the realities of political combat. For example, the
disguised use of sundry varieties of political radicals, or
of supposedly neutral press outlets, as fronts for assaults
by the oligarchy and its controlled police agencies, be-
came increasingly €asy to anticipate and unmask. Ulti-
mately, massive judicial and other force was used in the
unsuccessful attempt to shut this movement down.

Such a real-life academy affords the student of history
special advantages. Being an active participant in an in-
tense contest for some policy, allows one unusual facility
to detect lying concerning such a policy in the popular
press, in particular when events are described as acciden-
tal and not the outcome of a bitter fight between two
sides. It was quite natural to apply such observations to
original study of the struggles of one’s predecessors in
the republican tradition, from Plato through the Renais-
sance into the American Revolution and the modern

world, once this tradition had been identified and revived
by Lyndon LaRouche.
Treason in America was preceded by Nancy Span-
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’ “Uncovering the Treason School of
?\?;11 Sr?cell?l’]I?IiZ::g,’” ilri her ThegPolitical Egonomy of the
Amgrz'can Revolution, rebutting the Anglophllf zillnd Al\I/Ina;rr)i
ist historians’ burial of the universal values 'Obt e Amer’
can Founding Fathers; and by W. Allen Salis .1114ry s1 g
book, The Civil War and the Amerzc:an .System.. meric #
Battle with Britain, 1860-1876, W.lth its redlscovgry
Abraham Lincoln’s economic a.dv1se.:r Henry C. tareZ%
restoring the Lincoln-Carey nationalism to the gen er :
U.S. history, as was understood by all educated men o
th%rhzr;:reason in America story was conceived as a klngi
of family biography of the Anglopbile u.s. Ea}stern Ets.tat -
lishment, seen in their conflict with republican pa r’ll?hs
from the American Revolution ipto t.he pr.esent era. The
bad repute of “conspiracy theories” in polite society Walj
no deterrence to such a study, nor was Karl I\/.Iarx. S atta}ct'
on the pro-American System economlst. Friedrich List:
“Since his own work conceals a sec.ret aim, he suspects
secret aims everywhere. . .. Herr List, 1n.stead f)f S-tl"ldy-
ing real history, looks for the secret, l?ad aims of individu-
als, and, owing to his cunning, he is very yvell able t9
discover them . . . making [his enemy] an object qf suspi-
cion. ... Herr List casts aspersions on the Enghsl’l, and
French economists and retails gossip about them.
Using mainly primary sources, so as.to go beyond
mere gossip, an attempt has been m.ade in t}_us work to
reconstruct the pivotal political wars in US history frqm
the 1780s to the mid-20th century. This is a confidential
exposition of the employment record, S0 to speak—not
only the “secret, bad aims”—of Benedict Arnold, Aaron
Burr, Albert Gallatin, the blue-blood dope pushers., the
Free Traders, the secessionists, the backers of Hitler,
and the Anglo-American forerunners .of the r_ecent de-
cades’ New Agers. It is believed that this work is the first
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serious chronicle of the anti-nationalist side of American
history yet written. :

But, a complete picture requires the other side of the
story, a thorough-going account of the republican nation-
alists. H. Graham Lowry’s 1987 How the Nation Was Won:
America’s Untold Story, Volume I, 1630-1754, and several
articles since 1988 by the present author, have docu-
mented the tradition of Benjamin Franklin, George
Washington, Alexander Hamilton, John Quincy Adams,
Henry Clay, Lincoln, Carey and their allies, who created
modern times and spread civilization despite the British
Empire-centered enemy.

After this later work was done, it became apparent that
a particular section of Treason in America was in error,
namely, the treatment of the early years of the Smithson-
ian Institution. That part of Chapter 16, “Anthropologists
Against Indians,” contains a fallacy of composition, in
the omission of the truth about scientist Joseph Henry,
the first leader of the Smithsonian. A later study of Hen-
ry’s career revealed him to be a close collaborator of
Alexander Dallas Bache and his circle of patriotic nation-
alists of the Franklin-to-Carey tradition. The account in
Treason in America usefully describes the contrary tradi-
tion at the Smithsonian, the cultists, psychical research-
ers, and enemies of Western states’ development; but it
wrongly (if vaguely) implicates Joseph Henry with those
who were in reality his opponents. The account of the
Swiss educational reformer Johann Pestalozzi, in the
same chapter, suffers a similar failure in historical
method.

These errors have been left uncorrected in the current
edition. Also, later research work, on such Treason in
America figures as Albert Pike, and on Harriman’s part-
ners, the family of George Herbert Walker Bush, has
not been included. It is believed that the present volume

stands on its own
identity of the ol
America, against

PREFACE xvii

merits as an original inquiry into tl}e
igarchs who came to wield.power in
America’s revolutionary heritage.

October 1998
Leesburg, Virginia




o INTRODUCTION
Up McGeorge Bundy’s Family Tree

by Lyndon H. LaRouche, Jr.

According to the celebrated Harvard economist, John Kenneth
Galbraith, McGeorge Bundy was secretly elected “the head of
the [U.S.] Establishment,” back in 1965. Bundy had richly earned
the appointment; as head of the National Security Council under
Presidents Kennedy and Johnson, he had done about as much
to destroy the United States as any man in that post conceivably
could, and was therefore candidate for a much higher position
of power and responsibility, as head of the powerful Ford Foun-
dation.

Since spring 1968, Bundy has never liked this writer very
much. By his lights, he has had reasons for this growing emnity.
A handful of the writer’s associates made a fair mess of an
insurrectionary project Bundy had afoot at that time, and later
did damage to Bundy’s funding of an effort to detonate anti-
Semitic race-riots in New York City. Since then, the two of us
hfave come afoul of one another more or less constantly, a
carcumstance efficiently calculated to foster mutual dislike. Ad-
mittedly, since Henry A. Kissinger unleashed the first of his
nternational covert operations against me during 1975, it is
Kissinger’s personal vendetta against me and my friends—in-
cluding a few who have died after a Kissinger threat was deliv-
ered—which has been off and on in the headlines around the
world. In this matter, and other notable affairs, Bundy is vastly
more important in rank and capacity for sheer meanness than
the unhappy Mr. Kissinger.
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The roots of the differences between Bundy and myself go

back deep into the nineteenth century. By family background
and present political profession, I am a “Henry Clay Whig,”
whereas Bundy’s roots and convictions are those of the Lowells
of Ne\n{ England. We patriots of the early nineteenth century
never liked the Lowells, the Russells, the Cushings, the Per-
kinses, the Higginsons, or their friend and accomplice, Aaron
Burr. We had reasons: those “New England Federalists” of
Hartford Convention notoriety made their fortunes in the slave
trade, the China opium-trade, and, above all else, outright,
damnabk? treason. The New England “blue bloods” returned
thg sentm;epts, when they weren’t distracted by such enter-
prises as hiring fellows around Harvard University or elsewhere,
to cook up a cheerfully falsified, official version of their families’
h;story. Looking at Mr. Bundy today, we are tempted to the
view that perhaps certain family political traits are a matter of
breeding.
- Alas! Anton Chaitkin’s survey of what the New England fam-
ilies could not manage to have covered over by the industrious
gentlemen of Harvard, Princeton, and Yale, is not going to
increase Mr. Bundy’s affection for me and my friends. So be it:
the very thought of being within the orbit of Mr. Bundy'’s af-
fections would cause me to shudder no end.

These fellows of Harvard, Princeton, and Yale—and a touch
of Groton tossed in here and there—consider themselves “the
best families”; it is said bythe press, which they largely own,
that these self-styled American Patricians are “eminently re-
spectable.” Why should they not be “respectable”? How many
Ck}inese died to make them respectable? How many women and
chﬂQren died of virtual slavery in the Lowells’ New England
te)fnle monopoly, and how many black slaves on southern plan-
tations to produce the cheap cotton by whose profits the Lowells
greatly enlarged their “respectability”’? How many fisherman of
Newburyport and Gloucester died in eternal pursuit of the had-
dock and cod, all to give the same Lowells the more “respect-
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ability”? How many Americans gave us their lives in the war of
1861-1865 because of the New England crowd’s plotting with
the Carolina slaveholders to split the United States into several,
balkanized provinces—in a failed effort to make such folk as the
Lowells even far more “respectable” than they are today? Can
we be so inconsiderate to those countless dead as to deny that
their blood made the fine gentlemen-families of Harvard, Prince-
ton, and Yale, so very, very “respectable”?

Shall we permit the loutish traditions of Dr. Benjamin Franklin
and George Washington, our quaint, un-British conceit, the nat-
ural political equality of persons, to blind us to the plain and
simple historical fact, that these celebrated “families” are not
only passing “respectable,” but full well “bloody respectable”?
By all the saints of Holy Hesiod, and by all the fine traditions
of the Theban Phalanx and Sparta’s Lycurgus, we must not blind
ourselves to the simple fact—which one can read, plainly enough,
and often enough, in the unimpeachable pages of The New York
Times: these “families” are “damned respectable”!

Even the helots of our nation admire the Spartan respectability
of fellows such as McGeorge Bundy. We may take this from
none less than the voice of labor itself, AFL-CIO President Lane
Kirkland. Do not permit yourselves to be distracted by the
respectable Mr. Kirkland’s membership in Henry A. Kissinger’s
Trilateral Commission, or Mr. Kirkland’s creative financial ven-
tures in Caribbean real-estate speculation. He is, after all, the
certified voice of labor, and a great, true Democrat. Were he
not, would he have been sponsored by so faithful a servant of
democracy as that stalwart Fabian, former General Secretary
of the Communist Party, and one-time professed servant of
Joseph Stalin’s OGPU, Jay Lovestone?

Do not seek to persuade Mr. Kirkland otherwise, by showing
him that these families played both sides in the War of 1812 or
the devastating war of 1861-1865. You will not fool Mr. Kirkland
on this point. He knows that it was only brutal “aggression”
which prompted the United States to suppress the institution
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of black chattel-slavery, and has said so more than once. Mr.
Kirkland’s knowledge in the matter is unshakeable; it was his
ancestor, after all, who directed the firing on Fort Sumter.

Do not raise your voice to allege that it is these gentlemen
of Harvard, Princeton, and Yale, who have ruined our nation’s
economy and defense during most of the recent 20 years. You
must admire the fact that they have done so successfully, as
respectable people should. As for this fellow, LaRouche; he is
merely a disgruntled Whig, who keeps dragging out unpleasant
facts which almost no one—“Believe me: none of my friends”’—
wishes to hear.

Despite all that, there are a few disgruntled people, here and
there, in the United States, and some other parts of the world,
who wish to know how these damnably respectable gentlemen-
families of Harvard, Princeton, and Yale, came to walk in the
imperial footsteps of the celebrated Second Earl of Shelburne,
and the ways of the great Tiberius before him. Since the families
in question have not yet successfully destroyed the entirety of
the records of their ancestors’ doings, the time has come to
present these surviving facts to the disgruntled—before such
evidence vanishes in some eminently respectable fire.
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Benedict Arnold
Re-Examined

On August 24, 1814, invading British armies entered Washing-
ton, D.C. and burned the Capitol, the White House, and the
other government buildings, in a classic demonstration of the
“arrogance of power.”

But for the astonishing valor and intelligence of America’s
tiny navy during the Second War of Independence (1812-1815),
the United States would likely have ceased to exist.

The country was defenseless; its financial, industrial, and
military power had been systematically stripped away since 1801.
Just as today, with demolished auto, steel, rail, port, and housing
industries, the nation is vulnerable to our military and economic
rivals, and financially terrorized by the Swiss and British through
Paul Volcker’s Federal Reserve; so, then, the country had been
deliberately steered away from the nation-building, strong-gov-
ernment policies of Washington and Hamilton, and made weak—
the object of contempt and ridicule by the enemies of freedom,
who applauded U.S. “budget cuts.” ‘

It is time to put to rest the notion that “fiscal austerity” or
“cutbacks to pay debt” are somehow American answers to grow-
ing deficits. These policies were smuggled into the United States
by our foreign enemies and were imposed on the country in a
coordinated attempt to end the American republic. That this is
literally true and a precise description of events in the first
quarter century of our national independence, will be shown
here.
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Alexander Hamilton's founding policies for the United States—
a national bank providing cheap credit for productive enterprise;
national sponsorship for the building of roads, canals, harbors
and later railroads; and government protection of developing
industries from British trade war (“competition”)—continued
the tradition of Jean Baptiste Colbert (1619-1683), French fi-
nance minister under Louis XIV. The Congress enacted these
policies, and America assumed its place among the powers of
the earth.

But the founders were displaced from power, Hamilton was
killed and his policies reversed by a British-Swiss secret intel-
ligence organization, among whose principal American agents
were Vice-President Aaron Burr (1756-1836) and Treasury Sec-
retary Albert Gallatin (1761-1849).

Facing bankruptcy as a result of the losing, worldwide conflict
with America, and threatened with global emulation of the Amer-
ican republican experiment, the British Empire responded by
organizing a campaign to subvert enemy governments. The
U.S.A. must be reconquered, the oligarchs vowed. France must
be destroyed, and Spanish America must be captured before
being lost to independent republicanism.

The campaign was directed by William Petty, Earl of Shel-
burne, whose new British Secret Intelligence Service repre-
sented an alliance of “noble” families of Switzerland, Scotland
and England. The eyes and the arms of this apparatus were
provided by the British East India Company. Company Chairman
George Baring’s family, along with the Hopes, were the Anglo-
Dutch financial power. Shelburne and Baring used the Company
to employ a legion of “theorists,” including Adam Smith, Jeremy
Bentham, and Thomas Malthus. They controlled an elite army
of spies and assassins, based primarily in Geneva. We will pres-
ent here the simple, direct evidence that Burr and Gallatin were
not Americans, but British agents based in this Genevan as-
sassin-nobility.

BENEDICT ARNOLD RE-EXAMINED 5

Aaron Burr and Benedict Arnold

Aaron Burr killed Alexander Hamilton. Later, he was tried for
treason after leading a mercenary army against the United States.
He was acquitted in that trial because the existing evidence was
not presented to the jury. Burr fled the country under state
indictments for murder and treason, only to return, have all
charges quietly dropped, and become a rich New York lawyer.

All Burr biographies speculate on the “psychological drives”
which may have motivated his “adventures.” No book in exis-
tence today raises even a question that Burr may have been a
Spy.

As for Gallatin, who migrated to America and spent a lifetime
trying to destroy the country, no biography even hints of base
motives. :

On July 11, 1982, the anniversary of Hamilton’s shooting, The
New York Times carried a major “reassessment” of Burr’s guilt:

The indictment of Aaron Burr for treason 175 years ago
proved to be the final blow to the former Vice President’s
reputation and political career, even though he was found
not guilty of the charge. Now, a scholar contends that a
coded letter implicating Burr and long believed to have been
written by him was in fact written by an associate.

That letter . . . supposedly showed that Burr was plan-
ning to seize Kentucky, Tennessee, and Mexico for his
own undefined political purposes. And it was that letter
that persuaded President Thomas Jefferson to issue a war-
rant for Burr’s arrest.

Citing handwriting analysis, the scholar . . . contends
that the letter was written by Jonathan Dayton. . . .

“Burr was probably guilty of something, but no one’s
absolutely sure of what. . . . [Burr was] close to a nervous
breakdown.”

Why does The New York Times attempt to resurrect Aaron
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Burr, and in effect, celebrate the anniversary of Burr’s murder
of Hamilton?

To answer this question is to unlock crucial secrets of Amer-
ican history—“secrets” which have remained so only because
of the self-imposed blindness of historians for more than a cen-
tury. And it will reveal the deeper significance of the Times’s
backing for the austerity policies of today’s “Albert Gallatins”—
Federal Reserve Chairman Paul Volcker and the Swiss-based
international monetary powers.

Aaron Burr’s maternal grandparents were the famous anti-
rationalist theologian, Jonathan Edwards, and Sarah Pierrepont,
whose family intermarried with the (J. P.) Morgans, later the
owners of The New York Times. Taking an extreme form of the
anti-free will doctrine of Geneva’s John Calvin as his starting
point, Edwards was at the same time an apostle of the British
determinist philosophers Hobbes, Locke, and Hume. The result
was a particularly savage notion of Man forced to submit blindly
to the capricious will of an incomprehensible God. A counterpole
to the ideas of progress expressed by the Pilgrim Fathers,
Edwards was applauded as America’s greatest original mind by
the royalist reactionaries of Europe.

Burr’s father, Aaron Burr, Sr., visited Edwards as a disciple
and married his daughter, Esther. The family scene was one of
chaotic terror: two of Esther’s sisters (Burr’s aunts) were in-
stitutionalized for insanity and one murdered her own daughter;
an uncle of Edwards slashed his own throat at the height of an
Edwards revival frenzy.?

Aaron Burr, Jr., was born in Newark, New Jersey, in 1756.
His parents both died in his infancy, and the orphan boy was
taken to live with family friends who were prominent merchants,
the Shippens of Philadelphia. His step-sister in this household,
Margaret “Peggy” Shippen, became the wife and instigator of

the world’s most famous traitor, Benedict Arnold.

1. Alexander, Holmes: Aaron Burr, The Proud Pretender, Harper and Broth-
ers, New York, 1937, p. 7.

r——-mﬂmmfﬁ. e e e
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Later, while living with his uncle, Burr was tutored by Tapping

~ Reeve in marksmanship and the arts of diplomacy—thetoric and

dissimulation. He attended Princeton University, then called the
College of New Jersey, from 1769 to 1772. His father had bgen
the second president of the college, his grandfather the thlrd.

As the political conflict with the British grew, the sympathxe,s
of the students were largely with the American cause; Burr.s
classmate James Madison and others joined the patriot Whig
Society. But Burr marked himself for the attention Qf nervous
British authorities. He organized the Cliosophic Society in op-
position to the Whigs. Reciting cynical British poetry, Burr and
his student followers spent their nights in bars and brothels,
their days scoffing at the more politically inclir.led.2 . .

Among those who must have taken a pa.r‘tlculaf.mterest in
the young nihilist was the highest-ranking British military officer
in New Jersey, James Mark Prevost. James Prevost and two
brothers? had left Geneva, Switzerland, in the 1750s to enter
the British service; they had been army officers in the F rfsnch
and Indian War. The Prevost family in Geneva were hereditary
members of the ruling Council of 200. Abraham Prevost was
principal of the University of Geneva during the American Rey-
olution. In England and in Switzerland, the Prevosts were in-
termarried with the Mallets; the Mallet-Prevosts, who hv‘ed as
a single extended family, will form the most import'ant link in
this story of assassins sent against America. And it was the
Prevost family, as we shall see, who finally gave the orphan
Aaron Burr a home and identity.

. Aaron, and Davis, Matthew L., Memoirs of Aaron Burr, with Mis-

? Icz.elll;’;;zeous Selections from his Correspondence, Matthew L. Davis ed., .Har—

per and Brothers, New York, 1836, Vol. I, p. 20. See also Lomask, Milton,

Aaron Burr, 1756-1805, Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York, 1979, pp.
68-69. »

i d official histories of the Prevost and Mallet families

> ;I‘rl;e ggi\?:ﬁaliggll\f/:lzsiﬂg-Prevost, Severo, Historical Notes angi Biographical

Sketches Regarding the American Branch of the Mallet F amily, '1 79{1—1 930,

New York, 1930; and Choisy, Albert, Notice genealogique et historique sur .

la famille Mallet de Geneve, Geneva, 1930.



8 TREASON IN AMERICA

Following his Princeton career, Burr re-immersed himself in
grandfather Jonathan Edwards’s “New Light” visions by en-
rolling in a theological school taught by another Edwards disciple
in Connecticut. At the end of nine months of this religious train-
ing, Burr stole a horse and rode to Litchfield, to be tutored
again by his shooting teacher Tapping Reeve.*

Reeve taught Burr the basics of British law, and with Burr
as his first student, Reeve went on to establish the first law
school in America. Tapping Reeve, now married to Burr’s sister
Sally, trained two generations of positivists and aspiring oligarchs
from the Southern plantations and the New England shipping
and slave-trading families. ,

Sally Burr Reeve was one of the countless women who served
Aaron Burr as efficient instruments—like a glove through which
Burr could reach out and handle his agents and dupes.

Aaron Burr Joins the Army

The tradition of two centuries of history says that Aaron Burr
was a daring American soldier, a hero of the Revolution. No
biographer contradicts this estimation. Let the reader decide
the value of the tradition.

While at the Litchfield Law School, Burr struck up an intense
friendship with Dolly Quincy, then the fiancée of Continental
Congress leader John Hancock. Miss Quincy was passing the
summer at the home of one of Burr’s cousins, who was Han-
cock’s friend. When war broke out at Lexington and Concord,
Aaron Burr went to Philadelphia carrying Dolly’s recommen-
dation, and secured from John Hancock, by then her husband,
a letter of introduction to the commander of the new Continental
Army, George Washington.

Burr went back to Boston in the summer of 1775, suddenly
“ablaze with patriotism,” as one biographer puts it.5 The Amer-
ican army was camped outside the enemy-occupied city. Burr

4. Alexander, Pretender, p. 21.
5. Lomask, Burr 1756-1805, p. 34.
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presented Hancock’s letter to General Washington, who took
one look at the applicant and denied Burr’s request for a com-
mliisli(t)%urr did not leave. While Washington fought desperately
to whip his undisciplined ranks into a combat force, Burr wan-
dered on and off the post, flashing his Hancock letter.®

After two months of this, Burr found a way arpund Wash-
ington’s watchful eye. An expedition of 1,200 sol@1ers had set
out on the march to Quebec, under the leadership of Colonel
Benedict Arnold. Burr walked 60 miles north of camp to meet
the expedition. He had no commission—he was a “gentleman
volunteer.” He said he would pay his own way, and he was
accepted by Arnold. .

The first of Burr’s revolutionary exploits entered the history
books on the basis of Burr’s testimony alone. Colonel Arnold
wanted to link up with General Richard Montgomery’s forces
over a hundred miles away, moving toward Quebec after con-
quering Montreal. Armold sent Burr as a messenger, and Bm’s
account of what happened is reported without comment by biog-
rapher Holmes Alexander: “In order to traverse thfe strange,
hostile [i.e. British-controlled] territory, Aaron devised an n-
genious plan. He disguised himself as a priest, affected a college
patois of French and Latin and guilelessly presented himself at
a nearby monastery. Here, prevailing upon the holy father for
assistance, he obtained a guide, who brought him swiftly to
Montgomery’s camp.”” _

Is this a true story? Before rejecting it as absurd, consider
its possible partial truth from the fact that the Catholic Church
in Canada, largely Jesuit-controlled, had reached an agreemgnt
with the British authorities to cooperate with British rule, while
being allowed to maintain their religion a}nd French language. In
any case, somehow Burr was escorted in the manner and com- |
fort of a royal guest through enemy territory and arrived at the

6. Vail, Philip, The Great American Rascal, Hawthorn Books, New York,

1973, pp. 11-12.
7. Alexander, Pretender, p. 44.
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camp of General Montgomery, who was so dazzled with Burr's
apparent ingenuity that he made him a captain and an aide de
camp.

Montgomery now joined Arnold’s forces to prepare the final
assault on Quebec, and Burr got the assignment he had sought—
to be a spy and scout behind enemy lines.®

In the closing pages of the first full-fledged Burr biography,
Englishman James Parton harks back to a scene in preparation
for the attack:

During the expedition to Canada, while the American
forces lay near the heights of Quebec, Burr. . . went down
to a small brook to drink. Having no cup, he was proceeding
to use the top of his cap as a drinking vessel, when a British
officer who had come to the other side of the brook for the
same purpose saluted him politely, and offered him the use
of ‘his hunting cup. Burr accepted the offer, and the two
enemies entered into conversation. The officer, pleased
with the frank and gallant bearing of the youth . . . con-
cluded the interview by [giving Burr] part of a horse’s
tongue. They inquired each other’s name. “When next we
meet,” said the Briton, “it will be as enemies, but if we
should ever come together after the war is over, let us
know each other better.” Stepping upon some stones in
the middle of the brook, they shook hands, and parted. In
the subsequent operations of the war, each saw the other
occasionally, but before the peace the British officer went
home badly wounded. Thirty-six years after, when Colonel
Burr was an exile in Scotland, he met that officer again. . . .°

When the Montgomery-Armold forces finally launched what
was supposed to be a surprise attack on the fortress of Quebec,

8. ibid., pp. 45-46. Parton, James, The Life and Times of Aaron Burr, Hough-
ton, Osgood and Company, Boston, 1880, Vol I, p. 73.
9. Parton, Life and Times, Vol. 11, pp. 317-318.
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the British had somehow learned of the plan, the timing, and
the place of attack.’® The Americans were slaughtered. Car_lada
was lost, to remain a British base of subversive operations
against the U.S.A.

But in the crushing defeat, Burr emerged a hero! One_ of
Burr's followers from Princeton had also joined the expefiitlon
as chaplain, and his story was circulated by the rumor mills to
Congress: General Montgomery was shot dead inside the fort,
and all others who had gone inside lay dead or dying except
Burr. He walked over and picked up the body of the gener?ll,
and the British stopped firing as he walked out of the fort with
it, in honor of such a noble and courageous act!

Arnold refused to give up the attempt on Quebec; he stayed
through the winter and gathered more forces from the lower
colonies. But in May 1776, Aaron Burr simply deserted' and
went to New York. One of his cousins had obtained fpr him an
appointment to Washington’s staff. Burr left behind him a new-

" found friend and correspondent in the Arnold camp: General

James Wilkinson, whose career as an enemy agent later inter-
twined with Burr’s at many crucial points. .
Burr arrived at Washington’s New York headquarters with a
hero’s reputation, and took up his duties as secretary tg the
commander-in-chief, assigned to copy the most crucial rnlht':ary
secrets. Within a few days, Washington fired Burr. As biog-
rapher Milton Lomask puts it: “Some sprightly tales have been
written of Burr’s service . . . how he examined documt;nts
meant only for the general’s eyes . . . there is reason to behe_ve
that something happened between Washington and Burr during
the latter’s short stay at Richmond Hill headquarters—some-
thing that, were we to know its nature, might explam Wash-
ington’s frequently ungracious treatment of Burr in the years
to come. Clearly something in the manner of the younger man

10. Vail, Rascal, p. 22.
11. Parton, Life and Times, Vol. 1, p. 78.
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annoy.ed. the older one. Perhaps it was Burr’s innate air of
superiority, derived from his family background. . . ,”12

Upon Burr’s complaint, John Hancock got him transferred to
the command of General Putnam. Burr bulled his way to a
{Jromftl(;n by‘disot;gying orders and making bold sallies in con-

empt of senior officers, with i
inconsequential, results. SomETnes prety, but always

In the winter of 1777, Washington’s troops were holed up in
Valley Forge, Pennslyvania, ragged, cold, and weary. Colonel
Aaron Burr, with a retinue of spies and scouts, was hanging
around t:_he fringes of British-occupied New York. Burr wrote
to Washmgton asking him to send his 2,000 best troops for Burr
to lead in a final assault on New York City.

Waslupgton responded by ordering that Burr’s troops be
.merget.:l into his command in Pennsylvania. But Burr and his
immediate circle were never cold, hungry, or ill-clothed at Valley
Fo.r_ge. They were supplied with the best of everything by the
British. Burr and his men would often reappear in camp, plump
and drfassed in the finest; on occasion Burr would qL;iet the
mumblings by distributing a small part of these goods to the
camp. Burr explained that his spies kept him informed of where
the Bptlsh supply caravans would be passing through; his stocks
he said, came from raiding these British wagons. 3 ’

A few miles south, the British army occupied Philadelphia
Among th(? most prominent Tories, who came out to gala partieé
of .the British officers, was Aaron Burr's step-sister, Peggy
Shlppen. At one famous dance, the “Mischianza,” she a,ppeared
Elﬁszeﬁ?end, Major John André, adjutant general of the

Major André, born in London, was the son of a Geneva
Switzerland, merchant-banker. John was sent from London t<;
Geneva to receive his training in military and related arts at the

12. Lo_rnask, Burr 1756-1805, p. 74.
13. Vail, Rascal, p. 36.
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University of Geneva during the late 1760s.* Now, in Phila-
delphia, Major André and Miss Shippen were preparing what
would be American history’s most famous treason.

At the same time, Burr, now an American colonel, began
making visits to the New Jersey home of British Captain James
Mark Prevost, who was in the South fighting the Americans.
James’s brother Augustine was by then the Commander of Brit-
ish forces in the South, and he and James became governor and
lieutenant governor of Georgia after it was reconquered by the
British. Burr was visiting Mrs. Prevost, whom he was later to
marry, who introduced him to the works and the world of Jeremy
Bentham and Voltaire. ,

These were no mere literary favorites of Theodosia Prevost.
Bentham was then living on the estate of British intelligence
overlord Shelburne, sharing in the work of controlling agents
around the world; and Voltaire was an acquaintance of Mrs.
Prevost’s brother-in-law General Augustine Prevost, from as
early as 1767.

Jacques Mallet du Pan, the founder of the British branch of
the Mallet family, began his association with Voltaire in 1770,
frequently vistting his residence outside Geneva until Voltaire’s
death in 1778. In 1772, on Voltaire’s recommendation, Mallet
du Pan became a professor of history in the German province
ruled by the Landgrave of Hesse, who within a few years was
to sell his people to King George to be mercenaries against

America.
Mallet du Pan’s services to British intelligence will be noted

later.

In April 1778, Burr requested a transfer to the staff of General
Horatio Gates. The “Conway Cabal” of anti-Washington political
and military men had made Gates their intended replacement
for commander-in-chief. While they circulated slanders against
Washington, Gates refused the commander’s orders to move

14. Sargent, Winthrop, The Life and Career of Major John André, W. Abbatt,
New York, 1969, p. 8.
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south with his troops to Washington’s assistance. General Gates’s
chief aide and Seécretary was General James Wilkinson, Burr’s
confidante from the Canada expedition.

Doubly confirmed in his suspicions, Washington squelched
Burr’s request to join Gates, 1

In the spring of 1779, Benedict Arnold and Peggy Shippen
were married, and the first letters negotiating Arnold’s treason,
conduited through his wife, went between Arnold and Major
André. s
Meanwhile Aaron Burr, closely watched by George Wash-
gton, finally got himself transferred out of the area by con-
tracting “nervous fatigue.” Burr’s contacts arranged that he be
assigned to supervise the activities of espionage agents, whom
Burr regularly sent to New York to “study British shipping” in
the enemy capital.

In September 177, 8, Burr transferred to West Point, the cru-
cial fortress on the Hudson which blocked the British Navy’s
passage north from New York City and guarded the American
connections between New England and the southern colonies.
Burr had two to four months there to study the fort’s layout
and its defenders.

In January 17 79, Burr transferred to White Plains, just north
of the city. From this base he rode every night down to the

15. For Burr’s hearty affiliation with the Conway Cabal, see Burr, Memoirs,
Vol. I, p. 23; the memoirs are edited and come with commentary by
Matthew Davis, Burr's aide and executor, who writes forthrightly ahout
Burr’s attitude.

16. See Van Doren, Carl Clinton, Secret History of the American Revolution. . .
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British lines.'” The official story was th:lt het used the knowledge
i ids against enemy outposts.
gal%fig %)eifcrllicrfl l(iinogld plot came to its clirpax in Sept.ember
1780. Peggy Shippen Arnold left Philadelphla. to be with hef
husband for the planned surrende.r pf West Point, whosi comd
mand Arnold had succeeded in obtammg.. On her way she s %)hpen
in Paramus, New Jersey, to confer w1.th Mr.s. Prevosht. Hett
the conspiracy collapsed, André and his assistant Jos 1I]Jia w?f
Smith were captured, Arnold fled to thc? Br}t1§h, and s wife
play-acted her way past Alexandgr Hamﬂton s mterrogagon. ‘
On her first day out of West Point, Mrs. Arpold s.topped ﬁz;;gaaﬁn
at the Prevost mansion. Matthew I?av1§, longtime .a¥de ar} . }Sr
executor for Aaron Burr, wrote in his 1836 edition of Burr

Memotrs:

Mrs. Prevost was known as the wife of a British officer,

and connected with the royalists. In her, therefore, Mrs.
uld confide.

Arz(;ldsg(())n as they were left alone, Mrs. Arnold be;:lame
tranquilized, and assured Mrs. Prevo.st' @at she was hear-
tily sick of the theatrics she was exhlbltmg.. Britin

She stated that she had correspondeq with the ritis
commander—that she was disgusted with the‘Amepcan
cause and those who had the management of pub]lc affairs—
and that, through great persuasion and unceasing perser-
verance, she had ultimately brought the gener.al. 1}r11t1(; an
arrangement to surrender West Point to the British.

Aaron Burr and the Escape of the Traitors
On this visit, Theodosia’s boyfriend, Aaron Burr, was also pres-

ent’:I.‘he Shippen family complained in a bitter historical record—

never printed until 1900—that Aaron Burr, in this post-West

17. Vail, Rascal, p. 39.
18. Burr, Memoirs, Vol. 1, pp. 219-220.
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Point encounter, made sexual advances to Mrs. Arnold which

she repulsed. The Shippens conjectured what Burr’s “line” must

have been: that he would now care for her, that after all he had
promised her parents, his own step-parents, that he would look
after her in the future.

Benedict Arnold’s accomplice Joshua Hett Smith,? in whose
coat Major John André was captured, was arrested and held for
trial. He admitted that he had brought André from the British
ship Vulture for his meeting with Arnold, which took place in
his house; that he had hidden André in his house; and that he
had provided him with a disguise and conducted him toward New
York, the plans of West Point hidden in André’s clothes. In the
Words of George Washington, Smith was to be prosecuted “for
aiding and assisting Benedict Arnold, late a Major General in
our service, in a combination with the enemy, to take, kill, and
seize such of the loyal citizens or soldiers of these United States,
as were in garrison at West Point and its dependencies.”

Joshua Hett Smith was acquitted at the court martial on the
pretext that he was only obeying Benedict Arnold; but he was
held for a civilian trial on similar charges. While he was being
transported as prisoner to another court, the convoy stopped
at the home of his brother Thomas Smith. Aaron Burr was
the.re. Burr succeeded in delaying the party overnight, and tried
various stratagems to stall their progress longer, but they moved
on. Later however, while awaiting his civilian trial, Joshua Smith
escaped from custody, fled to New York and thence London,
where he lived in the comfort and grace of his nephew’s family,
the Mallets.

At the point of Joshua Smith’s escape, Aaron Burr, having

19. _Wa]ker, Lewis Burd, “Life of Margaret Shippen, Wife of Benedict Arnold,”
in Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography, Vol. XXIV, 1900
pages 408-409, and Vol. XXV, July, 1901, pp. 152-156. The material is
taken from the papers of the Shippen farily.

20. For Joshua Hett Smith see Koke, Richard J., Accomplice in Treason:
](_Jshua Hett Smith and the Arnold Conspiracy, New-York Historical So-
ciety, New York, 1973. i
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resigned from the army, was studying law in that very same
home of Thomas Smith, Esq., who is described by biographer
Milton Lomask as “a respected figure in the profession.”* George
Washington thought otherwise, however.

Washington noted that the discovery that Thomas Smith had
been seen behind enemy lines after Arnold’s treason “may .- . .
added to other circumstances of a suspicious nature, furnish the
legislature with good reasons for removing the Gentleman in
question from Haverstraw, which, from its vicinity to our posts,
affords him an opportunity of gaining and giving intelligence very
material to the enemy and injurious to us. Of his dispositions
to do this there is little doubt.”?

As for Benedict Amold, he came back into action leading
British troops who were burning American villages along the
James River. Somewhat earlier, further South and equally in-
famous, the commander and sub-commander of raiding and burn-
ing British forces had been General Augustine Prevost and
Colonel Mark Prevost, respectively the brother-in-law and the
husband of Aaron Burr’s sometime girlfriend.

Major André was hanged for his role in Amold’s treason;
historians today still mourn his “unfortunate” end, a spy’s death
being an indignity for someone of André’s breeding. But André’s
family did well. Merged into the de Neuflize family, and joining
the Mallets, they formed the de Neuflize, Schlumberger, Mallet
(NSM) Bank—now known to the world as the Schlumberger
financial and intelligence interests.

Aaron Burr married Mrs. Theodosia Prevost in July 1782,
after being informed that her husband had died while on tour
with the British army. He was now a husband, step-father,
cousin, and uncle of Mallet-Prevosts in many very important
places.

21. Lomask, Burr 1756-1805, p. 75.

22. George Washington to William Duer, Commissioner for Detecting Con-
spiracies in New York State; Writings of George Washington, ed. John C.
Fitzpatrick, Washington, D. C., 1931-1944, Vol. XX, p. 226, quoted in
Koke, Accomplice in Treason, p. 164.
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The British Surrender,
But the War Continues

At the close of the American War in 1783, while the British and
French were still fighting, East India Company operative Adam
Smith wrote an updated version of the Wealth of Nations. This
was to be the essential document of the new order of things in
London, for by then Smith’s friend Lord Shelburne had estab-
lished his power in the British government by a virtual coup.

In it Smith complained that “Mr. Colbert, the famous minister
of Lewis XIV . . . [endeavored to regulate] the industry and
commerce of a great country upon the same model as the de-
partments of a public office; and instead of allowing every man
to pursue his own interest in his own way . . . he bestowed
upon certain branches of industry extraordinary privileges, while
he laid others under as extraordinary restraints . . . [Colbert
preferred] the industry of the towns above that of the country.”
This unfair policy (by which France had become a greater man-
ufacturing power than England!), said Smith, was responsible
for provoking cycles of retaliation between France and England,
and peace between the two nations could only be secured on
the basis of “free trade” between them.

In France, Adam Smith’s theory of free trade was popularized
by Burr’s new cousin, Jacques Mallet du Pan, who called Smith
“the most profound and philosophic of all the metaphysical writ-

1. Smith, Adam, An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of
Nations, Oliphant, Waugh and Innes, Edinburgh, Scotland, Second Edition,
1817, Vol. 111, p. 2.
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ers who have dealt with economic questions.” Later du Pan’s
cousin Pierre Prevost, professor at the University of Geneva,
would translate the works of Adam Smith and Thomas Malthus.

Attacking Colbert’s policies in 1786, Mallet du Pan lobbied
strenuously with France’s King Louis XVI to accept British
Prime Minister William Pitt’s offer of a treaty that would force
France to give up all protective measures, and put the country
at the mercy of Britain’s “free trade” policies. At the same time
the international banking houses, led by the Swiss, suddenly
refused credit to the French government, and Louis XVI was
forced to sign Pitt’s Eden Treaty. No sooner had that been
accomplished, than the British launched a terrifying trade war,
dumping cheap British manufactures on the French market and
cutting off the supply to France of vital Spanish wool.

Within France, employment, agriculture, and trade quickly
collapsed and starvation followed. In 1789, credit was again
withdrawn from the French government. King Louis XVI was
forced to reinstall Genevan banker Jacques Necker as minister
of finance—after having fired him several times before—in order
to “regain the confidence” of the banking community.

Necker proposed austerity as the only solution to the crisis.
He told the people of France that their troubles stemmed from
“wasteful spending” by the King and Queen.

Necker was again dismissed by the insulted King, but now
mobs surged through the streets crying that Necker was the
only hope for the French people. As they stormed the Bastille
prison, the French Revolution began. _

Aaron Burr’s kinsman, Mallet du Pan, satisfied that anarchy
was burying French greatness, returned to Geneva and then
settled in London—where he set up a European-wide spy net-
work for the British. Spymaster du Pan received first-hand
accounts of French government secret deliberations from his
agents within France.?

2. Acomb, Frances, Mallet Du Pan, A Career in Political Journalism, Duke
University Press, Durham, N. C. 1973, pp. 257-59: “Berne . . . was an
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Enter Albert Gallatin

Albert Gallatin, who was to serve the British with Burr on
American soll in the decades that followed the Revolutionary
victory, came from one of the leading oligarchical families of
Geneva. Relations of blood, and of bloody deeds, united them
with Gallatins, Galitzins, Galitis, and Gallatinis in Russia, South
Germany, Holland, Italy and Savoy, where the family originated.
They had served the feudal nobility of Europe for centuries as
financiers and soldiers of fortune.®

ideal location for the center of the intelligence network that Mallet Du Pan
created. . . .”

The British Representative at Brussels, Lord “Elgin was impressed,
decided to employ Mallet’s services upon a regular basis, and in the first
six months of 1794 received [a] series of intelligence reports . . .[on] the
dictatorship of the Committee of Public Safety and the means by which it
governed France and managed to wage the war. . . .

“The correspondence with Elgin was succeeded by a similar corre-
spondence with Don Rodrigo de Souza-Coutinho, the Portuguese diplomatic
representative at Turin . . . from the beginning of 1795 through 1797. This
Lishon correspondence was set up on British initiative as a way of main-
taining communication with Mallet at Berne: Lisbon was a ‘letter box’ . . .
the best known correspondence of this type by Mallet Du Pan is that with
the Court of Vienna, from the end of 1794 until the close of February,
1798. There was also a much less extensive correspondence with Berlin,
through Hardenburg, between 1795 and 1799. . . .

“Mallet’s sources of information . . . [included] emigres of various de-
scriptions, he also had his regular correspondents within the country [France]
.. . One of these . . . was Peuchet . . . under the Directory he went to

the Ministry of Police where he was in charge of the bureau dealing with
litigation concerning emigres, priests and conspirators. . . .”

3. For an anecdotal introduction to Gallatin family life, see Gallatin, James,
[son of Albert] The Diary of James Gallatin, Ed. by Count Gallatin, Charles
Scribner’s Sons, New York, 1919. This edition has an introduction written
by Viscount James Bryce in 1914, just after Bryce's reign as British Am-
bassador to the United States. The Gallatins’ relations with the Galitzins
are variously described throughout the Diary. In the entry for October 27,
1813, p. 12: “Count Galati called this afternoon. He says he is a branch
of our family; that his family were from Savigliano in the Piedmont; that
his father was intimate with Count Paul Michael de Gallatin, Councillor of
State of the Republic of Geneva, who acknowledged relationship. He is
very charming, and father does not doubt the relationship. Count Paul
Michael was the head of our family and my father was his ward. Count
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The Gallatins maintained a seat on Geneva’s Council of 200,
along with the family that had finally given Aaron Burr a home
and identity—the Mallet-Prevost family. The Gallatins were
cousins of the Mallets, the Prevosts, and the Neckers, with
active relations in England, Holland, and Geneva.

Albert Gallatin was born in 1761. His most intimate friend
and father-figure in his youth was the writer Voltaire, the Gal-
latins’ neighbor. According to all his biographers, Albert spent
countless hours on the lap of the ultra-rich cynic, whose love
of British and hatred of Continental philosophy made a deep
impression on the youth.

At the University of Geneva as a student, Gallatin formed a
life-long friendship with classmate Etienne Dumont, who left
Switzerland and became the tutor to the sons of Britain’s Lord
Shelburne, as well as the worldwide agent and translator of
Jeremy Bentham. '

Another formative relationship, not mentioned in any existing
Gallatin biography, can best be described by Gallatin himself in
an affidavit he filed in New York City, September 18, 1835:

Having been requested to state the facts within my
knowledge respecting the identity of Paul Henry Mallet-
Prevost of Alexandria in New Jersey and sometime ago
deceased I do hereby declare and certify as follows, viz:

I was myself born in the city of Geneva, Switzerland in

Galati is a great person in Russia. He was in full uniform, covered with
orders and stars. He kindly explained them to me. He has the following
orders: the Military Orders of St. George and St. Vladimir of Russia, St.
Maurice and S. Lazare of Sardinia, and the Sovereign Order of St. Jean
of Jerusalem.”

The better-known details of Albert Gallatin’s life may be learned by
consulting any of his almost worshipful eulogies, including: Adams, Henry,
The Life of Albert Gallatin, Henry Holt, New York, 1879 (Adams was hired
by the Gallatin family to write this book); Muzzey, David, “Albert Gallatin,”
in the Dictionary of American Biography, Charles Scribner’s Sons, New
York, 1931; Stevens, John Austin, Albert Gallatin, Houghton Mifflin and
Co., Boston, 1883; Stevens was himself a member of Gallatin’s family by
marriage.
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the month of January, 1761, and left for the United States
in April 1780. From the year 1765-1766 till my departure
I was intimately acquainted with the family of Paul Henry
Mallet aforesaid, kept on an uninterrupted intercourse with
several of its members and particularly with his two younger
brothers, and knew him personally, though he being a few
years older than myself, my intimacy was less with him
than with them. The said Paul Henry Mallet was the son
of Henry Mallet a merchant, manufacturer, and highly re-
spected citizen of Geneva and of [Jeanne Gabrielle] Pre-
vost. . ..

The brother of the said Henry Mallet was Professor
Mallet, distinguished in the republic of letters as the author
of Northern Antiquities, the history of Denmark. . . . He
was an intimate friend of my family, took great interest in
me, and to his friendship and kindness I am indebted for
having directed and assisted me in my history studies.*

. Quoted in Mallet-Prevost, Historical Notes; this affidavit was requested of
Gallatin in a letter from Andrew Mallet-Prevost, dated Philadelphia, Aug.
21, 1835 (Gallatin Papers).

The compiler of the Mallet genealogy was apparently anxious to enhance
the value of his own “pedigree” by demonstrating the famous Gallatin’s
close relationship to his family; the affidavit was a crucial clue which has
led the present author to many discoveries in the traditionally semi-private
world of oligarchical control in political and academic spheres. See Morris,
Richard Brandon, The Peacemakers: The Great Powers and American In-
dependence, Harper and Row, New York, 1965. Morris describes (p. 100-
104) the activities of Gallatin’s tutor and guide, Prof. Paul-Henri Mallet,
during the American Revolution: "[Viscount] Mounstuart [son of Lord Bute,
King George III's closest friend] spent a good deal of time [in Geneva]
with his former tutor, Paul-Henri Mallet. The Swiss professor and historian
had toured Italy with the young Viscount in 1765 [where] the young Viscount
... pursued . . . uninhibited explorations of the customs and talents of
the courtesans of Rome and Venice . . . Mallet, best known for his history
of Denmark, had important connections in royal circles . . . and was at
that time committed to write a history of Brunswick for George III. He
knew Paris well, and from childhood had been an intimate of Jacques Necker,
a fellow Genevese. . . .”

“In the spring of 1780 Mallet spent two and a half months in Paris, a
good part in Necker’s company. On his return to Geneva he made contact
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Gallatin goes on to mention two brothers-in-law of this pro-
fessor, uncles to his intimate friends, the little Mallet brothers:
General Augustine Prevost, who “defended the South from the
combined forces of the United States and France,” and James
Mark Prevost, “also a high-ranking officer in the British com-
mand . . . who was the husband of Theodosia Prevost, later
the wife of Aaron Burr.”

with Mountstuart immediately. The tutor talked freely to his former pupil
<under solemn oath of secrecy.” Were these talks to be disclosed, he
cautioned, they might ‘greatly prejudice M. Necker,” who was now winning
the support of the King [Louis XVI] . . . Necker had been frank with the
Swiss historian, according to the latter’s own account. To introduce fiscal
reforms, the court of France had to have peace [i.e. stop France’s war
with Britain, in aliance with the American Revolution, which was] a war
he had never had nor could approve . . . The only thing that was holding
up that peace for a single minute was the American rebellion. As regards
the latter, Necker . . . was quoted by Mallet as expressing the fervent
hope ‘in God the English would be able to maintain their ground a little
better this campaign.” Mallet, who had done quite a bit of preliminary
cogitating on this problem, then proposed to Necker that ‘some one province,
say New England, be declared independent, ‘and the others obliged to return
to their former allegiance.” Necker’s response was favor-
able. . . .”[emphasis added]

«  Mountstuart was . . . thrilled at the prospect of playing animportant
role in ending the war, and he believed that, with the American reverses
in the South, the timing was right to ‘incline our enemies to think a little
more seriously of peace.” From Geneva he rushed . . . a report of these
conversations [to London). Mountstuart [reported]: What Mallet wanted
was that the sums advanced to him by George III for writing the Brunswick
history would be increased and given to him for life. . . .

“«_ " Necker was prepared to go behind [French foreign minister] Ver-
gennes’ back and effect a peace without satisfying even the minimum goals
of France’s . . . allies and without regard to Louis XVI's own honored
commitments.

“On December 1st, Necker, in the full assurance of his growing power,
dispatched a secret message to [British Prime Minister] Lord North. . .
‘You desire peace,” Necker wrote. ‘I wish it also.”. . .”

[Morris, p. 149]: “In the months and years ahead . . . the notion of
dealing with the separate states demonstrated remarkable vitality . . . the
partition or fragmentizing of America. In essence the Mallet-Necker plan,
it was seriously advanced. . . .”

Seriously advanced, indeed, until the Union forces finally put it to rest
in 1865.
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In the 1790s, Gallatin’s intimates the Mallet-Prevost brothers
came to America. The affidavit further states: “I met Paul Henry
Mallet for the first time [since his arrival in America] at Mr.
Burr’s, the first husband of whose wife was as above stated
Paul Henry’s uncle.”

Gallatin attended the University of Geneva while his cousin
Jacques Necker was battling the Colbertist tradition in France
by demanding that budget cutbacks, not industrial growth, be
the central aim of the administration. |

Upon Gallatin’s graduation in 1778, the American Revolution
was threatening to turn the world against London and its allies,
Gallatin’s grandmother informed him that her intimate friend the
Landgrave of Hesse would make Albert a lieutenant colonel in
the Hessian mercenary army fighting against America. Here the
anglophile biographers have blithely passed along the most pre-
posterous story to explain how the son of one of the most
reactionary families of feudal assassins, who himself was a mem-
ber of the anti-republican Negatif Party in Geneva, could come
to America and pose as a friend.

According to this legend, Albert Gallatin replied to his grand-
mother, “I will never serve a tyrant,” and received a box on
!:he ear. He then secretly left Switzerland, and traveled to Amer-
Ica, an adventure-loving young liberal. His family, the legend
lamely concludes, then wished him well and sent along letters
of recommendation to help him out in his new country.

Gallatin arrived in Boston in mid-July 1780. The Revolution
was in its darkest moment: if Benedict Arnold’s traitorous sur-
render of West Point went through as planned for September,
the United States would be cut in half—the British and their
Tory spy networks would soon be back in power. Albert Gallatin
awaited the outcome in Boston.

But Arnold was foiled when his British purchaser Major John
André was caught with the West Point plans.

On October 1, 1780, two days after André was condemned
to gieath, Albert Gallatin sailed out of Boston harbor toward
Maine. He hid in a cabin by the Canadian border until receiving

E
;
!
Eﬁ

THE BRITISH SURRENDER, BUT THE WAR CONTINUES 25

word a year later that the British had surrendered at Yorktown.
Gallatin then returned to Boston, where his family had arranged
for him to become a Harvard University instructor.

Despite Gallatin’s fervid assurances to the contrary, some
biographers continue to assert that he “fought in the American
Revolution.””

In 1786, Gallatin moved west, settling on 60,000 acres in
southwestern Pennsylvania’s Fayette County, a worldly prince
among the backwoodsmen. He immediately set to work to pre-

- vent his adopted country from becoming a nation.

It was the same year that saw the outbreak of Shays Rebellion
in Massachusetts and other movements which threatened to
dismember the country. Burr’s friend from the Quebec Expe-
dition, General Wilkinson, had led a movement to separate the
Kentucky region from Virginia and the nation, and cement it
commercially with the Spanish-held port of New Orleans. It was
only the adoption of the Constitution in 1787 which undercut
these projects.

As soon as the document was sent to the states for ratification,
Albert Gallatin became the mastermind of the Pennsylvania op-
position forces. John Smilie, a Gallatin lieutenant, was the floor
leader of the anti-ratificationists in the state convention. Smilie
condemned the Constitution for “inviting rather than guarding
against the approaches of tyranny,” and what he said was its
“tendency to a consolidation, not a confederation, of the states.”
Gallatin lost; Pennsylvania ratified by a two-to-one majority.

In September 1788, Gallatin drew up the resolution of the
anti-Federalists calling for another constitutional convention, and
corresponded with like-minded men in other states.

In 1790, 1791, and 1792, Gallatin was elected to the Penn-
sylvania state legislature, meeting in Philadelphia alongside the

5. An example of this puffery: “. . . alarms of English invasion reached the
settlement, and volunteers marched to the defence of the frontier. Twice
Gallatin accompanied such parties . . . and once . . . was left in command
of a small earthwork and a temporary garrison of whites and Indians at
that place.” Stevens, Gallatin, p. 16.
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Congress. In the session of 1791-1792, Gallatin was on 35 com-
mittees, preparing all their reports and drawing up all their bills.

Gallatin’s first initiative was the creation of an armed move-
ment against the new federal government. We shall return to
this topic after reviewing the continuing career of Gallatin’s new
cousin.

Aaron Burr, the Wall Street Lawyer

When the war ended, Aaron Burr began a law career in New
York City and became known as an exceptionally clever lawyer.
With no interest in the theory or purpose of law, Burr could
nevertheless be counted on to amaze and confound juries, some-
times gaining a not-guilty verdict when the jury believed the
contrary to be the case.®

During the war, as chief aide to General George Washington,
Alexander Hamilton had observed Burr; and he had observed
the British mode of treachery in warfare. Now his suspicions
were growing. During the fight over the ratification of the Con-
stitution, Burr took no stand, but he proposed to Hamilton that
a coup d’état might settle the problem. They should “seize the
opportunity to give a stable government,” he told Hamilton.

“Seize?” Hamilton replied. “This could not be done without
guilt.” Burr retorted with his favorite maxim: “Les grandes ames
se soucient peu des petits morceaux [great souls worry little
about trifles].” Hamilton solved the problem by writing, with
James Madison and John Jay, the Federalist Papers, with which
they convinced the national majority to back the Constitution;
Hamilton reported this conversation 13 years later, when stop-
ping Burr’s drive for the U.S. presidency.’

One of Burr’s most important law clients was John Jacob
Astor, whose ill-gotten fortune later saved Burr’s neck.

6. Alexander, Pretender, pp. 89-92 Schachner, Nathan, Agron Burr, Fred-
erick A. Stokes Company, New York, 1937, p. 89.

7. Hamilton to James A Bayard, Jan. 16, 1801, The Papers of Alexander
Hamilton, Columbia University Press, New York, 1961-1977, Vol. XXV,
pp. 319-324. Parton, Life and Times, Vol. I, p. 283, quotes Burr as saying
“moraux,” or morals.
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~ Astor had left Waldorf, Germany, at the age of 17, landing
in London in 1780. While working for a London-established
brother, he became associated with the East India Company.
He lived in London during the American Revolution, moving to
New York City in March 1784 where his brother, Henry Astor,
was waiting for him. Henry had become extremely vyealthy
during the war years in British-occupied New York, buymg and
selling the livestock stolen by British rangers from Americans
living north of the city.® (These rangers were thus galled “Cow-
boys”—reportedly the origin of this term in America.)

Staked by his brothers with a boatload of pelts, John Jacob
Astor returned to London in 1784 to trade with the East India
Company for a fabulous markup. Astor and his fur-trading or-
ganization then ranged through the wilderness to and across the
Canadian frontier, John Jacob maintaining a close relationship
with the Montreal fur monopoly. ‘ .

By 1800, Astor was given permission by the East India Cpm—
pany to enter freely with his ships into any port rnonopohzed
by the Company. He thus became the pioneer among a handful
of early nineteenth century American merchants to make a for-
tune on the sale of opium to the Chinese.®

At the close of the war of the Revolution, the British had
continued to occupy forts in American territory, and British
military agents and their allied fur traders armed the northern
Indian tribes and organized continual slaughter of American set-
tlers. This British-Indian combination continued until the 1796
Jay Treaty removed the British from their military installations.

But the British also occupied America in civilian dress.

New York Governor George Clinton appointed Burr State
Attorney General in 1790, and shortly afterward the legislature
made him Land Commissioner as well. The following year they

8. O’Connor, Harvey, The Astors, Alfred A. Knopf, New York, 1941, pp. 10-
11. ) .

9. Porter, Kenneth Wiggins, John Jacob Astor: Busine§s qu, in the series
Harvard Studies in Business History, Harvard University Press, Cam-
bridge, Mass., 1931, Vol. II, p. 601.
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appointed him U.S. Senator from New York. Burr was rapidly

becoming political boss of New York State.

The legislature had passed a bill following the Revolution to
sell off state lands at a low price to encourage settlers to populate
the northern areas. Burr and his associates rapidly moved in to
take advantage of the situation. Attorney Aaron Burr was legal
representative of the head of a ring of speculators—Alexander
McComb—and McComb’s grouping was permitted by Land
Commissioner Burr and Attorney General Burr to buy 3.3 million
acres southward from the St. Lawrence River, for eight cents
anacre, onlong-term credit. Burr was also the New York lawyer
for the Holland Land Company, a European company organized
and managed by the Swiss adventurer Theophile Cazenove, and
partly owned by Albert Gallatin. The Holland Company bought
1.5 million acres in western New York and 3.5 million acres in
Pennsylvania. °

By the end of the year, Aaron Burr, British intelligence, and
the British military, would control virtually all the border lands
between British Canada and downstate New York.

In 1791, Captain Charles Williamson of British military intel-
ligence returned to the United States. Captain Williamson, later
to play a key role in Burr’s famous “Western Conspiracy,” had
been captured by the Americans during the Revolution. Ex-
changed for British prisoners, he married a Connecticut girl and
returned to Britain. Now he was to be the agent of a group of
London financiers who had purchased 1.2 million acres of land
in northwestern New York, which he was to manage.! Aaron

10. For Cazenove family political and financial connections see “Autebio-
graphical Sketch of Anthony-Charles Cazenove, Political Refuge, Mer-
chant, and Banker, 1775-1852,” ed. John Askling, in Virginia Magazine,
Vol. 78, July, 1970, No. 3, pp. 295-307.

11. Aninteresting though not always accurate account of Captain Williamson’s
New York State operations is given in Parker, Arthur C., “Charles Wil-
liamson, Builder of the Genesee Country,” in the Rochester Historical
Society Publication Fund Series, Vol. VI, 1927, pp. 1-34. The article’s
author is by family tradition closely associated with the 19th-century
British agentry and freemasonic activities among the Indians in Western
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Burr became liis lawyer and confidante, when Williamson moved
in to occupy the land.

As it was against state law for foreigners to own land, Captain
Williamson managed to get himself naturalized as an American
citizen. The actual owners of the land, however, were the Pul-
teney Associates; William Pulteney, a very wealthy Englishman
who had been a friend and supporter of Adam Smith for 40
years; John Hornby, former British governor of Bombay; and
Patrick Colquhon, sheriff in charge of policing the port on Lon-
don’s Thames.

Williamson’s father was secretary to the Earl of Hopeton in
Scotland. Williamson and the Pulteney Associates all took di-
rection from Henry Dundas, Viscount Melville, who was the
political boss of Scotland for 30 years beginning in the 1780s.
Dundas had restored to the many Scottish aristocrats the lands
and titles that had been taken from them by the English. And
to ensure their special allegiance to his and Lord Shelburne’s
management of intelligence and military affairs, Dundas re-es-
tablished the wearing of the kilt in Scotland. ‘

Captain Williamson was the most intimate friend and confi-
dential agent of Dundas and of Prime Minister William Pitt. His
lawyer, Aaron Burr, soon came to be Dundas’s agent.

As British secretary of state in 1787, Dundas wrote a master
plan to extend the opium traffic into China. From 1793 until
1809 Dundas was head of the Board of Control of India, and

New York, through his relative Ely Parker, and Ely’s friend Lewis Henry
Morgan, founder of the Rochester Historical Society; see Chapter 16
below.

See also Cowan, Helen 1., Charles Williamson: Genesee Promoter—
Friend of Anglo-American Rapprochment, Rochester Historical Society,
Rochester, N.Y., 1941. This is an unintentionally hilarious account of
Williamson, a spy who tried to end the United States, presented rather
as a promoter of “Anglo-American friendship” on the model of the British
World War II ambassadors to the U.S., Lords Lothian and Halifax.

See also Cox, Isaac J., “Charles Williamson,” Dictionary of Americqn
Biography. Despite the usual Anglophile bias of that publication, the Wﬂ-
liamson article has some remarkably frank descriptions of the Captain’s
activities.
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personally supervised the worldwide opium traffic, which had
been escalated by the East India Company since the American
Revolution. In 1793 Dundas signed the order authorizing British
naval units to seize and plunder any U.S. ship trading with
colonies of France. —
Dundas was Minister of War from 1794 to 1801, and Lord of e
the Admiralty in 1804 and 1805. William Pulteney’s son-in-law i =
was Minister of War in 1807 when Aaron Burr was tried for ‘2
¢

p3

treason in America. The huge extent of land in the hands of X
Aaron Burr’s clients, including Captain Williamson, is shown in
the map on page 31.

(British occupied)

Burr’s Western Empire

Pulteney Associates
(managed by Col. Williamson

of British intelligence)

— Fort Oswego

Pultneyville
Williamson

British troops still occupied Forts Oswego and Niagara. Captain
Williamson set up crude ports on the lake shore at Sodus Bay
and near the present city of Rochester, New York. The towns
of Pultneyville, Williamson, and East Williamson are still there,
looking across the lake toward Canada. No true cities were built
in this extension of the British Empire'>—bhut the villages of
Geneva and Bath (named for Lady Bath, Pulteney’s wife) com-
memorate Williamson’s peculiar enterprises.

Williamson used Indian runners as his regular couriers to
transport sealed mail pouches from the British military author-
ities in Ontario down to the U.S. capital in Philadelphia. The
Canadian authorities, overseeing cross-border British espio-
nage, included Chief Justice William Smith, brother of Aaron
Burr’s law teacher and close friend of Benedict Arnold. Smith,
the bitter, exiled former Tory leader of New York State, was
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12. Reginald Horsman, in The Frontier in the Formative Years, 1783-1815,
University of Mexico Press, 1975, p. 26, claims: “Particularly ambitious
was Charles Williamson, the agent for the English Pulteney interests.
Throughout the 1790’s he made great efforts to attract settlers to the
Genesee region, spending $1,000,000 to accomplish this end.” While it :
is likely that Williamson’s superiors provided him with lavish financial [
resources, it is not at all likely this money was used to promote settlement
of the area, which did not take place under the British officer.

New York State in 1792

Land Owned by
Burr’s Clients
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on hand in Canada, until his death in 1793, to help coordinate
the beginning of Williamson’s operations.

Williamson got himself designated a colonel in the New York
state militia, and elected to the New York state legislature. He
and Burr worked together closely in the state assembly, while
Burr was simultaneously in the U.S. Senate.

Williamson worked on a committee which brought to the floor
and passed a bill to legalize direct ownership of land by aliens.
In order for the bill to pass, Burr supervised the distribution of
bribes by his client, the Holland Land Company. The attorney
general (one of Burr’s successors) received a $3,000 bribe, and
Thomas Morris received $1,000 for steering the bill through
the State Senate. Because Burr himself received $5,500 and a
$20,000 debt was put aside, his biographers scold Burr for
“corruption.”?

One gentleman in particular remained a thorn in the side of

13. Parton, Life and Times, Vol 1, p. 241. Parton says that the $20,000 debt
was cancelled as “a perfectly legitimate transaction, by which [Burr] lost,
not gained—facts known to half a dozen persons” but that Burr simply
chose not to refute the “slander.”

Let us quote from Evans, Paul Demund, The Holland Land Company,
Buffalo Historical Society, Buffalo, 1924, pp. 211-213:

“The Act of April 2, 1798, which crowned with success the efforts of
Burr and his assistants, was the combined result of deft political man-
agement and unscrupulous bribery, the Holland Company’s agent sup-
plying the funds. Relatively little opposition was met in the Senate through
which house the bill was guided by Thomas Morris who hoped to become
one of the Holland Company’s agents in western New York. . . . Diver-
gent as were the views of some of the legislative leaders, the money of
the Holland Company as distributed by the fine hand of Mr. Burr. seemed
to have had the magic power of bringing them together. . . . [The pay-
ments were] charged on the [Holland Company’s] books as for counsel
fees since [Company boss Theophile] Cazenove had reported that it was
to go to those attorneys who were to guide the affair through the Leg-
islature. As appears in the accounts kept in Holland the total paid out in
this way amounted to $10,500. . . . Of this amount $3000 went to the
attorney-general of the state, Josiah Ogden Hoffman, $1000 to Thomas
Morris . . . $5500 went to Aaron Burr. . . . ... Cazenove . . . agreed
to exchange one bond which Burr had given [to Holland Co.] as security
. . . for another which he presented. . . .”
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Burr and the upstate British operations—William Cooper, the
father of James Fenimore Cooper. The elder Cooper had begun
settling Cooperstown and the area south of Lake Otsego in
1789, devoting his life to establishing the most ideal conditions
for the development of agriculture, towns, and industry. He was
a close friend of John Jay, George Washington, and Alexander
Hamilton, who was his lawyer.!*

In 1792, John Jay received a majority of votes for governor,
but the vote was contested by Burr’s aristocratic toy Edward
Livingston. Legal authority over the matter wound up in the
hands of U.S. Senator Aaron Burr. On the most absurd tech-
nicality drawn from obscure British law, Burr had the entire
vote from Cooper’s Otsego Couuity thrown out, thereby stealing
the election for Clinton. When Cooper complained, he was pros-
ecuted by Burr’s lieutenants for “unduly influencing the voters
in an election.”

Cooper won acquittal; but Burr’s assaults did not end there.
Major Augustine Prevost was the son and namesake of the
British “scorched Earth” commander against South Carolina in
the American Revolution. Young Prevost was married to the

~ daughter of British Indian agent George Croghan, the former

owner of the Cooperstown-area wilderness who had lost it to
auction for debts. Prevost’s new relative, attorney Aaron Burr,
then undertook to represent him for many years in Prevost’s
litigation to take the land away from the Cooper family—and
halt what the British felt was a dangerous consolidation of pioneer
strength on the American frontier.'s

14. Fora very moving, fictionalized account of William Cooper’s achievements,
see Cooper, James Fenimore, The Pioneers, New American Library, New
York, 1964; this is the first written of Fenimore Cooper’s celebrated
“Leatherstocking Tales.” ‘

15. See Augustine Prevost to Aaron Burr, August 24, 1785, Burr to Prevost
April 25, 1789 and August 24, 1789, in the microfilm Burr Papers, relating
to Prevost versus Cooper.

Major Augustine Prevost was described by the Duke de 1a Rochefou-
cauld in his Travels Through the United States, published in London in
1799: “Colonel Burr had given me a letter to Major Prevost, who lives
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William Cooper was assassinated in 1809 by a blow from
behind while he was at a political meeting. !¢

in the township of Freehold [about 60 miles east of Cooperstown] . . .
Major Prevost has a neat little house built on a tract of nine thousand
acres which belongs to him. He is a son of that General Prevost, employed
in the British service, who distinguished himself by the defense of Sa-
vannah, and disgraced his character by the burning of many American
towns . . . a part of [Major Prevost’s] property became involved in con-
sequence of debts contracted by his father-in-law and himself . . . he
[retired] to that part [of the land] to which his claim was the least contested,
there to . . . patiently await the moment when, recovering his other
possessions [i.e. the Cooper land], he should be certain of leaving a decent

fortune to his children . . . two [of his children] have long been and still-

continue in the British service. . . .

“Major Prevost, a native of Switzerland, has all the frankness of an
honest Switzer, and of a genuine, honest Englishman. . . . He speaks
well of the American government. . . .

“Many of his opponents who have taken possession of his lands, are
influential men: he is the son of a British general, and has himself borne
arms in America in opposition to the Revolution, . . .. During my stay at
Freehold there was no mention of politics. I could easily guess the political
sentiments of the Major and his family: but, if I had entertained any doubt
on the subject, it would have been completely removed by observing the
avidity by which they read Peter Porcupine [a royalist newspaper published
in Philadelphial. . . .”

16. Faced with such well-connected opponents, the Cooper family unfortu-
nately chose not to seek justice in the murder. The present author had
occasion to discuss the case with William and James Fenimore Cooper’s
heirs, and they maintained that it was “not unusual” for people to be killed
at political meetings in those days. The family retains a vast collection of
Cooper correspondence, which has never been published and to which
the public has no access.

_3_
Burr and Gallatin
Drive for Power

The most famous story of frontier violence in our constitutional
history occurred in Pennsylvania. Albert Gallatin’s first initiative
in the Pennsylvania legislature was to attack the source of fund-
ing for Alexander Hamilton’s program for American financial
independence. On January 14, 1791, Gallatin’s resolution was
introduced, which stated that the excise tax on whiskey, then
before Congress, was “subversive of the peace, liberty, and
rights of the citizen,” and by its use, the nation would “enslave
itself.” (Never mind the fact that an excise tax on liquor had
been on the books in Pennsylvania since 1684.)

Gallatin also drafted a petition which was circulated in western
Pennsylvania and presented to Congress, against the “oppres-
sion” of the proposed tax.

After Congress passed both the excise tax and Hamilton’s
entire development program, Gallatin and his lieutenants de-
veloped a movement for illegally combatting the excise, which
succeeded in putting a counterrevolutionary mob into the streets.
It should be noted that neither Thomas Jefferson nor James
Madison, Gallatin’s presumed “party leaders,” opposed the tax.

At an anti-excise meeting in Pittsburgh, August 21, 1792,
Gallatin was appointed clerk. He was asked to compose a re-
monstrance to Congress, which was a pledge to shun, boycott,

1. Journal of Pennsylvania House of Representatives, January_14, 1791, mi-
crofilm of the Papers of Albert Gallatin, New York University, 1972.
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and otherwise harass anyone who agreed to accept the position
of excise tax collector. The petition to Congress carried Gal-
latin’s name as originator.

The following February the Pennsylvania legislature appointed
Gallatin to the U.S. Senate. He took his seat December 2, 1793,
but a week later the Senate began discussion on a motion to
bar him from membership on grounds that he had not been a
citizen for the nine years required by the Constitution.? In that
Gallatin had arrived in America 13 years before, the point being
made was hardly “technical.”

Before he was thrown out, Gallatin introduced one measure,
a resolution demanding of Hamilton a massive, detailed account-
ing for all Treasury operations, all loans, all imports and exports.
When Hamilton called the measure dishonestly motivated, Gal-
latin’s friends cried, “Coverup!”

Senator Aaron Burr led the fight to retain Gallatin in the
Senate.? Burr’s sentiments, however, were not widely shared,
and the Swiss “financial expert” was expelled.

The Whiskey Rebellion broke out simultaneously with Albert
Gallatin’s reappearance in western Pennsylvania. Riots erupted
in several counties, reminiscent of the mob scenes in Paris five
years before, which began when Gallatin’s cousin, Jacques
Necker, was dismissed.

The tax collectors and the law were defied. A federal marshal
serving writs was attacked; battles were fought outside U.S.
General Neville’s house, and the general’s house was burned
down. Several thousand armed men assembled on a field near
Pittsburgh, Aug. 1, 1794, marched through town, and were only
dispersed by authorities with generous portions of whiskey.

2. Resolution expelling Gallatin adopted by the United States Senate February
28, 1794, microfilm Gallatin Papers.

3. See Albert Gallatin to Aaron Burr, [no month or day], 1794, (Reel 3, Iltem
616), Papers of Aaron Burr, ed. Mary Jo Kline, N ew-York Historical Society
and the Microfilming Corporation of America, 1978; Burr was serving in
effect as Gallatin’s attorney in the case.
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They did not attack the garrison as threatened, but armed mobs
roamed the countryside.

At the height of the insurrection, their hero, Albert Gallatin,
made public appearances to champion the cause, while of course
at the same time “urging an end to the violence.”

President Washington sent an army headed by Alexander
Hamilton to enforce the law. According to all reports, the troops
dearly wished to “terminate” Mr. Gallatin. Hamilton was inter-
rogating prisoners; Gallatin’s friend Thomas Clare wrote to him
that Hamilton had questioned a William Ewen for four or five
successive days and “askt Mr. Ewen if he knew how much
British gold you recd. and how much he recd. of you. . . . As
far as I can understand there was never more industry made
by any set of men than there was by sum that was hear to get
holt of you.”* :

One Gallatin biographer, John Austin Stevens, writing in 1881,
said: “The belief that Gallatin was the arch-fiend, who instigated
the Whiskey insurrection, had already become a settled article
in the Federalist creed, and for a quarter of a century . . . the
Genevan was held up to scorn and hatred, as an incarnation of
deviltry—an enemy of mankind.

Before the army had arrived, Gallatin was “elected” simul-
taneously to Congress and to the state legislature. But the
legislature declared January 9, 1795, that since the election was
held during a state of insurrection, it was null and void. A new
election was held after troops had occupied and tranquilized the
area, but Gallatin was again elected to Congress.

4. Thomas Clare to Albert Gallatin, Dec. 14, 1794, microfilm Gallatin Papers

5. Stevens, Albert Gallatin,p. 93. Oliver Wolcott wrote to Oliver Wolcott,
Sr., Sept. 23, 1796: “All the great rogues who began the mischief have
submitted, and become partizans of government. F indley, Smilie, Gallatin
&c., are of this class. The principles of justice and policy required that
these men should be hanged; but as they have deserted their party, the
punishment will fall upon persons less criminal and influential”—quoted in
Memoirs of the Administrations of Washington and John Adams, Edited
fro_n_z the Papers of Oliver Wolcott, Secretary of the Treasury, by George Gibbs,
William Van Norden, Printer, New York, 1846, Vol. I, p. 159.
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Treasury Secretary Hamilton, and his development programs,
had been the subjects of the most extraordinary array of assaults
and dirty tricks since Hamilton took office. Gallatin’s entrance
into the U.S. House of Representatives was the last straw for
Hamilton, who promptly resigned. He believed he could accom-
plish more outside the government at that point.

Several years later a peculiar Constitutional amendment was
passed by the New England states and was barely defeated in
Pennsylvania. The governor of Maryland proposed it and im-
mediately died. The amendment was to lengthen the required
time of citizenship for members of Congress. It was directed
solely against Gallatin.

Soon after his election to Congress, Gallatin emerged as a
leader of the Republicans. His mission was to undo what Ham-
ilton had accomplished in laying the foundation for a great in-
dustrial economy; he also fought to eliminate the nation’s military
defenses.

Gallatin’s public contests were of no interest to Aaron Burr,
however. During his entire Senate career, Burr never once
introduced a bill or opened a debate. He was absent whenever
controversial measures were voted on. It cannot be said, how-
ever, that Burr was not busy.

Shortly after his arrival in Philadelphia, Burr attempted to use
his privileges as senator to obtain access to secret government
documents. He had begun work in September 1791 on a history
of the Revolution which, he said, would “falsify many matters
now supposed to be gratifying national facts.”

Burr got up every moming at 5 a.m. and went to Jefferson’s
State Department, taking notes, copying. “I got together . . .
letters, documents, memoranda, all carefully labeled, tied up
and put into many tin boxes.” He wrote his wife, “I am much
in want of my maps . . . ask Major Prevost for the survey he

6. Burr, Memoirs, Vol. I, p. 331.
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gave me of the Saint Lawrence, or different parts of Canada
and other provinces. "’

Burr let it be known that his history would debunk the Rev-
olution and destroy George Washington’s reputation. But the
President closed the archives to Burr, and no book was ever
published.

Hamilton Set Up

One night a Mrs. Maria Reynolds showed up on Alexander
Hamilton’s doorstep with a lying sob-story, asking financial help
for her supposed predicament. Hamilton ended up having an
affair with the woman. Part of a pre-arranged set-up, her sup-
posed husband then appeared feigning outrage. Hamilton con-
sented to pay him blackmail to keep the story from spreading.

In fact, attorney Aaron Burr had obtained a divorce for the
lady from her first husband. After receiving about a thousand
dollars in blackmail money, her newest husband, Mr. Reynolds,
and his partner, were arrested for a scheme to defraud the
Treasury Department. With Senator Aaron Burr as his attorney,
the jailed Reynolds told a congressional investigating committee
that the (blackmail) payments to him were part of a Hamilton
operation to swindle the government out of hundreds of thou-
sands of dollars. (Mrs. Reynolds married yet again, and moved
to England.)

The blackmail, the legal troubles, the tortuous “badger game”
were kept alive behind the scenes by Burr, Congressman James
Monroe, and Thomas Jefferson until 1796, after Hamilton had
.resigned. The scandal was then publicized, with charges of fraud
mtended to break Hamilton’s paramount position in national pol-
itics. Hamilton had the audacity, at this point, however, to pub-

7. Aaron Burr to Theodosia Prevost Burr. D 18, 1791 .
Vol. I, pp. 312-313. » Dec. 18, 1791, Burr, Memoirs,
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lish a pamphlet® confessing the set-up blackmail operation by
Mr. and Mrs. Reynolds in detail, making clear that he had stolen
no money.

Senator Burr made the acquaintance of Dolley Payne Todd,
the daughter of his Philadelphia landlady. When her husband
died, Burr took Mrs. Todd under his protection and became
the legal guardian for her infant son. As the opportunity arose,
Burr introduced his latest lady to Congressman James Madison,
and the two were married. Burr later had an inside track to the
U.S. President.

One of Burr’s confidantes, Commodore James Nicholson, who
was a swaggering retired naval officer, told some of Hamilton's
friends in 1795 that he had evidence that Hamilton had deposited
100,000 pounds sterling of stolen funds in a London account.
When Hamilton was attacked and stoned by a mob on Wall Street
for his defense of the Jay Treaty—the treaty that removed the
British military from the forts they still occupied on U.S. soil—
Commodore Nicholson shouted his charges at Hamilton's es-
caping entourage. Nicholson also accused the bleeding and en-
raged Treasury Secretary of advocating a monarchy at the
Constitutional Convention. Hamilton challenged Nicholson to a
duel, which never came off, but the incident had given Burr
insight into-how Hamilton could be destroyed.

Three months later, Albert Gallatin married Commodore Ni-
cholson’s daughter Hannah.

The Swiss Economist Moves In

Beginning with the whiskey initiative, Albert Gallatin system-
atically attacked all the features of Hamilton’s program. As part
of the constitutional bargain, the federal government had as-

8. Hamilton, Alexander, Observations on Certain Documents Contained in No.
V & VI of “The History of the United States for the Year 1796,” In Which
the Charge of Peculation Against Alexander Hamilton, Late Secretary of the
Treasury, is Fully Refuted. Written by Himself, printed for John Ferno by
John Bioren, Philadelphia, 1797, reproduced in Papers of Alexander Ham-
ilton, Vol XXI, pp. 238-285.
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sumgd the outstanding war debts of the states. Gallatin was
parﬁqularly incensed at the way this was done. The government
had given Pennsylvania’s creditors, in exchange for the old notes
federal‘ nptes, one-third of which bore a lower interest rate thar,l
the original, and two-ninths of which would pay no interest
whatsoever for ten years. Gallatin prevailed upon Pennsylvania
to pay the difference to the creditors, and used the Ways and
Means Committee of the legislature to publish his Genevan
moralisms on debt.

At Gallatin’s insistence the state established the Bank of Penn-
sylvania, which was to serve as a competitor to, and an instru-
ment of warfare against, the Bank of the United States.

Ten days after Gallatin took his seat in the U.S. House, he
proposed a resolution appointing a committee to superintend
the general operations of the government’s finances. Gallatin
was appointed to the new House Ways and Means Committee
and for the next six years, the new Treasury Secretary Olive;
Wolco.tt had to submit detailed reports of his operations to this
committee dominated by Gallatin. The Swiss gentleman took
more and more power unto himself to block further progress
along the lines Hamilton had previously directed the govern-
ment’s economic program.

f[‘l’lomas J_efferson and James Madison were delighted by Gal-
latin’s growing power, as they were with Burr’s ability to fix
Ne\_zv York elections in their favor. Jefferson’s attitude toward
their activities could be summed up as: “We have common goals;
don't tell me all the details, just do what’s needed.” At ] efferson’é
request Gallatin drew up the 1796 Sketch of the Finances of the
United States.

Practical men of affairs, as many Americans considered them-
selves, were bound to be impressed. The Skefch was 200 pages
of tables, statistics, and facts designed to prove that the gov-
qnment’s debt had been growing alarmingly—from $72 million
in 1790 to $78 million in 1796.° Gallatin proposed in debate that

9. Gallatin, Albert, A Sketch of the Finances of the United States, printed by
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the debt be totally retired, and that the way to do this the
soonest would be to substantially reduce U.S. military forces.

In subsequent debates Gallatin proposed that the army be
cut back, that navy appropriations be halted, and that ships under
construction be abandoned before completion.

The Jay Treaty was passed by the Senate in June 1795, and
signed by President Washington. Though it left open the ques-
tion of British seizure of U.S. ships and impressment of U.S.
sailots into their navy, the treaty removed the British military
from the forts they still occupied on U.S. soil.

Gallatin and James Madison attacked the treaty in the House,
declaring that, although the Constitution specifically gave the
President and the Senate the right to decide on treaties, the
House could nevertheless negate the treaty by defeating ap-
propriations for its implementation—a tactic being revived today
by opponents of high-technology military efforts.

But Gallatin was given a rude shock by his Pennsylvania
constituents. People living on the frontier, from all parties, sent
petitions pleading for passage of the treaty. As Gallatin biog-
rapher Raymond Walters, Jr., explains: “Many westerners be-
lieved that the Indian raids of the past decade had been instigated
by English agents along the Great Lakes and would cease as

soon as the British treaty went into effect.”®

Treasury Secretary Oliver Wolcott wrote, during this time,
in a letter to his father, “The leaders of the [opposition] party
know that the British government does not conceive the treaty
to be any great boon ... Mr. Gallatin evidently leads in all

William A. Davis, New York, 1796. This pamphlet is a masterpiece of
“tying with figures.” In his conclusion, Gallatin tries to make it seem that
the national debt had riser over the six years by $14.4 miltion, by subtracting
from the starting, 1790 figure, the $11.6 miltion of state debts originally
assumed by Alexander Hamilton, “on the principle that state debts were
not proper debts of the Union. . !

10. Waiters, Raymond, Aibert Gallatin: Jeffersomian Financier and Diplomat,

Tne Macmillan Company, New York, 1957, p. 99.
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measures, and it is neither unreasonable nor uncandid to believe
that Mr. Gallatin is directed by foreign politics and influence.”*!

Despite the concerns of his constituents in Pennsylvania,
Gallatin had, of course, other (European) constituents to worry
about. He and Edward Livingston, who was to be implicated
with Aaron Burr in treason in Louisiana, carried a resolution
from the House to President Washington. They demanded he
turn over papers relating to the treaty, threatening that the
treaty would not be a “binding instrument” without the approval
of the House.

Washington rejected their demands by challenging them to
impeach him first. The Jeffersonians backed down and were
defeated in the next election.

The Federalist Columbian Sentinel of Boston warned that
James Madison had become “file-coverer to an itinerant Ge-
nevan.”'? The demoralized Madison resigned from Congress at
the end of the session, and Albert Gallatin became Republican
leader of the House.

Gallatin’s Foreign Policy

Congressman Gallatin’s foreign policy aim was to checkmate
America’s influence in the world.

John Quincy Adams arrived in Berlin, November 7, 1797,
having been appointed by his father, President Adams, to be
America’s first ambassador to the Court of Prussia. His assign-
ments were to renew the expired trade treaty between the
United States and Prussia, and to serve as the administration’s
main intelligence officer in Europe. While in Europe, Quincy
Adams engaged in a passionate study of the German language
and the classical literature of Friedrich Schiller, Gotthold Less-
ing, and other leaders of modern German thought. As a means
of countering the domination of British culture over America,

11. Oliver Wolcott to Oliver Wolcott, Sr., April 18, 1796, quoted in Memotrs,
Vol. I, p. 327.
12. Columbia Sentinel, Boston, April 27, 1796.
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he created a movement to bring German language and literature
back to the United States.

Albert Gallatin had no constitutional right to interfere with
the John Quincy Adams appointment. To get around this, on
March 1, 1798, he proposed that appropriations for U.S. min-
isters in Germany and Holland be entirely eliminated, and Amer-
ica’s diplomatic contact be limited to Great Britain, France, and
Spain. He said money could be saved, and dangerous powers
of patronage and influence could be kept out of the hands of the
executive branch.? .

The congressional majority didn’t accept Gallatin’s contention
that the United States should have no ties whatsoever with most
nations, nor did they accept the idea that trade treaties would
be of no advantage to the young nation. Indeed, in the face of
arrogant attacks on U.S. shipping by the navies of Britain, France,
and British-supported North African terrorists, President Johp
Adams proposed, and the Congress fully supported, the rapid
construction of warships, and the establishment of a separate
Department of the Navy. They were determined that our com-
merce would be protected.

Gallatin complained that his critics wrongfully branded h1m as
a “disorganizer . . . with a design of subverting the Constitution
and of making a revolution. . . .”* He bided his time; his chance
would come. ‘

Burr’s Political Machine

Aaron Burr built a New York political machine in the 1790s, a
power base from which to fight against the American nationalist
experiment. Though America survived despite the efforts of
Burr and his patrons, the particular corruption spawned by Aaron
Burr in politics and finance has grown enormously in the twen-
tieth century.

13. Gallatin speech March 1, 1798, Annals of Congress, 1798, R. Folwell,
Philadelphia, 1798, pp. 1118-1143, microfiltm Gallatin I?apers. ,

14. Gallatin's speech in Congress March 1, 1798, quoted in Adams, Life of
Albert Gallatin, p. 198.
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With the assistance of his lieutenant, Edward Livingston, Burr
reversed the 1792 gubernatorial election result by brazenly
throwing out the entire vote of Otsego county. He ran in the
combined presidential/vice-presidential race that year, receiving
one electoral vote.

Representative James Madison and Senator James Monroe
proposed to President Washington in 1794 that Burr be ap-
pointed U.S. minister to France. The President replied that he
never appointed to high office “any person. . . in whose integrity
he had not confidence,” and appointed Monroe instead. ®

With growing power in the state, Burr made himself Jeffer-
son’s choice for running-mate in the 1796 elections. Not only
were the Federalists swept back into power, but Burr was
snubbed and received one electoral vote from Virginia, while
on the same ticket Jefferson polled 20 votes.

Although the British had just concluded a treaty to withdraw
their troops from America’s frontier, they were nonetheless
busy with other projects. Tennessee’s Senator William Blount
was discovered in 1797 to have been intriguing with British
Ambassador Robert Liston for an attack on the Spanish terri-
tories of Louisiana and Florida. They planned to send western
American settlers, Indians, and British troops down through the
heart of the country from Canada.

President Adams turned over correspondence of Senator
Blount to the Congress,¢ and Blount was expelled. Whatever
Blount’s relationship may have been to Burr, the other Ten-
nessee Senator—young Andrew Jackson—had become intimate
with the New Yorker, a friendship which was crucial for Burr
and Albert Gallatin’s plans for dismembering the United States.

Burr’s Senate term expired in 1797, and he burrowed into

15. Burr, Memoirs, Vol. 1, pp. 408-409.

16. See United States Congressional Record, House of Representatives, July,
1797, p. 448-466 (debate) and p- 3152-3154 (the incriminating Blount
letter to his British contact). In the debate, Congressman Albert Gallatin,
blustering about whether a Congressman is a “government officer” (and
thus impeachable), led the attempt to stop Blount’s removal.
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the New York state legislature, intent on establishing the con-
ditions for taking power in the elections of 1800. Two of his
strongest supporters in statewide efforts were Colonel Charles
Williamson of British military intelligence, and Burr’s stepson
John Bartow Prevost. They were at this time both powerful
members of the legislature, representing, respectively, the Brit-
ish and Swiss ends of the alliance deploying Burr.

Burr set up in New York City an election-fixing apparatus
that was to be the model for future such efforts, using Tammany
Hall for this purpose. An index card was made out for every
single potential voter in the city, giving each person’s political
and psychological idiosyncracies. .

The financing for Burr’s political machine was anything but a
grassroots affair. In the spring of 1799, he organized the Man-
hattan Company, asking the iegislature for a charter that wogld
allow the company to supply the city with fresh water. The city
must be saved, he said, from the continued yellow fever plagues
caused by the contaminated water supply. When the (_:harter
was granted, and its attendant prestige helped draw mve'st-
ments, Burr used an unnoticed clause whereby “surplus capital
might be employed in any way not inconsistent with the laws,”
to start up the Manhattan Bank, later known as the Chase
Manhattan Bank. .

Burr never supplied the city with water; the bank provided
him with campaign financing; and the scam produced tremendous
public outrage. Burr’s reputation for crooked dealing was, by
this time, so notorious that he lost the 1799 election for statg
legislator in his home district. And yet, Gallatin, the Swiss_ oli-
garch and minority leader of the U.S. House of Representatives
who was entrusted by the Democratic-Republicans with thg
responsibility of choosing their party’s vice-presidential candi-
date for the 1800 elections, chose Burr.

In the ensuing presidential election, there was a tie between
Jefferson and Burr in the electoral vote. The election went to
the House.

Burr’s New York machine—riotously corrupt but perfectly
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ruthless—swept that state’s elections, and tipped the national
balance. Jefferson and Burr received the highest number of
electoral votes. But because each elector was at that time per-
mitted to cast two votes, and everyone voted for a ticket, a
predictable tie vote occurred between the two. The House of
Representatives would now decide, casting one vote for each
state’s delegation.

As he had been chosen the vice-presidential candidate of the
Republican Party, it would have been logical for Burr now to
simply take the second spot by arrangement with the House.

But the British Empire had its own logic. Hamilton, in re-
tirement still the nation’s leading Federalist, was stunned by a
letter from George Cabot, New England leader of Hamilton's
party.

Writing while election returns were still coming from the
states, Cabot said: “The question has been asked whether, if
the Federalists cannot carry their first points, they would not
do as well to turn the election from Jefferson to Burr? They
conceive Burr to be less likely to look to France for support
than Jefferson. . . . They consider Burr as actuated by ordinary
ambition, Jefferson by that and the pride of the Jacobinic phi-
losophy. . . ."Y7

When the tie was announced, the openly pro-British New
England Federalists agreed on the strategy of either throwing
the election to Aaron Burr, or failing that, to overthrow the
constitutional provisions and place a strongman in power by other
means. Boston’s Columbia Sentinel expressed their sentiments
succinctly:

Whatever Mr. Burr may be reported to be, he will even-
tually turn out good as he is a grandson of the dignified
Edwards, the great American luminary of Divinity . . . [and,
in response to Southern criticism of the coup threats] But

17. George Cabot to Alexander Hamilton, Hamilton Papers, Vol. XXV, pp.
62-64.
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should the Federal members of Congress . . . elect Burr
to the presidency, the northern states need be under very
little apprehension of danger from this [Southern]”mlghty
paper military skill and strength: For our “General [Burr]
if called upon can assure them that he has seen southern
regiments in former times and knows what they are com-

posed of.*®

Burr made no formal public statement that he either sought
or declined the presidency. But one action spoke volume_s. After
the tie was known, and one week before the House voting was
to begin, Burr married off his only child to a South Carolina
aristocrat, whose powerful family connections procured for Burr
the House vote of that state.

Burr’s most important ally, Albert Gallatin, had been chosen
by the Republicans to be their floor leader for the contest; the
context of their peculiar alliance (as cousins) could not have been
known to Jefferson and Madison.

Milton Lomask, author of Aaron Burr—The Years f(om
Princeton to Vice-President, 1756-1805, gives a partial insight
into Gallatin’s feelings about the election:

To [Burr at] Albany . . . came a disturbing sugg.esti.on
from Albert Gallatin. Dated 3 February, this commum_catlon
from the leader of the Jeffersonian forces in Washmgto_n
has never been found. It probably never will be. Burrils
thought to have destroyed it. Perhaps Gallatin aske;d h1m
to do so . . . . Had his 3 February letter come to light in
1801, the Swiss-born financial wizard would never have
received [any] appointment at the hands of Thomas Jef-
ferson. . . .

.. . [TThe journal of Benjamin Butterton Howell [a New
York merchant], unearthed in the 1960s, [states] “The
election by the House was about to come on,” Burr sent

18. Columbia Centinel, Boston, Jan. 28, 1801, p. 2, Feb. 18, 1801, p. 3.
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for two of his closest supporters . . . he “laid before them
a letter from Albert Gallatin, informing him that the election
was in the hands of Genl Smith [political boss] of Maryland—
[Congressman] Lynn [Linn] of N Jersey & Edward Liv-
ingston of NY—who held the balance of those three states,
that they were friendly to Burr—but to secure them he
must be on the spot himself, and urging him by all means
to hasten to Washington without an instants delay.”®

Burr’s reply to Gallatin’s letter survives: For “ten days past”
he had believed that “all was settled, & that J would have 10
or 11 votes [9 states would be a majority] on the first trial. I
am therefore utterly surprised by the contents of yours of the
3d.”%

On the first ballot in the House of Representatives Aaron
Burr had an actual majority of the individual congressmen’s
votes; Jefferson had more states in his column but no majority.

Alexander Hamilton faced a bleak reality. The alliance of lead-
ing families which had supported the Revolution, the Consti-
tution, and his economic development program, had collapsed
into agent-ridden chaos. The leaders of New England were pro-
British; those of the South were anti-industrial; Burr’s “Little
Band” ran New York; and Gallatin was strong in Pennsylvania.
Those who might have agreed with Hamilton’s American na-
tionalist outlook were silent; those who were hostile to the
nation’s existence had assumed control of such extended family
constellations as the cousins Lee (Virginia), Shippen (Pennsyl-
vania), and Livingston (New York).

Hamilton, acting alone, rose to do battle with the New England
slave-trading merchant families who were backing Burr for Pres-
ident.

He wrote letters to all leading Federalists. He wrote and

19. Lomask, Burr 1756-1805, pp. 287-288.

20. Aaron Burr to Albert Gallatin, Feb. 12, 1801, in the Gallatin Papers; reel
3 of the Burr Papers.
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gpoke, In public and private, With the full understanding that the
future of his country, and possibly the human race, was at stak_e.-
Hamilton wrote to New York Se.nator Gouverneur Morris:
“Jefferson or Burr?—the former without all §oubt. The latter
_ will use the worst part of the community as a ladder to
i)érmanent power, & an instrument to crush the better part.
He is bankrupt beyond redemption except by the resources that
grow out of war and disorder or by a sale to a foreign power
eat peculation.”?
* }tg tiﬁd De?laware’s lone Congressman James Bayard that Burr
was “without probity . . . a voluptuary by system . . . corrupt
expedients will be to him a necessary resource. Will any prud?e:gg
man offer such a President to the temptations of forelgr} gold? .
Hamilton stunned the political worlq with the passion of his
attack on Burr. Twentieth-century wnt,fe‘r‘s speak qondef,s?‘ind-
ingly of Hamilton’s fight as “l}arangues, declamations, " 1 }LS’-’
terical jeremiads,” “vituperation pu,s}}ed to the b,r’eakn}‘g-p_olél”,
“essays in detraction,” “pillingsgate,’ slanderous, and “weir hk
Most unforgivable, from the standpoint of our mouse- e
historians, Hamilton was “pitifully alone,” a position they would
dread to assume. The Burr scholar quoteq by theg uly 11, }982,
New York Times, Dr. Mary Jo Kline, said th.’:‘lt tche verifiable
facts of [Burr’s] life were so incredible that ‘serious scholars
have approached Burr hesitantly.’ j’ ’
Perhaps Hamilton knew something our scholars don t.,
Hamilton finally concentrated on winning over Bayard s de-
cisive Delaware vote. Jefferson’s “politics, ” Hamﬂtpn Wrote,
“sre tinctured with fanaticism . . . he has been a .mlscl_nevous
enemy to the principal measures Qf our past gdrr}’mlstratlon . l.ﬂd
he is crafty . . . heisa contemptible hypocrite.” But he woul
not overturn the established government, he would not be wi-

21. Alexander Hamilton to Gouverneur Morris, December 24, 1800, Hamilton

p . Vol XXV, pp. 271-273. o
22. Alag)farflder Hamilton to James A. Bayard, Dec. 27, 1300, ibid, Vol. 25,

pp. 275-277.
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olent, he was not “capable of being corrupted.”? Hamilton ad-

vised Bayard i
vised £ f?fz(i to get his own assurances from Jefferson to the _4_
Bayard listened to reason. He told Hamil VV I ] .
. ' . ton that Jeff ¢
had given him the assurances that Hamilton reconnneglgeg.rsgﬁ The Ole Contment
the 35th ballot he broke the deadlock, as three Federalist con- | Of America Wi]l

gressmen cast blank ballots. Jefferson was elected President on

the 36th ballot, ten states to four. Become EngliSh’

Aaron Burr was swornin as Vice-President of the United States
on March 4, 1801. Thomas Jefferson was sworn in as President,
and appointed Albert Gallatin Secretary of the Treasury.

The United States had been the victim of undeclared war by
the British since the Treaty of Paris officially ended the American
War for Independence in 1783. British forces, in Canada and in
forts still occupied by the British within the United States, di-
rected Indian attacks against American frontier settlers until
1796. Under the pretext of war with France, British Secretary
of State Henry Dundas in 1793 had signed an order authorizing
British warships to attack and seize U.S. vessels that might
have been trading with the colonies of France.

About 550 American ships were indiscriminately seized, their
cargoes stolen, and their crews kidnapped and “impressed” into
the British navy. Thousands of U.S. seamen—as many as 10-
20,000—were dragged onto British warships.

As British-French warfare intensified in the late 1790s, the
French also began attacking U.S. ships, seizing the cargo of
perhaps 350 ships. Since the American sailors spoke a different
language, they could be of no use to the French navy.

At the same time North African fiefdoms—the “Barbary pi-
rates”—were maintained by British money and supplies as a
terrorist auxiliary to the British navy, ensuring British rule of
the sea by crippling or destroying other nations’ transatlantic

23. Alexander Hamilt ibi
Blexmer E on to James A. Bayard, Jan. 16, 1801, ibid, Vol. XXV, commerce.
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Prior to the Jefferson administration, the American govern-
ment had made a start toward defending itself against this on-
slaught. A brief summary of these efforts will be useful for
comparison with the policy the Jefferson-Burr-Gallatin admin-
istration was to adopt beginning in 1801.

The first public works law, passed in 1789, had set up federal
control of aids to navigation. Treasury Secretary Hamilton per-
sonally directed the construction of the Cape Henry lighthouse,
built in 1792 at the entrance to Chesapeake Bay, and in use
until 1881. The Montauk lighthouse at the end of Long Island
was built in 1797.

Hamilton got congressional authorization in 1790 for ten boats
to patrol the coast against smuggling, a project which was the
ancestor of today’s Coast Guard.

Fears of renewed war with Great Britain led to congressional
authorization for the first American system of seacoast fortifi-
cations: repairing three existing positions and fortifying 16 ad-
ditional harbors. The Corps of Artillerists and Engineers was
created in 1795 to direct most fortification work, including Fort
McHenry in Baltimore harbor.

The southern frontiers were defended against the Spanish
and the Indians by four forts built in Georgia, and the army took
over Fort Stevens at Mobile from the Spanish. Under the 1796
Jay Treaty, the United States took from the British Forts Niagara
and Oswego in upstate New York, and Forts Michilimackinac
and Detroit in Michigan.

Fort Washington was built in the Ohio territory at the site of
what was later the city of Cincinnati. Fort Pickering was built
in 1797 at the mouth of the Tennessee River. A fort was built
in 1798 on the Mississippi River near present-day Vicksburg.

The first post-Revolutionary naval construction began in 1794
in response to the attacks of the North African terrorists (“pi-
rates”). President Washington was initially authorized to com-

1. The following material is largely taken from American Public Works As-

sociation, History of Public Works in the United S lates, 1776-1976, Chicago,
1976.
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mission 2,060 naval personnel, while six frigates were to be
built. _

The first three frigates, the United States, the Constellation
and the Constitution, were completed in 1797. Then-cqngres—
sional opposition leader Albert Gallatin fought against their con-
struction, on the grounds that “If the sums to be expended to
build and maintain the frigates were applied to paying a part of
our national debt, the payment would make us more respegtable
in the eyes of foreign nations than all the frigates we can build.”?

The other three authorized ships were built in 1798 when the
French attacks intensified, and the Department of the Navy was
created in 1798. Navy Secretary Benjamin Stoddert of Maryland
purchased land and set up government-owned n?lval yards for
ship construction: in Washington, near the capital; in Ports-
mouth, New Hampshire, with ample timber and skilled crafts-
men; in Boston, where the legislature ceded choice land; in
Brooklyn, New York, at an old Revolutionary War anchorage;
in Norfolk, Virginia; and in Philadelphia at the foot of Broad
Street. .

After the 1801 election, Congress completed the Washington-
Adams program by appropriating an additional $500,000 for the
building of six more warships and the completion of yards, docks,
and wharves.

The regular army was strengthened and a 15,000-man pro-
visional force was created in 1797. General Alexander Hamilton
was second in command to George Washington, and was the
nation’s highest-ranking officer after Washington’s death in 1799.

Gallatin’s Infamy

Before assuming his official duties as Secretary of the Treasury,
Swiss oligarch Albert Gallatin drew up the program of the Jef-
ferson administration. He announced that the principal object of
the regime would be paying off the public debt. Jefferson, who

> I « .
2. Annals of Congress, Feb. 10, 1797, quoted in Adams, Life of Albert Gallatin,
p. 170.
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had previously favored building a navy, now concurred with
Gallatin, saying later that “we shall never see another President
and Secretary of the Treasury making all other objects subor-
dinate to” debt reduction.® Under the pretext of debt reduction,
Gallatin planned to eliminate the armed forces of the United
States. This seemed logical enough to Jefferson, who had, after
all, once remarked, “If the U.S. stood with respect to Europe
precisely on the footing of China, we should thus avoid wars.”

Gallatin’s financial scheme assumed that for the next 16 years,
there would be zero growth in the United States economy.
Thirty-eight million dollars of the debt would be paid off by 1810,
the remainder (slightly more than that sum) by 1816. Annual
revenues of the government were $10 million, and the plan said
that the revenues would stay at that level. Of this annual income,
over three-fourths, or $7.3 million, was to be earmarked for
the payment of accelerated debt payments, leaving just $2.7
million for all non-debt items.

Non-debt expenditures under the previous administration had
averaged $5 million; the Gallatin budget meant that $2.3 million,
or 46 percent of all non-debt items, would be cut back.® Under
President Adams, $2.1 million had gone to the navy and $1.8
million to the army. The armed forces would bear virtually the
entirety of Gallatin’s cuts, including an immediate halving of
appropriations for the navy. Ship construction was halted. The
yards, docks, and fortifications were allowed to fall into disrepair
and eventual ruin. The money that had previously been appro-
priated was returned to the Treasury, for the payment of debt.
After wholesale dismissals from the navy, there remained 1,395

3. Thomas Jefferson to Albert Gallatin, Oct. 11, 1809, in The Writings of
Thomas Jefferson, The Thomas Jefferson Memorial Association of the United
States, Washington, D. C. 1903-1904, Vol. XII, p. 324.

4. Jefferson to the Comte de Hogendorp, Oct. 13, 1785, in ibid.

5. Balinky, Alexander S., “Albert Gallatin, Naval Foe,” in Pennsylvania Mag-
azine of History and Biography, Vol. LXXXII, No. 3, July 1958, pp. 293-
304. This is an excellent article, despite the author’s apologetics for Gal-
latin’s treachery.
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men and six warships, facing 800 British warships and over
100,000 men.

Over the next several years, even a temporary shortfall of
revenue was used as a pretext for further cuts in the naval
budget. The unforeseen 1803 purchase of Louisiana increased
the debt by $11 million (while doubling the size of the nation).
In order to keep the same insane ratios in his scheme, Gallatin
needed $700,000 more for debt service payments. Since only
$400,000 additional revenue existed, another $300,000 was cut
from the naval budget. '

The first test for the new administration actually came before
Albert Gallatin had arrived in Washington to join the cabinet.
The Pasha of Tripoli, one of the African pirate states set up by
the British to prey on shipping, demanded a larger U.S. payoff
than he had been receiving, and declared war against the United
States. Advised by loyal cabinet members led by Navy Secretary
Robert Smith, President Jefferson approved the dispatching of
a squadron to confront the North Africans; the little fleet included
the three frigates whose construction Gallatin had sought to
block.

The American force employed was inadequate, however, and
the plundering continued. In the summer of 1802, the navy,
under its Secretary Smith, planned to escalate the attack. How-
ever Gallatin wrote to Jefferson (who had left most presidential
duties in Gallatin’s hands and gone to Virginia for the season)
pleading with the President to stop the navy from attacking the
pirates. “Eight years hence we shall, I trust, be able to assume
a different tone; but our exertions [i.e. expenditures] at present
consume the seeds of our greatness and retard to an indefinite
time the epoch of our strength.”

Raymond Walters, Jr., ina generally fawning biography (Albert
Gallatin—]effersonian Financier and Diplomat), describes the
outcome of the cabinet dispute:

6. Gallatin to Jefferson, August 16, 1802, Gallatin Papers.
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While the President hesitated, Smith ordered the frigate
John Adams to sail from New York to blockade the Barbary
Coast. Gallatin sent frantic appeals to Jefferson at Monti-
cello to countermand the order. Not enough of the naval
.appropriations remained unexpended to cover the cost, he
mnsisted. Jefferson was somewhat impressed and inquired
whether some way could not be found to include the ex-
penses of the John Adams as a “debt incurred.” During the
delay, the frigate put to sea.

Thus was the nation committed to war against the pi-
rates. With the squadron against whose use Gallatin had
complained, Commodore Edward Preble stormed Tangiers
and brought the Emperor of Morocco to terms.”

In this heroic assault against immense odds, the U.S.S. Phil-
adelphia was captured and its crew made slaves. This so enraged
Fhe American public that Jefferson was forced to ask Congress,
in March of 1804, for temporary additions of $750,000 per year
to the navy budget to carry on the fight against the pirates.
Despite Gallatin’s sabotage, the pirates were finally crushed in
1805. During these engagements Commodore Preble and Ste-
phen Decatur, who commanded the E nierprise, gave to the world
a startling picture of the potential military might of the United
States.

As useful as these defensive expeditions had been, they re-
mamed virtually the only deployment of the tiny U.S. navy,
which was constantly being reduced by Swiss Treasury Sec-
retary Gallatin during the Jefferson years. The graver threat—
the vast British fleet—remained unopposed, continuing to attack
and plunder American ships and kidnap their crews.

The Workman Memorandum

When Jeffersor} and Burr took office in 1801, the British had
been at war with France for nearly a quarter-century, with a

7. Walters, Albert Gallatin, pp. 150-151.
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pause for “peace”’—and trade war—in the late 1780s. Most
effective for the British side had been their “irregulars” from
the British-Swiss secret service, including: British espionage
leader (and Burr’s cousin) Jacques Mallet du Pan; Swiss banker
(and Gallatin’s cousin) Jacques Necker, who strangled the French
kingdom’s finances; and Jean-Paul Marat from Neuchatel and
Geneva, who was trained for ten years by British intelligence
in England before going on to murder thousands of France’s
intellectuals in the Reign of Terror.

But with the rise of reformer Lazare Carnot, in the mid-
1790s, the French army became a fearsome instrument. Instead
of simply dissolving in anarchy, France moved outward to invade
Europe, breaking down local feudalist trade barriers, stopping
British imports, and setting the stage for the rise of modern
nations.

At one point in the battle for Europe, in the year 1800, British
intelligence officer James Workman submitted a remarkable doc-
ument to the British Minister of War, Henry Dundas: the British
plan for the conquest of the Western Hemisphere. This report,
though it was the basis for Aaron Burr’s later secession attempts
in the American West, has never been mentioned in any Burr
biography, or otherwise seen as a matter of concern to the
American public.

In this treatise will be found the basis for Britain’s appeal to
American traitors—white racial superiority and love of the Brit-
ish “mother” culture. Workman’'s memorandum and his sub-
sequent arrival in New Orleans may be seen as the opening shot
of the American Civil War of 1861-1865.

In 1801, James Workman sailed from England to South Car-
olina, where he published his report as an action proposal to
those in the U.S. administration (whose election is referred to
as “events of a late date”) who might assist in the execution of
the plan.

The Workman document was then printed in the Charleston
Courier, and presumably picked up by Vice-President Burr’s
daughter and son-in-law in that city. The following are excerpts




60 TREASON IN AMERICA ‘AMERICA WiLL BECcOME ENGLISH’ 61

from this document, not published in the United States in the Plata [Argentina] only . . . would place the other colonies
past 174 years. It begins with an introduction added in South of Spain in such jeopardy and so completely at our mercy
Carolina: ‘ that she would be glad to purchase, with her perpetual

A Memorial Proposing a Plan
Jfor the Conquest and E mancipation of
Spanish America, by Means, which would
Contribute to the Tranquility of Ireland.

During the contest, which has now for so many years

agitated the world, two distinct objects of hostility have
been avowed by the powers opposed to the Republic of
France; the one, to subvert her government; the other,
to restrain her ambition. . . . [this proposal concerns the
second objective].

The following memorial was drawn up principally in the
summer of 1799, when the arms of the allied powers,
universally victorious, had driven the French out of Italy,
and a great part of Switzerland. Nothing then seemed want-
ing to restore completely the equilibrium of national power
than to place in the British scale, what might counterpoise
the French conquests of the Netherlands, Holland, and
Egypt. For this purpose, Spanish America seemed a suf-
ficient and an easily obtainable object. . . .

To assist him in drawing up this paper the author pro-
cured a copy of the map of Spanish America published in
Madrid by the order of the King of Spain, and consulted
all the books written concerning [Spanish America] in any
of the languages he was acquainted with. The memorial
was presented in the summer of 1800 to the late [sic] British
War Minister. An attack on the Spanish colonies was pro-
posed by the author himself so long ago as January 1797. . . .

The author intends to persuade the public of the impor-
tance of such measures and to urge those who have the
power of carrying them into execution that it should be
done without a moment’s delay. . . .

The capture of Louisiana [then owned by Spain] and La

neutrality at least, our forebearance with respect to them—
if, indeed, such a price could be considered an equivalent
for such forebearance.

From some events of a late date, it is not impossible
that a powerful and effective co-operation, towards the
proposed objects, might be obtained from a quarter, from
which at the time of writing this memorial, no assistance
could have been reasonably expected; and this consider-
ation supplies another inducement for publishing it at pres-
ent.

After this introduction, the memorial continues by dis-
cussing the “naturaily irritable Irish character,” and a novel
means for ridding Ireland of revolutionary leaders—by re-
cruiting them for guerrilla warfare against the Spanish au-
thorities in the Western Hemisphere.

The kind of war pursued by the enemy [the French],
gives him an advantage over us. He is always on the of-
fensive; he plays a more lively, interesting, and animating
game than we do. When he is defeated he loses nothing;
when he gains a victory he makes a conquest. It were
highly desirable that we should pursue the same species
of warfare. . . .

I suggest . . . leading away all that are formidable of
Ureland’s] inhabitants, for the purpose of seizing on the
whole, or the chief of the Spanish colonies in America.

The memorial proceeds with arguments that the depopulation
of Ireland, then in the third decade of revolt against British rule,
would be better for those few Irishmen who would be left; and
that after the revolutionary leaders were convinced to go fight
the Spanish, the Irish might be sent wholesale to populate the
Conquered territory.
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Of the places that might be attacked, Florida [then also
under Spanish rule] and Louisiana are the nearest . . . the
advantages of Louisiana are almost commensurate with its
extent [about one million square miles]. . . .

New Orleans will be the great depot of the commerce
of the western states of America; and the position of Lou-
isiana would be of great consequence with respect to future
operations . . . the possession of Louisiana might [also]

. serve as a place d’armes for invading the richest of
the [Spanish King’s] dominions.

The memorial then states that 2,500 regular troops, or 4-
5,000 colonial irregulars and 1,000 volunteers, would be suffi-
cient to conquer both Florida and Louisiana, the invasion to be
backed by one of the British naval convoys in the Caribbean.

Extensive details of appropriate military action in the Americas.

are discussed:

The situation of the Indians . . . would afford an advan-
tage too important to be overlooked or despised by an
invader. He could attach them to his interests . . . by
abrogating the vexatious and degrading imposts to which
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The same interests, language, laws, customs, and man-
ners will ultimately unite together, as against foreigners
[emphasis in the original], Great Britain and all the nations
and colonies that have sprung or may proceed from her.

These may quarrel with her, and also with one another,
but they will soon see that her power is a strong and
necessary barrier to protect them against those gigantic
military states of the continent of Europe which already
threaten all national independence; and their prejudices,
their affections, and their pride will prevent them from
desiring or even permitting . . . that the country of their
fathers and brothers should be brought under any foreign
yoke. o

If the Spanish settlements are taken . . . the whole con-
tinent of America will, in less than a century, become English
[emphasis added]. . . .

These countries, together with [our] Indian empire, would
place nearly one-third of the inhabitable territory, and one-
half of the commerecial riches of the earth at [our] disposal.?

Earlier, the U.S. ambassador to England, Rufus King, had

sent a letter to John Adams’s Secretary of State, Timothy Pick-
ering, dated February 26, 1798, bearing intelligence of a pre-
liminary British plan to the same effect. King called it:

they are now subject, by treating their chiefs with respect
and bestowing upon them in compliance with their customs,

some privileges and distinctions.

The countries proposed to be conquered would not only
afford an immediate increase to our maritime trade, but
would become the means of supplying, sustaining, and for-
ever preserving to Great Britain all the colonies now in her
possession.

It may be said that these projected colonies might in time
revolt. . . . At all events, whatever may become of sov-
ereignty and imperial dominion, it should be a proud sat-
isfaction to every Briton to establish and immortalize his
name, his language, and his race in every part of the
world. . . .

. .. a plan, long since digested and prepared, for the
complete independence of South America. . . . England
. . . will propose to the United States to cooperate in its
execution. [British-backed adventurer Francisco de] Mi-
randa will be detained [in London] under one pretence or
another, until events shall decide the conduct of Eng-
land. . . . I will bring together and . . . send to you, such
information as I have been able to procure upon this . . .

9 T .
8. Workman, James, A Memorial . . . for the Conguest . . . of Spanish Amer-

ica, New York Public Library Rare Book Room.




64 TREASON IN AMERICA

subject, having found out and acquired the confidence of
certain Jesuits, natives of South America, who, with a view
to its independence, are, and for several years have been,
in the service and pay of England. I have often conversed
with them, and seen the reports which they have prepared
for their employers. . . .°

President John Adams had responded angrily to what he later
termed the “pretended, ostensible independence of South Amer-
ica,”"® and he had turned down the British suggestion of his
connivance as Prime Minister Pitt’s “insidious plan to dupe me
into a rash declaration of war against France, and a submissive
alliance, offensive and defensive, with him.”!!

Now, however, “events of a late date” had put into powerful
positions persons more friendly to British conquest of the Amer-
icas, North and South.

The most powerful social agency of sedition within the United
States, consistent with the global war aims of the British Empire,
was the group of merchant families who led the Federalist Party
after 1800, and who nearly succeeded in electing Aaron Burr
President of the United States. The most important public lead-
ers of this movement were in New England where the names
Pickering, Cabot, Perkins, and Lowell were associated with pro-
English policies.

These families, along with some who only despised the English
a bit less than they hated the thought of a republican world, had

9. Rufus King to The Secretary of State, Feb. 26, 1798, The Works of John
Adams, ed. Charles Francis Adams; Boston; Little, Brown and Co., 1853;
Vol. VIII, pp. 585-586.

10. John Adams to James Lloyd, Mar. 26, 1815, Works of John Adams, Vol.

X, p. 139.
11. ibid, p. 141. .
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peen meditating a destruction of the American Union since at
least the middle 1790s.

In the following chapters, we will show how these New York
and New England leaders worked with the British spy machine
created by Aaron Burr, and nearly destroyed the U.S.A. within
the first years of the nineteenth century.




_5_
The Murderer Marches West

Among the pro-British merchant families who connived at the
dismantling of the young American republic were the Livingston
clan of New York.

The Scottish Livingstones were a rugged bunch. Edmund
Burke told the story (retold by Edward Livingston’s biographer
C.H. Hunt!) of Sir Alexander Livingstone, who was appointed
in 1449 Justiciary of Scotland and Ambassador to England. Liv-
ingstone asked an opponent, the Earl of Douglas, to sup at the
royal table, in the castle of Edinburgh. Since Livingstone was
the guardian of the young King James II of Scotland, and the
boy sovereign was to be present at the table, Douglas felt
secure. After he was seated, servants brought in the freshly
severed head of a black bull and placed it in front of him. The
Earl tried to escape but he, his brother, and a friend were
captured and beheaded.

The fifth Lord Livingstone was one of the two guardians of
Mary Stuart, Queen of Scots. The grandson of the seventh Lord
Livingstone was one of two Scotsmen to negotiate with Charles
II for his accession to the Scottish throne as well as the English.

Later the Livingstones revolted as “Jacobites” against the
rule of William III and the later House of Hanover, in favor of
the continuing claim of the Stuarts.

1. Hunt, Charles Havens, Life of Edward Livingston, Appleton and Company,
New York, 1864.
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The clan was stripped of much of its power, titles, and lands,
and retained little love for the reigning monarchs of England.

The first Livingstone in America, son of a Scotsman exiled
to Holland, dropped the final “e” from the family name. This
Robert Livingston set up a baronial estate north of Albany on
the Hudson River. He continued the family’s penchant for un-
usual forms of violence, by convincing the English government
to issue a commission to his protégé Captain William Kidd.?

The Livingston family of New York, intermarried with the
Smith family of New York and Canada, the Lee family of Virginia,

- and the Shippen family of Pennsylvania, provided both patriotic

fighters to the cause of the American Revolution—and others
who played a bizarre part in the subversion of American inde-
pendence. This group aided Aaron Burr’s treason, and they
helped to restore a subterranean, growing British power in New
York and America.

The virtual coup d’état carried out in 1782-83 by British in-
telligence overlord William Shelburne, by which Scottish political
boss Henry Dundas and feudal theorist Adam Smith shared
Shelburne’s power in Britain, encouraged such exile Scots to
come back to the British fold.

Robert Livingston had served on the committee of the Con-
tinental Congress which drew up the Declaration of Indepen-
dence. In 1753, the leader of the Masonic organization of the
British army in New York® was Grand Master William Walter,
who was soon to make a forced departure to the Tory exile

2. The East India Company asked King William III for a privateer to be sent
into the Indian Ocean. Livingston, New England’s Royal Governor the Earl
of Bellomont and five Englishmen bankrolled and outfitted Captain Kidd,
who “went too far” and attacked English ships. See John Knox Laughton,
“Wilkiam Kidd,” in Dictionary of National Biography, Oxford University
Press, Oxford, England, 1921-22; and Frank Monoghan, “William Kidd,”
Dictionary of American Biography, Charles Scribner’s Sons, New York,
1933.

3. For New York masonic data see Lang, Ossian, New York Freemasonry, a
Bicentennial History, 1781-1981; published by The Grand Lodge of Free
and Accepted Masons of the State of New York; New York City, 1981.
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station of Nova Scotia. Walter arranged that the leadership of
this Masonic organization—now no longer to be officially as-
sociated with the British army—would be put in the hands of
Robert Livingston. The latter was installed Grand Master of
the Grand Lodge of New York by William Cock, Walter’s tem-
porary replacement, on February 4, 1784, just before Grand
Master Cock also left with the departing British troops.

From 1798 to 1800, Burr’s law client John Jacob Astor was
treasurer of the New York Grand Lodge. From 1801 to 1803,
Robert Livingston’s younger brother Edward, who was also
mayor of New York, and, by virtue of Burr’s designation, district
attorney, served as Deputy Grand Master.

Burr’s intimate friend and brother-in-law Tapping Reeve, of
the Litchfield Law School, was busy enlisting recruits for the
movement to separate New England from the Union. He wrote
enthusiastically to Connecticut Senator Uriah Tracy that “all I
have seen and most I have heard from believe that we must
separate and that this is the time.”

Another Burr confidant, strategically situated in Boston and
afriend to that city’s bankers and politicians, was Burr’s personal
physician, William Eustis. The doctor entered politics after a
good deal of prodding; in 1802 he defeated John Quincy Adams
for Congress and sat in Washington beside his friend the Vice-
President.

As a conduit to the New England pro-British party, Eustis
would be useful to Burr’s organization a decade in the future,
V\;hen he would be the U.S. Secretary of War during the War
of 1812. '

Colonel Charles Williamson of British military intelligence was
relieved of his upstate New York assignment as manager of a
million acres of land on the frontier, and moved into one of the
New York City houses of the new Vice-President, where he
lived in 1801 and 1802.

4. Docyments Relating to New England Federalism, Ed. Henry Adams, (first
nghshed 1877), reprinted by Burt Franklin, New York, 1969, pp. 342-
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The following year he sailed back to London, to confer with
British special operations chief Henry Dundas, Prime Minister
Pitt, and others about the military activation of British agents
in North America. Williamson’s two responsibilities were Colonel
Aaron Burr and General Francisco de Miranda, both of whom
were to lead military expeditions on behalf of the British. Wil-
liamson returned to New York with a new British ambassador
to the United States, Anthony Merry; they arrived at the same
time, perhaps on the same boat.

At a dinner meeting in Washington early in 1804, Senators
Timothy Pickering and William Plumer of New Hampshire, and
Senators James Hillhouse and Uriah Tracy and Representative
Roger Griswold of Connecticut, spoke to Vice-President Burr
about their plans for secession. Senator Hillhouse told Burr at
that meeting that “the United States would soon form two dis-
tinct and separate governments.’”

Henry Adams, the Anglophile historian of the early 19th cen-
tury, wrote that the new British ambassador “meddled” and
encouraged this and other plots against the American Union out
of spite against President Jefferson. But the huge web of as-
sociations that Aaron Burr maintained with the British-Swiss
secret service organization—one part of which is shown on the
chart on page 91-—must demonstrate to the impartial reader
that Mr. Merry was no “foolish diplomat.”

The Death of Hamilton

Aaron Burr’s New York organization had provided the margin
of victory for the Democratic-Republicans in the 1800 national
elections. But Burr had been immediately isolated within the
administration by President Jefferson (though never by Treasury
Secretary Gallatin), and he was to be dropped from the re-
election ticket in 1804. Burr’s place as Vice-President was to
be taken by New York’s Governor George Clinton.

5. William Plumer to John Quincy Adams, Dec. 20, 1828, Documenis Relating

to New England Federalism, p. 144.

A
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The plan of the pro-British party was now to elect Aaron Burr
governor of New York, where he was to lead that state, and
possibly New Jersey and Pennsylvania, out of the Union along
with the otherwise weak New England states.

Again, Alexander Hamilton plunged in with passionate inten-
sity at the crucial moment, denouncing Burr; and though his
own Federalist Party endorsed Burr for governor, Hamilton
called for the election of his Republican opponent. By pulling
out all the stops, by ignoring all the niceties, Hamilton managed
to disturb enough otherwise sleepy people that Burr was soundly
defeated.

Allirrelevant “psychological” explanations aside, the plain fact
was that Burr could accomplish little to the detriment of the
United States from this point on if Alexander Hamilton remained
alive. So Burr killed him.

Why Hamilton went along with the duel proposed by Burr—
whether to accommodate “popular prejudices,” as Hamilton’s
last writings indicate, or as a deliberate self-sacrifice calculated
to end Burr’s career, or as a blind action based on Burr’s ma-
nipulation of some weakness in Hamilton’s character— or whether
Hamilton really intended to win the duel had his gun not misfired,
as some historians claim, may never be known. The fact remains
however, that Aaron Burr killed Alexander Hamilton, the foun-
der of the independent economic system of the United States;
and deliberately killing another person was then, as now, against
the law, whether in a duel or otherwise. Burr should rightfully
have been punished for murder.

Hamilton was shot on July 11, 1804, and died the following
day. OnJuly 20, 1804, while Burr awaited the coroner’s findings,

John Jacob Astor made available $41, 783. The following morning,
Burr fled New York.

During the period 1803 to 1805, Astor “expended in purchases
from Burr. . . alittle over $116,000.” In return Burr transferred
to Astor title to very valuable Manhattan real estate—which
was not Burr’s property.®

6. Porter, John Jacob Astor, Vol. 11, p. 920 and 946. Quoting Porter: “in 1797
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Burr now proceeded to Philadelphia, where he conferred with
Colonel Charles Williamson of British intelligence. Williamson
was Burr’s law client, his partner in the New York state leg-
islature, and key agent in New York State since 1792.

After the Burr-Williamson conference, the following letter
was sent by the proud British Ambassador Anthony Merry to
his home office in London—it was fished out of the British
archives later on in the nineteenth century by historian Henry
Adams:

I have just received an offer from Mr. Burr, the actual
Vice-President of the United States, to lend his assistance
to his majesty’s government in any matter in which they
may think fit to employ him, particularly in endeavoring to
effect a separation of the western part of the United States
from that which lies between the Atlantic and the moun-
tains, in its whole extent. His proposition on this and other
subjects will be fully detailed to your lordship by Colonel
Williamson, who has been the bearer of them to me, and
who will embark for England in a few days.’

Burr was appointed chairman of a committee from the New York legislature
to enquire into the affairs of Trinity Church. For some reason the inves-
tigation was never made, but on May 11, 1797, the chairman emerged as
owner of the remainder of the Mortier lease. Burr, as always, was financially
embarrassed, and obtained a mortgage on this lease for $38,000 from the
Manhattan Bank, whose charter he had been responsible for procuring.
Burr's extravagence . . . soon made it necessary for him to raise sore
more funds . . . to Astor he applied. . . on October 22, 1803, Astor bought
for $62,500 the remainder of the Trinity lease . . . subject to the mortgage,
which he satisfied on July 20, 1804, by paying $41,783. During that autumn
and the following year Astor bought other lots and lease-remainders from
Burr, to a total value of more than $12,000, an $8,000 purchase of a lease
being made in the month after Burr’s duel with Hamiiton.”

Whether the $41,783 mortgage was “satisfied” by a payment directly
through Burr, or to Burr’s bank, the Manhattan Company, thence to Burr,
somehow Burr was enabled to make his escape journey from New York
to the South.

7. Anthony Merry to British Foreign Secretary Lord Harrowby, August 6,
1804, quoted in Adams, Henry, History of the United States of America tn
the First Administration of Thomas Jefferson, Charles Scribner’s Sons, New
York, 1921, Vol. II, p. 395. n\
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The letter is dated August 4, 1804, less than a month after
the killing of Hamilton. Burr was by this time under indictment
in New York and New Jersey. But already the Burr organization
was plastering over the skeleton in the closet. Morgan Lewis,
Governor of New York and brother-in-law of Robert and Edward
Livingston, denounced the indictment of Burr as “disgraceful,
illiberal, and ungentlemanly.” The Burr legal and public relations
machine succeeded in reducing the New York State murder
charge to a misdemeanor; the New Jersey murder indictment
stood.

Burr traveled surreptitiously southward. He received a warm
reception and had a lively set of conferences with his son-in-
law, Joseph Alston, owner of possibly the largest plantation in
South Carolina; with Senator Pierce Butler, Burr'’s close friend,
who had threatened a dissolution of the Union in the First Con-
gress, on June 11, 1789; and with other “forefathers” of the
Confederacy.

Returning now to Washington, Aaron Burr resumed his chair
in the Senate as presiding officer, as Vice-President! Legally he
could not be touched— he had immunity from state-level pros-
ecutions as long as he was Vice-President and on federal ter-
ritory. Politically, the hand of the administration was extended
to him, in the person of Secretary of the Treasury Albert Gal-
latin.

Burr’s Swiss cousin Gallatin met repeatedly with the fugitive
Vice-President, while writing that “unquenchable hatred of Burr
and federal policy have combined in producing an artificial sen-
sation much beyond what might have been expected; and a
majority of both parties seem disposed . . . to deify Hamilton
and to treat Burr as a murderer. The duel, for a duel, was
certainly fair,”®

Jefferson was convinced that Burr’s services were yet needed,
and could be used, as presiding officer in the Senate: an im-

8. Albert Gaflatin to James Nicholson, July 19, 1804, Gallatin Papers.
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peachment trial was pending in that body for Federalist Judge
Samuel Chase, one of the judicial officers Jefferson wanted to
purge to clear the decks for his own party. With Albert Gallatin’s
timely advice, the President gave Burr three appointments which
would supposedly secure Burr’s aid against Judge Chase:

*General James Wilkinson, Burr’s collaborator since the Con-
way Cabal against George Washington—and now the highest-
ranking U.S. Army officer since the death of General Alexander
Hamilton—was made governor of Upper Louisiana Territory.

sJohn Bartow Prevost, Burr’s stepson and a Swiss oligarchical
assassin by heredity and association, was made judge of the
Territorial Superior Court at New Orleans.

*James Browne, brother-in-law of Burr’s deceased wife—the
Brownes and the Burrs had been married in a double wedding
ceremony—was made secretary of the Upper Louisiana Ter-
ritory.

Burr’s Louisiana appointees joined an entire Burr organization
that had been accumulating in that region since it had left Spanish
jurisdiction.

Napoleon Bonaparte had thrown a monkey wrench into British
plans for taking over the Western Hemisphere in 1803. He had
obtained the entire middle area of North America from the
Spanish—the Louisiana Territory, stretching from the present
state of Louisiana in a broadening triangle up to the Canadian
border. He had then sold the entire territory to the United
States, which had been hoping to obtain only a small piece.

As a result, the job of the British agents had become more
complicated: attacking and conquering Louisiana would now mean
attacking the United States.

James Workman, author of the British government memo-
randum on the conquest of the Western Hemisphere, left
Charleston, South Carolina, and traveled to New Orleans, where
he managed to have himself appointed judge of New Orleans
County.

Edward Livingston, New York’s mayor and district attorney,
and confederate of Burr and Gallatin, quit his posts, accepted
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$12,000 from John Jacob Astor,® and went to “start life anew”
in Louisiana.

“Judge” Workman and Edward Livingston became the leaders
of an organization known as the Mexican Association. The group’s
program was explained to new recruits by Workman and his
Irish immigrant operatives, as reported in Thomas P. Aber-
nethy’s exhaustive book, The Burr Conspiracy:

Baton Rouge was to be seized, the Mexican standard
then was to be raised, troops collected, and a British naval
force from New Providence in the Bahamas assembled on
Lake Ponchartrain. Arms were to be sent up to Fort Adams,
a post that might be captured to serve as a base of oper-
ations. . . . After the capture of Baton Rouge, the money
in the banks and the shipping in the river at New Orleans
were to be seized, in order to organize an expedition to
join Miranda by way of Mexico.*

The conspiracy to attack and seize the U.S. territory of Lou-
isiana, and to set up an as-large-as- possible western buffer state
under British protection, was the operative version of the British
plan of 1800, committed to writing by James Workman.

The French minister in Washington, Louis Marie Turreau,
wrote home to Foreign Minister Talleyrand:

Louisiana thus is going to be the seat of Mr. Burr’s new
intrigues; he is going there under the aegis of General
Wilkinson. It is even asserted that he might find the means
there already prepared by a certain Livingston . . . from
New York City and who is closely associated with Burr. "

9. Porter, John Jacob Astor, Vol I, p. 923. )

10. Abernethy, Thomas Perkins, The Burr Conspiracy, Oxford University
Press, New York, 1954, p. 25.

11. Parmet, Herbert S. and Hecht, Marie B., Aaron Burr: Portrait of an
Ambitious Man, Macmillan Company, New York, 1967, p. 240.
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Burr was not shy about obtaining aid from men and women
of the cloth. In the words of Burr’s executor, Matthew Davis:

The Catholic bishop, resident at New Orleans, was also
consulted, and prepared to promote the enterprise. He
designated three priests of the order of Jesuits, as suitable
agents, and they were accordingly employed. . . . Madame
Xavier Tarjcon, superior of the convent of Ursuline nuns
at New Orleans, was in the secret. Some of the sisterhood
were also employed in Mexico. 2

Aaron Burr spent the years 1804 to 1806 preparing to lead
combinations of American mercenaries and British naval forces
in action commencing in the Midwest and proceeding through
New Orleans. Tons of paper have been wasted, anguished mil-
lions of words have been strewn onto pages, speculating as to
Aaron Burr’s intentions in this business. Since Burr had no values
or commitments in the ordinary sense, it is of far greater use
to ascertain, as we have done, the intentions of his London
patrons and employers.

We have provided herein—for the first time since these events
took place—the lines of association between Burr, his partner
and cousin Albert Gallatin, and the British secret service or-
ganization. Any other approach to the Burr “Western Conspir-
acy” runs into the problem of having to piece through evidence
that was destroyed or tampered with by the participants, and
later reported on by historians whose sympathies for British-
American “re-association” should cast doubt on their zeal for
digging into this matter.

We will cite here only those facts, among a mountain of avail-
able data, which shed light on crucial future historical devel-
opments, and which serve to round out the picture of the main
Protagonists of this history.

William Eaton, an American diplomat who had helped in the

—_—
12. Burr, Memoirs, Vol 11, p. 382.
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fight against the Barbary pirates, testified at Burr’s 1807 trial
“Mr. Burr inquired of me with what officers of the marine corps
and of the navy I was acquainted. I told him with most of them.
It is impossible for me to remember distinctly every adverb
expressed to me in the course of conversation; but this I per-
fectly recollect, that if he could gain the marine corps, and secure
to his interest the naval commanders, Truxton, Preble, and
Decatur, he would turn Congress neck and heels out of doors,
assassinate the President, (or what amounted to that,) and de-
clare himself the protector of an energetic Government. If that
distinct expression was not used, (though the impression is
distinct on my mind that it was used in the course of conver-
sation) yet he used such expressions as these: ‘hang him,’ ‘throw
him into the Potomac,” ‘send him to Carter’s Mountain.’. . . .he
said the blow must be struck, and if he struck it at that time
and place, he would be supported by the best blood of Amer-
ica.”3

One of Burr’s assistants on the Western project was even-
tually promoted for the Presidency of the United States under

13. Testimony of General William Eaton, Sept. 26, 1807, in American State
Papers; Documents, Legislative and Executive, of the Congress of the United
States, Gales and Seaton, Washington, D. C., 1834, Vol. I, p. 537.

See also the statement to the jury by the United States Attorney for
Virginia, George Hay: “To those in whom he confided, he asserted, that
all the men of property and influence were dissatisfied with [the govern-
ment’s] arrangements, because they were not in the proper situation to
which they were entitled: that with five hundred men he could effect a
revolution by which he could send the president to Monticello, intimidate
congress, and take the government of the United States into his own
hands.” Reporis of the Trials of Colonel Aaron Burr . . . In The Circuit
Court of the United States . . ., taken in short hand by David Robertson,
Counselor at Law, Published by Hopkins and Earle, Fry and Kammerer,
Philadelphia, 1808, Vol. I, p. 447.

See also Prentiss, Charles, The Life of the Late Gen. William Eaton,
Principally Collected from his Correspondence and Other Manuscripts,
Printed by E. Merriam and Co., Brookfield [state?], 1813, rare book
room, Library of Congress. Prentiss includes an affidavit that Eaton gave
to the prosecution before the trial, substantially the same as his courtroom
testimony. The affidavit was quite famous at the time.
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Burr’s and Livingston’s guidance. Andrew Jackson, Burr’s friend
from the Senate days, had provided Burr with hospitality, praise,
recruits (including his own nephew), and the boats with which
to transport the mercenary army Burr was assembling down
the Ohio River. '

The collapse of the conspiracy seems to have been caused
by the habit (intensely annoying to feudal oligarchs and their
employees) of ordinary American citizens to speak out when
they suspect that something is being done against the interests
of their country. Among these was Joseph Hamilton Daveiss,
district attorney for Kentucky, who wrote to President Jefferson
on January 10, 1806, outlining the secession plot and asking for
the dispatch of investigators.

Eventually General Wilkinson decided to turn against Burr,
apparently to save himself. He declared martial law in New
Orleans and arrested Burr and several co-conspirators. Judge
James Workman—described only as “an Englishman of three
years residence”** in the Abernethy account—released Burr and
his associates and began attacking Wilkinson as a liar.

But Burr was re-arrested, along with Workman and several
other eligible characters. One of those taken and sent in chains
to Washington was Dr. Justus Erich Bollman, Burr’s go-between
for European arms and financing, who had previously been em-
ployed by Jacques Necker’s daughter Madame de Stael in smug-
gling operations within Revolutionary France.

Edward Livingston, who had been installed as Grand Master
of the Louisiana Masonic Lodge as soon as he arrived there,
was in sufficient command of the affairs of the legal community
to have all charges against himself dropped. All the main con-
spirators managed to get off as well.

Burr’s treason trial in Richmond, Virginia, was presided over
by Supreme Court Justice John Marshall. Burr was acquitted,
as the jury said, on the basis of the evidence with which they
were presented. They insisted on that explicit verdict, despite

14. Abemnethy, The Burr Conspiracy, p. 167.
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protests from Burr’s attorneys. In fact, the crucial evidence by
which all historians today judge Burr’s activities—such as the
letter of British Ambassador Merry—was not available for con-
sideration at that trial.

Witness Andrew Jackson—who was not himself charged be-
cause he had earlier “warned” of Burr’s designs—denounced
the President for “oppressing” Burr. And Albert Gallatin’s old
friend, Paul Henry Mallet-Prevost, Burr's cousin, swore that
he wasn't involved in the plot, and had refused to take part.®

When he left the scene of the trial, Burr was a hated and a
hunted man. He was wanted by mobs, to be lynched. He was
wanted by several states, on charges including treason.

Burr Goes to Britain

Burr made his way to New York in disguise. After receiving tens
of thousands of dollars in cash advances for his house from John

15. Clarence B. Fargo, in his History of Frenchtown [a New Jersey town just
across the river from Pennsylvania), privately printed in New York, 1933,
[copy in the local history section of the Library of Congress] tells us “Paul
Henri Mallet-Prevost . . . had fled the scene of the French Revolution
and settled at this point along the banks of the Delaware. . . . Gradually
a small settlement grew up about Prevost, and the people taking him for
a Frenchman, called the place Frenchtown. . . .

“Aaron Burr had married the widow of Colonel James Marcus Prevost,
who had once held the office of commander-in-chief of the King’s forces
in New Jersey. He was a distant connection of Paul Henri Mallet-Prevost.

“Tradition tells us that one evening in the year of 1804, a lady and
gentleman on horseback rode up to the Prevost residence. . . . The
gentieman[’s] name was Aaron Burr, former [sic] Vice President of the
United States, and . . . the lady was his daughter, Miss Theodosia Burr.
It was the year of the Burr-Hamilton duel and very possibly Burr was in
virtual hiding at the time.

“The fact came out in conversation that Miss Burr and her host were,
in a sense, relatives. Aaron Burr was dreaming of his coming Empire.
All evening long he talked . . . of his ambitions. . . . Burr. . . later fell
so far from his high estate that he was tried for treason and became an
exile,” hosted, of course, by Mallet-Prevost’s relatives in Britain.

The author of this curious vignette says nothing more about Paul Henry
Mallet-Prevost’s actions with respect to Burr’s proposals for breaking up
the United States!
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Jacob Astor, he fled the country, June 7, 1808, on a ship bound
for Nova Scotia.

The British governor of Nova Scotia was Sir George Prevost,
Burr’s nephew by marriage, who was soon to be Governor
Qeneral of Canada. Prevost welcomed Burr effusively, and gave
him a royal send-off to England with a letter of introduction to
the British Secretary of War Lord Castlereagh.!6

When Aaron Burr arrived in England, he swore to customs
officials that he was “born within the King’s allegiance and his
parents British subjects.” His purpose in coming to England?
“I am known personally to Lord Mulgrave and [Prime Minister]
Canning, to whom the motives for my visit have been declared.
These reasons have long been known to Lord Melville”—special
operations chief Henry Dundas.

‘While in Britain, Burr divided his time between visits with
his Mallet-Prevost relatives; with Jeremy Bentham, who gave
Burr the entire use of his London house and servants; and with
the Scottish nobility, who, under the leadership of Shelburne
ggd Dundas, had poured the plague of opium upon Asia. Perhaps
it is fitting that, while visiting his applauding patrons among the
Jardines, the Hopes, and the Ogilvies, Burr was himself be-
coming addicted to opium.

The .diary Burr kept during the four years of his European
exile'” is enlightening from several standpoints. It contains the
r.ecord of Burr’s day-to-day relations with the British and con-
tinental noble families, whose hostility to the existence of the

16. George Prevost's Letter of
passage for Aaron Burr,
of The Burr Papers: reel 6 frame 343

.Gove,srmnent House, Halifax, June 20, 1808 To the Collector of His
Meyesty s_Customs, or who else it may concern:

You will a'llow the bearer (Mr. G.H. Edwards [Burr’s nom-de-guerre])
to p.roceed without delay from Falmouth to London; the said G. H. Edwards
havmg dequtches for the Right Hon. Lord Castlereagh, at whose office
he is immediately to present himself on his arrival in London.

17. Private Journal of Aaron Burr, Th [eignedl Qeqrge S
, The Post Express Printing C
Rochester, N. Y., 1903 (2 volumes). g ompany,
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United States makes the document embarrassing to apologists
for “Burr the loner.” Its pornographic banality—endless details
of Burr’s relations with prostitutes (prices, quality, etc.)—is
shocking, considering the diary was written to be shown to his
daughter Theodosia. Most importantly, the character of the man
and his relations, when compared to that displayed in other
men’s diaries of the time— such as John Quincy Adams’s splendid
12-volume record*®*—places Burr’s apologists in a ridiculous light.

It is quite understandable, though not excusable, that the
diary of Aaron Burr would have found its way into the hands of
New York Times founder Henry Raymond, to be suppressed by
his family until 1903. ‘

18. Diary of John Quincy Adams, 1784-1845, Longmans, Green and Co., New
York and London, 1928.

_6—
Burr’s Machine Prepares
America’s Surrender

The United States Burr fled from was crippled by dissension.
The previous year, 1807, the Jefferson-Gallatin administration
had responded to escalating attacks against American shipping
by imposing an embargo against all U.S. export trade with foreign
countries. To punish Britain and France for stealing our ships,
cargoes, and crews, we would prohibit our ships from sailing
anywhere they might get themselves captured!

This might have been positive—it did, indeed, increase native
manufacturing by stifling foreign competition—except for the
fact that Treasury Secretary Albert Gallatin of Switzerland was
put in charge of enforcing the embargo. Under Gallatin, trade
with France and her allies was completely cut off, both by the
U.S. Navy ships Gallatin employed, and the British cruisers
which dominated the Atlantic. At the same time, trade with
Britain—smuggling across the ocean and across the border with
Canada—flourished under Gallatin’s peculiar enforcement. The
British consul in Boston arrogantly gave “licenses” to American
shippers to pass the British blockade after running their own
country’s blockade of itself.

This pathetic display of weakness by the government fed the
sedition of the New England Federalists. John Quincy Adams
went public 20 years later with a denunciation of the designs of
the “Thirteen Confederates” who had plotted with Aaron Burr
to dismember the Union and who still, in 1808, were working
with England against the United States.

81
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James Madison was elected President in 1808, and Albert
Gallatin was now in the most powerful position of his life; he
continued in the Treasury post, and was, for all major policy
decisions, virtually President. Aaron Burr’s personal physician
and protégé, Dr. William Eustis of Boston,' was sworn in on
March 7, 1809, as Secretary of War. Enemies of the United
States were now in power both within the administration and
in its opposition, centered in Boston.?

1. For Eustis’s relationship with Burr, see Burr’s letters to him in The Burr
Papers. These begin at least as early as Oct. 10, 1777, when they were
chums together on the dark side of the Revolutionary army; they run
through Eustis’s efforts as Burr’s political agent in Boston on behalf of
Burr’s duplicitous try for the U. S. Presidency Nov. 11, 1800 and Jan. 16,
1801; Burr's rather peremptory and demeaning use of Eustis as a fiscal
agent and personal henchman, March 9, 1801; Burr's daughter Theodosia’s
letter to family-doctor Eustis Oct. 6, 1808, during Burr's exile; and Burr’s
resumed use of Eustis as his agent following his return from exile, March
3, 1813.

2. A strikingly accurate appraisal of the situation in the Madison administration
was published on Sept. 3, 1811, in the Aurora, the Philadelphia newspaper
of Jeffersonian William Duane. It took the form of a thinly disguised allegory
about ancient Egypt, concerning the pharach Amenophis (President Mad-
ison), and his chief baker (Albert Gallatin). It is of course applicable to any
situation of a President and his “palace guard.” A few excerpts follow:

There [was] a terrible darkness on the land of Egypt . . . it was admirable
to behold many places totally dark; when in the very next adjoining, they
were totally light. To [understand] this was only in the power of philosophy
. . . I ventured boldly into the capital palace of Amenophis; though every
way to approach it was involved in darkness.

After I had entered into the INNER-CHAMBER in private, I saw some
apartments irradiated with surprising splendor, and others hid in mysterious
obscurity.—How highly agitated was I, to see CHIEFS, and a few CHIEF
MINISTERS and SECRETARIES enjoying a perfect light, while the great
HEAD OF OUR NATION was busied (as it appeared) in almost incon-
ceivable obscurity . . . unconscious of the gathering clouds and darkness
that surrounded him, and would ere long prove his certain ruin. . . .

I did the duty of a faithful monitor and subject; I informed this GREAT
MAN, whose ease and security was lulling him into a dose [doze], that
some unfriendly MINISTER, who had sinister views, kept him in the dark
to answer his abominable designs of wickidness, while he enjoyed all the
knowledge and happiness of light. But ah! unhappy, credulous and partial
man! he answered, “it is told me the people are on my side, and they have
no more light than I have; nay even that I enjoy more than they; whom
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But a powerful movement to break the country out of this
catastrophe was soon to emerge under the congressional lead-
ership of Henry Clay of Kentucky. Clay and his followers pro-
posed full-scale war with Britain, and the American conquest of
Canada, as the salvation of American honor and independence,
and of a revived national spirit.

whould I believe but my servants? Am I not their master? Dare they
deceive and mock me? Begone thou weak and JEALOUS PHILOSOPHER,
speak not against my servants. [ will not hear anything that can be said
against them . . . to accuse them is accusing my judgement, which made
them what they are.”

I then repaired to the apartment of the CHIEF BAKER (or premier)
and demanded some explanation on affairs of the utmost importance; I was
admitted into his hall of audience, and found him accompanied with many
chief rulers [of the cabinet, etc] . .. all was light, all was joy, all was
triumph; they seemed well pleased that the darkness, which prevailed in
so many places in the land, could not be traced out; and it was some cause
of merriment to them, to see the people groping in the darkness. . . .

I addressed myself [to the chief baker] . . . “I am a petitioner from the
people . . . I come to desire . . . that you would bring the head of our
nation out of this darkness. . . .” “A very pretty request,” truly cried the
CHIEF BAKER, “ha, ha, as you are a wise man, and versed in the ARCANA
of NATURE and PHILOSOPHY; but were you in the least acquainted with
the mysteries of state juggling, you would not mention so ridiculous a thing.
You seem to be surprised at this; but sir, the moment I should let the
nation know the complex and secret springs of action and how they must
be ruled and bring them to the light, I should be dismissed, perhaps hanged,
how could I vindicate myself in keeping them in the state of perplexities,
which have disturbed a nation’s peace, and almost brought them to the
brink of ruin . . . they know not what I do.”

“We ministers, (at will and pleasure,) plan, digest and execute, every-
thing beforehand: the HEAD of the nation will not much worry his brain
about them or us. In short let him eat, drink and be merry; have his
tournaments and levees; he has nothing to do but approve our decrees,
and give us support; and he and the nation may as well be in the dark, as
n the light.”

I was, I confess, astonished at the INGRATITUDE and WICKEDNESS
of this MINISTER: who was FORTUITOUSLY IMPOSED into the nation,
by some ISMAELITISH caravan, and who by the arts, hypocrisy, and
contrivance, had arrived to great consequence . . . among the other BEYS
of the nation and considered its premier. This man being of a deep, dark
and plotting mind, had heretofore made himself necessary to the PRED-
ECESSOR OF AMENOPHIS [i.e., the previous president, Thomas Jef-
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Gallatin tried his best to discourage Clay’s nationalists, pre-
vailing on President Madison to do or say nothing to give Britain,
or Britain’s American opponents, a pretext for war. He published
an annual report in November 1811, warning of the drastic tax
increases and higher interest rates that a war would necessitate.

Virginia Senator William Giles introduced a bill in December
1811 to raise a 25,000-man army for five years’ service. The
administration had said the nation could not afford such a military
force. Giles retorted that perhaps Treasury Secretary Gallatin
lacked either the talent or the desire to defend the national
honor, that he acted as if it were more important to retire the
public debt than to provide for national defense. Giles contended
that if Gallatin were such a financial genius, he would be able
to find a way to finance the necessary measures.

The attack against Gallatin, unfortunately, also brought down
the Bank of the United States, whose 20-year charter expired
without renewal in 1811. No institution viewed as being under
Gallatin’s domination could be approved by the enraged Con-
gress.

The United States was bankrupt, insulted, without any ap-
preciable naval force. Henry Clay and his followers put the
matter bluntly to James Madison: either you declare war, or we
get a new President in the 1812 elections. The Second War for
Independence, as it was known then, was declared on June 12,
1812.

The previous month, on May 5, Aaron Burr had returned

ferson]: though abhorred by the people, he was seemingly a friend to the
nation, though in fact their enemy, and was always devising ways and
means to fill his master’s and the nation’s coffers; and when done, would
let no one finger it but himself and his minions. . . .

[The ruler retained the chief baker and his crew; thus] they helped poor
AMENOPHIS into the RED SEA, A SEA OF BLOOD! in which, by the
righteous retributions of God’s providence, he persihed, and his whole
host.

[Signed] HISTORIOGRAPHER

[dated] New Geneva

[the home town Gallatin created in Pennsylvanial,
July 3, 1811.
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from exile, landing in Boston. In disguise, he made his way to
Harvard University, where Harvard’s President Kirkland gave
Burr a check drawn on the Harvard treasury’ to allow him to
return to New York. Still in disguise, and still under indictment
for treason and other crimes in various states, Burr went back
to New York.

Preparing for his return, Burr’s daughter Theodosia had writ-
ten to Albert Gallatin and the President’s wife, Dolly Madison
(who knew Aaron before she knew James), asking them to
arrange for his indictments to be quietly forgotten. Somehow,
this was done. Burr was back, and had visited Boston, the center
of anti-American operations, just before the war began.

The first six months of war were a disaster for the United
States. General William Hull, based in Michigan, planned the
defense of Detroit with Secretary of War William Eustis, before
war was declared. On his way west, Hull’s convoy was attacked
by the British out of Canada, who had somehow been informed
that the war had started, while Hull somehow had not been
informed. All of the general’s papers, all of his orders, and most
of his supplies and equipment were taken by the British. When
he engaged, soon after, in combat back and forth across the
Canadian border, Hull was demoralized, was never reinforced,
was never given intelligence from the outside. Surprised by a
force of British soldiers and Indians threatening “uncontrolled
outrages,” Hull surrendered Detroit without firing a shot.

One invasion of Canada was attempted with leadership pro-
vided by General James Wilkinson, who had been an agent for
several nations in Burr’s Western Conspiracy. Wilkinson did not
conquer Canada.

A plan for winning the war, and badly damaging the British
Empire, was presented to the War Department by a Lieutenant
Colonel Jessup. The plan called for a full-scale assault on the
British naval base at Nova Scotia. This was not only the pivotal
point for British naval operations in the Atlantic; it was a source

¥
3. Parmet and Hecht, Aaron Burr, p. 328.
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of raw materials, primarily forest products, for the construction
of most of Britain’s fleet. Knocking out this vital station would
have the additional benefit of boosting the trading and fisheries
interests of the American northeast states, by removal of their
commercial competition. This would be a way to restore the
New Englanders to their proper national allegiance.*

Aaron Burr’s personal physician, Secretary of War William
Eustis, contemptuously rejected the plan and closed the subject.

Bankrupting the U.S.A.

The war effort was being stymied in a less dramatic, but even
more devastating fashion, however. It had been arranged by
the British in Canada, now led by Governor-General Sir George
Prevost—the nephew of both Aaron Burr and Albert Gallatin’s
teacher Paul Henri Mallet—that certain brokers in Boston would
distribute British bonds for sale in major U.S. cities. The bonds
carried high-interest premiums, so that those who bought them
made a lot of money; the brokers received a commission; and
American gold, which would otherwise have been available to
support the American war effort, was smuggled by the Bos-
tonians into Canada and across the Atlantic to support the British
war effort. U.S. government bonds could be sold only with
difficulty; and in Boston, only in secret!®

When the Treasury was bare, and Gallatin under intense
pressure to stop the sabotage, the Treasury Secretary made a
deal with banker Stephen Girard of Philadelphia and John Jacob
Astor of New York. They would agree to take most of a
$16,000,000 government issue . . . but there were conditions.

Girard was to be assured that he could operate in any manner

4. Ingersoll, Charles, Historical Sketch of the Second War Between the United
States of America and Great Britain, Volume entitled “The Events of 1814,”
Lea and Blanchard, Philadelphia, 1849, pp. 236-239.

5. Carey, Mathew, The Olive Branch, Rowe and Hoopes, Boston, 1815, p.
286-306 Among other evidence Carey reprints an advertisement in the
Boston Daily Advertiser for Dec. 16, 1814, “GOVERNMENT BILLS.
British Government Bills for sale by Charles W. Green, No. 14, India
Wharf. . . .”
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of his choosing in Pennsylvania without the interference of state
authorities.® Astor, meanwhile, was already enjoying certain

6. Gallatin told Girard’s cashier “that the making of this loan by Mr. Girard
would have tendency to prevent the legislature of Pennsylvania from taking
measures to arrest the progress of Mr. Girard's bank.” The legislature
was attempting to outlaw unchartered banks, and Gallatin said that he
“would recommend to the several banks in which the public moneys are
deposits to receive in payment the notes of S. Girard’s bank” in lieu of
gold or the notes of chartered banks. Adams, Donald R., Jr., Finance and
Eutertrise in Early America: A Study of Stephen Girard's Bank, 1812-1831,
University of Pennsylvania Press, 1978, p. 26.

Where did Girard get the money with which to buy Gallatin’s influence?
Wildes, Harry Emerson, Lonely Midas: The Story of Stephen Girard, Farrar
& Rinehart, New York, 1943, p. 169-171: “On almost every ship that
sailed under the Girard blue permon for the East, 133-pound cases of opium
could be discovered in the-cargo, though never on the manifest. As early
as 1806, Hutchinson received orders to buy 20,000 pounds of high-grade
opium to be smuggled at either Macao or Canton. ‘Apply,’ said Stephen,
‘to the security merchant at Canton [“Houqua”], who, by the arrangements
which he will make with one of the head officers, will obtain permission to
have it landed without danger of seizure.’ If, contrary to expectation, guards
should visit the ship to make a search for the forbidden drug, Girard assured
the supercargo that ‘a small trifle will bribe them. . . .

“The trade increased rapidly in importance, until, by 1815, Baring Broth-
ers estimated that no less than a quarter million pounds were annually
exported for Chinese use. . . . Chinese efforts to reduce opium importation
had but slight effect upon Girard’s activities. By 1820 he was sending, by
the Rousseau alone, 7,500 pounds of opium per voyage, buying it at $900
a chest and selling it for nearly $2,000. He took for his own ships virtually
the entire supply available from the London, Hanburg and Amsterdam
markets. He bought 5,000 pounds from a Baltimore merchant who offered
Smyrna opium at the cut-rate of . . . $876 per chest. . . .

“These consignments were an important factor in the great bootleg opium
business; it was estimated that 40,000 pounds of opium passed into China
by way of Batavia alone . . . Girard’s share averaged about three-eighths
of the illigitimate business passing through Batavia. . . .”

Stephen Girard was eventually edged out of the opium business by the
syndicate formed in Boston — see Chapter 9 below. But Girard was making
millions of dollars by smuggling the deadly poison into China, entirely under
the protection of the British Empire, before, during and after the time
when the United States was at war with Great Britain. Yet Treasury
Secretary Albert Gallatin used his influence to negate the efforts of the
state of Pennsylvania to outlaw Girard’s enterprise, on the pretext of
borrowing from Girard some of his criminally-obtained funds.
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unusual privileges which tended toward the creation of a financial
oligarchy in the U.S.A. He had been given the use of Treasury
Department seals and franking on his private documents run by
couriers to his agents on America’s frontiers.

Gallatin took the first opportunity to escape the heat. When
the Russian government offered to mediate between Britain and
America, Gallatin asked President Madison to appoint him to
the negotiating team. Albert Gallatin was negotiating with the
British when Sir George Prevost led an invasion force into New
York State, while another British force raided and burned the
Capitol, the White House, and other buildings in Washington.

But how the disaster was turned around; how the little U.S.
Navy began smashing up the British; how some good Vermont
citizens defied their Tory governor and clobbered the invaders
from Canada; and how the American nationalist movement, led
by Henry Clay, Mathew Carey, and John Quincy Adams, used
the occasion of our victory to build a more permanent and ef-
fective defense force and a national economy that astonished
the world; must be reserved for future telling.

Burr and Gallatin lived on, into the 1830s and 1840s, re-
spectively. Burr proposed, after the war, that his co-conspirator
Andrew Jackson should be made President, so as to end the
domination of Virginia over that office (and the domination of
sane nationalists over the South). Jackson became Burr’s one-
man project. When the idea took hold, Edward Livingston was
on hand to guide Jackson’s course to the White House.

During the presidency of John Quiricy Adams, preceding that
of Jackson, the short-lived Anti-Masonic Party of the United
States was formed, with Adams’s encouragement, in reaction
to a case of kidnapping, torture, and murder perpetrated by
some Masons to preserve their secrets.

In 1830, shortly before he was named U.S. Secretary of State
by President Jackson, Edward Livingston was installed as Grand
High Priest of Masonry, in the tradition that had been left in
the United States by the evacuating British forces at the end
of the Revolution. It was to Secretary of State Edward Liv-
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ingston, then, that ex-President John Quincy Adams addressed
his famous Letters on the Subject of Masonry, in which he dem-
onstrated the incompatibility of the Masonic oaths of secrecy
with the public trusts and the public office which Livingston
held.”

In 1831, John Jacob Astor created the National Bank of New
York, and made Albert Gallatin its president. From that post,
Gallatin was the leader of the free trade movement in this coun-
try,® while his and Aaron Burr’s cousins, the Mallets, led that
movement in England. With the help of renewed threats from
the South Carolinians to secede from the Union, Gallatin’s move-
ment forced the repeal of the protective system and the final
destruction of the Second, restored Bank of the United States.
Thus were ruined all the Colbertist measures for industrial de-
velopment which had been established by Hamilton, torn down
by Gallatin’s Treasury Department, and re-established by Clay
and Adams. One last time, under President Abraham Lincoln
in the 1860s, was the full American System of the Founders to
be implemented in a resurgence of national growth.

After President Jackson, another protégé of Aaron Burr, Mar-
tin Van Buren—trained in the political and conspiratorial arts by
Burr during his Tammany Hall days and rumored to be his
illegitimate son—became President of the United States. He
immediately plunged the country into the blackest depression
of its short history, and was quite unpopular.

The political “theories” of Albert Gallatin live on today in the
work of Milton Friedman, Paul Volcker, and other monetarist
leaders.

The organization that Aaron Burr created to control America
and sabotage its independence is still in place.

The chart of the Mallet-Prevost family tree,® which shows

7. The Anti-Masonic Party may have been less effective in furtherance of
Adams’s views, and more useful to the designs of a faction of Masonry
seeking to dominate the field; see Chapter 10.

8. See Chapter 11.

9. Mallet-Prevost, Mallet Family, appendix chart.
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the generations of spymasters committing their lives to the
destruction of America—from Burr’s generation forward—sits
in the New York Public Library. On the chart will be found the
names Rhea and Petit Dulles, respectively cousin and uncle of
a founder of the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, Allen Dulles.
The Mallet-Prevosts, and allied family groupings in the era
of the American Revolution, continued to attack the United
States over the next two centuries from strategic nests within
financial, political, diplomatic, educational, and cultural institu-
tions. :
It was this continuing treasonous core-group of the British-
Swiss secret service in America, later including the Dulles and
Harriman families, which brought repeated tragedy to America
and the world—the Civil War and the two world wars.

The Small World of the
British-Swiss Secret Service

Agents Moving Between Geneva and North America

GEN. AUGUSTINE PREVOST Commander of British forces in
American Revolution in the south; brother of James Mark,
father of Sir George

CoL. JAMES MARK PREVOST Second-in-command to brother
Augustine against the Americans in the South; royal ad-
ministrator of British-conquered Georgia; co-husband of
Theodosia Prevost with Aaron Burr

MaJor JouN ANDRE Adjutant General of British Army; hanged
for managing Benedict Arnold’s treason; family joined Mal-
let-Prevosts in forming bank now known as Schlumberger
bank; military training at Geneva University

ALBERT GALLATIN U.S. Treasury Secretary under President
Jefferson; creator of systematic attack on Hamiltonian eco-
nomics; leader of free trade party through 1830s; initiated
anthropology in America

SIR GEORGE PrEVOST Commander of British forces in North
America, War of 1812; Governor General of Canada; son
of Augustine

North American-Based

AAarRON Burr U.S. Vice-President and grand spymaster against
U.S.A.; husband of Theodosia Prevost, step-father of John
B. Prevost
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JonN JacoB AsTOR Financed Burr’'s and Gallatin’s treason;
backed by East India Company; created slum system in
New York

THEODOSIA PREVOST Wife of Col. James Mark Prevost; wife
of Aaron Burr

CoL. CHARLES WILLIAMSON British military intelligence; co-
authored and brought Burr’s proposal for secession of
Western U.S. to British government; Burr’s law client;
New York State legislator and landlord

Joun B. PREVOST Son of James Mark and Theodosia Prevost;
stepson and political aide to Aaron Burr; U. S. diplomat

Geneva-Based

ABRrRAHAM PREVOST Cousin of France’s Necker and Gallatin;
Principal of Geneva University

PIERRE PREVOST Translator of Adam Smith and Thomas Mal-
thus; Professor, Geneva University

PauL HENRI MALLET First author of nordic-myth Teutonic
romanticism; anti-American strategist paid by King George
III of England; intimate of Gallatin and director of his stud-
ies; his brother’s wife the sister of Augustine and James
Mark Prevost

London-Based

LorD SHELBURNE Intelligence overlord coordinating British-
Swiss Secret Service

ETIENNE DUMONT Intimate of Gallatin; worldwide promoter
and translator of Bentham; tutor of Lord Shelburne’s sons

JACQUES MALLET DU PAN British spymaster in continental
Europe; cousin of Prevost, Necker, Gallatin

Apam SmitH East India Company operative; toured France
and Switzerland in 1760 arranging Swiss contacts for war
against France

French-Based

JacQUESs NECKER French controller of finances who conducted
austerity drive to wreck government; cousin of Gallatin,
Mallet-Prevosts; father of Madame de Stael

@'}

PART II
The True History of
the Civil War
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_7_
How Boston’s Brahmins

Sought to Destroy
the United States

In the spring of 1808, the future President of the United States,
Senator John Quincy Adams of Massachusetts, held an urgent
and confidential meeting with President Thomas Jefferson. Ad-
ams’s message was that members of his own party, the New
England Federalists, were engaged in a plot to bring about a
secession of the states of New England from the United States.!

Reduced to the most essential points, what Senator Adams
revealed to President Jefferson was the following: A group of
leading merchant and banking families of the Federalist Party
in New England, called the Essex Junto, was working in close
collaboration with agents of the British Secret Intelligence Ser-
vice (SIS) operating out of Boston. In their effort to bring about
an early secession, these treasonous plotters were playing upon
the discontent caused by the President’s total embargo against
all foreign trade.

Adams advised the President to change the terms of the
foreign-trade embargo, to limit the prohibition on foreign trade
only to trade with Britain and France. It had been the naval
forces of Britain and France which had been preying among U.S.

L. Documents Relating to New England Federalism. See also Young, Andrew
M., The American Statesman: A Political History . . , published by N.C.
Miller, New York, 1862; pp. 431-458. Young demonstrates (p. 431-439)
that a forgery of Thomas Jefferson’s views was produced after his death,
to injure John Quincy Adams’ reputation, to protect the Boston traitors,
and perhaps most important, to falsely impute to Jefferson anti-Union views.
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shipping. Jefferson accepted Adams’s advice. The advice suc-
cessfully weakened the secessionists’ organizing efforts for the
moment. :

This incident leads us directly to the true causes of the great
civil war which destroyed a half-million American lives during
1861-1865, equal to the combined total U.S. deaths in World
Wars I and 1L

In the series of chapters composing the present, second sec-
tion of our report on Treason in America, we focus our attention
on those leading New England families which gave us such
institutions as the Bank of Boston and such notable figures as
William and McGeorge Bundy today. We document the leading
features of their plot to destroy the United States, a plot which
we trace here from their effort to elect the traitor Aaron Burr
President of the United States, in 1800, into their role in creating
the Confederacy from the inside during the 1850s, in close
collaboration with Britain’s Lord Palmerston and the British
Secret Intelligence Service.

The general flavor of the New England plotters’ outlook is
shown by examining sections of the correspondence among some
of the leading members of the plot during the years 1803-1804,
four years before Senator Adams’s report to President Jefferson.

At the time Senator Adams delivered that report, leading

" members of the Essex Junto were known to have included the

following prominent personalities: Massachusetts Senator
George Cabot; the recently deceased Judge John Lowell (ances-
tor of the Bundys) and his son, John (“The Rebel”) Lowell;
former Secretary of State Timothy Pickering; merchant Stephen
Higginson; Massachusetts Supreme Court Justice Theophilus
Parsons; and Aaron Burr’s brother-in-law, Judge Tapping Reeve
of Litchfield, Connecticut. The name “Essex Junto” was derived
from the fact that all of the leading plotters, except Judge Reeve,
were born north of Boston, in Essex County, Massachusetts.

- It is from the correspondence of George Cabot, Timothy Pick-

ering, and Judge Reeve, that the following self-damning state-
ments of the plotters are taken.
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George Cabot to Timothy Pickering, February 14, 1804:

At the same time that I do not desire a separation at this
moment, I add that it is not practicable without intervention
of some cause which should be very generally felt and
distinctly understood as chargeable to the misconduct of
our southern masters . . . the essential alteration which
may in the future be made to amend our form of government
will be the consequences of only a great suffering, or the
immediate effects of violence. . . . Separation will be un-
avoidable, when our loyalty to the union is generally per-
ceived to be the instrument of debasement and
impoverishment. If a separat.on should, by and by, be pro-
duced by suffering, I think it might be accompanied by
important ameliorations of our theories.?

A picture of the fellow-plotter to whom George Cabot wrote
those observations is provided by excerpts from two items of
Timothy Pickering’s correspondence. The first is addressed to
one Richard Peters, and is dated December 24, 1803:

Although the end of all our Revolutionary labors and
expectations is disappointment, and all our fond hopes of
republican happiness are vanity, and the real patriots of '76
are overwhelmed by modern pretenders to that character,
I will not yet despair: I would rather anticipate a new con-
federacy, exempt from the corrupt and corrupting influence
of the aristocratic Democrats of the South. There will be—
and our children at farthest will see it—a separation. The
white and the black population will mark the boundary. The
British Provinces, even with the assent of Britain, will
become members of the Northern confederacy. . . .”3

and, the second, to George Cabot, dated January 29, 1804:

¥
2. Documents Relating to New England Federalism, pp. 346-349.
3. ibid, p. 338. ’
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I do not believe in the practicability of a long-continued
union. A Northern confederacy would unite congenial char-
acters, and present a fairer prospect of public happiness;
while the Southern States, having similarity of habits, might
be left “to manage their affairs in their own way.” . .. I
greatly doubt whether prudence should suffer the connec-
tion to continue much longer. . . . But when and how is a
separation to be effected? . . . If . . . Federalism is crum-
bling away in New England, there is not time to be lost
. . . Itslast refuge is New England; and immediate exertion,
perhaps, its only hope. It must begin in Massachusetts.
The proposition would be welcomed in Connecticut; and
could we doubt of New Hampshire? But New York must
be associated; and how is her concurrence to be obtained?
She must be made the centre of the confederacy. Vermont
and New Jersey would follow of course, and Rhode Island
of necessity. Who can be consulted, and who will take the
lead?*

From the correspondence of plotter Tapping Reeve, to Con-
necticut Senator Uriah Tracy, on February 7, 1804:

I have seen many of our friends; and all that I have seen,
and most that I have heard from, believe that we must
separate, and that this is the most favorable moment. The
difficulty is, How is this to be accomplished?®

The immediate origin of this conspiracy, the Essex Junto, had
been the organizing activities of a topmost British SIS intelli-
gence operative, Sir John Robison, during the years 1796-1797.
Robison, long a British spy and diplomat in the Russian part of
SIS’s service, had been promoted to high rank at the Edinburgh
~ office of SIS, from whence he had been deployed to conduct

4. ibid, pp. 338-342.
5. ibid, pp. 342-343.
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operations on the ground inside the United States. Although,
as we shall see, the kernel of the conspiracy had been New
England partners of the Aaron Burr network dating from the
outbreak of the War of 1776-1783—New England families closely
tied to the pro-British Tories during that war—it was Robison’s
activities which aided most in crystallizing such treasonous po-
tentialities into the plot concocted during 1796-1797. From then,
to the present day, the family traditions and financial connections
of those circles have been intimately associated with the British
Secret Intelligence Service (SIS), and to the British East India
Company and its spin-offs. Every step taken by the traitors was
taken in concert with Britain, and frequently also in collaboration
with powerful financier families of Venice, as well as such Swiss
families as the Mallet, de Neuflize, and Schlumberger.

The Eastern Establishment

Apart from these families whose names are still well-known
today, the terrible war of 1861-1865 was brought into being >y
other traitors, whose names are generally unknown today, but
who include nonetheless prominent national figures of the United
States in their time. These included men such as John Slidell,
the political boss of Louisiana, who was an important but clan-
destine architect of the war.

Although this report is based on primary documents from the
pens of the principal figures of each part of the period covered,
the truth of this matter is systematically avoided in popular and
university accounts of our nation’s history. What we are re-
Porting is the actual history of the United States during these
Periods, not the forgeries bought and paid for after the fact by
later generations of the guilty families, nor the fraudulent history
of the United States manufactured by such as Charles A. Beard,
Walter Lippmann, and Arthur Schlesinger.

We wish to stress once again, at this point, that what we are
Teporting is not merely the truth about decisive aspects of the
Past history of our nation. The same general philosophical world-
Outlook expressed by the traitorous plotters of the 1776-1861
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period, is the ruling philosophy of such institutions as the famous
New York Council on Foreign Relations today. The plottings
and projects today may be different than those of more than a
hundred years ago, but the philosophy governing the choice of
such policies and objectives remains, in all essentials, the same.,
The important fact is not purely and simply that the families of
those traitors of then are dominant in the ranks of ruling families
of our Eastern Establishment today. The connection is not merely
biological; in the greater part, these families have transmitted
the philosophical outlook under the treasonous projects of the
past into the mental life of their heirs of the present.

Not only is our Eastern Establishment of today a continuation
of the philosophical outlook of the traitors Burr and the “Essex
Junto” of then, by and large. These families and the new families,
such as the Morgans and Harrimans, recruited to enlarge their
ranks since, have had a persistently erosive influence upon our
national institutions over the entire period since the War of 1776-
1783. Our government, our political parties, prevailing policies
in matters of law, our educational system, our news-media, our
public entertainments, and in general prevailing currents of pop-
ular opinion, have all been cumulatively influenced by such ero-
sive influence of this powerful grouping within our national life.
To understand what we as a nation so often do to damage
ourselves, we must understand this powerful grouping, its origins,
its philosophical outlook, its traditions, and its history.

The account we give is therefore shocking, but true, and also
necessary and long overdue.

We resume the account, picking up the thread in Boston, in
the year 1800. In the presidential election of that year, the
Essex Junto, as part of the British plots centered around Aaron
Burr, had witnessed near-success of the effort to make Aaron
Burr President of the United States. Although Burr was the
vice-presidential running-mate of the Republican (Democratic-
Republican predecessor of the Democratic Party) Thomas Jef-
ferson, the plotters had rigged the election to the purpose of
making Burr, not Jefferson, the elected President. The plot had
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peen foiled almost singlehandedly by Alexander Hamilton. Ham-
iiton deplored Jefferson’s policies, but regarded him as no traitor,
and vowed it a matter of the national security of the republic
that Jefferson, not Burr, be awarded the victory.

This defeat of Burr’s ambition led into the events of 1803-
1804, concerning which John Quincy Adams wrote of “the design
of certain leaders of the Federal Party to effect a dissolution of
the Union, and the establishment of a Northern confederacy.
This design had been formed in the winter of 1803-1804. . . .
That project . . . had gone to the length of fixing upon a military
leader for its execution. . . .”¢ The central feature of the plotting
referenced in cited correspondence of the plotters themselves,
was to secure Burr’s election as the Governor of the State of
New York. Burr would then set up a breakaway Northern con-
federacy of New York, New Jersey, the New England states,
and, if possible, also Pennsylvania. Hamilton again intervened,
by wrecking Burr’s reputation, and pamphleteering to expose
the threat to the Union. When Burr lost the election, he chal-
lenged Hamilton to the famous duel, and killed him.

The new plottings of the Essex Junto in 1807-1808 were
dampened when John Quincy Adams exposed his fellow-Fed-
eralists to President Jefferson. It was only a delay. More treason
was soon to come.

Britain escalated its war on U.S. commerce, seizing U.S.
ships and taking thousands of U.S. sailors as virtual British
slaves. The election of the “warhawks,” Kentucky’s Henry Clay
and South Carolina’s John Calhoun, in 1812, enabled the patriots
of the nation to force a war against Britain upon the most-
reluctant administration of President Madison. The powerful,
Jacobin figure of the Swiss, Albert Gallatin, within the admin-
istration, was de facto a British Secret Intelligence agent, as he
showed himself at many points during the war itself. President
Madison’s wife, Dolly, had been a hand-picked selection of Aaron
Burr, himself. It was the newly elected Henry Clay, promptly

¥
6. ibid, pp. 52, 56.
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made Speaker of the House of Representatives, who forced the
prosecution of the war on a most-reluctant administration, and
the small, but able U.S. Navy which swept the mammoth British
sea power from much of the Atlantic Ocean, securing the Mal-
vinas Islands to the future nation of Argentina, and forcing the
British to make peace in 1815.

For about two years, beginning with the Declaration of War
on June 12, 1812, the Essex Junto shamelessly, publicly sab-
otaged the war-effort of the United States. They blocked re-
cruitment and deployment of troops, they threatened those who

purchased U.S. government bonds, while raising funds for, and

smuggling money and war-materiel to the enemy forces oper-
ating in Canada. President Madison alluded to the treasonous
antics of the Boston gang in his Second Inaugural Address of

March 4, 1813. In this address, he attacked the intrigues of .

“British commanders”: “Now we find them, in further contempt

of the modes of honorable warfare, supplying the place of a

conquering force by attempts to disorganize our political society,
to dismember our confederated Republic.””

The Essex Junto was busily engaged with its British masters
once again. They corroborated the President’s cautious allusion
during the course of 1814. The Junto called for a convention to
be held at Hartford, Connecticut, where the “grievances” of the
New England states might be crystallized into forceful anti-
government acts on a regionwide, or “sectional” basis.

Before this Hartford Convention could be convened, Phila-
delphia’s Mathew Carey dropped a political bomb on the Junto,
with the first publication of a book entitled The Olive Branch.
Carey was a leading figure of the early history of our republic.
An Irish republican fleeing British dogs, he arrived in Paris during
the War of 1776-1783 to enter into a close collaboration with
Dr. Benjamin Franklin. He settled in Philadelphia, promoting
Franklin’s scientific and technological projects there, and be-
coming a leading figure of the U.S. secret-intelligence service,

7. Inaugural Addresses of the Presidents of the United States, House Document
91-142; United States Government Printing Office, Washington, D. C
1969, p. 27.
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as well as the leading U.S. economist of the post-1815 period.
Carey’s The Olive Branch proposed bipartisan action by the
patriots of both parties, and detailed with cruel and elaborated
accuracy the treasonous activities of the Boston crowd, among
others.

For the moment, Carey’s book sent the traitors scuttling into
quiet corners. The Hartford Convention occurred, in December
1814, but the northern secessionist movement was thoroughly
discredited. The Convention, chaired by George Cabot, held
only secret sessions. The inconsequential resolutions published
by the Convention were disregarded, as the war ended weeks
later. Thereafter, popular opinion of the United States every-
where equated the Hartford Convention with treason, until the
1830s Nullification Movement in South Carolina revived the
Hartford Convention as a source of precedent for new efforts
to destroy the Union.

The letters referenced above were later published by John
Quincy Adams’s grandson, Henry Adams, during the 1870s, in
his Documents Relating to New England Federalism. Although
this collection was edited by a Henry Adams who was himself
a notorious anglophile, at political odds with his famous grand-
father, that editing does not conceal what is most essential. The
documentation shows the persistence of the disunion project,
over the span of a decade. It shows also that this treason was
not caused by any sectional special interest of some part of the
nation, nor for any reason of domestic issues at all. The inspi-
ration and guidance of the plot was not American in origin. The
plotters were determined to stop the American experiment in
constitutional federal government.

What were the plotters’ motives? Why did they commit them-
selves to so blatantly treasonous an enterprise? We shall come
to that matter in due course within the report. George Cabot
provides a hint in his cited letter to Timothy Pickering of Feb-
ruary 14, 1804:

All the evils you describe and many more are to be
apprehended; but I greatly fear that a separation would be
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no remedy, because the source of them is in the political

theorz:es of our country and in ourselves. . . . We are dem-
ocra}fzc altogether; and I hold democracy, in its natural op-
eration, to be the government of the worst. . . . At the same

time that I do not desire a separation at this moment, I
add that ¢ is not practicable without intervention of some
cause which should be very generally felt and distinctly
understood as chargeable to the misconduct of our southern
masters. . . . If no man in New England could vote for
legislators who was not possessed in his own right of two
thousand dollars value in land, we could do something
better; but neither this nor other material improvement
can be made by fair consent of the people. I incline to the
opinion that the essential alterations which may in future
be made to amend our form of government will be the
consequences only of great suffering, or the immediate
effects of violence. . . .® [Emphasis in original. ]

To rouqd out the state of mind of the plotters of 1803-1804,
thg following passage of a letter from Stephen Higginson to
Timothy Pickering on March 17, 1804 suffices:

It would be imprudent even to discuss the question, we
must wait the effects of still greater outrage and msult from
those in power before we prepare for the only measure
which can save the New England States from the snares
of Virginia . . . without some favorable events, the dem-
ocrats will succeed another year, and we shall be revolu-
tionized, and the other States will follow.®

The state of mind reflected in this corfespondence, most
notably the features of the George Cabot item whose key pas-
sages are noted above, for that reason, is best appreciated by

8. See footnote 2.
9. Documents Relating to New England Federalism, p. 361.
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reference to Sir John Robison’s Proofs of a Conspiracy, 1797,
later republished with enthusiastic endorsement by the John
Birch Society’® in the 1960s. In modern language, Robison
uhrainwashed” President John Adams and many others, into
believing that the French government of Lazare Carnot, which
had crushed the Jacobins, was complicit in conduiting the Jacobin
insurrections of Albert Gallatin et al. into the United States. In
fact, the British, together with the suppressed Jesuits and the
Swiss bankers allied to London, had created and directed the
Jacobins. By aid of the lying information as to the foreign source
of the Jacobin insurrections inside the U.S.A., Robison et al.
were able to crystallize the anti-democratic tendencies among
the New England crowd, to the effect which Cabot’s letter above
echoes most clearly. In consequence, the Essex Junto became
the foremost backers of the same Gallatin as a member of the
Jefferson and Madison cabinets! Sic transit gloria Boston.
Over the interval between those letters of 1804 and the 1813-
1814 period, the process leading toward the Newburyport plot-
ting of the 1861 breakup of the Union took clearer form in the

10. Robison, John, Proofs of a Conspiracy, 1798 edition printed by George
Forman, New York, reprinted by Western Islands, Belmont Massachu-
setts. Thomas Jefferson, in his retirement, roundly contradicted the Ro-
bison thesis by saying that the British ran the (“left-wing”) anarchists in
the French Revolution, and were running the Boston (“right-wing”) in-
surrectionists in the period of the War of 1812:

“The foreigner gained time to anarchise by gold the government he
could not overthrow by arms, to crush in their own councils the genuine
republicans, by the fraternal embraces of exaggerated and hired pre-
tenders, and to turn the machine of Jacobinism from the change to the
destruction of order; and in the end, the limited monarchy [the republicans]
had secured was exchanged for the unprincipled and bloody tyranny of
Robespierre. . . .”

The British have hoped more in their Hartford Convention. Their fears
of republican France being now done away, they are directed to republican
America, and they are playing the same game for disorganization here
which they played in your country. The Marats, the Dantons, and Ro-
bespierres of Massachusetts are in the same pay, under the same orders,
and making the same efforts to anarchise us, that their prototypes in
France did there.”—Jefferson to the Marquis de Lafayette, Feb. 14, 1815,
The Writings of Thomas Jefferson, Vol. XIV, pp. 246-251.
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correspondence of the plotters. The plan which was to emerge
during the 1840s and 1850s was only a hint by 1813-1814, but
the hint is there. Consider these passages from a letter of
Timothy Pickering, dated July 4, 1813, to George Logan:

If the Southern States should ever open their eyes to
see that their real interest is closely connected with that
of the other Atlantic States, and, by a union with them in
apportioning the public burdens, lay an equitable share of
them on the Western States, that moment the latter will
declare off, take to themselves the Western lands, and
leave the enormous war debt they have occasioned on the
shoulders of the Atlantic States. . . . if I should reach four-
score years, I may survive the present Union. Entertaining
that opinion, I cannot think, of course, that a separation at
this time would be an evil. On the contrary, I believe an
immediate separation would be a real blessing to the “good
old thirteen states.” ... I throw out this idea for the
consideration of yourself and [name edited out], to whom
I request you to mention it.!!

The idea of conspiring with elements of the “Southern States”
to arrange a dissolution of the Union out of common, if skewed
self-interests in such an outcome, was beginning to emerge in
the thinking of the plotters at this point in their search for a
dissolution of the republic. It would not be until the Scottish
Rite Freemasonry, which had taken over Boston, in opposition
to Franklin’s Free and Accepted Freemasonry, spread deeply
throughout the southern states, that the working basis for such
a plot could emerge as a well-defined proposition. The impulse
in that direction was, however, already there.

The last in this sampling of treasonous plotters’ correspond-
ence is something shaken out of McGeorge Bundy’s family tree.
It is a passage from a letter, dated December 3, 1814, from

11.. Documents Relating to New England Federalism, p. 391.
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John Lowell, nicknamed “The Rebel,” to Timothy Pickering.
The writer of the following passage was the son of Judge John
Lowell, and the chief public spokesman of the Essex Junto’s
anti-war movment of the 1812-1814 war with Britain, the “Peace
Party,” and the author of the pamphlets issued on behalf of that
“Peace Party”—the Tom Hayden of 1814, so to speak. He was
also the leading spokesman for disunion ideology at Harvard
University, and performed the same specialized role in that
curious Boston concoction called the Unitarian Church:

.. . On the subject of the Convention at Hartford . . .
my feelings . . . [ perceive, are very similar to yours. . . .
I gave great offense during the sitting of our legislature by
openly opposing the calling [of] a convention . . . until I
explained my reasons, which were that I was convinced
that the convention would not go far enough, and that the
first measure ought to be to recommend to the States to
pass laws to prevent our resources in men and money to
be withdrawn.

In short, to prohibit support from the States for conduct of
an openly declared war of the United States against a mortal
adversary! The letter-writer continues:

. . . The people en masse will act in six or twelve months
more. . . .

People . . . pretend to fear a civil war, if we assert our
rights. . . . The wrath of the Southern States . . . is too
ludicrous to require an answer. Under the best circum-
stances, it would be a pretty arduous undertaking for all
the Southern states to attempt the conquest of New Eng-
land; but reduced as they now are to indigence, it would
be more than Quixotic.

What a satire it is that the moment the British take
possession of any part of our country, and relieve it from
the yoke of its own government, its inhabitants are happy
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and grow rich! Its lands rise in value, every species of
property is enhanced in price, and the people deprecate
the prospect of being relieved by their own government.
Yet such is the fact in the two lower counties of this State.
Let no man fear the discontents of our own people. They
will hail such events as blessings. 12
Before tracing the relevant events which were to follow the
abortive Hartford Convention, we review some of the principal
characters of the treasonous circle we have now broadly defined.
We shall review summarily the matter of the curiously gothic
community called Newburyport and the quality of that fabled
species known around the world as the “Boston Brahmins.”

12. ibid, p. 410 &,

_8—
Those Lovable
Boston Brahmins

. . . Boston,
The land of the bean and the cod,
Where the Lowells speak only to the Cabots,
And the Cabots speak only to God.
) —Boston epigram

In and around Boston of today, the names of the leading
traitors of the indicated period—such as Cabot, Lowell, and
Higginson—constitute the heart of what passes for a local ar-
istocracy, the uppermost rank of that legendary species known
far and wide as the “Boston Brahmins.” These are the region’s
financial elite, the “very old money.” How they acquired their
fortunes is left politely to the imagination of the admiring cred-
ulous. This is the heart of the Eastern Establishment of today.

As to the matter of what degree the crimes of the ancestors
are visited upon the consciences of the descendants today, we
leave for the moment to the imagination. There is no need for
imagination concerning the morals of sources of wealth of the
ancestors. The documented evidence was too vast to be entirely
suppressed from surviving records, and that evidence too luridly
indisputable, to require guesswork on these matters even today.

There are two simple facts about the families of the Essex
Junto which account more or less fully for their leading role in
the treasonous undertakings of the period from 1800 into 1861.

First, they were not turned against the cause of the American
Revolution; they never adhered to that cause. These families
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had opposed the project of American independence, and were
partners and agents of those expelled from the United States
as British loyalists during the close of the war.

Second, their principal sources of wealth and power were
provided to them by the British, chiefly the British East India
Company, most notably profits of piracy, and of massive ac-
cumulations gained from both the African slave trade and the
Far East opium traffic.

We examine the cases of these families on account of those
two points in common. -

The Lowells

The first prominent political leader among the Junto grouping
was Judge John Lowell (1743-1802). His ancestors are reported®
to have invaded England with William the Conqueror in 1066,
with the name Lowle. They made their home as merchants in
the slave-trading port of Bristol, England, and enjoyed the title
of Sheriffs, or private guards, for the Barons Berkley, the some-
times overlords of Bristol.

The Lowells arrived in Massachusetts in 1639, settling in
Newburyport, near the New Hampshire border. Apparently,
the family did not relish the Puritan way of life—one Lowell
moved back to England in 1690, avowing that he preferred
“monarchy to theocracy.” Judge John Lowell himself was polit-
ically a Church of England man, but a son of a liberal minister,
and theologically a “closet Unitarian.” The Lowells were to lead

1. Greenslet, Ferris, The Lowells and their Seven Worlds, Houghton, Mifflin,
Boston, 1946. In his preface, Greenslet calls his book “a chronicle play of
New England history for three centuries, seen through the family’s eyes. . . .
[T]he most important source has been a beautifully ample and revealing
mass of correspondence, diaries, financial accounts . . . still in the pos-
session of members of the family and by them placed in my hands for this
work.”

Since the Lowell family appointed Mr. Greenslet their authorized chron-
icler, and since their correspondence is not similarly available to all and
sundry, it is thus fair to take from his book the major points touching on
the Lowells’ loyalties, etc., as if they were admitted by the family to be
true.
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the formal migration of future “Brahmins” from Anglican to
Unitarian churches.

As a young man, Judge Lowell professed himself a man im-
passioned with deep loyalties for King George IIl. He was to
prove his words with consistent deeds.

When Boston rebelled against the Stamp Act, in 1765, and
against Townshend Act taxes in 1767, the Boston citizens reg-
istered their objections by agreeing to non-importation of British
goods. John Lowell led the town of Newburyport to oppose
Boston’s actions. He co-authored a counter-protest adopted by
the town meeting, criticizing the Boston measures for violating
the rule of “respectful affection of a Child to its Parent.”?

When the hated Royal Governor, Thomas Hutchinson, was
recalled to London in May, 1774, Judge John Lowell was one
of 22 lawyers who signed a farewell address, praising Hutchinson
for his “wise, zealous and faithful administration,” a brutal oc-
cupation which Lowell et al. praised for its “amiable character”
and as a glorious “fresh instance of the paternal goodness of
Our Most Gracious Sovereign.”

When the British general, Thomas Gage, arrived to impose
a military dictatorship over the defiant Bostonians, Judge John
Lowell was one of twenty- eight persons to sign an address
welcoming the arrival of this apostle of liberty.*

Judge Lowell’s actions introduce us to that propensity for
inbreeding which is sometimes rumored to account for certain
tendencies of the Boston Brahmins to set themselves apart as
a distinct species. During the same year, Judge Lowell married
Susanna Cabot, who was also the niece of the same Richard
Clarke® who had imported the tea dumped into the Boston har-
bor. Clarke was an agent for the British East India Company.

This connection gave Judge Lowell a brush with serious political

ibid., pp. 54-55.
ibid., p. 56.
ibid., p. 56.
ibid., p. 52.

Qo
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embarrassment. Clarke and his sons were soon banished from
the United States, and their property confiscated.

On December 26, 1774, Judge Lowell issued the following
letter to the Essex Journal and Merrimack Packet, a weekly of
the period:

To the Inhabitants of Newburyport:

As I find on your minds an ill impression of me on account
of my having signed an address to Governor Hutchinson,
which I am desirous of removing, I can truly say, that when
I did this, I flattered myself, I was serving the interest of
my country, and that it would have a tendency to your
relief; I never wished to have any of your liberties abridged,
or any unconstitutional power submitted to, but on the
contrary, am ever ready to join in preventing such mischief.
I was far from being aware that this step would have given
the uneasiness I am sensible it has, or could be made use
of to injure the country—; if I had I never would have taken
it, and am heartily sorry I ever did.®

—John Lowell.

Apparently, Lowell’s public apology was accepted, for he briefly
reentered local Newburyport politics.

Later, when the British were forced to abandon their occu-
pation of Boston, taking 1,100 Tory emigrés with them to Nova
Scotia, Lowell moved to Boston.

It was a profitable move. This bright star shining in McGeorge
Bundy’s family tree made a considerable fortune by lawyering
the trade in the property of British loyalists and British mer-
chants. At first, he was legal advisor to the commission engaged
in auctioning the confiscated Tory estates. In the course of the
war, some 1,100 vessels seized by privateers were sold as
prizes, after their capture was certified as legitimate by the
Boston court. According to his son, John Lowell, “The Old

6. ibid., p. 57.
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Judge” filed 700 of these cases, and was assistant attorney for
approximately 200 other cases. Many of these privateer cases
were filed on behalf of his cousins and on behalf of his brothers-
in-law, the privateers Sam and George Cabot.”

Apparently, memories of Lowell’s antics of the 1763-1774
period faded. He edged his way back into the mainstream of
Massachusetts politics, gaining election both to the state leg-
islature and the state constitutional convention. There were
signs that Judge Lowell had not forgotten older loyalties to King
George III. A hint appears in a matter which came up in the
course of 1782.

That year, the records show that John Lowell, Esq. repre-
sented residents of Martha’s Vineyard, who, during 1778, had
supplied the enemy with cattle, sheep, and hay, for use of the
British Navy. The island residents wished to be paid on this
account, and employed Judge Lowell to assist them. Lowell put
the matter to the British governor of occupied New York City,
Sir Guy Carleton; Carleton settled for £3,000 cash, apparently
quite happily. The matter did not end there. The following year,
when the fighting had all but ended between the two nations,
Lowell travelled to this enemy-occupied center, accompanied
by his legal assistant, Harrison Gray Otis. The Lowell family
biography, The Lowells and their Seven Worlds (Ferris Green-
slet), quotes Otis: “ ‘“The whole journey was a continued scene
of pleasant and instructive conversation, sparkling ancecdotes
and poetical quotations.” In New York he was entertained by
Sir Guy Carleton at a dinner, ‘as brilliant,” says Otis, ‘as Alex-
ander’s feast.’ In his companion’s opinion the Old Judge was the
life of the party.”® If there is a hint of something in that instance,
the way in which the emerging Lowell fortune was growing
toward the close of the war represents much more than a bit
of suspicious flavor.

Lowell became very deeply involved with the affairs of the

—_—
7. ibid,, p. 64.
8. ibid., pp. 72-73.




114 TREASON IN AMERICA

leading British-loyalist émigrés, through his position as legal
advisor to the Tory-property commission. His practice was to
acquire the émigrés’ property on his own account, and to either
parcel it out at bargairf rates among his friends and relatives,
or arrange for the agents of the émigrés to re-purchase what
they had lost. By the close of the way, the Old Judge had become
the lawyer and personal agent for all of the richest and most
powerful of the banished Tory émigrés.® ;

His clients included the Hutchinsons, the family of the Royal
Governor whose notorious reign Lowell had praised so effu-
sively. Thomas Hutchinson spent the war-years in England in
the service of Lord Shelburne and the British military command.
Like Shelburne, Hutchinson’s concern was the deployment of
the Loyalist soldiers serving the King against their American
brothers, and of the embittered émigrés in general. It was
hoped, that after the war, those dislocated persons might re-
sume their property and positions within the temporarily way-
ward colonies.

Among Judge Lowell’s other émigré clients were the Coffins,
the Lechmeres, the Lorings, and the Vassals. The case of the
Lorings is notable.

The refugee Lorings had achieved a special kind of fame in
their service to the British cause during the war. Paterfamilias
Joshua Loring had been appointed commissary of British prisons,
after fleeing Boston. He was responsible for the feeding of the
United States’ nationals held prisoner by the British in New
York. He starved at least 3,000 American patriots to death by
selling thetr food fo his own profit,'° in provision-short, occupied
New York City.

9. it?id., p- 64: “Profitable, too, after the war, was his agency for numerous
rich Tory emigres. He was attorney and business advisor for the Hutch-
insons, Coffins, Lorings, Lechmeres, Vassals, and many others living in
London, or . . Bristol.”

10. Bowman, Larry G., Captive Americans: Prisoners During the American

Revolution, Ohio University Press, Athens, Ohio, 1976, p. 17:
“ . .in early 1777 Joshua Loring was appointed to the post of Com-
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The remittances which Judge Lowell sent to his Tory em-
ployers in England grew progressively larger as time passed.
His own fortune grew apace. At the close of 1783, in his position
as co-founder and designer of the Massachusetts Bank (later,
the First National Bank of Boston), he was sufficiently well-

missary General for prisoners to supervise the prisons in New York and
to watch over the well-being of all captives of the British Army in America.
As Commissary for Prisoners, Loring reported directly to the Com-
mander-in-Chief who, at that point, was General William Howe. Final
authority on all matters concerning the prisoners resided with the Com-
mander in Chief, but the day-to-day administration of the prisons and the
prisoner’ lives was the duty of Loring. . . .

“Joshua Loring was an American Loyalist who was born in Hingham,
Massachusetts, in 1744. He and his wife left Boston with the British
Army when it repaired to Halifax, Nova Scotia, in 1776. Loring and his
wife attracted Howe's attention and eventually his friendship. Their friend-
ship rewarded Loring in the form of his commission. . . . Under Loring’s
direction, with General Howe's knowledge and consent, the basic policies
for the care and provisioning of the American prisoners were devised.”

Lindsey, William R., Treatment of American Prisoners of War During
the Revolution, Emporia State Research Studies, Kansas State Teachers
College, Emporia, Kansas, Vol. XXII, Summer, 1973, p. 15:

“Great as the sufferings of the men incarcerated within the city prisons,
their lot was, indeed, exceeded by the agonies of the unfortunate naval
prisoners who languished in the prison ships. . . . The first prison ships
were transports in which cattle and other stores were carried . . . [After]
the British took New York City, they . . . were moved to the Hudson
and East Rivers. In 1778, these ships were moved to Wallabout Bay on
Long Island [Brooklyn] where they remained until the conclusion of the
war.

“The first prison ship used by the British was the Whithy. The prec-
edents established for this vessel were followed by the other prison ships.
The prisoners aboard were allowed to keep any clothing and bedding, but
received no more of such commodities while on the ship. They were
accorded no medical attention, regardless of their health. Inferior pro-
visions and bad water added to the misery of the condemned men. As a
result of such neglect, disease was unrelieved, and hundreds died from
pestilence or, worse, starvation, because the British commissaries aboard
ship cut down rations or substituted bad for wholesome food. The com-
missaries thus amassed venal profits at the cost of human distress.

“By May, 1777, sandy beaches along the bay were filled with the graves
of the dead. The prisoners aboard the Whithy were transferred to two
other vessels. Seeing no hope for an exchange, they set fire to one of
the vessels, choosing death in the flames to the lingering sufferings of
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supported, and connected, to create a financial empire for him-
self, by speculating against the currency of the United States.™

The Old Judge’s death, in 1802, brought no perceptible im-
provement in the family’s quality of patriotism. The son, John,
“The Rebel,” promptly assumed his father’s business as Tory

disease and starvation. In the month of February, 1778, while the pris-
oners were being transferred to other winter quarters in Wallabout Bay,
the other prison ship was burned.

“Nevertheless . . . more [ships] were sent. The most infamous of the
prison ships was the Jersey, which, until the final exchange of American
prisoners, was known more often as ‘Hell’ or ‘Hell Afloat.” . . . [The]
rations, insufficient and miserable, frequently were not given to the pris-
oners in time for boiling on the same day, and thus, they were forced to
fast for another twenty-four hours or to consume the food in its raw state.
Since there were no provisions for fresh vegetables, scurvy was naturally
one of the diseases which afflicted the prisoners. The bread was also bad
and full of living vermin, but they were reduced to eating it, worms and
all, or starve.”

Dandridge, Danske, American Prisoners of the Revolution, The Michie
Company, Charlottesville, Va., 1911, p. 492-493:

“The men were crowded in these small vessels under conditions which

pass belief. They suffered untold misery and died by hundreds form lack
of food, from exposure, smallpox and other dreadful diseases, and from
the cruelty of their captors. The average death rate on the Jersey alone
was ten per night. A conservative estimate places the total number of
victims at 11,500. The dead were carried ashore and thrown into shallow
graves or trenches of sand. . . . A very large proportion of the total
number of these prisoners perished. Of the survivors, many never fully
recovered from their sufferings.”

Jones, Thomas, Justice of the Supreme Court of the Province, History
of New York During the Revolutionary War, and of the Leading Events in
the Other Colonies at the Period, Edited by Edward Floyd de Lancey,
New-York Historical Society, New York, 1879. The author was a Tory—
a British Loyalist—who had been a high official of the colonial New York
government before the Revolution; p. 351-352:“Upon the close of the
campaign, in 1776, there were not less than 10,000 prisoners, (sailors
included) within the British lines at New York. A Commissary of Prisoners
was therefore appointed, and one Joshua Loring, a Bostonian, was com-
missioned to the office. . . . In this appointment there was reciprocity.
Joshua had a handsome wife. The General, Sir William Howe, was fond
of her. Joshua made no objections. He fingered the cash, the General
enjoyed Madam. Everybody supposing the next campaign (should the
rebels even risk another) would put a final period to the rebellion, Loring
was determined to make the most of his commission, and by appropriating
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agent, and the post of Director of the Massachusett§ Bank. The
following year, the heir travelled to England, ostensibly to meet
his clients. After about six months of mixing with London’s
aristocracy, he went for a time to live in the company of that
circle of Scottish “philosophers and reviewers” scathjngly' at-
tacked by Lord Byron, the crowd which served as operations
chiefs for nastiness of the British Secret Intelligence Service.
This circle had included David Hume and Adam Smith, in
operations against France and the United States over the period
1763-1783. It had been Smith, in 1763, whohad received detailed
instructions from Lord Shelburne on conduct of operations to
break the economies and institutions of local self-government
of the English colonies in North America. Smith’s Wealth of
Nations, a plagiarism of A. Turgot's Reflections, outlined Shel-

to his own use nearly two-thirds of the rations allowed to the prisoners,
he actually starved to death about 300 of the poor _wretches l?efore an
exchange took place. . . . And hundreds that were alive at the time were
so emaciated, and enfeebled, for the want of provisions, that numbgrs
died on their way home, and many lived but a few days after rgachmg
their habitations. The war continuing, the Commissaryship of Prisoners
grew so lucrative that [commissaries were appointed for French, Spanish
and Dutch prisoners]. . . . the prisoners were half starved, as the: Com-
missaries filched their provisions and disposed of them for their own
use. . . . whenever an exchange was to take place, the preference was
always given to those who had, or could procure, the most money to
present to the Commissaries who conducted the exchange; by wlnph
means large sums were unjustly extorted, and demmded, frorp the pris-
oners upon every exchange, to the scandal and disgrace of Britons. . . .
[these] blood-sucking harpies did not swallow up less than twenty millions
sterling of the money raised by Great Britain for the support of the
American War.” .

Joshua Loring died in England in 1789. His son, Henry Lloyd Lm_'mg,
died in 1832, Archdeacon of the Church of England in Calcutta, India.

The ugly bargain between Loring and British Commander William Howe
was referenced in a popular ditty in Revolutionary America, the poem on
British Commander Sir William Howe: _

“Sjr William he, snug as a flea, lay all this time a snoring,

Nor dreamed of harm as he lay warm, in bed with Mrs. Loring.”

(from Griffith, Samuel B., 11, In Defense of the Public Liberty, Doubleday
and Company, Garden City, New York, 1976, p. 459).

11. Greenslet, The Lowells, pp. 74-75.
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burne’s instructions to Smith, of the policies by which the econ-
omy of North America was to be ruined. This was also the
center from which Sir Walter Scott was deployed on behalf of
the British SIS.

The same Edinburgh SIS operation, operating behind the front
of a literary periodical called the Edinburgh Review, was treated
as a major enemy counterintelligence problem of the United
States, into at least the late 1840s, and was discovered to be
linked directly with another main center of enemy operations
against the United States, by Venice and Prince Metternich,
the Jesuit order based in the Baltimore, Maryland area. The
U.S. counterintelligence operative, Edgar Allan Poe, died of
poisoning while investigating these Jesuit connections in the
Baltimore area, and the myth of Poe’s alleged “madness” was
created by British SIS in the effort to discredit Poe’s counter-
intelligence findings. 2

One of these Edinburgh Review gentlemen of John Lowell’s
circle of acquaintances, was Francis Jeffrey, who, later, in 1813,
during the height of the war between Britain and the U.S.A.,
paid what is perhaps aptly described as “a quiet visit to Mas-
sachusetts.” Jeffrey was the editor of the Edinburgh Review,
and a key link to the treasonous circle of Young America which
sprouted up around Thoreau, Emerson, Longfellow, et al., around
Concord and Harvard University in Massachusetts. This Jeffrey
was manager of the stable of British literary circles who hosted
Aaron Burr in Britain, during Burr’s exile from the United States.
While in Massachusetts, Jeffrey was a guest at the Lowell castle
in Roxbury.

It had been this same heir of the Old Judge, John Lowell, who
had defended publicly his family’s ancestral lord, Admiral George
Berkeley, commander of the British Atlantic Fleet based in
Halifax, Nova Scotia, when this admiral increased the severity

12. Salisbury, Allen, “ Edgar Allan Poe, The Lost Soul of America,” Cam-
paigner, Vol. XIV, No. 3, June, 1981, pp. 16-39. Poe has been the subject
of possibly the wildest, most hate-filled slander campaign in American
history, which Salisbury amply refutes.
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of his attacks against U.S. shipping. The nickname, “The begl, 7

came from his signature on one of his many pamphlets vilifying

the United States’ counteractions against these naval attacks on
ur republic’s shipping.

° We I:'ﬂay now descend from inspecting the Bundys’ famj!y-

tree, and turn to the next of the notable Brahmin families in-

volved in the Essex Junto.

The Cabots

The British port of Bristol was called the “Venice of the West,”
when the Venice-born John Cabot and his son Sebastian sailed
off to explore North America in 1497. In due course, Bristol
would live up to that nickname by taking up the Venetian practice
of trafficking in human slaves, becoming the chief English port
occupied with that sort of revenue.

This was the English city which gave the United States the
Lowells. Is it also the city which gave us our Cabots? Henry
Cabot Lodge, Sr., writing toward the close of the last century
says flatly no. However, as that gentleman’s biography of Alex-
ander Hamilton attests, he had a propensity to prefer the useful
myth to the truth, whenever the two might conflict. Another
member of the Cabot family, John Lowell, writing in 1823, says,
matter-of-factly, that the Cabots were descendants of the same
Venetian Caboti family as the famous explorers. What American
patriots thought of Venice during the period John Lowell made
that report is best identified by James Fenimore Cooper’s The
Bravo.3

13. Cooper, James Fenimore, The Bravo, [originally published 1831 by Carey
and Lea], College and University Press, New Haven, Connef:tlcut, 1963.
Everyone who thinks himself an American, or in sympathy w1'gh Amerl_can
principles, must read Cooper’s Bravo. Here is a tale told with passion,
with a sense of outrage by one who directly and personally_combatted
the oligarchical system, at home and in Europe. Here is described, in the
setting of its source, the system of powerful families who manage gov-
ernmental affairs “from backstage”; of managed rumor used to steer
credulous public opinion against the enemies of the oligarchs; of assas-
sinations and other crimes whose witnesses are made to disappear; of
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What is not disputed is the fact that the American branch of
the family, wherever it may have originated, arrived in Salem,
Massachusetts about 1700, arriving from the island of Jersey,
near the coast of Normandy. Some Cabots have traced the family
ancestry to the French nobleman Rohan Chabot. One biogra-
pher, Leon Harris, reports the story,! that certain Cabots had
hired a historian to establish a noble lineage for them, but paid
him to forget the whole matter when he produced a lineage
traced back to a tenth-century Jewish family in Lombardy.

It is more clearly established, that the Cabots established
their fortunes during the war of 1776-1783 as eminently suc-
cessful privateers. This was simply legalized piracy, licensed by
state legislatures. According to Leon Harris, in his Oxly To God,
“The Cabots provided America with more privateers than any
other family.”* The Cabot fleet attacked and captured British,
Spanish, Portuguese, and other ships, selling the spoils of le-
galized piracy as booty.

Like the Lowells, the Cabot family attitude toward British
property is fairly described by the detached observer: their
attitude varied according to whether it appeared more profitable
to seize it or worship it.

George Cabot’s brother, Andrew, purchased the estate con-

fiscated from the royal governor of New Hampshire, John Wen- -

tworth. Wentworth was a cousin of the Cabots and Higginsons,
and later became the governor of Nova Scotia.

George Cabot’s uncle Francis married the sister of Richard
Clarke, ¢ the Clarke of Clarke and Sons, the British East India
Company agents whose tea was dumped in Boston harbor.

After 1783, George Cabot’s brother, Samuel, went to England

organized criminals who rule while “the million existed in that vacant
enjoyment which distinguishes the pleasures of the thoughtless and the
idle.”

14. Harris, Leon, Only to God: The Extraordinary Life of Godfrey Lowell Cabot,
Atheneumn, New York, 1967, p. 4.

15. ibid, p. 6.

16. Briggs, Vernon L., History and Geneology of the Cabot F. amily, 1475-
1927, privately printed, Boston, 1927, Vol I, p. 196.
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as secretary to the United States Commissioners who were
settling the claims of Americans against the British Crown. In
this setting, an interesting development ensued.

In England, Samuel Cabot became the friend and personal
agent of his cousins, Richard Clarke and Sons. He was in charge
of the management and disposal of the Clarke’s property in the
United States, and also managed new investments on behalf of
the Clarke family. He also married Richard Clarke’s grand-
daughter,'” Sarah Barret, consistent with the tendency for in-
breeding noted among the Boston Brahmins. The Clarke family
property on Beacon Hill was parceled out cheaply to Cabot’s
friends, who profited handsomely when the new State House
was built on that site.

The bulk of the Cabot family’s fortune was assembled by
Samuel Cabot’s son, Richard Clarke’s great-grandson, through
a profitable alliance with one of the worst monsters of modern
history, Thomas Handasyd Perkins. This partnership between
the son and Perkins had stemmed from a partnership between
the father and Perkins, in the West Indies slave-trade. The
Perkins syndicate will be examined below.

The Higginsons
With the case of the Higginson family, the incestuous habits of
the Boston Brahmins, and the political significance of those
practices, comes into prominent focus. The process by which
this family rose to power in Boston banking is to the point.
Stephen Higginson’s daughter, Sarah, was the wife of Judge
John Lowell and the mother of John Lowell (“The Rebel”).
George Cabot married his double-first-cousin, Elizabeth Hig-
ginson. George Cabot’s Uncle Francis married the sister of East
India Company agent Richard Clarke, and Francis’s daughter by
an earlier marriage, married Judge John Lowell. This was a most
extraordinary effort to keep the money and the power within
the family.

17. Crawford, Mary Caroline, Famous Families of Massachuseits, Little, Brown
& Co., Boston, 1930, Vol I, p. 171.
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There was a British army captain named Thomas Storrow,
whose occupation during the war of 1776-1783 was politely
described by his family as “soldier of fortune.” This Storrow
was captured by the Americans, who forwent hanging the fellow,
in order to exchange him for Americans held prisoner by the
British. To this purpose, they released the fortunate captain in
the Tory stronghold of New Hampshire. There, the captain
married® one Anne Appleton, the great-granddaughter of the
first British royal governor of the province, and the couple
forthwith journeyed to England, where the captain received a
new assignment.

Back across the Atlantic they went, to a Nova Scotia now
crammed with thousands of bitter, vengeful British loyalist
émigrés. This was the base used by Britain’s Lord Shelburne
for his war of subversion against the new republic. During this
passage of events, John Wentworth, who happened also to be
the cousin of the Mrs. Storrow in the affair, had risen to the
post of royal governor of Nova Scotia, an appointment gained
by the not unusual means of permitting his wife to enjoy the
bed of King George III's son, according to surviving accounts
in the matter.

These Storrows came into ownership of the strategically placed
island of Campobello, a convenient, stealthy boat-ride’s distance
from Massachusetts. It must be presumed that the Storrows’
connection to the Essex Junto’s circles was more than casual.
When the Captain and Mrs. Storrow were both deceased, their
daughter, Laura, was adopted by Stephen Higginson. When this
child, Laura Wentworth Storrow, matured, she married her
step-brother, Stephen Higginson, Jr. It was the son of this
couple, Thomas Wentworth Storrow Higginson, who later played
an important role in the Radical Abolitionist movement. This
later gentleman conduited money from British radical move-
ments to any abolitionists in Massachusetts who agreed with
his program for the dissolution of the Union and the repeal of

18. Crawford, Famous Families of Massachusetts, Vol. I, pp. 257-258.
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the Constitution. As a financial and foreign-intelligence conduit,
this Thomas W. S. Higginson was equally important in his role
as the patron of the family of Richard Spofford, Jr., who was
the private secretary to the master-architect of the Civil War,
Caleb Cushing.*®

With this glimpse at the Higginson family, we turn next to
the crucial matter of the Perkins Syndicate.

19. Information on Higginson's patronage of Mrs. Richard Spofford, Jr., from
a private interview with Newburyport, Massachusetts local historian,
D’Arcy G. Van Bokkelen.
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the first solemn declaration by a nation of the only legitimate
foundation of civil government. It was the cornerstone of
a new fabric, destined to cover the surface of the globe.
It demolished at a stroke the lawfulness of all governments
founded upon conquest. It swept away all the rubbish of
accumulated centuries of servitude. . . . From the day of
this Declaration, the people of North America were no
longer the fragment of a distant hemisphere, imploring jus-
tice and mercy from an inexorable master in another hemi-
sphere. . . . They were a nation, asserting as of right, and
maintaining by war, its own existence. A nation was born
inaday. . . . It stands . . . a beacon on the summit of the
mountain, to which all the inhabitants of the earth may tum
their eyes for a genial and saving light . . . a light of salvation
and redemption of the oppressed.? ' :

| -9-
‘The Organization of
Dope, Incorporated

On July 4, 1821, U.S. Secretary of State John Quincy Adams
delivered an address in Washington, D.C., a speech which was
designed to prepare the public for the issuance of the Monroe
Doctrine, of which Adams was the author. Adams identified the
role of the United States as the model for the world’s republican

movements, and as the scourge of the European oligarchy: When the New England Federalist critics of Adams labeled

this address of his “tasteless,” Adams rebuked them in a _letter

If the wise and learned philosophers of the elder world— addressed to Edward Everett:

should . . . enquire what has America done for the benefit
of mankind? Let our answer be this: America, with the
same voice which spoke herself into existence as a nation,
proclaimed to mankind the inextinguishable rights of human

* nature, and the only lawful foundations of government.
America, in the assembly of nations, since her admission
among them, has invariably . . . held forth to them the hand
of honest friendship, of equal freedom, of generous reci-
procity.! . ' :

1 demonstrated . . . from the moral and physical nature
of man that colonial establishments cannot fulfill the great
objects of civil society. . . .

[This] demonstration . . . settles the justice of the pres-
ent struggle of South America for independence. . . . .
It looks forward prospectively to the downfall of the
British Empire in India as an event which must necessarily -

ensue at no very distant period of time.

It anticipates a great question in the national policy of
this Union which may be nearer at hand than most of our
countrymen are aware of: whether we too shail annex to
our federative government a great system of colonial es-
tablishments. It points to a principle proving that such es-
tablishments are but mighty engines of wrong, and that in

After reciting the Declaration of Independence, in this setting,
he called it: . _

1. Adam__s! John Quincy, An Address Delivered at the Request of a Committee
of the Citizens of Washinglon: on the Occasion of the Reading of the Dec-
laration of Infiepe_gdence, on the Fourth of July, 1821, printed by Davis and
Force, Washington, D. C., 1821, p. 28,

124 2. ibid, pp. 21-22.
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the progress of social improvement it will be the duty of
the human family to abolish them, as they are now en-
deavoring to abolish the slave-trade.?

The powerful financier-networks of the Venetian oligarchy,
together with their Anglo-Swiss junior partners, were deter-
mined to destroy the United States from within, since this de-
struction could not be accomplished solely by means of armed
assault from without. The question was posed by this, chiefly
British, subversive effort: would the United States adhere to
the principles on which it had been established a constitutional
republic? Would this republic continue to be the champion of
and model for the creation of powerful alliances among sovereign
republics in Asia, Africa, and Ibero-America? Or, could the Vene-
tian, Swiss, and British oligarchies’ combined efforts recapture
control of the states of the Union, and make the republic too
an instrument of colonial oppression, .a creature controlled by
the European oligarchy?

The leading edge of this issue in both foreign and domestic
policy was the issue of human chattel-slavery. In the history of
our republic, the rise of cotton-picking chattel-slavery in the
southern states, the profitable combination of cheap southern
slaves by the textile industry of Britain, British dumping of cheap
textiles upon India, and India’s paying the British for these
textiles through exportmg opium for the China opium-trade, are
squatted Thomas Ha_ndasyd Perkins and the Perkins slave-trad-
ing company. The Boston Brahmins were the kernel of that
early slave-trading company.

The syndicate began during the war of 1776-1783, when three
members of T. H. Perkins’s family fled the United States as
British loyahsts The continuation of the political and business
connections to the rulers of the British Emp:re, enlarged by

3. John Quincy Adams to Edward Everett, Jan. 31, 1822, Writings of John
Quincy Adams, ed. Worthington Chauncey Ford, Greenwood Press, New
York, 1968, Vol VI, pp. 197-201.

THE ORGANIZATION OF DoPE, INC. 127

this emigration, gave the young merchant, T. H. Perkins, a
great advantage in his efforts to amass a personal fortune in the
West Indies trade. The principal commodity sold into the West
Indies by Perkins, until 1792 was black slaves from Africa.

From the letter-book of the firm of J. and T. H. Perkins and
Company, there is the following copy of a letter, dated 1792,
giving instructions to the captain of a ship, the Willing Quaker,
then bound for the African coast for slaves.

. .. take care that they are young & healthy, without
any defects in their Limbs, Teeth & Eyes, & as few females
as possible. Every attention is to be paid them that they
are well fed, well used, kept clean & dry. For if they once
get disheartened they will die like sheep. Suffer no person
to strike them on any account, & always keep your men
Slaves in Irons, & see the gratings locked at Sunset. .
Proceed to Surinam & there dispose of your Women Slaves

. if you can get $50 a head you may dispose of the
whole A

The slave trade was conducted by the predecessor firm, of
Perkins, Burling and Company. Of the Boston Brahmins who
later participated with T. H. Perkins as well in his Asian ad-
ventures, the names of at least “Cabot” and “Forbes” are sup-
plied by the J. and T. H. Perkins and Company letter-book, as
early participants with him in the slave trade up until 1782. This
letter-book supplies 147 letters to slave-traders for different
numbers of slaves.

The slaves’ revolt of 1792 in Santa Domingo wiped out his
brother’s plantation and merchant’s business in Santo Domingo;
therefore, the shift in composition of the family’s business during
that year. T. H. Perkins was already on to a much greater source
of fortune by that time, the greatest source of the wealth of the
Boston Brahmins: China.

4. Perkins letterbook quoted in Briggs, Cabot Family, Vol. I, p. 391.
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- The real story of the wealth of the respectable. families of
New England began in 1787, as British Secretary of State Henry
Dundas composed his master-plan for-expansion of the opium-
trade into China. In 1789, the first New England merchant

engaged in the China opium-trade, Elias Hasket Derby, took

T. H. _Perkins with him on a voyage. At hisreturn, T. H. Perkins
organized his opium-trade syndicate. James and T. H. Perkins
and Company went into the China trade, together with those
who would become partners with that Company in this traffic.

Thfe following highlights of the history of the Company are
sufficient to identify the forces later to assemble around Caleb
Cushing’s orchestration of both sides of the conflict leading into
the war of 1861-1865. o

The core of the Perkins syndicate was assembled as follows.
One among the Perkins family who fled the United States during
1776.-1783 was George Perkins, who set himself up as a British
Empire merchant in Smyrna, Turkey. It was through George
that _James and Thomas Perkins were able to make the con-
nection to supplies of Turkish opium, bypassing the monopoly
over Indian opium controlled by the British East India Company.

Agam, the incestuous begatting among the Boston Brahmiris
plays a decisive role in affairs. Thomas Perkins's brother, James,
married Sarah Paine.® Sarah Paine’s brother, Dr. William Paine,
was a British loyalist émigré from 1776-1783, who had been
appointed apothecary to the British forces in America, and was
then clgo.sen by Sir Guy Carleton to become surgeon-general of
the British Army—the same Sir Guy who put on the “Alex-
ander’s feast” for Old Judge John Lowell in New York City in
1783. When the Massachusetts act banning British loyalists was
repealed, in 1787, Dr. William Paine returned to Salemn, Mas-

5. James Perkins’ previous business is exempiified by his letter i
to a Boston client of Perkins, Burling argg Compgny' “myt,olzosg;
desite we have already made some advances in establishing such a place
forthedmpos:tmnofSlavesinthisquarteraswﬂlbeattendedwi&safety
and advantage to the proprietor.”—quoted in Adams, Russell B, jr., The
Boston Money Tree, Thomas Y. Crowell Co., New York, 1977, p. 47, ;
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sachusetts, where he continued to receive half-pay as a British
officer. His son, Frederick Paine, joined the Perkins’s China

-enterprise. Dr. Paine’s daughter, Esther, her first-cousin and

husband, Joseph Cabot, with other partners of the firm, all
resided together in T. H. Perkins’s Salem mansion.

From the Cabots to Bell Telephone

Samuel Cabot’s son, Samuel, the great-grandson of the Boston
East India Company agent Richard Clarke, married T. H. Per-
kins’s daughter, Eliza, and joined the J. and T. H. Perkins firm.
It was through this Salem connection that the vast Cabot fortune
in America was assembled. :

Robert Cushing, the sixth generation of that family in America,
married T. H. Perkins’s sister, Ann Maynard Perkins.® Their
son, John Perkins, was adopted by his uncle, T. H. Perkins,
and was brought into the firm. According to all accounts, John
Perkins Cushing made a fortune in China of at least 7 million
dollars. Living in China for 30 years, he retired to his home in
Watertown, Massachusetts, where he dressed his Chinese ser-
vants in native costumes, and maintained a constant carnival
atmosphere amid his loot. This Cushing’s sister, Ann, married
Henry Higginson. His cousin was the Caleb Cushing of whom
we shall come to learn a great deal. o

Ralph Bennett Forbes married T. H. Perkins’s sister, Mar-

~ garet.” Their son, Robert Bennett Forbes, joined the Perkins

firm at an early age. In China, this son became the foreign affairs
manager for a merchant named Houqua, who had himself been
made responsible for all of China’s foreign relations with the
West by the Chinese Emperor. Robert B. Forbes’s brother,
John Murray Forbes, took over managing Houqua and China’s
foreign relations, after Robert’s death, and-amassed a great
fortune. Perkins’s money bought out the work of Alexander
Graham Bell, and John Murray Forbes’s son, William, became

6. Crawford, Famous Families of Massachusetts, p. 201.
7. ibid., p. 202. ' )
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president of the American Bell Telephone Co and i
the daughter of Ralph Waldo Emer[;on. sy and marmied
. Rl-:s_sell Sturgis married T. H. Perkins’s sister, Elizabeth,?
and joined the firm, His grandson, by the same namé, moved
to England and became chairman of the Baring Bank, the bank
of the same Lord Shelburne who had organized the massive
subversion of the United States, the bank which was the bank
of the British East India Company.
Although the word “opium” is curiously, but not surprisingly

omitted from references to these family fortunes in the Dic.

tiona.ry of American Biography, the letter-book of J & T.H
Perkins corrects that omission.

* Item: To Wm. Lorman & Sons, Jan. 16, 817:
“Our Brig. Bocea Tigris was at Leghorn 14’ Nov. & sl'd 18
S!:e takes out 40,000 pounds of Opium and 250,000 Ib. Quick
“Silver. . . . Mr. Wm. Paine, at the Ise of France, has been
long expected in this country. . . .9

* Item: To Gambreleng & Pearson, Jan. 16, 1817:
The these have issued a strong edict against the introduction
‘of Opium, & the getting of it will be dangerous. 10

* Item: To F. W. Paine, Gilbraltar, March 21, 1817
We learn f_rom a supercargo just arrd from Smyrna that the
cost -of Opmm is about $2.66 pr. Engl. pound. Best time for
purchasmg]me & July. ... We have nothing new but a
President [Monroe]. Business dull & likely to be more so.*

* Item: To S. Williams, sometimes during 1817: .
Our friends Houqua & Perkins & Co. have addressed us on
the subject of purchasing Bengal Opium in England. . . . They
request that you will purchase say 15,000 Ib. of this Opium,

8. ilnd. p. 201.

9. Briggs, Cabot Family, Vol. TI, p. 558,
10. ibid., Vol. II, p. 558..

11. ibid., Vol. H, p. 558.
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at not more than 20 sh. on board, & ship themtous. ... We
understand that Baring Bros. have the control by contract for

- all the Quicksilver taken from the mines of Austria. .. . We

wish you to write to Messr. Perkins Brothers at Smyrna,
authorizing them to draw on you for £10,000 to be invested
in Opium. Mr. Geo. Perkins, at Smyrna, did the business of
the Harve packet . . . we are fearful that there will be so many
in pursuit of Opium that it will rise in price in Smynra.'?

¢ Item: To F. W. Paine, 1817:
The last quotations of Opium at Canton were $5.43 per Ib.
The article is a prohibited one, & transient adventurers cannot
deal in it so advantageously as we can.*®

+ Item: To E. E. Newton, sometime during 1817:
We wish you to give us or Mr. Cushing all the information you
can about a certain kind of Opium sh. is produced by the Gulph
of Persia. We think it costs little more than $1 a pound. 4

- Item: To F. W. Paine, Leghorn, March 24, 1818:

From the intention of the Chinese to be very strict about
- Opium, the competition you fear we think will not exist. We

"~ know no one but [John Jacob] Astor we fear. . .15

Astor was, in point of fact, the pioneer among American-
based opium traffickers, but the syndicate Perkins had assem-
bled was far outdistancing Astor's efforts at the time those items
were recorded. Entries in Perkins's memorandum-books show
shipments of opium by his firm amounting to 177,837 pounds,
from January 1824 to July 1825. In 1827, T. H. Perkins’s opium
operations were so large that he wrote: “We know of none in
the United States except what we hold.” Referring to a single

12. ibid., Vol. II, pp. 558-559.
13. ibid., Vol. II, p. 559.
14. ibid., Vol. II, p. 559.
15, ibid., Vol. II, p. 559.
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Text;xal Gulde to the
Essex Junto-and Opium Syndicate Chart

Names are listed alphabetically and are located on the chart by place numbers.

Sarah Barret (1), granddaughter of Richard Clarke; see Samuel Cabot {2).

Elizabeth Cabot (18), daughter of Essex Junto leader George Cabot (3);
wife of Harvard President fohn T Kirkland {19).

George Cabot (3), Essex Junio leader, U. S. Senator from Massachuserts.
His family and Forbes and Perkins families were partners in the African
slave trade, later in opium smuggling. Due to visual Tepresentation re-
quirements, George Cabot appears twice on the chart, once beside his
brother Samuel (2}, once beside his wife Elizabeth {16} and their children
and deseendants. Note: his mother and his wifc have the same name.

Samuel Cabot (2), business representative of Richard Clarke, exiled East
India Co. agent whose notorious tea was thrown in Boston harbor.
Cabot married Clarke's granddaughter Sarah Barret {1}. Their son was
Samuel Cabot (20),

Samuel Cabot (20). Married Eliza Perkins, joined the opium syndicare of
her father, Thomas H. Perkins {17). Established the bulk of the Cabot
fortune.

Joseph Coolidge (27), India opium runner for Perkins’ organization. Created
Augustine Heard agency for Jardine Matheson. Married granddaughter
of President Thomas Jefferson, a personal friend of Jefferson's Treasury
Secy. Albert Gallatin. Father of Thomas Jefferson Coolidge.

Thomas Jefferson Coolidge (29), messenger for Albert Gallatin; educated

Geneva, Switzerland. Qrganized United Fruit Company, merging Bos-

ton syndicate with New Orleans mafia. With his son set up Old Colony
Trust.

Thomas Jefferson Coolidge II (34), with his father, set up Old Colony
Trust.

Thomas Jefferson Coolidge HI (35), Chairman of United Fruit Co., di-
rector and Vice President of Bank of Boston, into which he merged his
family’s financial operation called Old Colony Trust; United Fruit and
Bank of Boston boards intetlocked. Undersecretary of U. §. Treasury
with Secretary Henry Morgenthau, Jr.; responsibilities included intes-
national exchange.

John Perkins Cushing (9}, opium smuggler for Perkins sydicate. The richest

. American in China. Cousin of “Mephistopheles” Calch Cushing.

Ralph Waldo Emerson (6), poet, member Cobden Club of London, tran-
cendentalist leader, financially supported by John M. Forbes (7). His
daughter married Forbes’ son William Hathaway Forbes {10).

John M. Forbes (7), opium smuggler and security manager for Perkins China
crime syndicate and his own clippers. Backed by Baring Brothers. Prime

" sponsor of Ralph Waldo Emerson {6). Prime organizer for Specie Re-
sumption Act. Financed kmmigration Restriction League.

Robert B. Forbes (8), opium smuggler for Perkins syndicare.

William Hathaway Forbes (10), son of opium racketeer John M. Forbes
{7). Married the diughter of Ralph Waldo Emerson (6); first president
of American Bell Telphone Company, financed by his father.

Barbara Higginson (32), daughter of Essex Junto member Stephen Hig-
ginson(24); married to Samuel Perkins {31); brother of syndicate boss
Thomas H. Perkins (17),

Elizabeth Higginson (16), cousin and wife of Essex Junto leader George
Cabot (3).

Sarah Higginson (25), daughter of Essex Junto member Stephen Higginson
(24), married to Essex Junto member Judge John Lowell (26).

hen Higginson (24), Essex Junto member, worked closely with British

Stepmilitarygiﬁzeliigersce. Father of Sarah (25), Stephen, Jr. (30), and Barbara
(32). His family bank, Lee, Higginson, financed the Psychic Rescarc_h
Society the “race purification” movement (Eugc_mcs), _and the Iml:m-
gration Restriction League. The Higginson family opium smuggling
business was headquartered in England and india.
hen Higginson, Jr. {30), Treasurer of Harvard College. _

'i‘tl:tl:mas Wegngtworth{-lig(gizlmn (33), controller of John Br_own and prime
organizer of his raid on Harpers Ferry. Sponsor of Society for Psychic
Research. )

John T. Kirkland (19), President of Harvard Col]e_zgc, s_upcrv:scd the edu-
cation of an elite core of anti-American leaders in a riotous atmosphere;
personal favorites included Caleb Cushing and Ralph W. Emerson (6).
Married Elizabeth Cabor (18), daughter of Essex Junto leader George
Cabot (3). ) . )

Josiah Sturgis (12), brother of Russell Sturgis {13); married to Esther Perkins
{11), sister of opium syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17).

Russell Sturgis (13}, brother of Josiah Sturgis (12); married to _Ellzabcth
Perkins (14), sister of opium syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17).

Russeli Sturgis (15); grandson of Russell Scurgis (13) and Elizabeth Perkins
Sturgis (14). Famuly in the criminal opium smuggling racket. Moved to
England, became an Englishman; he was ch9sen ch_a:rman of tl_lc Baring
Brothersbank, financiers of the entire criminal opium traffic in the far
east, and financiers for the East India Company.

Henry Cabot Lodge (22), great grandson of Essex Junto leader George
Cabot (3). U. S. Senator from Massachusetts. Crcatc_d 'I'hcodo_rc Roose-
velt's political career. Prime organizer of the Spanish American qu'.
Promoted U.S. role as British Empire military agency, immigration
restriction, U. 5. entry into WW [ -

Henry Cabot Lodge, Jr. (23}, grandson of Henry Cabot Lodge (22). U.
S. Ambassador to South Vietnam; organized coup that led to assassination
of U.S. ally President Diem. 7 )

Judge John Lowell (26), Essex Junto member. Representc_d Tory elxllcs.
Created Massachusetts Bank, the bank of the Boston opium syndicate,

wn as Bank of Boston. ) )

Eiiz:a;::r:li‘:s {21), daughter of syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17); wife
of syndicate partmer Samuel Cabot {20). L

John Lowell, Jr. {28), “The Rebel,” pamphleteer for disunion in War of
1812. Director of Harvard and Mass. Bank (Bank of Boston).

Elizabeth Perkins (14), sister of syndicate boss Thomas H. Pe_rkms 7.
Married to Russell Sturgis, bringing the Sturgises into the opium smug-
gling racket. Their grandson Russell Sturgis (15) moved to England and
became Chairman of Baring Brothers bank. . .

Esther Perkins (11), sister of syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17). Married
to Josiah Sturgis {12), the brother of Russell Sturgis (13). )

Margaret Perkins {4), sister of syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17).
Mother of syndicate partners John M. Forbes (7) and Robert B. Forbes

Nanf:S)zPerkins {53, sister of syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17). Mother
of syndicate partner John P. Cushing (9). _

Samuel Perkins (31), brother of syndicate boss Thomas H. Perkins (17);
son-in-Law of Essex Junto member Stephen Higginson (24). )

Thomas Handasyd Perkins (17), creator of the Boston criminal opium
syndicate known as The Boston Concern. Constructed organization
through marriages of his sisters and daughter. .

Thomas Nelson Perkins (36), grandson of Samuel Perkins {31) and Barbara
Higginson (32). New York financial executive, National City Bank.
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ship carrying 1,000 chests of opium, a letter dated December
10, 1829 reports: “The Cargo of the Banshaw will amount to
something like 570,000 to 600,000 dollars. . . . It cannot fail to
give a gain of 150,000 to 250,000 doliars.”s

A few facts show the breadth of impact of the China opium-
tSI;(:: on the internal political affairs and destiny of the United

s, -

The China trade was financed almost entirely by the Baring
Brothers Bank in England. From the earliest days of our re-
public, the question of who would provide credit to American
merchants was of strategic importance. Even after Hamilton
established the Bank of the United States, which made us po-
tentially independent of foreign sources for domestic production
and commerce, our nation's foreign trade required a significant
margin of sources of foreign credit, especially for the net-import-
values of capital goods. When the “free trade” movement, led
by spokesmen who were themselves employed by the opium-
traffickers, succeeded in closing that bank, the Barings and allied
foreign oligarchists gained a great power over America’s foreign
trade. The Perkins syndicate did business in China entirely in
the company of British Empire merchants and military officials,
among -the operations centered in the tiny Canton river-area
reserved for foreigners. The Perkins syndicate lived with the
British, smuggled and bribed with them, and poisoned and mur-
dered a generation of Chinese for a fabulous profit. This fabulous
profit was the payment they gained for attaching themselves to
the rump of the British Indian Empire.!”

16. ibid., Vol II, p. 578. For Boston Brahmin opium traffickers see also
Adams, TheBoston Money Tree, pp. 106-111, 125-131.

17. Barbara Higginson, daughter of Essex Junto member Stephen Higginson,
s1ster-m-_law of Essex--]_unto member Judge John Lowell, and aunt of the
futurg Civil War conspirator Thomas W. Higginson, married Samue! G.
Perkins, brother of Thomas Handasyd Perkins. The Higginsons supported
thn‘a opium u'afﬁc with their large banking and shipping rescurces.

T. B Higginson, an American merchant in Calcutta, wrote [Augustine]
Heard in January, 1834, that he had a large order from the Boston Per-
kinses for the purchase of Bengal opium. In June, he sent to Russell &
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The opium-traders became “the boss” in Salem and New-
buryport, in Essex County, Massachusetts. In Salem, they
formed the East India Society, which held a “jollification” each

Company's consignment some one hundred chests of Bengal drug by the
British vessel Isabella Robertson and, later, another 175 chests by the
British opium clipper Falcon.”—Stelle, Charles Clarkson, Americans and
the China Opium Trade in the Nineteenth Century, dissertation, University
of Chicago, 1938, p. 57-58; this is the most comprehensive piece ever
written on the subject. ' : )

In 1826 a Perkins syndicate employee named Joseph Coolidge was sent
to Bombay to arrange for shipments to China of higher-grade Indian opium,
to take the place of the Turkish drug with which the syndicate had started
doing business (Adams, Bosion Money Tree, p. 126-127). Joseph Coolidge
martied one of President Thomas Jefferson’s granddaughters (she was
close friends with the aged Swiss banker Albert Gallatin, who had been
Jefferson’s treacherous Treasury Secretary}. Their son, Thomas Jefferson
Coolidge, once carried a private message into Switzerland, where he went
to school, for Albert Gallatin, .

On Dec. 6, 1839, China’s opium-fighting Commissioner Lin Tse-hsu
banned all trade with Britain (Beeching, The Chinese Opium Wars, p.
104). The following month, on January 1, 1840, Joseph Coolidge, with
heavy personal contacts in England and India, formed a new firm, Au-
gustine Heard & Company. Coolidge’s company was given the agency to

. carry the China business of fardine Matheson, Britain's greatest criminal
opium organization after the East India Company. During the period that
the Chmese successfully banned direct British trade, the Jardine Matheson
agency netted Coolidge’s organization “much over $10,000,000 a year”
(Stelle, Americans and the China Opium Trade, p. 97-98). Thus, the
Boston Coolidges, originally part of the Boston syndicate, made their way
in thé world as a branch of the murderous Jardine Matheson Co.

In 1899, Joseph’s son Thomas Jefferson Coolidge, and grandson TJC
II, founded the United Fruit Company, using Néw Orleans-based Mafia
muscle with Boston syndicite money to set up plantations in tropical
countries. In 1929 the Coolidges merged their Old Colony Trust Company,
an extension of their United Fruit, with the First National Bank of Boston,
The boards of the United Fruit Company and the Bank of Boston were
completely interlocked—they were the same organization. The Bank of
Boston had been founded in 1784 by John Lowell with funds from the
escaped British Tory faction in Britain. The bank had served as the Boston
syndicate’s financial center since the founding; niow, in the “roaring 20’s”
(ex-President Calvin Coolidge was a distant relative), the syndicate had
emerged into the financial melight in its own name (Thomas Jefferson
Coolidge 1II was Vice-President of the Bank of Boston and a director until
his death in 1959). -
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year, parading through the streets in Chinese costumes and
artifacts, '® to remind the local folks where the money was coming
from. The cult of the irrational, and the search for expressions
of feudalism and anti-industrialism in culture and politics, was a
product of this treasonous combination in Essex County.
Among the personalities originating within the womb of this
treasonous clique, from the city of Newburyport alone, were:
Caleb Cushing; Cushing’s protégé, Albert Pike; William Lloyd
Garrison; Caleb Huse; and George Peabody. The last-named
was .the founder of a gigantic banking firm in England, to whose
_service he hired Junius and J. P. Morgan. When Peabody died,
the firm became the House of Morgan, and later moved to the
U_.S..A._ The other Newburyporters named, were all, each in
thgr own particular role, architects of the American Civil War.,
Itis their story we are telling in these chapters on the history
of treason in America. '

) Harvard College’s relationship to these “bluebloods” has been,
since the American Revolution, quite straightforward. A small
board ran the Harvard Corporation, and the board itself chose
new members to replace retirees. In the period after the Rev-
olution, Harv_ard came entirely under the control of the Essex
Junto, and was used as an instrument for their political ends.

. Judgg]ohn Lowell was selected to Harvard's Board, and he
memately saw to it that a great deal of money was pumped
into the school. From that time until 1943, there was only one

decade in which a Lowell was not among the half-dozen or so -

board members. The Cabot name has had nearly as tight an
association with control of the school. '

John Lowell (“The Rebel”) attended his first meeting of the
Harvard board April 17, 1810, at the home of the board chairman,
Essex Junto member Theophilus Parsons, Judge Parsons was
aptly char_acten'zed by a republican faculty member; “Our college
.+ . . I1s under the absolute direction of the Essex Junto, at the
18. Remnants of these celebrations are displayed at the Peabody Museum,

East India Square, Salem, Massachusetts.
19. Greenslet, The Lowells, pp. 75-76.
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head of which stands Chief Justice Parsons,. ... a man as
cunning as Lucifer and about half as good. This man is at the
head of the Corporation.”® Other participants that day were
the corporation treasurer, Newburyport merchant Jonathan
Jackson, who had served under John Lowell on the town com-
mittee to counter-organize against Boston in the Stamp Act days;
Oliver Wendell, grandfather of Oliver Wendell Holmes; and two
ministers. Three weeks later, the Board installed a new pres-
ident of the college, John Thornton Kirkland. _

It was President Kirkland who greeted Aaron Burr in May
1812, when the fugitive from justice arrived in disguise at Har-
vard, just off the boat from England. Kirkland gave him a check
drawn on the College, and Burr was on his way to New York—
days before the declaration of war. ‘

Under John Kirkland's direction, Harvard grew into a uni-
versity, and at the same time developed into a nursery for a
variety of radical movements. From the historical record, there
is a striking resemblance between Harvard under Kirkland, and
Columbia University in the late 1960s. For the 18 years of his
tenure,. Harvard students repeatedly rioted and rampaged through
the campus and the town; they invented cruel rituals; they
destroyed buildings-and.each other’s property. The major stu-
dent uprisings in 1823 were known as the Great Rebellion.

The people of Boston became thoroughly disgusted with Kirk-
land’s reign of Atheism, Anarch d Aristocracy. In 1828, the
‘président resigned his post*um%r(;o‘-%sﬂér—aﬁfw_’re_ssure.m_Dur-
ing the same year he married the daughter of George Cabot.

During the War of 1812, Caleb Cushing® of Newburyport

20. Quoted in Chafee, Zechariah, Jr., “Theophilus Parsons,” Dictionary of
American Biography.

21. Morison, Samuel Eliot, “The Great Rebellion in Harvard College, and the
Resignation of President Kirkland,” Publications of the Colonial Society
of Massachusetts, Vol. XXVII, April, 1928, pp. 54-112.

22, Fuess, Claude M., The Life of Caleb Cushing, Harcourt, Brace and Com-
pany, New York, 1923. Fuess’s efforts to portray Cushing’s boldly criminal
adventures as normal or even moral activities, make this one of the funniest

pieces of apologetic biography.
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entered Harvard College. His father was a wealthy ship owner:
his cousin® John Perkins Cushing, was engaged in the illicit
opiurn traffic n China, and was on his way to becoming one of
the wealthiest men in the world. As an undergraduate, Caleb
Cushing spent nearly every Sunday evening at the home of
President Kirkland, and he was particularly close to a young
nephew of John Lowell’s at the college. His worship of the
powerful, and his dogged ambition to be one of them, was early
noticed and rewarded by the Essex Junto group. A local New-
buryport wit wrote a famous epitaph for Caleb Cushing:

- Lay aside all ye dead, for in the next bed, reposes the
body of Cushing:

He has crowded his way through the world, as they say,
and even though dead will keep pushing. - ‘ :

After graduation Cushing spent a year at Harvard Law School,
and had a short internship at a law office. President Kirkland
hired him in 1820, at-age 20, as a ‘mathematics teacher. His
relations with the College remained extremely close throughout
the Kirkland era. R : - '

In'1822, Cushing began writing editorials for the Newburyport
Herald, the local organ of the Essex Junto. The type for these
editorials was set'by-an 18-year-old Herald employee, William
Lloyd Garrison.* When Cushing took over editorship of the

23. Cushing, Lemuel, Tke Genealogy of the Cushing Family, Lovell Printing
-and Publishing Company, Montreal, 1877. Caleb Cushing and John Perkins
‘Cushing had approximately the same degree of blood relationship as did
Theodore and Franklin Delano Roosevelt; their great-great-grandfathers
were brothers. But their circle of acquaintances was extremely tight, and
thesr own perception of the value of family connections was overpowering.

24. Garrison's Tory_ family origins are interesting: -On the outbreak of the

-American Revolution, a'vate was held in a Nova Scotia town: atl but

Garrison’s grandfather and a very few others voted to join the American

patriots. British troops soon marched in and enforced ioyalty to the crown

by deporting American patriots and destroying their houses. Garrison's

]'g‘ory pqri.nts came to Massachusetts from the British province of New
TUNSWiC
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i ' ' der his
paper during the summer, he_ took the.yoqng man u
wing, ‘and by careful and persistent cultivation, launched Gar-
rison on his strange political career. _ _ ‘
Biographer John L. Thomas records this crucial moment n
his hero’s life:

It was Cushing who first called young Garrison’s attention
to slavery. . . . [H]e did not regard slavery as a serious
problem until Cushing opened his eyes. . ..Slavery_' was
not the only topic which Lloyd discussed with his new friend.
Cushing lent him books and urged him to undertak.e other
challenging subjects. Revolutions in South America, re-
bellions in Greece, uprisings in Verona and Naples all seemed
to forecast the eventual triumph of the people over the
forces of reaction and repression. Lloyd’s investigatlop of
the South American revolts led him to denounce American
foreign policy in ringing tones. If the new republics could
not rid themselves of the “dross of superstition and tyr-
anny” on their own, they must be taught to endorcx_a justice
and pay due respect to the American flag. Coercion heid
the answer. “The only expedient to command respect and
protect our citizens will be to finish with cannon what cannot -
be done in a conciliatory manner. "2

William Lloyd Garrison had up to that point recei_ved a th01"-
ough indoctrination in the Essex Junto theories of disunion; his
teenage heroes were the royalist leaders of the Hartford .Con,—,
vention. Garrison’s “conservatism” now became “radicalized
around three points stressed by Caleb Cushing: o

-« Negro slavery was evil, and was caused by the prejudices
hite people;

o -w La:inpgnferican republics deserved to be destroyed if they

were not more respectful to foreigners;

25. Thomas, John L., The Liberator: William Lioyd Garrison, a Biography,
Little, Brown and Company, Boston, 1963, p. 37.
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* Revolution . . . overturn . . . violence are the answer to
man’s problems.

. Historians have shown a strange lack of curiosity regarding
the Cushing-Garrison relationship: William Lioyd Garrison be-
came the leader of the most extreme and provocative elements of
Abolitionism, while Caleb Cushing became the main pro-siavery

spokesman and strategist in the North,

Cuhing;s Commission from Lowell

In 1823 a Boston newspaper editor got up the gumption to call
John Lowell (“The Rebel”), and his late father, traitors, and to

suggest that it all started when Judge John Lowell had run away -

to the British side during the Revolution. Caleb Cushing pro-
posed to Lowell that he would write a biography defending the
Old Judge’s reputation.?

‘Lowell responded to Cushing’s proposition in a series of let-
- ters which, remaining unpublished in the Library of Congress,
bear silent testimony to the shameless corruption in the motives
of bothmen. - ' '

Lowell requested that Cushing write instead a full-scale de-
fense of the Essex Junto, that Cushing should portray them all
as “patriots."? - ' : :

Caleb Cushing accépted this assignment in fawning terms, as
a “great opportunity” for service, and promised to write a book
exactly to Lowell's specifications, and to turn it over to Lowell
for his approval and any minor changes he might make.

26. The Independent Chronicle and Boston Patriot is named by Greenslet as
the source of the attack against Judge Lowell’s loyalty; so as to prevent
researchers from easily viewing the probably interesting editorial, Green-
slet mentions only the year, 1823, but no specific date for the issue. In
the bound volume of that year’s issues of the newspaper in the Library
of Congress, it_wil]beobservedthattheecﬁtormniedonalmgcampaign
of exposure of the treason by the Boston Brahmins, from their plot with
Aaron Buar in the 1800 elections, through the secession attempts and
sabotage during the war of 1812.

27. Cushing to Lowell, Oct. 20, 1823, Cushing Papers, Library of Congress.

28. Lowell to Cushing, Oct. 22, 1823, ibid.
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John Lowell now sent Cushing dozens of letters and turned
over to him mounds of legal papers and family documents. The
method Cushing was to employ was put bluntly: The source
materials “are but food for your mind to be digested b){ unknown
processes and reproduced under new and more beautiful forms,
as we see the odious caterpillar repro@uced with the most gor-

and delightful color and proportions.” . ‘
geﬁiney and %hhe total cooperation of the Lm'.vell circle, “for-
ever,” was placed at the disposal of Caleb Cushmg.“ln one letter
Lowell passed the torch to the eager young man: “I accept you

champion and that of my race.” ' ' :
® glll};hmg n?aver wrote more than a single chapter, in which he
tried to justify Judge Lowell's farewell addFess to the royal
Governor Hutchinson. But in his long and hizarre career as a
“Mephistopheles” of American politics, Caleb Cushing carried
out his more profound commission frogn the Ess:ex Junto: to
break up the American republic. We wﬂl_follow him closely as
we trace out the buildup to the Insurrection of 1861.




_10—
~ Franklin’s Freemasons
Versus Boston’s Scottish Rite

In 1766, ten years before the U.S. Declaration of Independence,
Dr. Benjamin-Franklin traveled to the continent of Europe, to
begin assembling a vast, transatlantic conspiracy, intended to
provi@e the strategic correlation of forces indispensable to Amer-
ican victory over its oppressor and adversary, Lord Shelburne’s
Britain. This vast conspiracy brought together, under Franklin's
lea!dership, the surviving networks earlier associated with John
Milton of England, Richelieu, Mazarin, and Colbert of France,
and of Gottfried Leibniz. The network of Franklin's conspiracy

extended, outside the future United States itself, from Leibniz’s

Petrograd;Agademy in Russia, through the court of Spain’s King
_ -:Cl_xades _III, mto the republican circles of the Spanish colonies
n _

The central feature of the conspiratorial form of Franklin's

transatlantic network was Franklin's position as international

leader, and Grand Master of one of the two contending forms
of freemasonry in France, ally of Franklin’s own Free and Ac-
cepted Masons in the U.S.A. The British-allied opposition to
Franklin on the continent of Europe was centered in a circle of
Jesuit, Swiss-banking, and British SIS forces and assets, as-

sembled in the Nine Sisters’ Scottish Rite freemasonic lodge in

l":m's, .qnder that Lodge’s Grand Master for France, and Frank-
lin’s chief adversary in France, the Duke of Orleans.
The leading edge of British subversion within the North Amer-
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ican colonies and, later, the United States, was the build-up of
a network of Scottish Rite lodges in direct opposition to Frank-
lin’s own freemasonic conspiracy. An outstanding feature of this
spread of the Scottish Rite conspiracy against the United States
was the role of the medical school at Edinburgh, Scotland (and
other medical centers controlled by the Scottish Rite in Europe).

The pace at which the families of the Essex Junto could realize
their treascnous objectives was limited, perforce, to the rate
at which they could embed their conspiratorial network into
controlling positions of public and private institutions around the
nation as a whole. Exemplary was the degree of control they
achieved over the chairmanships of the state medical associa-
tions by the 1840s, and the circumstantially conclusive evidence
of a physician’s role in assuring the death of President William
Henry Harrison. It was this Scottish Rite freemasonic conspir-
acy, centered around close collaboration between Newburyport
and Charleston, South Carolina, through which the traitorous,
slave-trading, and opium-trading freemasonic families of Essex
County deliberately organized the Confederacy, and the same
secession of which George Cabot wrote on January 29, 1804,
and Timothy Pickering on July 4, 1813. . :

It is therefore the transatlantic “freemasonic war” erupting
during the eighteenth century, and continued in the United States
into the 1980s, which is the main thread of conspiracy which

" must be uncovered and traced to discover how the Essex Junto

of Jefferson’s and Madison’s presidencies nearly succeeded in
destroying the nation, until the Battle of Gettysburg settled the
matter in 1863. It is to that connection that we turn our attention
in these chapters of our report. :

However, we would be guilty of fallacy of composition of the
evidence, if we restricted ourselves merely to the British ele-
ments of this treason. Just as we have shown, in the case of
Aaron Burr’s treasonous activities, that the war against the
United States during 1776-1783 was prosecuted as much by the
Swiss families. centered around Mallet, de Neuflize, Schlum-
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berger, and Necker, as by the British themselves, so the same
noqunaﬂy Protestant, French-speaking financier families of
Switzerland were integral to the outrages against our republic
leading into the Civil War. '

The.Swiss and Jesuits:

Slr}c_e the evidence we report focuses almost exclusively on the
British connection to the treason, we preface those features of
our report with a summary description of the characteristic
features of the Swiss and Jesuit participation in these events.
) The afflictions which have beset Western European civilization
since the accession of Charlemagne, have been chiefly produc-
tions of a force determined to destroy the direction of devel-
opment of Western Christian civilization set into motion by the
writings of St. Augustine, and given powerful force with the
rise of Chquemagne. The adversary, at the beginning, was based
in B_yzantann, in the powerful banking and mercantilé families
of the Levaqt,- called “Phanariots” because of the wealthy district
of "Constanhnople, together with a powerful, Gnostic faction of
pseudo-Christians within the Eastern Church,’ centered around
the hesychastic cults of the so-called Holy Mountain of Mount
Athos. The most significant among the colonies of Byzantium
through which destructive operations were deployed against the
West from the ninth century A.D. onwards, has been Venice,
;:)xfe??e city tev:hl(:ltlev;iagiﬂm principal target of the United States’
counter-ini nce i i i
foreign coumter operations during thg period from
Durmg the‘ period beginning A.D. 1230-1250, Venice and its
allied F(_)r_mehtﬁr, Genoa, nearly succeeded in destroying West-
em ay;hzaﬁon.by,methods not dissimilar to the effects of in-
ternational debt- usury and promotion of charismatic religious
f:ults today. Over the period from the fali of the Hohenstaufen
in Qemmy, Italy, and Spain, during the period A.D. 1250-1268
until the last quarter of the following century, half of the parishe;
of Eurqpe existing in A.D. 1250 vanished. The Black Death
pandemic, which killed half of the population of Europe living at

R
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the time of its onset, was merely the concluding phase of a
general collapse of European culture.

The central feature of this destruction of European civilization
over that period of approximately 100 years, was an institution
of banking called “Lombard banking,” typified by the families of
the Peruzzi and Bardi. It was the “conditionalities” imposed
upon debtor governments by these Lombard usurers, much like
International Monetary Fund “conditionalities” today, which -
caused a collapse of agricultural production—the activity of about
95 percent of the households living at that time, with a resulting
collapse of towns, and forcing both urban and rural populations
into vagabondage and banditry. As “Khomeini-like” charismatic
cults destroyed the rationality of populations, no rational op-
position to the Lombards’ practice was successfully mustered
until after the conclusion of the Black Death pandemic.

Then, when England repudiated its debts to the Bardi, the
chain-letter of usury collapsed, wiping out, in chain-reaction,
most of the Lombard financial institutions of Europe, and weak-
ening their political power to the point that the conspiracy earlier
set into motion by Dante Alighieri could establish the beginnings
of the fifteenth-century Golden Renaissance.

The Golden Renaissance, brought together as a force by the
fifteenth-century Cardinal Nicolaus of Cusa, and continued by
Leonardo da Vinci, France's King Louis XI, and the Erasmian
reformers of England, reestablished government and society
ordered according to the principles of St. Augustine and Char-
jemagne, but also with the addition of several new features of
utmost importance. . _

Dante Alighieri had proposed, through such influential writings
as his De Monarchia, a system of nation-states, each based on
the speakers of a common, literate form of language, as a re-
placement for the Holy Roman Empire form of government of
Christendom. The possibility of such a new order in society was
provided by the work of Cusa, beginning his 1431 Concordantia
Catholica,-which provided for the existence of sovereign nation-
state republics, all bound together by share of a common body
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of natural law based on Augustinian Neoplatonic principles. Cusa
also set into motion, through his Writings on geometry and
physics, the entirety of modern European mathematical science,
chiefly through his influence upon Leonardo da Vinci, and through
his own and da Vinci’s influence, directly and indirectly, upon
such figures as England’s Williarm Gilbert, Germany’s Johannes
Kepler, and France’s Gaspard Desargues, all the latter at the
turn of the seventeenth century.

So, emerged, as Italian thought, and as the practice of France's
Louis XT and the English Erasmians, a new form of civil society,
based on the sovereign nation-state republic and the promotion
of increase of the productive powers of labor through scientific

 progress. Forces such as Les Politiques in France (Henry IV,
Pere Tremblay, Richelien, Mazarin, Colbert), the Common-
wealth Party of John Milton in-England, and the networks of
Gottfried Leibniz, were the leading bearers of this advancement
in the human condition into the time, 1766, Benjamin Franklin
began assembling his vast, transatlantic conspiracy. :

. -‘The opposition to this was by no means destroyed by the
financial bankruptcies of the fourteenth-century Lombard houses.
They had bee,n:great_ly. weakened, but a powerful kemel, cen-

tered in.Venice, survived, Their come-back to power was es- -

tablished with the Ottoman conquest of Constantinople, in A.D.
1453.- - - : . o
Briefly, the opposition to Mount Athos and the Phanariots in
- Byzantium had seized power there with the rise of the Paleo-
logues, a Greek branch of the Italian family of Viterbo. Through
the masterstatesman of the Paleologues, George Gemisthos
(Plethon), an alliance was:struck between the Paleologues.and
Cosimo de Medici of Florence, leading into the ecumenical Coun-
cil of Florence of A.D., 1439, where the Paleologues attempted
to outflank the hesychasts of the Eastern Rite by unifying the
Eastern Rite and Roman Catholic Confession through adoption
of the Augustinian filiogue doctrine by the Eastern Rite.

- Venice, Genoa, Mount Athos, and complicit, nominally Cath-
olic wealthy families in Rome itself, struck back, determined to
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troy the insurgence of Augustinianism a(_:compllshed by th,e
giinc;lr of Florengcz. These parties, includmg. Mount Athos’s
spokesman, Gennadios, entered into a plot with the Ottoman
ruler for the conquest of Constantinogle. Mount A_thos (Gen-
nadios) prohibited Greeks from defending Constantinople. Tpe
Venetians and Romans supplied Muhammed ﬂle_Conq}xeror with
artillery and gunners. Four thousand mercenaries, hired to de_-
fend the city, opened the city’s gates by night. So, Constgntb

le fell in A.D. 1453. :
nogs payment for these services, Muha!mmed the. Conqugx:o_
passed only long-lasting concessions' to his accornpll.ces. Vemce
was given large portions of the subjugated Byzantine doms
in Greece, and Venice was given control of tl,le Ot'go-man intel-
ligence and diplomatic services: the dfagom s positions. Ge_n-
nadios was made Patriarch of the Eastern Rite, and given aul:ho_nty
over the affairs of all non-Islamic peoples of the Ottoman Emp_lre.
The Ottoman Empire so created was modeled upon the ancient
Persian, Roman, and Byzantine empirqs-—a system of captive
nations, each defined by ethnic or ethnic- plus-I:ehg,fous partic-
ularism, or what we would term “world ft?dera_hsm today.

At the same time, Venice transformed its qher}ts, the H:}ps-
burgs, into rulers of an Austro-Hungarian empire in the making,
and thereafter controlled the Middie East, and most of Eastern
Europe through playing the two empires, the Ottoman and Aus-
tro- Hungarian, against one another, and also largely controlled

merging Russian Empire. - :

thifzrﬁce-g;itged in concert with Genoa, which (_:o.nt:.ro]led ]:’;ur-
gundy (i.e., French-speaking Switzerland, and a‘t_i]ommg_ portions
of France). The Genoese began to take control 'of Spam as well
as Portugal, through Queen Isabella. The houses'.of Burgundy
and Hapsburg were unified, Essex Junto-style. W;th the death
of the obstacle, Ferdinand of Spain, and the Hapsburg sapk of
Rome in A.D. 1527, the rule of Venice through the Hapsburgs
was uncontested throughout Europe (anfi the 'Nevar World)Ren;-
cept by France and Tudor England Venice orgamze(.i the '(::1;
ormation in Germany, Genoa in Switzerland, and Venice, whi




148 - TREASON IN AMERICA

had just created the Protestant Reformation, organized the
Counterreformation, too. The Venetian house of Contarini de-
tained Ignatius Loyola, and obliged him to head up a new world-
wide secret intelligence service to serve the Venetian interests,
the Jesuits.

Among the believers, the religious issues of the wars of the
sixteenth and seventeenth centuries were real and bitter, and
often enough not without reason. At the time, with a few ex-
ceptions, Venice controlled both sides of the conflict, and prof-
ited in wealth and power whichever won.

The -downfall of Tudor England began with Henry VIII's Ref-
ormation. It is probably the case that Henry VIII was clinically
insane, but no less manipulable on this account. His curious
mattimonial practices are much noted, and were perhaps a lead-
ing- consideration in the poor, twisted mind of that monarch.
Less noted; but of lasting importance, Henry VIII was bribed
massively, by Genoa. Henry’s wealth came from sale of titles
and confiscated Church properties. The means to purchase those
estates and titles came chiefly through loans: extended to the
purchasers by Genoese families such as the Pallavicini. Old Judge
Lowell would have understood the point perfectly.

~ Henry VII did not touch the theology of the English Church
in any formal way. Cranmer’s Book of Common Prayer may be
noted on this point. The decisive act was. the legal murder of
the. great English Erasmian, Sir Thomas More; Henry VIII de-
stroyed the Erasmian faction which had-brought his father to
the throne, the political forces within England representmg the
new institution of the technologically progressive sovereign na-
tion-state. -Thereafter, the Catholics in Britain were divided
chiefly into two groups, -the crypto-Catholic Erasmians, typified
by the Dudleys and the family of William Shakespeare, and the
Jesuitical tribes associated with the Genoese colony known as
Scotland.~It is in the latter that the origins of SCOttlSh Rite
freemasonry are to be found: ;

Followmg the 1588 defeat of the Spamsh Armada the Gen-
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oese faction in England struck, launching a bloody de facto coup
d'etat to secure the succession to the Stuart James VI of Scot-

‘land. The Cecil family, including Francis Bacon, were prominent,

among others, in this plot. When their Stuart candidate ascended
the throne of England as James I, in 1603, he gave his foreign
financial backers a monopoly over the collection of taxes and
public debt of Britain. The Venetian-Genoese Levant Company
took over the commerce of Britain much as the Essex Junto
did through operations centered in the China opium trade. This
foreign monopoly, reconsolidated from the 1660 Restoration of
the Stuarts onward, is the Bank of England today, and was the
British (and Dutch) East India Company of the eighteenth and
nineteenth centuries, of Baring Brothers bank. N

The Scottish Rite was created in the following way.

During the period of the Stuart household’s exile, the most
influential intellectual figures were Bacon’s personal secretary,
Thomas Hobbes, and one Robert Fludd, a Jesuit better known
as the leading spokesman for a synthetic cult created-by the
Jesuits, the Rosicruceans. This was an oriental cult, identified
as “hermeticist,” which was used as a “secret society” by the
Stuarts, a conspiratorial freemasonic sort of network deployed
to assist their return to power. When the Stuarts returned to
power, this secret-society cult was first organized in the open
form of the London Royal Society, under the direction of a
crypto-Jesuit, Sir William Petty, the grandfather of the Second
Earl of Shelburne controlling the Essex Junlo.

However, the London Royal Society of Petty, Locke, Hooke,
Newton, Boyle, :et al., was merely the “above-ground” form of
the cult—as the chest of Newton's private laboratory papers
illustrates the point. Steps were taken under Petty’s overall
direction to recodify and reorganize the secret networks. A
protégé of Petty’s, Elias Ashmole, was employed to piece to-
gether the old Templar cults of Scotland and Fludd’s Rosicru-
ceanism. {(Robert Bruce, the founder of the inodern Scottish
royal bloodline, had been a fourteenth-century Genoese mer-
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cenary, who had conquered Scotland with aid of a force of Tem-
plars fleeing the Inquisition and Philip le Bel of France.) The
result was the Scottish Rite of speculative freemasonry, as
distinguished from craft, or Free and Accepted Freemasonry.

Benjamin Franklin’s Initiative

From this standpoint of historical reference, the general char-
acter and form of secret organization of Franklin's opponents in
France is easily documented. Franklin organized a network of
Free and Accepted Masons, tied historically to the Grand Orient
Lodge of himself and the Marquis de Lafayette. The Prince Hall
freemasons, in the United States, for example, were chartered
by Lafayette, as were the liberal freemasons of Benito Juarez's
circles in Mexico. The Society of Cincinnatus, which George
Washington and Lafayette co-founded in 1783, was a freema-
sonic organization attached to the Free and Accepted Free-
masonry - associated with the Grand Orient of France. This
freemasonic network was the basis for the secret-intelligence
organization of the patriots of the United States into the 1860s,
with echoes of those-old associations exnstmg around the world
today. . -
Although Burgund:an Sw:ss tribes such as the Mallet, entered
England-with William the Conquerer in A.D. 1066, since Robert
Bruce, -a special connection has existed between Edinburgh and
Geneva, to such families as Mallet, de Neuflize, and, since about
1770, Schlumberger. These tribes show up in history as early
as the campaigns of Julius Caesar, a history we do not propose
to elaborate here. The crux of the matter is that in eighteenth-
century France, as'in France today, Scottish Rite freemasonry,
Swiss ‘banking families of ‘Geneva, Lausanne, and Berne, and
-the Jesuits, are so tightly intermeshed in joint projects that their
occasional squabbles among themselves are merely intramural,
if sometimes bloodily so.

It was this combination, coordinated around the figure of the

Duke of Orieans, which was. Franklin’s deadly opponent during
the 1776-1788 period, and the tightly intermeshed forces de-
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ployed in coordinated use of treasonous circles such as the

families of the Essex Junto.

The important thing which the reader must bear in mmd as
we trace through the incestuous begatting of the freemasonic
and Jesuit networks deployed to organize the secession, is that
a conspiracy of this sort, spun out over successive generations,
does not operate in the fashion most persons today would as-
sume a conspiracy to work. One must not imagine that the
essence of such conspiracies are secret meetings in obscure
places, and so forth. The covert features of conspiracies are
merely the necessary (usually) auxiliary means to the end in
view. The essential thing about the great conspiracies which
have, in fact, shaped most of human history, is not the dark
plottings, and the begattings. The essential feature of any great
conspiracy of this sort is the motivation which causes the leaders
of a conspiracy to conspire together.

The mere desire for power and wealth cannot sustam a great
conspiracy over successive generations. The mere appearance
of better opportunities to reach the same goals would tear apart
any conspiracy based on mere greed as such. All great con-
spiracies .are glued together and energized by some very special
and powerful sort of ideological motive. ,

In the case of the Essex Junto and its outgrowths the ide-
ological motive is a hatred against the distinctive form of Au-
gustinian principles identified with the fifteenth-century Golden
Renaissance. This hatred of the institutions of the sovereign
nation- state, of the checks of principles of natural law on the
behavior of individuals and associations, and of technological
progress, is complemented by a desire for the kind of world-
order and ethics typified by the case of the Roman Empire, in
which syndicates of wealthy families, organized -as the Italian
black nobility’s fond:, rule over a world-empire.

In the early correspondence of the Essex Junto, their treason
has the form of a search for quick projects for destruction of an
American federal republic, whose very existence is repugnant
to their adopted British-impenialist world-outlook, a British ide-
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ological version of the philosophical outlook of the Roman Em-
pire. What is clear from that earlier correspondence is a consistent
mass of prejudices; they know what they hate, but are less
certain of what they desire in its place. They are guided only
by the ideology of the prejudices. As the conspiracy ages in
faxperience, numbers, and resources, the nebulously defined
1d,eology of the early period gives way to a highly organized set
of long-range projects and goals. The conspiratorial world of
freemasonic plotting serves as the medium though which this
development of their ideological prejudices assumes an elabo-
rated form.

Creating a Spy Ring:

The Scottish Rite in America

There is a vicious game associated with the story told by the
“Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite” about its own history in
the United States. According to the Rite’s historians,! it was
pl_'m;ar_:ly_ Jewish merchants and rabbis who established the or-
gamzathn mn North America.

“The game works-as-follows. First, it is alleged that certain
Jews brought the “patents” for this freemasonic system from
France ‘in“the- 1760s, and that these and other Jews set up a
system of rltuals mn Philadelphla Charleston, and elsewhere. No

1. The three fmain sources of Scottish Rite history consulted in
ot ! Sour Ty preparation
~ Harris, Ray Baker, Elwen Gentlemen of Charleston: Founders of the
 Supreme Council, Mother Council of the World; published by the Supreme
Council 33°, ‘Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite, Southern Jurisdiction,
Washmgtoll;aD .C., 1959;
Harris, Ray Baker History of the Supreme Council . . . Southern Juris-
dichion, 1801-1861, published by the Supreme Councﬂ 33 A.I]Clel'.l):Z and
Accepted Scottish. the Southern Jurisdiction, Waslungton. D. C., 1964
(hereinafter “Southern Supreme Council”);
Baynard, Samuel Harrison, Jx., History of the Supreme Council, 33°.
Northern Masonic Jurisdiction of the United States and its Antecedents
Published’ by the Supreme Council, Northern Jurisdiction, Ancient and

Accepte;l Scottish Rite, Boston, 1938 (hereinafter “Northern Supreme
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biographical information is furnished about these individuals, that
would in any way explain how they are tied to the French,
English, and Scottish noblemen who originated the order; no
motives are suggested for actions of these obscure “founders.”

Then, spurious “attacks” appear against the misdeeds of the
Scottish Rite and other secret societies, which ascribe the prob-
lem to a “Jewish Conspiracy”! One such piece of lying garbage
is the Occult Theocrasy® by a Lady Queenborough. Its author
uses the source material provided by the Scottish Rite, and de-
nounces a long list of Jews as conspiraters, who had no other
supposed object in mind than Jewish control of the world.

By promoting this fakery, the Scottish Rite— which strictly
prohibits Jews from its leadership— has succeeded in doubly
obscuring the actual nature of its origins in this country, and in
the bargain has helped to promote the Anglo—Saxon racism that
has always been central to its aims.

Among the many names provided by the Rite as its' Amencan
pioneers and progenitors, all but one have such obscure;-elusive
historical identities that, if they existed at all, they-appear to
have played the role of messengérs or go-betwems for the
principal world-historical figures involved in this business:

The one exceplion is a man whose historical existence was all
too palpable for the hundreds of American and aflied" patriots
who died at his hands. British Major General Augustine Prevost
is still remembered today in South Carolina as the “filthy” enemy
commander during the American Revolution, whose largely Loy-
alist troops looted and maliciously destroyed the homes and
farms of residents in wide areas of that state.® Augustine Prevost

2, Miller, Edith Starr (“Lady Queenborough™), Occulf Theocrasy, (first pub-
lished 1933, reprinted by “The Christian Book Club of America,” Haw-
thorne, California, 1980,

3. See, among many sources, Fraser, Walter] Jr., Patriots Pistols and
Pelticoats, Charleston County Bicentennial Committee, Charleston, South
Carolina, 1976, p. 112: “Prevost’s . . . marauders devastated the coun-
tryside . . . rumand wine ceflar pil]aged. . . Library scattered and mostly
carried away . . . took all the best horses, burnt the dwelling house and
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and his brother, Colonel James Marcus Prevost, were respon-
sible for the recruitment of the largest force of Crown Loyalists
used in the British war effort. Indeed, the struggle in South
Carolina has the character of a Patriot-versus-Tory civil war.

. As we have seen in earlier chapters, these Prevosts of Geneva

represented the very highest levels of the British-Swiss alliance
forming the British Secret Intelligence Service. When Colonel
James Prevost died, Aaron Burr married his widow, adopted
his children, and took his place in the family and the British
Secret Service. The substantial Tory element in South Carolina
would serve Burr and the Prevosts as a fertile recruiting ground
for political- conspiratorial activities after the Revolution, under
the overall coordination of the supervisor of Loyalist affairs,
Secret Intelligence -chief Lord Shelburne.
- The History of the Supreme Council, 33°, Ancient Accepted
Scottish Rite of Freemasonyy, Northern Masonic Jurisdiction of
the Unitéd States of America, and Its Anlecedents, by Samuel H.
Baynard, Jr., states that Augustine Prevost was Grand Steward
of the Lodge of Perfection set up in Albany, New York, in 1768.*
This lodge was said to have been established by one of the
traveling “patent” bearers named Henry Francken. The lodge
was “abruptly terminated” as the troubles with the British came
to a°head in 1774, but not before responsibility for the “Ancient”
system was passed on: - :

“In February 1774, Francken appointed Augustin[e] Prevost
adeputy Inspector General at Kingston, J amaica, and thereafter,
so far as previous writers have recorded, Francken passed out
of our. picture. The official Rite historian states further that
Prevost, in 1776, commissioned a fellow British army officer
“to estab_lish the Rite of Perfectionin Scotland, [this commission]
was afterwards to form the basis of its constitution.”

General Augustine Prevost had two sons who were important
to American history. One of them, Sir George Prevost, gained

books, destroyed all the furniture, china, etc. killed the sheep and poultry,
and drank the liquors. . . .” .
4. Baynard, Northern Supreme Council, Vol. I, p. 67.
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-notoriety because, as Govemnor General of Canada and Com-
mander of British Forces in North America, he invaded the

. United States in the War of 1812. .

" The other son, named Augustine like his father, is a most

elusive quarry for the historical hunter. It is known that he was

- .a major in the British Army, who died in 1824. The initial in-

formation available to us came from his correspondence with

. his uncle and lawyer, Aaron Burr. The Canadian Government
. Archives were requested to search for traces of the major.

- No record of his existence as a Canadian was returned, but
the Archivist sent us copies of letters which indicate that Major
Prevost was stationed within the new United States, rather than

" in Canada.

He is first encounted in a 1785 letter written to Sir Frederick

. Haldimand, a native Swiss who had just returned to England

after serving as governor general and commander in chief in
Canada during the Revolution. Haldimand had overall respon-
sibility for settling the hordes of embittered, revenge-seeking
Tory refugees who came up to Canada during and after the war.

Major Prevost writes to a@?:épt Haldimand’s request that he
serve as Haldimand's agent, supposedly to be concerned with
managing Haldimand’s lands in western Pennsylvania. In later
correspondence, Prevost discusses his plans to establish a Swiss
settlement®—not far from where the Genevan immigrant Albert
Gallatin did indeed establish the base from which he launched

the Whiskey Insurrection in the 1790s.

5. Augustine Prevost and Thomas Hutchins (in New York) to General Hal-
dimand, March 12, 1785, Public Archives of Canada, Manuscript Group
21, Haldimand Papers, Additional Manuscript 21736, p. 36.

6. Major Augustine Prevost (in Montgomery {County], Pennsylvania) to Gen-
eral Sir Frederick Haldimand, K.B. (in London), Aug. 18, 1788, ibid.,
Additional Manuscript 21737, p. 67-71. Prevost comments without much
pleasure on America’s new strong Constitution: “The General adoption of
the new Federal Government appears to rise the expectation of the people
to the highest pitch, their Political Salvation seems to hinge on the Event,
how far their hope will be realised time must unfold, for it will require fime
to Organize such an Unwieldy a [sic} Machine.”
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. Prevost tells Haldimand that Pennsylvania will be strateg;
important bgcause Philadelphia has been chosen as the sigtlec‘}il)i
the first capital of the new U.S, government,’
.- The Scottish Rite H, istory by Baynard tells us: “The old Minute
Book of the Lodge of Perfection in Philadelphia, shows that on
Oct. 5, 1785. ‘Bro. Augustin Prevost, a Prince of the Royal
Secret . . . [was] admitted as visitor . . . a Patent [was] issued
by Deputy Inspector General Prevost, Aug. 19, 1789, to William
Moo:e Smith, 'at Philadelphia, and . . . February 1 1790, to
Pierre Le__Barbler Duplessis . . . whereby each of the recipiénts
_ was appointed a Deputy Inspector General,
_ The William Moore Smith “appointed” by Prevost advertised
m 179.?,that he was the general agent for the Tory refugees
for-tpefprosecution- of their claims, and those of other Britisl;
creI:irltors, agait:llst the United States.?
+ Prevost’s other appointee, Pierre Duplessis, travel -
_ sachufsett_s, zfnd in. 1790 he established the Knightse’?‘(:g‘g:rss
qrg_amz_atnon- - Newburyport.®® The commander of that organi-
zation-from 1823 t0.1866 was Richard Spofford, father of Caleb
Cushing’s private secretary. -

It shouldbe noted that'while establishing these Lodge net-
wo_rks,fMa}or Prevost was in constant contact with his lawyer
uncle, and advisor,: Aaron Burr; who came to Philadelphia in
1791 as the-U.S. Senator from New York. Burr represented
Preyost in his long feud with the pioneer father of novelist James
Fenimore Cooper over the title to the Cooper lands in upstate
New Y_*ork-—a conflict which ended when William Cooper was
assassmated in 1809 by a blow on the head from behind,

7. Pl\f[a;orAugustme Prev%stB ('11(1. Plnladelp)hlaﬁ Pennsylvania) to General Sir
o lin Loy, P . al
Matiuscript 21737, pp. 129-130, . o 25, 1789, ibid., Additonal
3. ggn:rd, Northern SWCouncd Vol I, pp. 67-68.
10. Masonic clippings file, Public Library, Newburyport, Massachusetts,

— MR

¢
L

FRANKLIN VERSUS SCOTTISH Rite 157

The Charleston Founders

With these antecedents, the Scottish Rite organization in
Charleston, South Carolina—later to be called the Mother Lodge
of the World—was officially founded in 1801. Of the 11 gentle-
men mentioned"! as founders, seven have the shadowy identity
of messenger boys or even fictitious characters; the other four

- were definite historical personalities, though the surviving re-

cord of their lives are full of gaps and shrouded in mystery.
John Mitchell (1741-1816) was an Irish immigrant trading in
the West Indies in the 1760s. Living in Philadelphia during the
Revolution, Mitchell got himself assigned Deputy Quartermaster
for the American army. He seems to have remained in the city
under British occupation, and to have nonchalantly resumed his
quartermaster role after the city was liberated in 1778.
When Benedict Arnold was court-martialed in Philadelphia in
1779, on corruption charges relating to the use of supplies from
the Quartermaster, Commander Washington wrote Mitchell to
inform him that Arnold had requested Mitchell to be a witness
on his behalf. It was in this period that Benedict Amold’s wife
Peggy, Aaron Burr’s step-sister, was intensifying her campaign
of persuasion, which coupled with financial corruption by the
British, led to Arnold’s treason the following year at West Point.
Whether John Mitchell testified at the Arnold trial is not known.
Later the Continental Congress held a trial to determine if Mitch-

11. Harris, Eleven Gentlemen. One not regarded as afounder of the Charleston
" Mother Lodge, but an early Scottish Rite activist, Moses Michael Hayes,
was a Jewish businessman, who went back and forth between Rhode
Island, Philadelphia and Boston on Masonic business. He refused to affirm
his allegiance to the American cause during the Revolution, when asked
to do so by a Rhode Island tribunal which believed him to be a Tory. He
was one of the founders of the Bank of Massachusetts (fater First Mational
Bank of Boston) with Jobn Lowell, and Arthur Hays Sulzberger of the
New York Times was a collateral descendant of his. Rather more definite
biographical data about him, than is now available, would have to be found
to show him to have been more than a messenger boy for the Tory faction

of New England.
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ell was guilty of falsifying'? his quartermaster’s books. Mitchell
and Arnold were both acquitted. But for some reason the Com-
monwealth of Pennsylvania sequestered Mitchell's records for
investigation, and they are still kept as such, on file in the state
archives.®

Inone of Aaron Burr’s postwar letters to Augustine Prevost, ¢
Burr mentions that he has sent “John Mitch” as a messenger
to Prevost. Mitchell moved to Charleston either in 1787 or 1790.

~ Count Alexandre Frangois Auguste de Grasse (1865-1845)
played no significant role in Charleston after co-founding the
Scottish Rite there in 1801, but he later served as as crucial
intermediary between the American conspirators and their Eu-
ropean aristocratic wire-pullers. De Grasse was the son of the
French Admiral de Grasse, whose fleet helped George Wash-
ington defeat the British in the decisive battle of Yorktown. The
Admiral seemed unenthusiastic about remaining in place to fight
the Bntlsh—the ‘Marquis de Lafayette had to convince him to
stay for the action. Whatever his father’s real loyalties, the
younger de Grasse’s most_prominent military activity was in
ﬁghtmg to save his own and other plantations from the San
0, sla "'msurrectlon in the 1790s.

"De Gra_s set up.. ‘Scottish Rite Supreme Councils in France
(1804) Mllan (1805), Spam (1809) and Belgium-(1817). Follow-
ish conquest of France in 1815, de Grasse became
SCOﬂJSh R1te Supreme Cormnander in France, coordinating with

12. Papers-of the Continental Congress, No. 19, I, Folio 127, p. 345, March
- 20, 1779. William Paca ‘gives.the report of “The Committee, to whom
was referred. the Information respecting Col. Mitchell’s obliterating and
expunging certain entries contained in one of his office books.”

13. See.Pennsyivania Stite Archives, MG 92, John Mitchell Papers. The
.Archives’ Notes to. the Mitchell papers quotes from "Amencan Generals
am‘iStaﬁOIﬁoers in Pa. Magazine, VI, 126, “Notes and Quéries” series:

~“Jobn Mitchell, QM General, was a merchant, hadbeenhankruptat
divers times; andforhavmgtakenafa]seoaﬂ], had been committed to
the Common Jail.”

14. . Aaron Burr, New York, to Augustme Prevost, Mill Grove, Montgomery

. [Count]f], Permsylvania, Oct. 16, 1789, Bury Papers.
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the Americans throughout the creation of the insurrectionary
machine in South Carolina in the 1820s and 1830s.

Frederick Dalcho (1770-1836), bornin London, came to Amer-
ica with his uncle after the Revolution. A medical doctor in
Charleston, Dalcho became editor of the Tory-Federalist news-
paper The Courier in 1806, when the British were stepping up
their piracy against American shipping. Federalist attacks against
U.S. defensive efforts became very unpopular in South Carolina
during the War of 1812, and Dalcho resigned from The Coumr
in 1813.

Dalcho was ordained a deacon of the Episcopal Church in
1814, and from 1819 until 1833 he was the effective head of St.
Michael’s Church and the leader of Charleston’s Episcopalians.
This Scottish Rite Founder was therefore spiritual leader of
South Carolina’s “English Party” during the Nulhﬁcat:lon Crisis

-of the 1820s and 1830s.

James Moultrie (1766-1836) has a very famous name in South
Carolina—his last name. James’s uncle, William Moultrie, was
a great Revolutionary War hero who fought General Augustine
Prevost, and later became governor of South Carolina.

But James Moultrie was the son of William's brother John,
who was a Jeading British official in the South during the Rev-
olution, the British lieutenant governor of Florida and the head
of the Royalist party of that province. It was from his base in
Moultrie’s Florida that General Augustine Prevost launched his
invasion of Georgia and South Carolina. James Moultrie would
not feel ill-at-ease joining a secret, conspiratorial organization
set up by General Prevost and his son, because James Moultrie’s
father had played so prominent a part in Prevost's military attack
on America, and had lost all the family’s hopes for empire in
this country.

The British ceded Flonda to Spain in 1783, so John Moultrie
and his son James went to live in England. James was trained
in medicine at Edinburgh University, and emigrated to Charles-
ton. Since he had been born there a year before his family moved
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to Florida, James Moultrie is proudly referred to by the Scottish
Rite as their one “native Carolinian” among the 1801 founders.
He married a Charleston Moultrie cousin and quietly set about
acquiring power through local social contacts. He was elected
president of the South Carolina Medical Society in 1804, and
his son, also named James Moultrie and also trained in Edin-
‘burgh, was president of the American Medical Association in
1851, four years after its founding. '
During the Nullification Crisis of the 1820s and 1830s, James
Moultrie was Grand Secretary General and effectively the chief
of the Scottish Rite in the American South.

The Swiss Master Takes Charge

John James Joseph Gourgas DuPan de Rengers (1777-1865) ar-

rived on the scene soon after the Charleston founding. He was

to consolidate the Scottish Rite organization in the North, and
-ran most'of the Rite’s affairs in the United States from 1813
until his‘death at the end of the Civil War. Gourgas’s mother,
I\In:asml)uPam,15 was the daughter of a captain of the
- Geneva Garrison who held a hereditary seat on the Geneva
‘Council of 200, along with his cousins the Gallatins, the Malets,

the Prevosts, and the DeSaussures.

The Gourgas family, according to their tradition, had been
French Protestants who were threatened with the stake and
fire if they would not return to the detested Roman Catholic
faith. Coming to Geneva in the late 1600s, they emigrated to
‘England during the French Revolution, and young John James
Joseph became “well known as a merchant on the Royal ex-
change.” - - '

The family sailed from England to Boston in 1803, finally

settling in Weston, Massachusetts, J. J. J. Gourgas went to New

15. For Gourgas Family history see Tatsch, J. Hugo, John James Joseph
Gourgas, 1777-1865, Conservalor of Scottish Rite Freemasonry, privately
printed by the Supreme Council 33°, Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite,
Northern Masonic Jurisdiction, Boston, 1938; data also from private in-
terviews of the present author with the Gourgas family.
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York around 1806, quickly taking control of the Scottish Rite

organization there (the headquarters was later moved to Bos-

ton). In 1813, Gourgas worked out a national territorial arrang-

ment with the Southern Supreme Council, and_began to put his
Swiss imprint on American freemasonry, against the heirs of

Franklin and Lafayette. -

British oligarchs had sent the Swiss Jean Paul Marat and

~ others of his ilk into France during the revolution, to destroy

that nation with bloody anarchy. But the slogan “liberty, equality,
fraternity”—insincere on their lips—was no lopger needed.
France had been crushed by the armies of Britain and a Dark
Ages combination of continental monarchs. Now such ideas as
the French-American alliance for republicanism were merely
dangerous relics to be swept aside. ‘ .

As Gourgas put it, “Grand Lodges in the United States, _1f
wise, ought to follow in the footsteps of the (_}rand -S}Tﬂ.lbollc
Lodge of England and beware that with all their foreign inter-
course and corresponding that they do not become sooner or
later Frenchified.”

Gourgas’s nephew, Francis R. Gourgas (1811-1853) moved
to Concord, Massachusetts, bought the local newspaper, the
Freeman, and became a state senator, member of the Gover-
nor's Council, and the ;Democratic political boss of Qonc_ord.
Francis Gourgas was a member of the tiny, select Social Circle
of Concord, the cultural “Politburo” of trancendentalists Emer-
son, Thoreau, and their friends. Ralph Waldo Emerson was a
Gourgas family intimate from 1839 through at least 1853. Henry -
David Thoreau worked for the Gourgas family as a surveyor.
And in 1851, Francis joined fellow member Caleb Cushing on
the speakers’ platform at a meeting of their elite Ancient and
Honorable Artillery Company. -

Cleaning OQut the Americans :

In September 1826, Willian Morgan of Batavia, New York, was
kidnapped, terrorized, and murdered. It was said that he was

16. Tatsch, Gourgas, pp. 25-26.
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about to publish certain secrets of freemasonry, and that Masons
conspired tf)gether to shut him up. A national furor arose, and
the short- lived Anti-Masonic Party was organized. Working on

this single issue, the party’s efforts brought about only two

lasting resuits:

1) Votes were drawn away to a third candidate from Henry
Clay in the 1832 presidential election, on the grounds that he
refused to quit the Masons; Clay's opponent, President Andrew
Jackson—himself a Mason—was narrowly re-elected.

-.-2) :Freemasonry was discredited, and membershipe de-
clined—for a time. In Massachusetts, Caleb Cushing advised all
the Masonic Lodges to dissolve themselves for the time being.
Cushing’s own lodge was dissolved as were more than 3,000
- other lodges throughout the country. From that time on; tilere
was only sporadic interference by American-tradition Masons
in the hegemony of the Swiss over the Masonic movment, The
Americans had been, in effect, cleaned out.

To quote _the Scottish Rite’s own biography of ].].J. Gourgas:

“;t was not until after the revitalization of Freemasonry, fol-
lowing the apti—Masonic excitement of 1826-1840, that many of
the methods prevailing today were inaugurated.”” One could
dr.op out of a regular Symbolic—i.e., lower—masonic lodge, and
still be. part of the Scottish Rite, which no longer pretended to
be attached to the structure of American Masonry, but exercised
a ve_tp power over it. Put in twentieth-century language, “The
chtttshRite_hﬁs--deﬁhitely relinquished its control of the Sym-
bolic degrees wherever a regular and legitimate Grand Lodge
controls them.™® o

11—

~ ‘Operation South Carolina’

~ and the Career
of Caleb Cushing

They call the yoke they put upon our necks the “American
System!” The question, however, is fast approaching the
alternative of submission or separation.

—Thomas Cooper, South Carolina, 1827

We have made the proud flag of the stars and stripes, that
never was lowered before to any people on this earth—

we have lowered it! : 7
—Governor Francis_ W. ]_?ickens, pupil of the above, 1861

Following the defeat of the British in the War of 1812, America

showed great national pride and unity of purpose. The Essex

. Junto disunionists in Boston had been discredited, and their
movement driven undergroimnd, by the exposures of Mathew
Carey— and the success of American arms.

The “War Hawks” who had demanded a war for America’s
defense in 1812, now began pushing for a revival of the founding,
Hamiltonian system of nationa! development, abandoned under
the 12-year reign of the Swiss Albert Gallatin, at the U.S.
Treasury. ,

Henry Clay of Kentucky, John C. Calhoun, and the brilliant
William Lowndes of South Carolina, fought in Congress. for the
rechartering of the Second Bank of the United States, the en-
actment of tariffs that would protect new American industries,
and a great system of canals and roads to unify different sections
and restore commerical prosperity to the prostrated economy.
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Mathew Carey launched a broad American school of political
economy with his attacks on Adam Smith. Secretary of State
John Quincy Adams’s protégé and minister at the Court of the
Netherlands, Alexander Everett, published an attack on the anti-
population doctrine of East India Company instructor Thomas
Malthus,? whose views were then wholly unacceptable in Amer-
ican society. . o '

By 1823, the American System was back in business. In that
year Mathew Carey’s ally, Greek scholar Nicholas Biddle,® be-
came president of the rechartered Bank of the United States;
and President Monroe announced to Congress that European
colonial adventures in our hemisphere, or interference with the
free nations here, “for the purpose of oppressing them, or
controlling in any other manner their destiny,” would no longer
be tolerated.*

During the next year Congress passed the most protective
tariff system yet; John Marshall's Supreme Court informed the
New York Livingston family that their attempted monopoly re-
strictions of steam shipping were illegal, that Congress had full
Constitutional power over interstate commerce; and the Mar-
quis de Lafayette returned for a triumphal two-year tour, that

1. See Carey, Mathew, Addresses of the Philadelphia Sociely for the Promotion
of National Industry, Philadelphia, 1819; and Carey, Mathew, The New
Olive Branch, Or, An Attempt to Establish An Identity of Interest between

Agriculture, Manufactures and Commerce, Philadelphia, 1820; and Carey, -

Mathew, -Essays on Political Economy, Or the Most Certain Means of
Promoling the Wealth, Power, Resources and Happiness of Nations, Phil-

2. Everett, Alexander H., New Ideas on Population, with Remarks on the
Theories of Malthus and Godwin, published in London and Boston; reviewed

. and partially reproduced in the North American Review, No. XLI, New
Series No. XVI, Boston, October, 1823, p. 288-310.

3. See the excellent biography: Govan, Thomas P., Nicholas Biddle: Na-
Honalist and Public Banker, 1786-1844, University of Chicago Press, Chi-
cago, 1959. -

4. The Monroe Doctrine is contained in the Annual Message of President
James Monroe to Congress, Dec. 2, 1823; see Richardson, James D. ed.,

Messages and Papers of the Presidents, 1789-1897, U. S. Government *

Printing Office, Washington, D. C.; 1896-1899, Vol II, p. 218.
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‘set the mood for the election of John Quincy Adams to the
. presidency.

. In 1825, the year the Erie Canal was completed, the United

" Gtates was, indeed, at the height of its creative powers. Pres-
jdent Adams set the tone in his inaugural address: -

Since the first formation of our Union . . . the dominion
- of man over physical nature has been extended by the
invention of our artists. . . . With the catastrophe in which
~the wars of the French Revolution terminated, and our own
- subsequent peace with Great Britain, this baneful weed of
* party strife was uprooted. From that time no difference of
principle . . . has existed or been called forth in force suf-
ficient to sustain a continued combination of parties or to
give more than wholesome animation to public sentiment -
or legislative debate. . . . .
If there have been projects of partial confederacies to
be erected upon the ruins of the Union, they have been
" geattered to the winds; if there have been dangerous‘ at-
tachments to one foreign nation and antipathies against
another, they have been extinguished. Ten years-of peace,
at home and abroad, -have assuaged the animesities of po-
* litical contention and blended into harmony the most dis-
cordant elements of public opinion.® .

In the view of President Adams, as it had been for his childhood
teacher Benjamin Franklin, the United States was the great
instrument of world civilization. With the champion of Latin
American independence, Henry Clay, as his Secretary of State;
and South Carolina's Joel Poinsett as his mlmster to Mexico,
protecting her precarious independence from royalist intn'gugs,
Adams proposed to send U.S. delegates to the fraternal meeting
of all the American republics at the Congress of Panama.

President Adams showed the new nations the practical mean-

5. Inaugural Addresses of the Presidents, pp. 48-50.
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ing of national independence, by pushing for the fastest possible
domestic economic growth, backed by the “great system of
internal improvements [up to] the limits of the constitutional
power of the Union.”® Federal and state partnership resulted in
a surge of canal and road building; South Carolina chartered the
first railroad in 1827.

It was by means of transforming the country into a great -

industrial power, and in doing so, bringing to the South a system
of new factories and mines, and an urban culture, by which the
American System proposed fo end black slavery in this country.
The Founding Fathers had universally advocated an end to slav-
ery. But the only practical path to that end was the nationalist
program of Hamiltonian economics, the Clay-Calhoun American
System, with full partnership in technological progress for the
South, wherein the relatively unproductive, inefficient, and un-
profitable slave system would be undermined and abandoned by
a developing Southern population. Even after this plan was sab-
otaged, -and the 1861 insurrection was launched and defeated,
the victorious Abraham Lincoln proposed just this program for
the reconstruction. of the South. But when Lincoln died, the
South died with him. - ,

America’s government-backed progress now threatened the
future of the new Dark Ages system that Britain, the Hapsburgs
and other feudalists.of Europe had concerted at Vienna to impose
on the world, back in 1815.

_ The enemy responded to the threat by creating a “popular
uprising,” entirely stage-managed by the British Secret Intel-
ligence Service, which posed “Southern” interests against the
North, and threatened to dissolve the Union. To avoid a civil
war, Congress passed the Compromise Tariff of 1833, elimi-
nating protection for American manufactures. By 1837 the Free

Trade movement, which had emerged from this Nullification .

Crisis, had achieved nearly all its objectives. The Bank of the
Urlited-_States was permanently closed, and American industry

6. ibid., p. 51.
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" was left completely unprotected from the vﬁorldw_ide credit col-
 lapse initiated by Bank of England credit restrictions.

. The “popular uprising” which set the stage for this American

- defeat took place entirely within the state of South Carolina,

whose people were armed and trained and rehearsed for a war

~ against the United States. The war was postponed, but it was
~ to begin again in deadly earnest in 1861, the script only slightly

. That untiring scrapper, Mathew Carey of Philadelphia, ;_mb-
lished a series of pamphlets’ in the 1830s, calling fo_r‘ American
patriots to help him fight what he termed “t_he British Secret
Service” in their South Carolina disunion project.

" . Now, for the first time since these events occurred 150 years
" ago, we shall make available to the public the background of the

project which Carey confronted. To understand “Operatiop fSouth
Carolina,” one must become familiarized with the mdlwdt.qus
who initiated the Nullification Movement, and the key families
within the state with whom these individuals were connected.
What follows is their story, told for the first time. -
From at least 1687, the social and political life of South Car.qhna
was dominated by men who, by deeply ingrained family tradition,
_were hostile in the extreme to concepts of human,]ibe_rty. For
in the year 1687, Elias Prioleau and his family arrived in South
Carolina, accompanied by a group of refugee followers. .
“Under the name Priuli, the family had for seven centuries
been ranked among the upper nobility of the slave-kingdom of
Venice, in Italy.® While they maintained an system (?f absol_qte
tyranny over their own terrorized subjects, the Yenehgn nobility
manned their galleys, shaps, and colonies with white slaves

. ,Mathew,TkeCnlsis,AnAppealtoﬂwgoodsenseofﬂ‘wnaMp,
’ acg?ra?:st the spirit of resistance and dissolution: of the Union, Philadelphia,
8. %I%lsgzuenot Society of South Carolina, “Historical Sketch of the' Prioleau

Family in Europe and America,” first printed 1899, reprinted in Trans-
actions of the Huguenot Society of South Caroling, No. 71, Charleston,
1966, pp. 80-101; the president of the South Carolina Huguenot Society
for 1966-67 was Horry Frost Prioleau. :
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captured from European countries, and sold Christian children
for slaves to Muslim chieftains. It was Venice and its sister-
state Genoa which began the European practice of trafficking
in African slaves. In the late 16th and early 17th centuries,
Venetian financiers moved northward and took control over the
merchant economies of England and Holland— bringing the slave
trade. with them.

In this crucial period, the merchant-banker Priuli family pro-

vided three of the ruling Doges of Venice and one of the Pa-
triarchs of the Venetian church. A branch of the family living in
France and Switzerland—the Prioleaus—served as Venetian
State Intelligence agents, one of them being knighted for this
service-in 1660. The Jesuit order and other Venetian agents
were chiefly responsible for whipping Protestant and Catholic
against each other in the terrible religious wars over two cen-
turies.

When the wealthy Ehas Prioleau got to Charleston, South
Carolina, he organized the French and Swiss Protestants, from
among those “Huguenots”. already arrived, into a congregation,
and became the first pastor and the patriarchal community leader
of the French Huguenot Church in South Carolina.

Laterimmigrants swelled the Prioleau congregation; and while
the French bluebloods-—known as Cavaliers or the Chivalry-—
became the backbone of South Carolina’s aristocracy, the Pri-
oleau family naturally took on the character of great patrons and
lords among the aristocratic plantation owners. They had, after

all, been in the slavery business. for seven hundred years.

As the Venetian Prioleaus gained power and social connections
in the colony’s political and military life, the DeSaussure family?

9. The history and genealogy of the DeSaussures was provided to the present
author in lavish detail by a retired U. S. Army colonel living in Charleston,
a mel_nber' of_the DeSaussure family. This gentleman kindly allowed in-
spection p_f his cognputerized family geneology, and of his collection of
memorabilia including-masonic and other family heirlooms. The colonel's
Eiata was cross-checked against the DeSaussure geneological information
in the files of the Huguenot Society of South Carolina.
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arrived in South Carolina, joining the 600 Swiss and French
settlers at Purrysburg near the Savannah River.

Mongin de Saussure had been created Lord of Montewl in
1440 by the Duke of Lorraine, and the DeSaussure family served
the Dukes of Lorraine as agents and advisors, as the House of
Lorraine fanned the flames of religious war in France. In 1556,
Antoine de Saussure escaped the religious conflagration, mi-
grating to Lausanne, Switzerland. His grandson Jean Baptiste
de Saussure, Lord of Morrlens and a Knight of Lausanne, moved
to Geneva, where the de Saussures joined the Prevosts, the
Gallatins, and the du Pans on the Council of 200— the “Com-
mittee of Europe’s Spymasters.”

Henri de Saussure of Lausanne, Switzerland, moved to- South
Carolina in 1730, receiving a British Royal grant of land. : His
son Daniel became a rich merchant in the Beaufort district. In
1777, while South Carolina’s patriots dug in and prepared for
assault by the British forces, Daniel DeSaussure traveled to
Switzerland and met with his cousins.

On this visit, the American-born DeSaussure regxstered his
children as Swiss citizens, a legal designation which the family
retained throughout the nineteenth century. He also received
a silver medal from the Geneva de Saussures, whose inscription
admonished the. entire DeSaussure family to stick closely to-
gether; it is retained to this day by the DeSaussure heirs; -

The son of Swiss traveler Daniel DeSaussure, Henry William
DeSaussure, was the leader of the South Carolina Federalist
Party, which in 1800 ordered its congressional delegahon to
vote for Aaron Burr for President. DeSausstire was the Southern
collaborator for the treasonous Essex Junto; his correspondence
with. these gentlemen may be vtewed at Harvard among. the
papers of Timothy Pickering.”

In 1801, Henry DeSaussure brought a Boston editor, Lonng
Andrews, down to South Carolina to commence publishing the

_ Charleston Courier, through which Federalist newspaper Mr.

DeSaussure’s party could attack the “radical democrat” presi-
dents, Jefferson and Madxson The followmg year, the Courier
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published a plan for the armed seizure of Spanish territories in
the Western Hemisphere; the author was James Workman, who
had written the proposal for the British War Minister Henry
Dundas. Workman was riow in South Carolina, and would soon
proceed to Louisiana where he would guide Aaron Burr’s steps
in his planned seizure of Mexico and the western United States.

From: 1806 to 1813, the Courier was edlted by Scottish Rite
leader Fredrick Dalcho.*

-~ We complete this- pre-h:story of the Nulhﬁcatxon stage-show
of the 1820s and -1830s, by adverting to the unfortunate anti-
climax suffered by South Carolina after the American Revolution.
Like Boston, Charleston saw the return of unrepentant Loyalists
at the war’s end, many of them regaining wealth and influence
in the nineteenth century.

Patrick and Robert Cunningham, for instance, had been Tory
commanders in the fiercest fighting,* but Robert Cunningham
somehow eased back into postwar life and became a state leg-
- islator; his son was the uncle and political tutor of William L.
Yg:elisey, who went on to lead: Alabama out of the Umon in 1860-
1 ,

' Pohtlcally, the most lmportant Loyalist family to shp back into
‘South Carolina -were- the Trenholmes.'? London-born William
Trenholme:came to America in 1754, setting up as a merchant

in Charleston. He fled the country on the outbreak of the Rev-

olution, ‘moving first to Holland, then to San Domingo. In 1787,
he qme‘tly returned with his family to Charleston.

10, Harris, RayBaker EIemGenﬂemm p 25

11.. For a detailed account of the Tory military exploits of Captain Robert
-Cmmmgham, see Jones, Lewis Pinckney, The South Carolina Civil War
of 1775, The Sandlapper Store, Inc., P. O. Box. 841, Lexington, S.C.
29072 (also distributed through South Carolina state historical site facil-
.ties). Cunningham’s son was married to the sister of Yancey's mother
-Caroline Bird Yancey. Wiliam L. Yancey’s father died when the boy was
threeyearso]d, and the uncle, mﬂxhsTorybackgmundandtalesuf
“loyalism,” was an important early influence.

12. See-Nepveiix, Ethel Trenholm Seabrook, George Alfred Trenhoim The
Company That Went to War ‘1861 1865 Comprmt Cha:leston, South

- Carolina, 1973.. - .

CUSHING AND ‘OPERATION SoUTH CAROLINA’ 171

Trenholme was re-established in business with the help of
Robert James Turnbull, who then married Trenholme’s cousin
and joined the Trenholmes as a partner. Robert James Turnbull's
father, Andrew Turnbull, had been an official of the British
colonial government of Florida during the war, and was one of
the founders of the British outpost at Smyrna in Turkey. Andrew
Turnbull moved to Charleston, South Carolina when the British
Army occupied that town. When the war ended adversely for
the British, he refused outright to become an American citizen.
His son, Robert James Turnbull, tied so closely to the Loyalist
Trenholmes, would be one of the instigators of the Nullification
Crisis.

Swiss citizen Henry William DeSaussure played the leading
role in the founding of South Carolina College in 1801. He made
the new state school his personal project for the next three
decades, never missing an important meeting of the board of
trustees, of which he was the most prominent and- powerful
member.

In 1820, the Board appointed the College’s second president,
a newly hired chemistry teacher named Thomas Cooper. Dr.
Cooper was to unleash in South Carolina the full fury of sectarian
violence, -similar in many ways to the European rehglous wars
so familiar to his Swiss sponsors.’® -

Cooper was well quahﬁed for this mission. ™ An Enghshman

13. The Minuies of the Board of Trusiees of South Carolina Collegt, on mi-
crofilm at the library of the University of South Carolina, were consulted
for the period beginning in 1819. Cooper was DeSaussure's special project;
DeSaussure was on each Board committee dealing with Cooper so that
he could personally deal with Cooper’s selection and hiring as a teacher
and rapid advancement to president of the college. See the Minudes for
Dec. 3, 1819, April 28, 1820, May 1, 1820, Dec. 15, 1820.

" 14. The fullest extant accounts of Cooper’s amazing career are in Malone,

Dumas, The Public Life of Thomas Cooper, 1783-1839, Yale University
Press, New Haven, Connecticut, 1926; and Hollis, Daniel Walker, Uni-
versily of South Caroling, Univesity of South Carolina Press, Columbia,
S. C., 1951-1956, Vol. L, p. 74-118. Malone is one of the most entrenched
of “estahhs}unent’ " historians, the general editor of the Dictionary of Amer-
ican Biography. His life of Cooper is an example of that expertise, which
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born in 1759, Thomas Cooper had been elected to the British
Parliament as a leader of England’s radical anti-slavery aboli-
tionists. As a devoted follower of Satanist Jeremy Bentham, he
stressed the righteousness of revolution to cure the oppression
of women and of religious minorities. Britain's Jacobin Clubs,
under the control of Lord Shelburne’s Secret Inteiligence Ser-
vice, sent Cooper to France as their official “delegate” to the
French Revolution.

After what he described as “the most thrilling time in my
life,” the revolutionist moved to America, accompanying his
fellow chemist Joseph Priestley. They settled in Pennsylvania,
and before very long Thomas Cooper was serving a six-month
sentence for sedition—the only person jailed by President John
Adams under the Alien and Sedition Acts.

Cooper became a Pennsylvania judge, but was impeached for

“arbitrary conduct” on the bench. Using the name of former
Pres:dent ‘Thomas Jefferson, who admired Cooper’s revolution-
ary te 'utatmn, he tried to get a teaching job at the University
of Virgmia,' ‘but was rejected by the Virginia trustees because
he ‘was a self-avowed atheist.
- When he was quietly hired by Henry W. DeSaussure’s South
Carolina College, the revolutionary abolitionist’s first act in his
new home was to purchase two families of black slaves. If he
was to lead a reévolt of “outraged Southerners,” the strange
little (4'11™) Briton must try to look the part.

- Operation South Carolina may be said to have begun with the
“Vesey Conspiracy,” in 1822, shortly after Thomas Cooper's
installation as President of South Carolina College. A former
slave, Denmark Vesey, was allegedly caught planning a fiendish
uprising among Charleston’s slave popu]atlon—-caught before
any acts were committed.

At this time, Chancellor Henry W. DeSaussure was president

-starts with violently contradictory story elements, dampens those ircnies
which might lead the reader to infer that the subject’s life is a career of
deception, and blandly presents the whole as a series of events connected
only by the driving force of the hero's unpredictable emotional makeup.
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of the South Carolina State Court of Appeals. Samuel Prioleau
was chairman of the Judiciary Committee of the state legislature.
Prioleau’s double brother-in-law and business partner, James

' Hamilton, was Intendant (mayor) of the city of Charleston. Un-

der Hamilton’s guidance, with the judicial sanction of Prioleau
and DeSaussure, a spectacular inquiry and trial was held.

After the citizenry had been thoroughly terrorized by stories
of intended mass murder in the night, Vesey and 34 slaves were
executed. The African (Christian) Church of Charleston, to which
Vesey belonged, was burned to the ground. In an atmosphere
of paranoia, laws were passed setting up an armed fortress in
the city and a substantial “white” military force to guard against
further menaces of the same variety. In 1824, Samuel Prioleau
took over as Intendant of Charleston.

Cooper on Stage: The Tariff and Religion '

" In 1823, as the U.S. Congress began gearing up for the passage

of the nation’s first effective protective tariff act, South Carolina
College President Cooper suddenly took the field with a stinging
pamphilet attacking the “oppression” of the South by Northern
manufacturers.' Cooper’s diatribe took advantage of a depres-
sion in Charleston, due to the temporary drop in cotton prices
and the obsolete status of the city relative to the bustling steam-
boat ports of the Gulf South,"which Cooper knew was no “sec-
tional” phenomenon.

This tract was immediately circulated through the North by
the—as yet—still very cautious and very unpopular agents and
heirs of the Essex Junto, who wished to promote a Free Trade
movement. '

15. Cooper, Thomas, A Tract on the Propesed Alteration of the Tariff, Sub-
mitted to the Consideration of its Members from South Caroling, in the
Ensuing Congress of 1823-4, Charleston, 1823; an interesting edition of
the Cooper Tract is that in which it is appended to Carey, Mathew,
Examination of A Tract on the Proposed Alteration of the Tariff, printed
by R.A. Skerrett for H.C. Carey & L. Lea, Philadelphia, 1824, m which
Carey refutes “Judge Cooper’s” anti-nationalist arguments.
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At the same time, Dr. Cooper launched an all-out war against
organized religion in South Carolina. Haranguing meetings and
issuing printed broadsides, Cooper charged that the clergymen
were attempting to enforce morality upon his, and all other
students, in the state. He gave a special lecture series devoted
to the proposition that the Bible was a fake. He told his students
that man has no such thing as a “soul”—and he began teaching
what was certainly the first official political economy class in the
United States, bringing to social philosophy the practical expres-

~sion of his chifling Benthamite doctrine.

A traveling observer of that time would: have been able to
notice a remarkable similarity of circumstances between South
Carolina College and Harvard. In the Northern School, a gen-
eration of anti-industrial mystics and anarchists was turned out
by the Essex Junto trustees in an atmosphere of rioting and
cruelty. In Cooper’s college there were repeated riots, strikes,
theft, and brigandage off-campus at a cost of thousands of dollars
to the townspeople; the atmosphere was best summed up by
-a famous campus duel, in which two high-living aristocratic stu-
dents killed each other over which of them had first touched a
piece of bread at dinner.

The state’s Presbyterians, based mostly in the non—slave-
holding upcountry areas, procured two well-documented grand
jury presentments calling on the state legislature to investigate
the college. One of their friends addressed the legislature: “Mr.
Speaker! Would I commit the care of my son to a man who
believes he has no more soul than an Opossum?” By 1834 the
resentment of the nationalists and churchgoers would finally
force the dismissal of Cooper and the entire faculty of the Col-
lege. But in the 1820s the legislature, the courts, the Episcopal
Church, the “Cavaliers” of the coastal plantations, answered
like the single, little well-organized family that they were: “Dr.
Cooper is doing a fine job.” And to to prove it, they sent their
own sons to be personally taught by the now-controversial rev-
olutionist.
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- Thomas Cooper’s political economy classes, given in the state
capital of Columbia, produced the equivalent of a British battalion
within’American society; all his students were expected to trans-

fer immediately into an internship in the political arena.In Coop-

er's class of 1825, the valedictorian was Thomas Jefferson
Withers, the great grandfather of today’s AFL-CIO president,
Lane Kirkland. Withers and his brother-in-law James Chesnut
would later play important roles in starting the Civil War. Cooper’s
reputed favorite pupil that year was John Floyd of Virgmia, later
to be notorious for treason as President Buchanan's Secretary
of War. In fact, all four of the men who would be governors of
South Carolina during the secession and Civil War period, 24 of
those who were to be delegates to the state’s Secession Con-
vention, and many of the leaders of the secession movement in
the South generally, were pupils of this tiny British atheist.

- To the startled American public, Thomas Cooper became the
father of the Southern secession movement when, at an 1827
anti-tariff meeting, he declared that “a drilled and managed ma-
jority” in the U.S. House of Representatives had determined

“at all hazards to support the claims of the Northern manufac-

turers, and to offér up the planting interest-on the altar of

monopoly.” The system, which after all had been designed to
give farmers adequate domestic markets and to industrialize the
South, he termed “a system by which-the earnings of the South
are to be transferred to the North. . . . the planter and the
farmer under this system are to be considered as inferior beings
to the spinner, the bleacher and the dyer . . . serfs and oper-
atives of the North . . . of the masterminds of Massachusetts,
the lords of the spinning jenny and peers of the power loom,
who . .. tax our eamings . .. to swell their riches. . .. a
system of fraud, robbery and usurpation.™

Then, in phrases which were burned into the national

16. DeLeon, Edwin, Thirty Years of My Life on Three Continents, Ward and
Downey, London, 1890, p. 5.
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memory—which would be repeated and denounced by Daniel
.Webster in the Senate debates on Nullification—the Englishman
saxd:

We shall ‘ere long be compelled to calculate the value of
our Union; and to enquire of what use to us is this most
unequal alliance, by which the South has always been the
loser and the North atways the gainer. Is it worth our while
to continue this union of States, where the North demands
to be our masters and we are required to be their tribu-
taries? whe with the most insulting mockery call the yoke
they put upon our necks the “American System!” The
question, however, is fast approaching the alternative of
submission or separation. '

This sensational speech stunned the nation. No public figure
tn-the South had ever publicly advocated disunion, since Aaron
Burr’s friend Senator Pierce Butler had blustered about civil
war in-1789. Cooper was called a “traitor,” a “disunionist,” a
“revolutionary.” A storm of protest broke over his head. But
within several month$:a new political movement was formed in
South Carolina, based entirely on Thomas Cooper’s radical states-
rights, extreme pro-slavery, anti-government, anti-industry
doctrines—which became known as the South Carolina Doc-
trines:

. The movement was immediately given direction by the pub-

lication of The Crisis; or, Essays on the Usurpations of the Fedeval
Government,™® by Robert J. Turnbull. The author was the son
of -the Royalist diehard, Andrew Turnbull, who had been in
regular communication with the chief of British Intelligence, Lord
Shelburne, after the Revolution. Andrew Turnbull had been a
Royal official in Florida under Lt. Govermor John Moultrie, and

17. Charleston Mercury, July 18, 1827,

18. Turnbull, ‘Robert James, The Crisis; or Essays on the Usurpation of the
Federal Government, by Brutus [pseudonym), printed by A. E. Miller,
Charleston, South Carolina, 1827.
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Moultrie’s son James was now, in 1828, the leader of the Scottish
Rite in the Southern United States, and the official American
liaison agent for the European Scottish Rite.

Andrew’s son Robert James Turnbull, the author of The Cr-
sis, was now a business partner and family member of the

' Loyalist Trenholmes, who would play the central role of finan-

ciers of the Confederacy (George Trenholme, the final Confed-
erate Secretary of the Treasury, would be business partner of
Samuel Prioleau’s son Charles Kuhn Prioleau, Confederate Fi-
nancial Agent in England).

President John Quincy Adams counterattacked The Crists in
his 1828 State-of-the-Union address to Congress,* and the na-
tional controversy was on.

Samuel Prioleau’s partner and double brother-m-law, James
Hamilton, now actively organized a statewide political movement
based on Cooper and Turnbull's initiative. In 1830 Hamilton
became Governor of South Carolina, and began arming the mil-
itants for war against the United States government. It was
James Hamilton who finally convinced South Carolina’s John C.
Calhoun, the former co-sponsor of Henry Clay’s nationalist pro-
gram, that it would be the politically wise thing to do to put
himself at the head of this “popular movement.” It was really
all in the family: Calhoun had finished his law training in the
office of Henry W. DeSaussure.

And that was the nature of things in South Carolina. The

| Venetian Prioleau now was Judge of Charleston’s City Court.

Cooper’s employer and backer, the Swiss Henry W. De-
Saussure, was Chief Justice of the state. His son Henry Alex-
ander DeSaussure was Grand Master of the Masons of South
Carolina as the crisis exploded in 1832 and 1833.

The DeSaussure family relates that following Daniel De-
Saussure’s reunion with the Swiss during the American Revo-
lution, the family maintained a strong, steady contact with their
headquarters-castle, Frontenex, two miles east of Geneva. This

19, Richardson, ed., Messages and Papers of the Presidents, Vol III, p. 981.
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was .a beehive of activity for visiting English noblemen; and the
DeSaussure’s were “intimates” of the aggressively anti-Amer-
ican intriguer, Lord Palmerston, who became Britain's Foreign
Minister in 1830, and would be Prime Minister of Britain from
1859 to 1865, all through the Southern secession and the Amer-
ican Civil War.

Mathew Carey reacted bitterly as he watched the South Car-
olina legislature set up the 1832 convention which declared the
United States laws on tariffs to be null and void, and provided
heavy penalties for citizens who might try to obey the U.S.
laws. Carey said that “the British Secret Service”” was behind
the Nullifiers, and that pro-industrial forces had stood by in
‘silence despite Carey’s warning that the enemy was rehearsing
an American Civil War. Was Carey correct, dear reader?

The Ugly Inheritance of Milton Friedman

With South Carolina’s threats to secede if the American tariff
laws were not repealed, Aaron Burr’s friends in the North—
the Boston Brahmins, Astor and Gallatin in New York-—came
onto the stage again with the Free Trade movement. The Brah-
mins’ pride was Bostonian Theodore Sedgwick, who had married
a member of the Loyalist- Vassal family, John Lowell’s clients.

~Sedgwick’s in-laws ran Holland House in England, the political
center for Lord Shelburne’s Whigs.

Sedgwick arranged for William Cullen Bryant to be editor of
the New York Post, which then served as the primary Free
Trade organ in the country; Sedgwick and Bryant eagerly re-
printed everything Thomas Cooper put out in South Carolina.

Theodore Sedgwick organized a national Free Trade Con-
vention in 1831, in. Philadelphia.? At this conference the sedi-

20. The fournal of the Free Trade Convention, Held in Philadelphia, From
" September 30 to Oclober 7, 1831, and their Address lo the People of the
United Stales, lo which s added A Sketch of the Debates in the Convention;
pririted by T.W, Ustick, Philadelphia, 1831; in the New York Seciety
Library. The convention's Address to the: People of the United States

. denounces the “tyranny” of the American government, and suggests that
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“tious South Carolina Doctrines were given a respectable veneer,

portrayed as honest expressions of repectable Southerners,

- backed by respectable men of the North. The leader, in fact

.the dictator of this convention, was the Swiss Albert Gallatin,
who had virtually dissolved the American armed forces under
his budget-cutting regime prior to the War of 1812.

.. Gallatin arrived at the Convention as a bank president; John

- Jacob Astor, financier of Aaron Burr’s two escapes from justice,

had set up the National Bank of New York expressly as a vehicle

‘for Gallatins objectives. Gallatin was made chairman of the

Convention's committee to lobby the Congress. Gallatin, the
‘Brahmins, and the Carolina Cavaliers won the day—the Amer-
ican System was repealed. Later attempts to restore the Ham-
iltonian economic policy were murderously sabotaged, as we
shall see— until it was too late. Thomas Cooper’s Doctrines

. were to be rewarmed for the insurrectionists in 1861, and were

put down by the armed power of the United States in a terrible
war. _
. Today, historians friendly to Milton Friedman's extreme lais-
sez-faire economic theories refer uncritically to the nineteenth-
century fight over the “constitutionality” of government backing
for industrial growth. Theodore Sedgwick, organizer of the 1831
Free Trade Convention, was very candid on this question.
The Hamiltonian system was “unjust, oppressive . . . an abuse
of power.” But if you “tell the people, that what the Government
has been doing, ever since its foundation, it has had no power
to do! The people . . . will not understand you. Fifty years ago,”
said Sedgwick, “the principle of Free Trade was unknown. Adam
Smith then rose as a sun to iluminate the world.. When [the
Constitution] was formed, all was monopoly. Many gentlemen
found it impossible to get over the arguments in Mr. Madison’s
speech, in defense of the constitutional power of Congress to

the high tariff policy must inevitably lead to civil war. Boston Brahmins
in attendance, aside from Theodore Sedgwick, included George Peabody,
Henry Lee, Frederick Cabot and Joseph Ropes, along with their alies
from, primarily, South Carolina and Virginia.
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protect manufactures. One of the first acts of the General Gov-
ernment, was for the protection of manufactures.”*

In our time, economist Milton Friedman has brought Thomas
Cooper’s doctrines, the rallying slogans for the terrible 1861
insurrection against the United States, to Chile’s General Pin-
ochet; he claims that they are “American” principles.

Friedman must be more of a vassal to the British Lords than
even Theodore Sedgwick was. .

Caleb Cushing: =
The ‘Young America’ Insurrectionist _
-If we trace back any great civil convulsion, we will find its
source originating in some quarter equally unsuspected and
.-obscure.#
. —Edwin DeLeon, father of the Young America movement

One: of the most glaring gaps in the heretofore published
versioﬁ,iﬁf American history is the utter omission of the career
of Caleb Cushing of Massachusetts. Cushing was probably the
si le::most: important U.S. government official in the devel-

m staging of the insurrectionary Southern secession
throughout the 1840s and 1850s. those original re-
publican: foreign policies with which the Founding Fathers had
challenged the worldwide rule of the old European oligarchy.

In correcting this omission, we shall follow Cushing’s aston-
ishingly evil career in sabotaging the U.S. national economy,
threatening war against China and unleashing it against Mexico,
terrorizing Kansas, and coordinating with the Scottish Rite of
Freemasonry the step-by-step buildup of an enemy army within
and agamst the United States.

As we have seen, John Lowell (“The Rebel”), Boston agent
of the chief Tory émigrés and principal publicist for the Essex

2L, ibid., p. 69. .
22. De Leon, Edwin, The Position and Duties of “Young America,” An Address
" Delivered Before The Two Literary Socielies of the South Caroling College,
December, 1845, A.S. Johnston, Columbia, South Carolina, 1846, p. 13:

CUSHING AND ‘OPERATION SOUTH CAROLINA’ 181

Junto disunionists, commissioned young Caleb Cushing to be
“my champion and that of my race.” Cushing was well qualified
for the assignment. He was a cousin of John Perkins Cushing,

. the richest American in the business of selling illegal opium to

the Chinese, and he was the son of a Tory-Federalist China

" trader. : _

- In 1824, a year after receiving his commission and first re-

- " muneration from Lowell, Cushing married the daughter of arch-
Tory Maine Chief Justice Samuel S. Wilde, who had been a

Jeading member of the secret Hartford Convention in 1814.

- Caleb Cushing's first attempts to break into national politics '
" were abortive. Seeking election to Congress from Essex County

in 1826, Cushing quickly developed his talent for representing
“odious” objects in “more gorgeous colors,” as instructed by
Lowell. His opponent was accused of having “shady dealings
‘with the Essex Junto”!

" During the campaign, William Lloyd Garrison, whom Cushing
had trained in politics and philosophy, sold to afriend of Cushing’s
.a prominent local newspaper he had just acquired, and it was
immediately pressed into service as the Cushing campaign or-
gan. By this time Garrison had started on his career as an anf-
.Union slavery-abolitionist, and Cushing’s opponent accused
Cushing of having made a secret deal with Garrison.

To demonstrate that the “leftist” Garrison was not in league
with his “conservative” trainer Cushing, Garrison wrote a letter
to the opponent’s newspaper defending himsel, and charged
into a Cushing campaign rally shouting tirades against Cushing.
In the future they were more careful; Garrison biographer J ohn
L. Thomas notes that “Garrison, once he became an abolitionist,
denounced Cushing for every sin he could think of. "

Though Cushing lost that and other elections, his Brahmin
connections finally elevated him to the U.S. House of Repre-
sentatives. In 1839, William Lloyd Garrison quietly asked Con-
gressman Cushing, who did not represent Garrison's district,

23. Thomas, The Liberator, p. 53.
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to get Garrison’s brother out of the Navy. Cushing used his
connections to fulfill the request within a few days.

Cushing’s opportunity for power came just after the 1840
elections. Still reeling from the 1837 crash and the consequent
unemployment and starvation, the voters had thrown out the
“Free Traders” and put the Whig Party into power with a pro-
gram for a new national bank, high tariffs and public works.

- Cushing, meanwhile, had presented himself to the voters as
a Henry Clay Whig; he had published a small anti-Free Trade
book;. he had regularly presented anti-slavery petitions from his
constituents; he had even written a campaign biography for the
Whig presidential candidate, General William Henry Harrison.

Harrison was elected president in November 1840, and as-
sumed office on March 4, 1841. One month later he died. No
autopsy was performed on the previously robust hero of the
War of 1812. His death was first attributed to acute intestinal
distress, and then, variously, to “bilious pleurisy” and “pneu-
monia.” -

One of the two attending physicians, Frederick May, has an

interesting background. He was trained at Harvard by Dr. John
Warren,: brother of the celebrated patriot Joseph Warren who
-died on Bunker Hill. Though John Warren inherited his brother’s
high offices in- Massachusetts freemasonry, he does not seem
to have inherited his political outlook. John’s son was sent on
an extended tour of England after the Revolution, where he
became scandalously intimate with the exiled traitor Benedict
Arnold and the emigrant Tory community.
- (Besides Frederick May, who attended the unfortunate Har-
“ rison, John Warren also tramed Dr. William Eustis, who was
coincidentally a physician for the West Point garrison and “often
frequented the house” of Benedict Arnold, the West Point com-
mander, in the period of his famous treason.? Later Eustis was
protégé and personal physician to Aaron Burr and the Prevost
family; he was Secretary of War until fired by President Madison

24. Koke, Accomplice in Treason, p. 65.
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for nearly losing our national independence in the War of 1812;

“' his family then moved south, and a grand nephew was private

secretary to Confederate Commissioner John Shdell.)

- - 'While little positive knowledge exists as to the cause of the

sudden death of President Harrison, the events which followqd
it throw a lurid light on that national tragedy. T'h-e economic
policy of the nation was forcibly returned to the British System,

~ and the foreign policy veered wildly toward a repudiation of the

founding republican concepts.

The Vice-President, John Tyler of Virginia, immediately took
over the presidency; he was the first to succeed to the ofﬁce
in this manner. Tyler soon made it clear that he had no intention

- of carrying out the program of the Whigs or of the dead Pres-

ident. When Congress passed the long-awaited bill restoring the
Bank of the United States, Tyler vetoed it. A battle soon raged
between Henry Clay and Tyler all along the lines of the American
System policy. The entire cabinet, save Secretary of Stat_e Da-n-
iel Webster, resigned rather than lend support to the presidentiai
mole. ' .

The crucial question was, would the Congress be able to raily
itself to carry out the Whig program, on a two-thirds vote suf-
ficient to overcome Tyler's vetoes? - .

At this juncture, the “Whig” Caleb Cushing stood up m C(_)n-
gress with a series of astonishing speeches and maneuvers v_vhnch
decided the issue: “I appeal to the Whig Party; to the friends
of the Administration—and I recognize but one, and that is the
Administration of John Tyler . . . to be friends of the adminis-
tration of John Tyler, that at this hour they come to the rescue
of their country, and organize the House, under whatever
rules. . . .”®

On the recommendation of Webster, who had owed Cushing
a great deal of money for five years and would be incregsingly,
pathetically in debt to him for the rest of his li_fe, Cushing was
appointed chairman of the House Foreign Relations Committee,

25. Fuess, The Life of Caleb Cushing, Vol. 1, p. 298
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defeating Congressman (former President) John Q. Adams for
that post. :

Caleb Cushing, now wielding the balance of power in Wash-
ington, proceeded to organize the Congress to sustain the Pres-
ident. The anti-slavery Massachusetts Whig, the friend of
American System economics, suddenly appeared in opposite
colors as the intimate friend and advisor of the Virginian Tyler,
who had just as suddenly become the President.

Responding to the national bank veto, Henry Clay told Con-
gress, “There is a rumor abroad that a cabal exists—a new sort
of kitchen cabinet—whose object is the dissolution of the regular
cabinet, the dissolution of the Whig Party, the dispersion of the
Congress without accomplishing any of the great purposes of
the extra session, and a total change, in fact, in the whole face
of our political affairs. 26

The “accidental” President’s veto was sustained, and con-
sequently the United States has never again, to this day, had
a national bank under public control.

From this period of Caleb Cushing’s emergence as a feudalist
political gamemaster in Washington, we have evidence—never
before published-—'of a political alliance that would prove to be
crucial in creating the anti-Union insurrection of the coming
decades. Cushing arranged for his Newburyport, Massachusetts
colleague and lifelong acquaintance, Albert Pike, to become a
political power in the'frontier state of Arkansas. Surviving letters
from Pike to Cushing, in the huge unpublished Cushing Papers
at the Library of Congress, show Pike -thanking Cushing for
making the patronage appointments from the nataona] capltal
that Pike needed to nse to power. a

26. Clay's speech to the U. S Senate, Aug. 19, 1841, in Colton, Calvin, The
Life and Times of Henry Clay, A.S. Barnes & Co New York, 1846,
reprinted by Garland Publishing, Inc., New York and London, 1974, Vol.
II, p. 370. Co}tonnames(p. 371)CalebCuslm1gastheﬁrstofthe
“corporal's guard” running President Tyler’s Congressional affairs. An
important Southern co-manager of the Tyler project, with Cushing, was
Nathaniel Beverly Tucker—see Chapter 12.

27. See Albert Pike to Caleb Cushing March 2, Marchl4 andMay25 1843,
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ﬁe American Foreign Policy Disaster

The sudden death of President Harrison, his replacement by
the mole Tyler, and the Boston Brahmins' control over foreign
po]icy, through the intriguer Caleb Cushing and the pathetic
Daniel Webster, brought about a terrible shift in the foreign
relations of the United States. The “Imperialists” now appeared
in American public life. Their object was to make the United
“States “a new Britam,” a looter and exploiter of the colonial
world, for themselves and their senior partners in Europe.

“““The grandfather of the Southern secession movement, British
- faker Thomas Cooper, had told South Carolina’s Senators in
' 1826 that they must “at all costs” frustrate President John Quincy
- ‘Adams’s attempt to get a U.S. delegation to the inter-American
conference at Panama; and indeed, our delegation arrived after
the close of the meeting. Now, in the 1840s, the British-Swiss
game was to make the United States itself, through these new
~Imperialists, repudiate its leadership of the colonial and fonnerly
S *oolomal areas, and to thereby stifie the prospects for an Amer-

manuscnpts in the Cushmg Papers, Library of Congress. . .
The March 2, 1843 letter, addressed “Dear Friend,” says “As i incom-
- petent as I am to the Station your kindness thought me fit for, I feel more
: sensnblythe friendship which prmnptedyoutomovemmybehalf.”Fmﬂler
... on, Pike, who was to be built up as the great Arkansas secessionist leader,
" tells Cushing, “I congratulate you still more on this, that you are still a
=t citizen‘of our own New England, where you enjoy that protection of the
"law and liberty of conscience, which none of us here even dream of. .
-1 do not know whether or not I am.tied here for life. Iwouldfamhope
" not, and would, at almost any sacrifice; get into some more arderly and
" law-abiding part of the world.” Pike enclosed with that letter a declaration
of principles for a new political party-faction hens starting in Arkansas, -
for Cushing’s approval.
The May 25, 1843 letter begms, Soonaftertheaocesmonofﬁeneral
- Harrison to the Presidency, you were 30 kind; at my eamest solicitation
and reoonunendahon, as to mterest yourself in procuring the appointment
of Thomas W. Newton, Esq. to the office of Marshall of this district .
I also solicited your influence, and you . . éxerted it, to procure for

Absalom Fowler Esq., the appointment of Dlstnct Attorney. . . .” The
. rest reports on the problems of the political machine that Cushmg put
* into Pike’s hands.




186 _ TREASON IN AMERICA

ican system of republican alliances that might check or destroy
oligarchical world ambitions.

In 1840, British Foreign Minister Palmerston’s new envoy to
China, Charles Elliot, arrived in Canton. The Chinese govern-
ment was trying once again to stop the import of illegal opium,
the British business which had also enriched the family and
political employers of Caleb Cushing,

British Plenipotentiary Elliot opened up host:lmes by ordering
the destruction of a number of Chinese war junks, and coor-

dinated the ensuing “Opium War” with his cousin, the British

admiral who was sent to carry out the planned conquest.

The outgunned Chinese succumbed to British massacres and
town-burning, and gave Elliot a treaty which became the model
for the humiliation of Britain’s unwilling non-Western subjects.
_ China was required  to pay Britain for the value of the illegal
opium which Chinese authorities had confiscated and burned;
China was to pay Britain for the cost to Britain of sending its
armed forces to conquer China; Five Chinese ports were opened
to unrestricted British trade; British merchants trading in China
were exempted from-all Chinese laws, and were thus given
almost unlimited economic power; and Britain was given the
island of Hong Kong, which has been retained up to the present
as a Crown Colony, engaged in the illegal narcotics trade.?

Having succeeded in starting and winning this war of conquest,
Plenipotentiary Charles Elliot was redeployed to another area
of colonial difficulties: he was sent as the British Ambassador
to the newly independent Republic of Texas. Elliot’s assignment
in Texas would prove to be a disaster for the United States, as
we shall see.

The U.S. Is Disgraced in China

Back in 1839, the “godfather” of the Boston opium syndicate,
Thomas Handasyd Perkms, had addressed to Congress a mem-

28. See Beeching, Jack The Chinese Opium Wars, Harcourt Brace Jovanov-
itch, New York and London, 1975.
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orial describing a British-Chinese clash as mewtable” and asking
for the dispatch of an American naval force to Chinese waters.
Perhaps Perkins’s earlier message to Congress, when he was
a representative of the disunionist Hartford Convention, was
remembered; the request for U.S. military involvement was
ignored.

But the Boston Brahmins in China, with Franklin D. Roose-
velt’s grandfather Warren Delano as their consul in Canton,
watched with glee as their British partners in crime invaded and
burmed Chinese cities. When the rape was consummated, Caleb

Cushing wrote to President Tyler, on December 27, 1842:

The British Government has succeeded in forcing China
" to admit British vessels into five ports in the Chinese Em-
- pire and to cede to England in perpetual sovereignty a
- commercial depot and fortified port on the coast of China.
-~ It does not appear that England contemplates attempting
- to exclude other nations from similar free access to China.
But it does appear that she has made the arrangement for
her own benefit only, and, if other nations wish for like
advantages, they must apply to China to obtain them on -
their own account.

Is not the present, therefore, an urgent occasion for
despatching an authorized agent of the United States to
China, with instructions to make commiercial arrangements
in behalf of the Umted States?®

Three days later President Tyler sent a Special Message to
Congress, proposing an appropriation of money for sending an
American Commissioner to Chma, along the lines of Cushing's
letter.

At this time Caleb Cushing was unemployed. About as popular
as Benedict Arnold, he had been appointed Secretary of the
Treasury by Tyler, but the Senate had rejected his nomination

29. Fuess, The Life of Caleb Cushing, Vol 1, p. 407.
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three times——first by 27 to 19, then by 27 to 10, and when Tyler
came back with Cushing’s name yet again, only three Senators
voted for him. When President Tyler appointed Caleb Cushing
America’s first minister to the Chinese government, the choice
was not rejected; Cushing, it was reasoned, would be leaving
the country.

After purchasing for himself a fantastic Major General’s uni-
form—an embroidered blue coat with white plume—the civilian
Cushing left for China. He carried with him a letter to the
Emperor from President Tyler, composed by Daniel Webster,
which explained the mission: “It is proper, and according to the
will of heaven, that [our two governments] should respect each
other, and act wisely. I therefore send to you Count [sic] Caleb
Cushing, one of the wise and learned men of this country . . .
we doubt not that you will be pleased that our minister of peace
. . . shall come to Peking . . . and that your great officers will,
by your order, make a treaty with him to regulate affairs of
trade, so that nothing may happen to disturb the peace between
China and America.”® ' :

On his way to China, Caleb Cushing—who affected an “anti-
British” political tone in his public speeches—was wined, dined,
saluted, and celebrated by British Empire governors and military
authorities in Malta, Bombay, and Colombo; took part in a tiger
hunt; reviewed British troops; and sent back detailed accounts
of how British communications tied together the distant ends
of their empire.

Preceded by several U.S. warships, Cushing arrived in China
in February, 1843, landing in the Portuguese enclave of Macao.
There he announced his intention of proceeding to the Chinese
capital of Peking. But the Emperor was in no hurry to have
another British-style treaty imposed on him, and he made no

30. Letter dated July 13, 1843, quoted in ibid, pp. 419-420.

31. There are still hanging, on the walls of his house in Newburyport, Mas-
sachusetts, several etchings of the imposing British Imperial buildings
visited by Cushing during his visit to India.
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" move to permit the “Count” to enter into the interior of the
" country.
‘. So Cushing sent a note to the Emperor’s representative,
~ stating that “it is neither the custom in China, nor consistent
with the high character of its sovereign, to decline to receive
the embassies of friendly states. To do so, indeed, would among
" western States be considered an act of national insult, and a
s just cause of war.” A week later he wrote: “It is my duty, in
" the outset, not to omit any of the tokens of respect customary
. among western nations. i these demonstrations are not met in
""" a correspondent manner, it will be the misfortune of China, but
" it will not be the fault of the United States.”
- Cushing then ordered an American frigate to sail up Canton
Bay to Whampoa and fire off a few threatening rounds. When
the Chinese still hesitated to be raped anew, Cushing sent the
following message:

I can assure your excellency that this is not the way for
China to cultivate good will and maintain peace. The late
war with England was caused by the conduct of authorities
at Canton, in disregarding the rights of public officers who
represented the British Government. )

If, in the face of the experience of the last five years,
the Chinese government now reverts to antiquated cus-
toms, which have already brought such disaster upon her,
it can be regarded in no other light than as evidence that
she invites and desires war with the other great Western
Powers.*

Cushing ultimately utilized the threat of the entire mobilized
American squadron in obtaining his celebrated Chinese Treaty.
This treaty, similar to the earlier one with Britain, included
provisions exempting Cushing’s relatives in the opium traffic

32. Date April 24, 1844, Fuess, The Life of Caleb Cushing, Vol. |, p. 431
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from any possible punishment by Chinese authorities: Americans
in China were not to be subject to Chinese laws.

This treaty did not merely extend to the United States the
status of conqueror which the British had gained months before;
the British and American treaties, in fact, required that any new
concessions given to either of these countries were to be au-
tomatically extended to the other. America, under its unex-
pected-President and its posturing “Count” Cushing, was being
led back into its connection with the bloody Mother Country.

The Monroe Doctrine Is Buried in Mexico

While he was in China, Cushing received word that the Tyler
administration was attempting to annex Texas to the United
States, a measure which the Mexican government had formally
stated would bring about a war. -

“As we saw above, the British plenipotentiary who had started
‘the Opium War in China, Charles Elliot, had been sent next as
British ambassador to the Republic of Texas, a de facto inde-
pendent state which had been part of Me}noo before the Texan
revolution.

Some historians, defending the concept of Manifest Destinv
in American territorial expansion, claim that the Tyler admin-
istration had to annex Texas in order to stop “British intrigues”
in Texas—Brifain was, after all, making cbvious moves to en-
tangle Texas as a pseudo-colony. Abolitionists at the time, such
as Caleb Cushing’s student William Lloyd Garrison, called for
the breaking up of the United States rather than that Texas
- should be annexed, and said that England should control Texas
and act-as an Abolition policeman on this continent. (The mast-
head of Garrison's newspaper, The Liberator, had begun carrying
this new motto in 1842: “A repeal of the union between Northern
liberty and Southem slavery is essential to the aboht:on of the
one and the preservation of the other.”)

What did Britain, and its Ambassador Elliot, want in Texas?
We shall leave a detailed study of the contest between British
and American System parties in and about Latin America, to be
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published in another location. What is clear at the outset is what

. Britain, and the Venetian-Swiss oligarchs of Europe, did not

want: the continuation of the Henry Clay-John Quincy Adams

policy of alliance with the emerging republics. Clay and Adams

‘had both been favorable to U.S. acquisition of Texas—but not
at the cost of a war with Mexico. Though Adams, like most
conscientious Northerners, was concerned that the Negro slav-
ery system not be extended into newly acquired territory, his
lifelong premise, continuing the tradition of the Founding Fath-
ers, was that the United States must be the model and guide
for the new anti-colonial system, and certainly not itself sink

' into participation in colonialism.

" Returning in autumn 1844, from his mission to China, Caleb

| Cushing landed on Mexico’s west coast, letting the ship proceed

on home without him. Cushing then undertook an “intelligence-
gathering” tour of the Mexican interior. To assure the reader
that what follows is not simply written out of malice for our
subject, we will quote from the Cushing biography (to this day,

* the only one written) by his relative and defender, Claude M.

Fuess; “Caleb Cushing left the [ship] Perry at San Blas, Mexico,
and rode on horseback to Guadelajara, at which he took a dili-
gence for Mexico City, his route lying directly between two
hostile revolutionary armies. What he had learned from his cor-
respondents about American politics convinced him that a knowi-
edge of Mexican affairs would undoubtedly be an asset during
the next few years, and he seized every favorable opportunity
for gathering information. . . . While his coach was bowling along
the national highway, between Puebla and Perote, a band of
brigands suddenly appeared, wearing masks and armed with
swords and pistols. In true bandit fashion, they halted the ve-
hicie, and robbed Cushing of some his most valuable posses-
sions. . . . Incensed by this outrage in broad daylight, Cushing
complamed to the Alcalde {mayor] in the village of El Pinal, but
that official merely shrugged his shoulders. . . . Cushing was

" by this time in a passion. After the American Comrmsswner [to

China] said in his best Castilian—which was excellent—"You
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may not care to listen to me now, but I shall some day return
- with an American Army at my back, and you may change your
tune then. . . .” “It was rather less than four years later that
Cushmg, a Brigadier General in the American forces invading
Mexico, passed through the same village of El Pinal. . . . When
he heard the familiar name, the incident of the robbery . .
came back to his memory. He sent a troop of guards to bring
the Alcalde before him; and soon the the trembling Mexican
appeared. . . . General Cushing, assuming his sternest mien,
then reminded the Mayor of their former meeting, explaining,
with grim humor, that the United States never left unavenged
such insults to its representatives, and leaving it to be inferred
that this powerful army was there to exact reparation for the
indignity offered him in 1844. The Alcalde was abjectly, tearfuily,
ttagically penitent, and cringed at his captor’s feet in submis-
sion. .=, At last Cushing released him. .

' "Dm‘mg this overland journey . Cushmg acquired a con-
siderable knowledge of Mexican character—a knowledge which,
it may bé:added, led him to view war with that country with
approbation and even elation. What he saw of Mexican sioth,

procrastination, shiftlessness, bigotry, and treachery gave him.

an insuperable prejudice against that nation. . . . Cushing’s re-
port on Mexico, dated March 22, 1845, was exhaustwe and
authoritative, and was used extensively by the War Department
two years later. . ."®

Caleb Cushing and associated enemies of both North Amencan
republics succeeded in getting their war with Mexico,  which
dragged the United States well down the road to'its own near-
destruction in 1861. A brief study of the origins of the U.S.-

Mexican War will provide valuable insights into the true nature.

of the.insurrectionary combination on which was based the

Southern Confederacy, and of the American forelgn po]lcy ca-

tastrophe of Theodore Roosevelt’s day. -
The Mexican Secretary of Foreign Relations had stated bluntly

33. ibid., p. 446-448. {
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in-1843 that Mexico “would consider equivalent to a declaration
of war against the Mexican Republic the passage of an act for
‘the incorporation of Texas with the territory of the United States;
the-certainty of the fact being sufficient for the immediate pro-
clamation of war.”* With this in mind, the U.S. Senate—which
included 26 Southern members, rejected the Tyler administra-
‘tion’s annexation treaty, on June 8, 1844, by a vote of 35 to
16. Hostility to the presidential mole, and the good prospects
for replacing him in the November elections, certainly helped
swing the vote.
... For the 1844 presidential contest, the Whigs nominated Henry
Clay of Kentucky, and the Democrats chose the avid pro-an-
‘nexationist James K. Polk of Tennessee, former Speaker of the
‘House. Clay tried to keep the Texas issue in the background,
Tunning on a program of restoring the United States Bank and
“internal improvements”—great national construction projects.
-But Clay’s campaign strategy was disrupted by one George
Sanders, a Kentuckian, grandson of a co-conspirator® of dis-
unionist General James Wilkinson, and an admitted paid political
_ -agent of the British Hudson’s Bay Company. Sanders engineered
T oa supposed community election meeting which “authorized” him
to poll the candidates on the issues. With this cover, Sanders
“framed and submitted a question on Texas to Clay, and caused
. Clay’s answer to be published nationally, in which it seemed
~ that Clay weakly encouraged the annexation of Texas (we shall
see more of Sanders’s bizarre career shortly). :
3 This Texas gaffe was then played in the Northeast against
, -an-appeal for “third party” anti-slavery votes, and a wildly false
representation of Polk as a pro-tariff, pro-industrial development
candidate. Polk narrowly won the election in Pennsylvania and
New York, and took the national election by a popular vote
margin of 40,000 out of about 3 million.

34, Bemis, Sammel Fiagg, The Latin American Policy of the United States:
An Historical Interpretation, Harcourt, Brace and Company, New York,

1943, p. 83. .
35. His mother’s father, Col. George Nicholas, for whom Sanders was named.




194 TREASON IN AMERICA

The New York contest decided the issue. Polk received
237,588 New York State votes, to 232,482 for Clay and 15,814
to James Birney for the anti-slavery Liberty Party. If these
Liberty votes had gone to Clay, the 36 New York electoral votes
would have changed columns and given Clay the national election
by 139 to 134 electoral votes.

- The Liberty Party had been organized by Gerrit Smith; an
upstate New York multi-millionaire. Smith and his father had
been business partners with John Jacob Astor from the beginning
of-Astor’s-career in 1784. With land acquired in the Astor part-
nership, Smith’s father had become one of the largest land-
owners in the United States.

Germrit Smith's coziness with the anti-American Astor is illus-
trated by a loan of $250,000 which Astor extended to him in
1837, in the middle of the worst depression the country had
ever had, with no contract and no collateral—and Astor ‘was
notorious as a tightwad.

According to an adoring biography, % Gemt Smith donated at
least $8,000,000 to catises which included the revolutionary
schemes of Giuseppe Mazzini in Europe and America and the
activities of abolitionists William Lloyd Garrison and John Brown.
Would a philanthropist dedicated to such liberal causes delib-
erately throw the election to the “most reactionary” candidate,
Polk? The answer will shortly become clear as we probe the
nature of the Mazzini-allied movement known as “Young Amer-
ica.” -

outlandish fraud perpetrated by John Slidell. A graduate of Aaron
. Burr’s political machine in New York, Slidell had moved to New

“Orleans in 1819, and was personally trained by Burr’s indicted
collaborator in treason, Edward Livingston. In 1844, he was on
his way to becoming political boss of Louisiana. Slidell's elec-
tioneering consisted of herding masses of Polk voters up and

36. Natumal Cyclapedza of American Biography, James T. White & Co., New
York, 1921, Vol II, pp. 322-323.

James Polk’s presidential candidacy was also boosted by the
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down the Mississippi on steamboats, voting in every parish they
visited. This famous, audacious tactic, though illegal and insulting
to the republic, was never successfully challenged.

- Caleb Cushing, carrying his plans for war with Mexico, arrived
pack in New York on December 31, 1844, With the election of
Polk accomplished, the outgoing mole President Tyler secured
from the demoralized Congress the unanimous ratification of
Cushing’s China treaty, and the passage of a resolution annexing

Texas

- The new President spent several months puffing various an-
clent American claims for damages against the Mexican gov-
emment, and feinting towards hostilities with England over

_ unsettled Anglo-American boundaries in the Oregon territory.
“American statesman and Texas Independence leader Sam Hous-
" ton had fought for annexation to the United States. But now,

as a U.S. Senator, Houston urged his countrymen »of to make

" war on Mexico, but to secure Oregon from the British—even
at the risk of a war with Britain.

- In the autumn of 1845, Polk sent Burrite John Slidell of Lou-

. istana to Mexico as a “peace commissioner,” in the tradition of
2.+ Cushing’s mission to China. When the Mexican government flatly
" refused to receive him, Slidell gave the word to start the war,

and Polk sent U.S. troops down to the Rio Grande—among the
Mexican villages, far past the line of American settlement. A

. Mexican army detachment finally managed to show minimal re-
- sistance, attacking a U.S. scouting party just north of the river.

" 37. Young, The American Statesman, p. 835: “The act of annexation was

consummated on the 4th of July, 1845. . . . Immediately after this event,
the president [Polk], aware that it would be considered by Mexico as an
act of war on the part of the United States, ordered Gen. Taylor with

" his troops to some place on the Gulf of Mexico. . . . The place selected
by Gen. Taylor was Corpus Christi, on the west S|de of the Nueces, the
extreme western settlement made by the people of Texas. . . . The army,
after having been at Corpus Christi from August to January, and no hostile
act having been committed by the Mexicans, was ordered, in January,

- 1846, to take position on the left bank of the Rio Grande [Le. far to the
south of the Texans' settlements].”
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President Polk then sent to Congress a message declaring that
" war already existed “by the act of Mexico herself . . . after
reiterated menaces, Mexico has passed the boundary of the
United States . . . and shed American blood on American soil, "3
Congress voted for supplies and enlistments, and the war was
on.

Among the Amencan Army officers who took part in the

subsequent invasion of Mexico were most of the military leaders
of the American Civil War that would come in the 1860s, including
Ulysses S. Grant, Robert E. Lee, William T. Sherman, and
Jefferson Davis; these American soldiers were performing their
dutles under the ugly circumstances they found their country
in.’
) For the two leading American generals, Zachary Taylor and
Winfield Scott—both Whlg enemies of Polk’s ruinous policies—
the problem was to win the war as quickly as possible, conclude
peace with Mexico, and permanently withdraw U.S. forces.
Much to the disgust of President Polk, they accomplished these
aims, becoming heroes to the American public and causing a
major political battle with the administration, which accused the
generals of softness toward Mexico.

Besides the thousands of deaths and blasted lives left by the
war, there was a deep and permanent wound on the face of the
United States. The new republics of Latin America looked north
and saw no reason to hope for support against European grasp-
ing, and they stood open and undefended as the British quickly
moved in diplomatically and economically. Until the advent of
Abraham Lincoln, and his special alliance with Benito Juirez,
the Monroe Doctrine would lie shattered.

But there was yet another category of officers in the invasion
of Mexico: individuals involved in a political movement whose
leadership_ had in fact brought the war on, a movement whose

38. Message of James K. Polk, May 11, 1846, in Richardson, Messagesand
Papers of the Presidents, Vol. IV, p. 442. Sam Houston is said to have
remarked,tlntthetroublew:th]amesPolkwasthathedranktooumd)
watet. :
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aims were quite foreign to the culture and thought patterns of
American citizens. For later reference, we will now simply list
aome of these odd gentlemen: Caleb Cushing of Massachusetts,
Albert Pike of Massachusetts and Arkansas, John A. Quitman
of New York and Mississippi, Dr. David Camden DeLeon of
South Carolina, Grayson Mallet-Prevost of Switzerland and
nnsyivania, and Franklin Pierce of New Hampshire.

‘oung America : o
The - Young America movement was first brought before the
public in 1845 upon the reprinting of a speech by Edwin Deleon,
delivered to the students of South Carolina College. DeLeon
was the brother of the above-named officer. Their father was
the physician and closest friend of British revolutionist Thomas
Cooper, who had come to South Carolina and started the Nul-
lification-Secession Crisis in the 1820s. Edwin DeLeon was later
to be chief Confederate propagandist in Europe and the closest
~ adviser to Confederate President Jefferson Davis; David DeLeon
* would later organize the medical department of the Confederate
" army and be its first Surgeon General; they had another brother,
“Thomas Cooper DeLeon, who was the most celebrated Con-
- federate author.
- In 1845, Edwin DeLeon was returning to h:s alma mater and
_'to the scene of his tutalege by Cooper— in-his memoirs he said:
“The discussions which took place constantly. between’ [Cooper]
-and my father on literary and scientific questions,- did much to

the development of my mind and character.”™ In his 1845 speech,
- eptitled “The Positions andDut]esonmmgAmnca,"heprmses
- Thomas Cooper’s “broad philanthropy, and . . . untiring zeal for
the honor, the interest and the intellectual elevat:on of South
‘Carolina . . . an eminently practical man . . . an earnest and
sincere disciple of the school of Bentham and Malthus. . . .

- [“Of his religious heresies I do not speak; save to remark”
[on] . . . the purity of his life, the extent of his acquirements,

39. DeLeon, Thirly Years of My Life, p. 6.
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and the unbounded philanthropy of his heart, whose kmdly pul-
sations.

‘Thomas Cooper was one of the most zealous pioneers of
science and literature in his adopted state.”® This, of the man
who first proposed that the South secede from the Union.

DeLeon then named his movement: “There is a ‘Young Ger-
many,’ a ‘Young France,” and a ‘Young England’—and why not
a ‘Young America’?” His student auditors’ generation is to be
the material for this movement, and he urges them to work
quietly and prepare thoroughly for the explosions they are to
bring about:

If we trace back any great civil convulsion, we will find
its source originating in some quarter equally unsuspected
and obscure. Take as an example the trite one of the French
Revolution; what agency had her pampered Priests and
Nobles in kindling up that blaze which gleamed like a bale-
fire over Europe? They were no more than the flax with
which the flame was kindled. Those who first applied the
spark were the squalid and obscure Savants, who in their
garrets compiled the materials of the French Encyclopedie,
that mighty arsenal of mischief; and the breath which fanned
the flame was that of the wretched and frenzied enthusiast,
whom all men then scomed and reviled—Jean-Jacques
Rousseau. True, they had all passed away before the train
‘which they had fired blazed fully forth, but on their heads -
should rest the glory or shame attaching to the deed, for
the actors in that dead drama were its creatures, not its
creators. ¥

Near the close of this maiden speech for Young America,
DeLeon pronounces the motivating slogan: “Whatever extent
of soil the desire of ‘extending the area of freedom’ may prompt

40. DeLeon, Positions and Duties of Young America, p. 9.
41. ibid., pp. 13-14,
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people to enclose within the walls of our national structure,
s ever stand prepared to guard its threshoid against the
faning foot of any foreign foe.”*

“Extending the area of freedom” was then to be used in two
parallel meanings: conquenng the Western Hemisphere, Spanish
colonies and sovereign nations alike, to convert all the Americas
o a slave plantation; and aiding the revolutionary anarchist
yiuseppe Mazzini, the creator of Young Italy, Young France,
Young England, and Young Europe organzations, in his designs
to.overthrow Europe’s governments.

Observing how these two aims, revolution in Europe and
lavery in America, may be complementary, as “left-wing” and
“'right-wing"'versions of the same movement, should be very
mstructive in the twentieth century, confronted, for example,
by:the ac'cua]ly reactionary policy of the “revolutionary” Soviet
staté; and it is crucial to American history, because this move-
ment created the insurrection of 1861 and the American Civil
War.

" Mazzini biographer Strmgfe]low Barr condenses Mazzini's aims
m' these words:

. A new cycle of civilization, comparable to the Christian
cycle. The Christian afflatus was exhausted. . . . Twice

- Rome had brought unity. Once the Roman Republic had
developed the idea of justice, and Roman legions had carried
. law to three continents. Once again, this time under the
- then still vital papacy, Rome’s Universal Church had united
the West in a common purpose. Now a Third Rome in the

“name of God and democracy was destined . . . to unite the
world he saw crumbling about him. It was Italy’s mission

_ to free herself, to free Rome [i.e. break the Catholic Church]
and to bring to birth the religion of the future, of which the
word “Association” was the key . . . and in his vision he

42, ibid., p. 26.

¢
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[now quoting Mazzini] “saw Europe, weary of skepticism,
egotism and anarchy, accept the new faith with acclama-
tions. "+

Thie Philosophy of Universal Slavery

When some nineteenth-century Southern politicians began con-
tending that black slavery was a positive thing, good for society
and slave alike, perhaps they thought they were cleverly passing
along a simple rationale for a threatened property institution,
defying “traditional” morality in a tough political game.

But the origins of this new notion, which contradicted the
evential-abolition premises of both Northern and Southern
Founding Fathers, are not to be found in any “regional,” or in
any American context. This was a revival of feudalism, issued
from the same, undead European oligarchy which centuries be-
fore had enveloped the Old World in feudal tyranny—and had
introduced black slavery to the New World.

Edwin DeLeon tells us, in his memoirs (written in 1890 in
England), “The relations between the white and black races—
master and slave—in the Southern states . . . were partly pa-
triarchal and partly feudal, and the plantanon negro was the
revival in some respects of the English Serf . . . [conquered
and' enslaved by] the victorious Norman.”+ :

And how did these two groups of slaves appreciate their
condition? “The [black] agricultural laborer, or ‘field-hand,” was
of course ignorant and uneducated; but he was contented and
happy, and enjoyed life far more than his more responsible old
master, from whose cares and anxieties for the future he was
entirely free. . . . They were, in fact, a noisy set of good-
natured, rollicking, grown-up children . . . such was the ‘field-
hand,” a purely animal creature, whose ringing laugh resounded

43. Barr, Stringfellow, Mazzini, Pbrtrait of an Exile, Octagon Books, New
York, 1975, pp. 34-35.
44. DeLeon, Thirty Years of My Life, p. 19.
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a quarter of a mile off, with a spaniel-like affection for ‘the
family.” "4

And the English? “The Saxon thrall was a White Slave, bound
to the soil, but of the same blood and race as his master, the
Feudal Lord—and to raise him to political equality with that
master, was the work only of education and time. Given to him
those opportunities, there was no insuperable natural barrier
between them.

“In the stalwart peasantry of England we now see his de-
scendants; and no dividing line of color, caste, or inborn diversity
of character separates the descendants of Norman or Saxon,
noblemen or gentlemen, from the freed tillers of the soil, their
former serfs.”* '

England, then, by being enslaved under feudalism, has be-

come a perfectly democratic society! Ah, but the black slave,
says our Young American (in 1890), not being “of the same
blood and race as his master,” can never really advance his
condition despite his master’s graciousness, and this problem
“may result in the peaceable or forcible expulsion of the surplus
portion of the coloured race” from the United States.*
.. David Hume (in his History of England) in a similar spirit,
describes the background of those Norman pirate chiefs, who,
upon conquering England in 1066 and stealing the land, created
themselves the Aristocracy of Britain to rule over the enslaved
Englishmen. The “freedom” of which DeLeon and Hume speak
is the freedom of the master from any restraints of morality or
civilization, whether imposed by the Christian emperor Char-
lemagne or the U.S. Constitution.

“The Emperor Charlemagne, though naturally generous and
humane, had been induced by bigotry to exercise great severities
upon the pagan Saxons in Germany . . . and had obliged them,
by the most rigorous edicts, to make a seeming compliance with
the Christian doctrine. That religion which had easily made its

45. ibid., pp. 23-25.
46. ibid., p. 21.
47. ibid., p. 22.
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way among British Saxons . . . appeared shocking to their Ger-
man brethren, when imposed on them by the violence of Char-
lemagne. . .. [many of them] fled northward into Jutland
{Denmark], in order to escape the fury of his persecutions.

- “Meeting there with people of similar manners, they were
readily received among them, and they soon stimulated the
natives to concur in enterprises which promised revenge on the
haughty conqueror. . . . They invaded the provinces of France
. . . being there known under the general name of Normans

. from their northern situation, they became the terror of all
the- maritime, and even of the inland countries™; and they used
Normandy in France as a springboard to invade England.

It is from these untamed, pagan conquerors that the “Cav-
aliers” of the American South, and the Northern “bluebloods”
such as Lowell, counted themselves as descended, and on this
basis were encouraged to feel racially superior to the American
and English ‘white people. This is the wormy kernel inside the
racist nut. -~ .

The feudalists in the Scottish the of Freemasonry would
exploit this myth-based racialism in creating an msurrect:lonary
machine in the 1850s; they still hyped the myth in their 1938
biography ‘of J. J. J:«Gourgas, by J. Hugo Tatsch:

““The conguest of England by the Normans during the eleventh

century introduced. artistic, scientific and religious activities to
a region which up to that time had been one of the frontiers of
Europe. The military overlords—the feudal barons who laid the
foundations of a new form of government which finally blossomed
into the democracy we know today. . . ."#

Enter W:lham Lloyd Garnson

But there was yet another side to the Young America move-
ment——aboﬁﬁonism' How one might ask, could the same move-

48. Hume, David, Thesttory of Engiand Jrom the Invasion of Juliss Caesar
fo the Remlutwn in 1688 in 7 Volumes, Levis and Weaver, Philadelphia,
1810; Vol I, pp. 57-58.

49. Tatsch, J. Hugo, Gourgas, p. 13.
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ment encompass both the expansion of slavery and its abolition?
Only if the movement’s objective was the splitting of the United
States and the overthrow of republican institutions. The leader
of Young America’s abolitionism was William Lloyd Garrison.
We have seen that Garrison was trained in philosophy by Essex
Junto agent Caleb Cushing, after having been raised a disciple
of the Tory-Federalists and their disunion strategies in New-
buryport, Massachusetts.
Garrison started The Liberator, his anti-slavery newspaper,
in January 1831. He sent free subscriptions to blacks, and had,
in the early years, few white subscribers. His most dramatic
impact came from the 100 free subscriptions Garrison sent to
Southern, pro-slavery newspapers. The Southerners would read
The Liberator, publish an editorial denouncing Garrison and send
him a copy of it; then he would reply, and so forth. Garrison's
importance is not that he turned Northern opinion against siav-
ery—every moral leader of the North prepared public thinking
for abolition—but that he and his Young America collaborators
- consciously and openly bred the hatred and the tension which,
he hoped, would produce the “irrepressible conflict” predicted
by New York Senator William Seward, and the breakup of the
United States.
- In one Garrison speech, given in England and reprinted in
the London Patriot in 1833, he called the U.S. Constitution “the
most bloody and heaven-daring arrangement ever made by men
for the continuance and protection of the most atrocious villainy
ever exhibited on earth . . . it will be held in everlasting infamy
by the friends of humanity and justice throughout the world.
Who or what were the framers of the American government
that they should dare confirm and authorize such high-handed
villainy. . . . It was not valid then—it is not valid now.”®

Garrison on Mazzini
In his 1872 introduction to the autobiography of Giusgppe Qo-
seph) Mazzini, William Lloyd Garrison begins “My first mterview

50. Quoted in Thomas, The Liberator, pp. 161-162.
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with the great Italian patriot, Joseph Mazzini, was in summer
of 1846, at the charming residence of my honored friend, the
late William H. Ashurst, Esq., an eminent solicitor of London.
He impressed me very favorably . . . by the brilliancy of his
mind . . . the modesty of his deportment, the urbanity of his
spirit . . . he strongly drew upon my sympathies and excited
my deepest interest. There our personal friendship began, which
revolving years served but to strengthen; for though our fields
of labor were widely apart, and our modes of action in some
respects diverse, we cherished the same hostility to every form
of tyranny, and had many experiences in common.”*

Garrison goes on to say that unlike other, merely nationalist
revolutionaries, Mazzini “never tried to propitiate us by silence
respecting our great national sin. He deplored it in private and
in public, though he might have avoided the question altogether.
Writing to Rev. Dr. Beard of Massachusetts [in] 1854 he re-
corded his sentiments in the following impressive language: ‘I
must express to you how grateful I feel for being asked to attend
the first meeting of the North of England Anti-Slavery Asso-
ciation; how earnestly I sympathize with your noble object; how
deeply I shall commune with your efforts, and help, if I can,
their success . . . the sacred word liberty . . . the tears of the
good and the blood of the brave . .. the unity of God . . .
apostle of truth and justice . . . do not forget, whilst at work
for the emancipation of the black race, the millions of white
slaves . . . in Italy, in Poland, in Hungary, throughout all Europe

. whilst Europe [is] desecrated by arbitrary, tyrannical power,

- by czars, emperors, and popes. s

As we shall see, Mazzini issued this “impressive language”
immediately after having thrown considerable resources into the
election of Franklin Pierce as President of the United States,
and the initiation of a wild, fanatical pro-slavery conspiracy against
the American republic.
51. Mazzini, Joseph, His Life, Writings, and Political Principles, New York,

Hurd and Houghton, 1872, p. vil.
52. ibid., p. xvi.
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_Not all anti-slavery activists followed Garrison’s lead in pro-

- yocative disunionism, though many did; and very few followed
‘his footsteps into the leftist “swamp” (as a similar mélange of
causes was known in the 1960s). The cases of Fredrick Douglass
~and John Quincy Adams are useful by way of contrast.

. Douglass was a freed slave, entirely self-educated, who de-
voted his life to the emancipation of black Americans. Speaking

- on many of the same platforms as Garrison, he yet kept his

dignity, and by his bearing and his eloquence, demonstrated in

~ his own person the bright prospects for the full development of

blacks after emancipation. This, however, was not to the liking
of Garrison and his ilk. They consistently warned Frederick
Douglass that he was hurting the cause because he did not sound
like a slave; his diction was too developed, his vocabulary too

- large, to appear “credible.”

But Douglass refused to be patronized, and his persistent
courage in this regard makes him one of the heroes of his time.

" Though he, like many abolitionists, later criticized Lincoln’s Civil

War efforts as “too slow,” Douglass nevertheless faithfully aided
the President wherever possible, and effectively recrmted black
troops for the U.S. Army.

John Quincy Adams’ education, as a teenager with Benjamin

- Franklin in Paris, and for several decades as diplomat, Secretary

of State and President, was too thorough to allow him to view

- British and British-allied abolitionism without great skepticism. >

53. When he was ambassador to England, John Quincy Adams encountered

the British anti-slavery movement, headed by William Wilberfome Adams
says in his Dtary, June 6, 1817:

The suppression of the slave-trade was the subject of Mr. Wil-
berforce's wish to see me, and we had an hour’s conversation relating to
it. His object is to obtain the consent of the United States, and of all other
maritime powers, that ships under their flags may be searched and cap-
tured by the British cruisers against the slave-trade—a concession which
1 thought would be liable to ob]ecuons

“Probably this project originated in the bram of Master Stephen, the
author of [the anti-American book] ‘War in Disguise,’ and brother-in-law
to Wilberforce, one of the party called in derision the Saints, and who
under sanctified visors pursue wordly chjects with the ardor and per-
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Thus when Adams, defeated for presidential re-election by An-
drew Jackson, embarked on a new career as an elder statesman
in the House of Representatives, he always steered clear of
involvement with Garrison’s movement. But John Quincy Ad-

amg’s valor in standing up to the mounting power of pro-slavery

politicians in Washington—his successful fight to break a gag
rule on discussion of the slavery issue—kept Congress alive as
a republican institution in the very dark days of the 1840s.

As for the Union, Garrison said it should be broken up so
that he would not have to live in a country that included in it
- the institution of slavery; Adams wanted it strengthened so that
he could exercise government power to break up that institution,
by economics or by force.

Their political methods were opposite, because while Gar-
rison’s irrationalism was typified by his emulation of Mazzini's
new “religious” thought, John Q. Adams was a follower of Plato.

On June 11, 1819, when he was U.S. Secretary of State,
Adams made the following entry in his diary: -

My wife has made a translation of the first and second
Alcibiades [dialogues] of Plato, from that of Dacier in the
Bibliothec des Philosophes. She made it for the benefit of
her sons, and I this morning finished the revisal of it, in
which I have made very little alteration.

I read the first Alcibiades at Auteuil [France], in the year
1784, at the age of seventeen. The folly of that presumption
which would rush to the management of public affairs with-
out a stock of knowledge concerning them, the meanness
of setting up as the standard of our own acquirements those
of our associates, the indissoluble union of moral beauty
and goodness, the indispensable duty of seeking self-knowl-

severence of saints. . . . [British Foreign Minister Lord] Castlereagh has
more than-once thrown out this idea [for consideration]. . . . In substance
it is a barefaced and impudent attempt of the British to obtain in time of
peace that right of searching and seizing the ships of cther nations which
they have so outrageously abused during war. . . .”
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- - edge and self-improvement, and the exalted doctrine which

-considers the body as merely the mortal instrument of the

- soul, made a deep and lasting impression upon my mind.
The beauties of the composition did not then so affect
me. The dramatic character of the dialogue . . . the playful
but cutting irony . . . struck me less than the pure and
. glorious moral sentiments inculcated in his discourse. The
lessons of Socrates were lost on Alcibiades; they were not
so upon me. . . . [ wish my sons to read, and to be pen-
etrated as deeply as I have been with the lessons of, the
first Alcibiades.

" Other entries in Adams’s diary, especially during his earlier
sojourn in Russia as U.S. ambassador, proclaim his rediscovery
of Plato, discussing the Republic, the Laws, and other dialogues.

‘Let it be remembered that this American designed the Monroe
Doctrine, and fought for the rest of his life against the racialist
foreign agents who wanted to remove the United States from
its leadership of the world’s republicans.

Southern President versus
‘Southern’ Insurrection

General Zachary Taylor, who had led the American army to a
successful termination of the Mexican War, won the presidency
on the Whig ticket in the election of 1848. A lifelong military
man, a slaveholding Southerner (his daughter was Jefferson
Davis’s first wife), Taylor was devoted to the Union and the
Constitution.

In his inaugural address, President Taylor threw cold water
on the doctrine of Young America, characterized by Edwin
DeLeon as “extending the area of freedom,” whether that in-
volved “revolutionizing” Europe or subjugating Latin America:

“As American freemen we can not but sympathize in all efforts

~ to extend the blessings of civil and political liberty, but at the

same time we are warned by the admonitions of history and the
voice of our own beloved Washington to abstain from entangling
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alliances with foreign nations. In all disputes between conflicting
governments it is our interest not less than our duty to remain
strictly neutral . . . [and to cultivate] peaceful and friendly re-
lations with all other powers.”*

The Quitman Project

Resuming the Whig economic outlook, Taylor informed Con-
gress that he would favorably receive their hills designed to
protect American manufacturing and to recommence federal
construction projects for improving transport and commerce.

But within a short time, the nation was to be plunged into a
profound crisis, the new President would be dead, and the Whig
Party would be at an end. “Young America” played a central
role in- these events, acting largely through the person of John
Anthony Quitman.

Quitman was a New Yorker who moved to Mississippi in
1821, at age 23, and married into a wealthy family there. On
January 3, 1830,-as the Nullification-Secession Crisis was being
heated up in South Carolina, the Scottish Rite Supreme Council
in Charleston issued a warrant to “John A. Quitman, 1st Sov-
ereign of Sovereigns and Grand [lustrious Prince,” to open and
preside over a Scottish Rite organization in the state of Mis-
sissippi. ®

According to the sketch on Quitman in the Dictionary of Amer-

tcan Biography, “In 1834 he became identified with the political
group known as ‘Nullifiers’ who held the views expressed by
the Nullification leaders in South Carolina. He prepared an ad-
dress in their behalf, which was adopted May 21, 1834, by a
convention of ‘Nullifiers’ at Jackson . . . the sentiments therein
set forth were not then popular in Mississippi.”

To express the same thing somewhat less politely, Quitman
imported into Mississippi the project of the European oligarchs
to destroy the American republic, which had recently been tried
54. Inaugural Addresses of the Presidents, p. 100.

55. The ariginal warrant is photographically reproduced in Hams, Ray Baker,
Sotethern Supreme Council, p. 202.
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" out in South Carolina, and whose success would have to await

the creation of a wider insurrectionary orgamzatlon and greater

" public demoralization.

John A. Quitman was an avid participant—a brlgadler-geneml
of volunteers—in the Mexican War, becoming a close friend of
Caleb Cushing of Massachusetts. At the close of the war, he
presented a plan to Prestdent Polk for the permanent subjugation
and annexation of Mexico.

The Freemasons' monthly magazine of Boston pnnted the
following notice on February 1, 1848:

“At a special session of the Supreme Council . . . for the

. Southern Jurisdiction . . . our illustrious Brother, John A. Quit-

man . ... Major General in the Army of the United States, was
elected to fill a vacancy in the [Southern] Supreme Council, and
was duly and formally inaugurated a Sovereign Grand Inspector
General of the 33d. All Consistories, Councils, Chapters and
Lodges under [the Southern] jurisdiction are hereby ordered to
obey and respect him accordingly.” Quitman was by this time
the recognized leader of the secessionist movement i Missis-
sippi, the most important such grouping outside South Carolina.

The Quitman proposal for the annexation of all Mexico had
not been adopted by the federal government. But beyond an-
nexing Texas, the United States had taken from Mexico, as a
result of the war, territory composing the present states of
Utah, Nevada, New Mexico, California, and most of Arizona.
There was widespread anxiety concerning the disposition of this
territory: What states would be formed out of it? Would they
be slave states or free?

In October 1849, Quitrnan’s Mississippi secessionists con-
vened a strategy session in Natchez with representatives from
throughout the South, and a call was issued to all Southem
states to send delegates to a convention on June 3 of the following
year.® In January 1850, Quitman took office as Governor of

56. Jennings, Thelma, The Nashville Convention: Southern Movement for Un-
ity, 1848-1851, Memphis State University Press, Memphis, Tennessee,
1980, p. 6.
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Mississippi. In that office, as leader of the extremists in the
South, Quitman was openly proposing the breakup of the Union,
and the new president, Zachary Taylor, was presented with a
deepening national crisis.

At the same time, Quitman was engaged in another of Young
America’s adventures: he was arranging and financing the in-
vasion of Cuba by mercenary troops. With the ostensible pur-
pose of taking Cuba out from under “oppressive” Spanish rule,
and saving the South from the threat that Spain might abolish
slavery in that neighboring island, a “Cuban Junta” of revolu-
tionaries in New York had hired Spanish renegade Narciso Lopez
as a general for the invasion, and Quitman for broker and spon-
sor. It is useful to note that Virginia's Robert E. Lee and Mis-
sissippi’s- Jefferson Davis were both offered the leadership of
the invasion, and both refused the offer.

The newspaper of the “Cuban Junta,” La Verdad, published
from 1848 to 1853 with a steady support for these Caribbean
“filibusters,” was edited by Jane McManus, alias Cora Mont-
gomery. Miss McManus had first begun her career as an anti-
Latin American mtfiguer when Aaron Burr sent her into Mex-
ico’s Texan province after he returned from his European exile.
Burr had sent along a letter of introduction for her to Judge
James Workman of Louisiana, former British War Ministry of-
ficial who had written the 1801 British plan for the conquest of
Spanish America. -

In the 1830s, when the ancient Burr was sued by his last wlfe
for divorce, she had named Jane McManus in court as the “other
woman”—the object of Burr's adultery

Seeking to defuse the national crisis cooked up by this as-
sortment of spies and agents, the old Whig Party leader Henry
Clay constructed a congressional compromise over the dispo-
sition of the new western territories, similar to the Missouri
Compromise he had arranged in 1820.

President Zachary Taylor took a different, complementary
approach to the problem. He sent his own agents into California
and New Mexico and arranged for those territories to request
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- that Congress admit them to the Union as free states. While

Texas leaders were claiming part of New Mexico, and there
were threats of invasion across the desert from Texas mto New
Mexico, Taylor pledged that he would uphold the law and the

- Constitution at all costs.

Taylor now acted against the primary anti-Union conspirator.

In June, 1850, a federal grand jury in New Orleans indicted

Mississippi Governor John A. Quitman for financing the invasion

. of Cuba, in violation of laws protectmg the neutrality and peace
- of the United States.

On July 3, John Quitman sent a telegram to Washington, D.C.,

- saying that he would personally be leading an anti-federal army

of several thousand troops from Texas into New Mexico. Allan
Nevins, in Ordeal of the Union, paraphrases President Taylor
describing a meetmg he had that day with some Southern vis-
itors:

“ 4 told them . . . that if it becomes necessary [ will take

command of the army myself to enforce the laws. And I said
that if you men are taken in rebellion against the Union, I will
hang you with less reluctance than I hanged the spies and de-
serters in Mexico!l” "%
" The next day, July 4, 1850, Taylor had on his desk a half-
finished message declaring that he would never permit Texas
to seize any part of New Mexico's area. The President appeared
that afternoon at an Independence Day celebration, at which
the audience was exhorted to rally to the Union.

That evening the President “fell ill,” vomiting up a mass of
blackish material. He died on July 9th. Death was officially at-
tributed to his having consumed too-cold milk and too many
cherries. This, according to the official reports, had caused
“cholera morbus,” then fever.

57. Nevins, Allan, Ordeal of the Union, Charles Scribner's Sons, New York,
1947, p. 331
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Following this second death of a Whig President by “stomach
distress,” the compromise bill proposed by Henry Clay was
defeated. But a new compromise plan, credited by Democrats

to Stephen Douglas, a Young America- affiliated Senator from
" Illinois, passed the Congress—and the crisis was abated. Henry
Clay died in 1852, and the Whig Party died with him.

19—
How the Eastern

Estabhshment Ran Southern
Secession

With the weak Vice President, Millard Fillmore, now temporarily
pying the White House, the Young America movement be-
gan openly preparing to seize power in the United States. Sen-
- ator Stephen Douglas, the new Compromise hero, thought he
- had a deal with the Eastern and European financiers behind the
“‘'movement to make him the next President. With this in mind,
- he sponsored the purchase of the Democrats’ party journal, ‘the
.. Democratic Review, by Young America intriguer George Sand-
i ers, who was supposed to promote his candidacy.

- .. We have met with Sanders before, the reader may recall; his
 “Texas interview” trick helped defeat the Henry Clay presi-
- dential campaign in 1844, and thus receives part credit for the
- Mexican War.

~ Sanders was an official American political agent of the British
_ Hudson's Bay Company, employed by Sir George Simpson,
 Hudson’s overseas governor, and Sir John Henry Pelly, gov-
" emor of the Company and governor of the Bank of England.!
. Sanders, like Caleb Cushing, was at the same time a very loud
“anti-British” demagogue.

" The Democratic Review issues published by Sanders in 1852,
readily available in public libraries today, are crucial documentary
evidence-for the historical investigator, and they ought to be a
. terrible embarrassment to academic historians.

- 1. Curti, M. E., “Young America,” in American Historical Review, Vol. XXXII,
QOctober, 1926, pp. 34-55.
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In'a 9,000-word piece entitled “Mazzini and Young Europe,”
Sanders gushes praise for the efforts of Giuseppe Mazzini and
his revolutionary organizations throughout Europe, and he de-
mands that the United States aid in the overthrow of European
tyrants; a thoroughly sinister portrait of Mazzini appears on the
frontispiece of the bound volume containing the 1852 Democratic
Review issues.

In a later issue that year, the same George Sanders warns
Democrats that “This continent s for white people, and not only
the continent, but the islands adjacent, and the negro must be
kept in slavery at Cuba and Hayti, under white republican
maslers.” The -word “republican,” so deliberately abused by
using it to connote a type of slavery, is supposed to distinguish
“Americans” like the secessionist leader Quitman, from the
“monarchist” Spaniards who then ran Cuba and might decide to
liberate its slaves.

Like Thomas Cooper, who was a violent “leftist” in England
before coming to South Carolina to create that state’s “rightist”
rebellion against- the republic in the 1820s, George Sanders
combined “left-wing” and “right-wing” revolutionism in his own
person, as they were combined in the movement Sanders rep-
resented: Mazzini-worshipper William Lloyd Garrison, propos-
ing the breakup of the United States on the grounds of
abolitionism; Sanders and Quitman proposing disunion and uni-
versal slavery in the name of the very same Mazzini revolution.

‘The Chanrlpion of My Race’

In August 1851, John Anthony Quitman, who had resigned the
governorship of Mississippi over his still-pending indictment in
the Cuba conspiracy, arrived in Boston. He was accompanied
by secessionist Jefferson Davis, his sometime political collab-
orator, and two others—Generals Pillow and Clingman—who
had been members of the Cushing-Quitman clique of officers in
the Mexican War,

2. United States Democratic Review, Nov.-Dec., 1852, p. 440.
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Caleb Cushing met the generals in Boston, and took them
home with him to Newburyport, the site of his commission three
decades earlier from Essex Junto member John Lowell to be
ny champion and that of my race.” There, ina famous, several-
ys-long strategy session, the Boston Brahmin, the Scottish
Rite secessionist leader, and their friends planned the next
administration of the United States. Midway through the meeting
ey:brought in General Franklin Pierce from New Hampshire
join them; Pierce was to be chosen the Democratic presi-
dential nominee in a prearranged convention “surprise” the fol-
wing year. Cushing’s collaborators now fanned out to prepare
the stage show.

The disgracefully laudatory Cushing biography by his family
mber, Claude M. Fuess, may be consulted for a detailed and
somewhat candid description of this fakery. We reproduce here
quote from a Pierce associate carried in the Fuess book:

.. They [the Mexican War generals] fixed up all the ar-
rangements to make Frank Pierce the Democratic nominee -
for President. All of them but Pierce will be in the Con-
“vention. . . . They will {at first] conspicuously try to secure
two-thirds of the Convention for one or the other of the
‘three [prominent candidates] but their influence, though
“strong enough to give one after another a majority, will
-somehow always fail to bring together two-thirds for either.
When the Convention begins to get tired and delegates are
asking who, then, can we nominate, the Gen'l—is to nom-
.inate Gen'l F. Pierce and Gen'l—is to second his nomi-
* nation. Other generals and others besides the generals will
join them, and Pierce will be the nominee.”?

Indeed, quoting Fuess:"

As the reading of states for the forty-ninth ballot began,.

3. Fuess, Life of Caleb Cushing, Vol I, p. 119.
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the stampede which Cushing had been preparing actually
occurred. Pennsylvania . . . came forward for Pierce. Oth-
ers followed, until, in one of those strange bursts of mob
mania which sometimes explode when tension runs high,
everybody seemed simultaneously to wish to cast his vote
for the winning candidate. The hall was a shouting mass of
humanity . . . Pierce received 282 out of 288 votes cast.
To the general public, he seéemed like a far more mysterious
‘dark horse’ than Polk had been in 1844. In reality, he was
nominated by a plan more successful in its immediate results
that any similar scheme in our political history.*

The nearly moribund Whigs nominated patriotic General Win-
field Scott for the presidency. He was beaten by a coalition of
precisely the kind which had met in Caleb Cushing’s parlor. The
“Cotton Whigs”— NOrthern textile manufacturers (i.e. the Ca-
bots and the Lowells) thh strong ties to Southern planters—
defected from -Scott, and’their main representative, Daniel
Webster, bitterly opposed his candidacy, splitting the party.

During the years 1847 through 1852, 1,875,000 immigrants
had entered the: United States. Of this total, 920,000 escaped
from tie Irish faniine and 487,000 were German refugees from
revolutionary chaos. The pro-slavery lords of Boston and New
York, specifically including the Astors, Vanderbilts and Roose-
velts in New York, organized anti-Negro sentiment and anti-
Whig votes from the miserable Irish, many of them tenants in
Astor’s disease-infested slums,

Still another source of Pierce support was the Young European
himself. Giuseppi' Mazznu wrote in 1853: :

Kossuth [Hungarian radical] and I are working with the
very numerous Germanic elemerit in the United States for
his [Pierce’s] election, and under certain conditions which
he has accepted. Of these conditions he has already fulfilled

4. ibid., p. 123.
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enough to give us security that he will carry out the rest.
e was to appoint American representatives in Europe who
would be favorable to us and would help us; and almost alt
s nominations are such as we desired. He was to give to
battleship commanders instructions opposed to Austria
the despotic governments: he has done it . . . He had
‘promised to give orders to all his diplomatic agents to
1, recognize immediately whatever insurrectionary republican
+ government should be established in an Italian or Hungarian
“province, and he states that he has done so.®

-The election of Franklin Pierce, indeed, gave the signal for
revolution to begin. We will restrict our treatment here,
e to space limitations, to two, intimately connected objectives
this revolutionary project:

The destruction of the liberties of the emerging republics of
Latin America, and their colonial reconquest; and

the breakup of the United States and the overthrow of its
republican government.

These two objectives had been comblned in the plans of Amer-
’s enemies since the mercenary army of Aaron Burr sailed
Ohio to the Gulf South, and remain so in the twentieth

e Cushing-Pierce Administration

President Franklin Pierce, after pledging that his administration
would be devoted to ensuring that “no sectional, or ambitious,
or fanatical excitement may again threaten the durability of our
institutions, " made the following appointments:

" Caleb Cushing—Attorney General of the United States:

" Jefferson Davis—Secretary of War;

~James Buchanan, who had been Secretary of State dunng
the Mexican War—U.S. Ambassador to England;

5. Quoted in Barr, Mazzim, p. 217.
6. Imaugural Addresses of the Presidents, p. 108.
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George Sanders, revolutionist, official political agent of an arm
of the British government—U.S. Consul in London;

Edwin DeLeon, Thomas Cooper’s-disciple and father of the
Young America movement—U.S. Consul in Egypt;

August Belmont, official U.S. agent of the British Rothschild
bankers and American Consul of the Hapsburgs’ Austrian Em-
pire—U.S. Ambassador to Holland;

Pierre Soulé, exiled French Revolutionary, Jesuit-trained,
Young America Senator from Louisiana—VU.S. Ambassador to
Spain;

William L. Caznean, husband of Aaron Burr’s agent and mis-
_ tress, Jane McManus—U.S. Consul in Santo Domingo.

A decade later, in the Civil War, Davis was to be president
of the Southern Confederacy; Belmont would be Democratic
national chairman and not-so-loyal leader of the opposition to
President Lincoln; Soulé would be an important Confederate
diplomat; Edwin DeLeon was to become the chief Confederate
propagandist in Europe and reputedly the closest adviser to
Jefferson Davis; and Sanders was to engage in the most au-
dacious anti-American operations as a Confederate spy, fleeing
to. Europe after the war with a $25,000 price on his head for
allegedly. havmg parhcxpated in planning the murder of Abraham
Lincoln: ~ -

- When George Sanders arrived as U.S. Consul in London he
mmed:ately set up his house there as the headquarters of Eu-
ropean revolution. At a single dinner party on Feb. 21, 1854,
Sanders hosted the “very English” Italian Giuseppe Mazzini,
terrorist assassin Felice Orsini, Italy’s Giuseppe Garibaldi, Louis
Kossuth of Hungary, Arnold Ruge of Germany, A. A. Ledru-
Rollin of France, Alexander Herzen of Russia and U.S. Am-
bassador James Buchanan. Buchanan later explained that he had
joked to Mrs. Sanders that night, “T asked her if she was not
afraid the combustible materials about her would explode and
blow us ail up.”” Eventually, when the U.S. Congress found out
what Sanders was doing, he was recalled from London.

7. Buchanan to Wiliam L. Marcy, Feb. 24, 1854, quoted in Curti; “Young
America,” p. 48.

- EASTERN ESTABLISHMENT RAN SOUTHERN SECESSiON 219

:Meanwhile, Caleb Cushing’s old comrade-in-arms, Scottish
‘Rite Supreme Council member John A. Quitman, flew into fu-
rious activity on the election of his and Cushing’s man Pierce.
-The prosecution of his federal indictment for the first anti-Cuba
_conspiracy had collapsed after the surprise death of President

Taylor. Quitman signed a formal agreement with the “Cuban
Junta” revolutionists in New York in August, 1853,

He became “the civil and military chief of the revolution,”
. with complete control of all funds, the power to issue bonds
. and military commissions, the power to raise troops and
" charter vessels, and all the prerogatives of a dictator. Quit-
'~ .. man was to devote these powers to the creation of an
.. independent government in Cuba which would retain slav-
" .ery; he was to receive $1 million if and when Cuba became
. free.®

The Spanish government moved to defend its Caribbean pos-
sessions in the following month, by appointing the Marques de
Pezuela as Captain General of Cuba. Pezuela promptly sup-
pressed the slave trade, freed many slaves, encouraged racial
intermarriage, organized freed slaves into a militia, and forbade
whites to arm themselves—thus counteracting the attempted
insurrection by Quitman-linked planters.
~ On February 28, 1854, Pezuela confiscated the American
merchant ship Black Warrior in Havana harbor, and arrested
its Young America intriguing captain, James D. Bulloch. In re-
sponse to the Black Warrior seizure, Pierce told Congress this
. “wanton injury” demanded “immediate indemnity”; Louisiana
Senator John Slidell, the Burrite New Yorker who had married
his niece to August Belmont and brought the Rothschild rep-
resentative into Democratic politics, pushed for repeal of the
neutrality laws which formally blocked Quitman’s.adventures;

8. Potter, David M. The Impending Crisis, Harper and Row, New York,
1976 p. 188
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and Attorney General Caleb Cushing called for an immediate
naval blockade of Cuba.®

_It should be noted here that the focus of this war fever, Black
Warrior Captain James D. Bulloch, lived in New York with his
sister’s family; his sister had a baby four years later who was
to grow up and become President of the United States, following
the revered steps of his Uncle Jimmy—this was Theodore
Roosevelt, and his Uncle James D. Bulloch was to become head
of the Confederate Secret Service in Europe, and the procurer
of the Confederacy’s entire navy.

After the seizure of the Black Warrior, ambassador to Spain
Pierre Soulé issued an ultimatum, which the Spanish ignored.
Quoting Potter’s The Impending Crisis again, “two months [later]
Spanish republicans attempted a revolution; Soulé was already
in touch with them, and it was believed that he had subsidized
them; he had publicly hailed the revolution ‘with all the fervor
of holy enthusiasm’ . . . Before the end of his mission, he had
become involved with an international network of revolution-
lsts.”“’ . :

Before the Cuban adventure co]lapsed facing Spanish-Cuban
resistarice and congressional opposition, Pierre Soulé, James
Buchanan, .and the U.S. ambassador to France had met in Bel-
gium and issued the famous Ostend Manifesto, threatening to
invade Cuba if Spain did not sell the island to the United States.

. In May of 1855 adventurer William Walker and a mercenary
band backed by New York’s Cornelius Vanderbilt sailed for
Nicaragua and began a civil war in Central America. Walker had
earlier failed to conquer western Mexico, but now he won a
brief stru_ggle and became dictator of Nicaragua. There he rein-

9. ibid., pp. 189-190.

10: ibid., pp. 186-187.

11. ‘Andrews, Wayne, The Vanderbilt Legend, Harcourt, Brace and Company,
1941, pp. 54-55: “Two days before the sally, the [Vanderbilt-owned
Accessory] Transit [Company] agent C. J. Macdonald presented Walker
with $20,000 and a steamer to transport his meén. It is not apparent [sic]
that Comelius Vanderbilt, in New York, sanctioned this use of the com-
pany’s funds or the loan of the company's steamboat.”
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-stituted slavery and prepared plans to dig a transoceanic canal
under European colonial auspices. The Cushing-Pierce admin-
istration officially recognized “President” Walker's Nicaraguan
dictatorship in May of 1856. When Walker confiscated Vander-
bilt’s ships and Nicaraguan properties, however, Vanderbilt sub-
sidized the neighboring regimes®* to resist the little Hitlerian,
and many people died in battle or from war-related disease—
over 10,000 in Costa Rica alone. Walker was finally executed
-in 1860.

The Scottish Rite Begins the Insurrection

While Scottish Rite Supreme Council member and secessionist
" John A. Quitman was trying to conquer Cuba, the Swiss master
of the Scottish Rite in the Northern jurisdiction, ]. J. J. Gourgas
du Pan de Rengers, set in motion the machinery to blow up the
United States.

Gourgas delegated Killian Henry Van Rensselaer—a ‘pa-
troon” of the old unreconstructed Dutch feudal lords in New
York—to take personal charge of initiating a military organization
- with insurrectionary potential in the heart of the country. Ac-

‘cording to Van Rensselaer’s Scottish Rite biography, he had
- been “irregularly knighted in Rochester, New York in 1830 by
- three officers of the British army in Canada.”?
Piecing together the truth about what Gourgas and Van Rens-
- selaer did to the United States has cost investigators many hours
of painstaking work shoveling through mounds of lying cover

12. ibid., pp. 56-58: “the Commodore protested to Secretary of State Marcy
against . . . the unlawful seizure of a large amount of property’; not-
withstanding, the United States Government did not intervene . . . William
Walker, on the 12th of July, rose to the presidency of Nicaragua.”

“This election [sic], and the inactivity of our State Department, decided
Vanderbilt. He alone would destroy Walker. . . . In the summer, he
persuaded the governments of Honduras, Guatemala, San Salvedore, and
Costa Rica to build a defensive alliance against the new administration in
Nicaragua. In the fall, he ordered William R.C. Webster and Sylvanus
Spencer to lead and organize invading forces. Webster, an Englishman,
resented the spurious sovereignty of the amateur revoutionist.”

13. Baynard, Northern Supreme Council, Vol. 1, p. 286.
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The “Northern” Origins of the
Confederate Gestapo—“Knights of the
Golden Circle”

1854: Knights of the Golden Circle is
formed in Cinginnati, Ohic moves into
| Gulf South. .

1855-1860: Knights of the Golden Circle
recruit, arm and train about 100,000
men in Texas, La., Miss., Ala., Virginia
and Maryland.

stories— and a good bit of discussion with relevant families and
Masonic organizations. -

In 1851, K. H. Van Rensselaer was named Deputy to the
Northern Supreme Council for the states of Pennsylvania and
Ohio. Over the next two years, he made his way westward,
carefully probing for local openings, testing the political waters.
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In 1853, he set up the first consistory, or regional headquarters,
west of New York—in Cincinnati, Ohio.** He then made his
home in Cincinnati, becoming there a “revered” Scottish Rite
personage whose grave isstill the site of yearly ceremonies.

Another secret organization very coincidentally began in Cin-
cinnati, Ohio, in 1854.% It was called the Knights of the Golden
Circle, and it utilized very un-Ohioesque mummeries such as

14. ibid.; p. 286.
15. Fesler, Mayo, “Secret Political Societies in the North during the War,”
*in Indiana Magazine of History, 1918, Bloomington, Indiana, Vol XIV,
_No. 3, p. 190. '

. Van Rensselaer family privately printed material, (including A Legacy
of Historical Gleanings, by Mrs. Catherine Van Rensselaer Bonney, Al-
bany, 1875,) in the rare book section of the Rensselaer Polytechnic
Institute’s library, Troy, New York, shows that “the Knight” Mr. Killian
H. Van Rensselaer was earlier a principal organizer of another project,
with other members of his family: the 1837-38 cross-border raids, sup-
posedly to support a Canadian “uprising” against the British government
. in Canada, deliberately provoking the defensive reactions of Canadians

and giving the British the pretext for police actions to destroy the Canadian

republican movement. S . :
Rensselaer Van Rensselaer (sic), was the volunteer “General” of the

“Patriots” in this British military intelligence-coordinated provocation.

From Vol 11, pages 86-87 of Ms. Bonney's Gleanings, here is a letter

from Kilian H. Van Rensselaer, in' Rochester, to Gen. Rensselaer Van
- Rensselaer at Navy Island, Jan. 10,"1838: - o
. "Let me introduce to you our friend Mr. Huff of Mendon. He has a

few gentlemen with him for your cause, together with some morey,
-clothing, &c., &c.; he is warmly in favor of the Patriot’s claims. He has
*also One Hundred in money from our Committee, we hope it will be of
service to you. There are about 30 gentlemen to leave in:the moming
for your camp, and the prospect of as many more following in their track.

You will want to make good arrangements on our shore, so that what
‘means we can send will find a safe harbor, and you be able to receive
-them, How does Henry do? We are all amxious for some news of blood

[émphasis in original). 1 heard from Albany today, friends all well. Yours,

K. H. Van Rensselaer.” _ ‘ ) .

“General” Rensselaer Van Rensselaer was arrested by United States

General Winfield Scott, acting on the northern frontier to break up the

operation, under orders from Secretary of War Joel Poinsett. -(Elliott,

Charles Winslow, Winfield Scoft: The Soldier and the Man, Arno Press,

New York, 1979, pp. 339-340). He was sentenced to six months im-
_prisonment (Young, Andrew, The American Statesman, p. 715).
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the Maltese Cross by way of symbolism. We would still know
very little about this Scottish Rite front organization if its official
founder, George W. L. Bickley, had not talked after being put
in the Ohio State Prison by m:htary authorities during the Civil
War.

The Knights of the Golden Circle was the military organization
of what was to become the Confederate States of America. The
name was derived from the circle with a 1,200-mile radius from
Cuba, cutting through North and South America. The Knights’
ritual stated that the purpose of the order was “the entire and
speedy conquest of Mexico and the establishment of a separate
and independent nation upon such a-basis as to render it sub-
servient to the march of American civilization. "

Base slander! To thus pervert the name of American civili-
zation to the end of treason against our existence—in the mode,
alas, of Henry Kissinger, Robert McNamara and Paul Volcker
today.

 After the first “castles” of the Knights were set up in Cin-
cinnati and surrounding towns, the new order sent organizers
and ‘recruiters southward to the Gulf Coast and eastward to
Washington, D.C. Recruits signed up in Mississippi, Alabama,
Louisiana, and in Texas all along the Rioc Grande river bordering
on Mexico. General P. T. Beauregard, brother-in-law of Lou-
isiana’s Burrite political boss John Slidell, joined the order;
Beauregard was to be in command.of the South Carolina troops
in 1861 to superwse the attack on Fort Sumter which started
the Civil War.

_ Aocordmg to Bickley, “Men were enlisted as colonists or
emigrants [for Mexico] openly drilled in Baltimore, Washington,

16. ibid., pp. 190-191. See also Bell, William Henry, The Knights of the Golden
Circle, Its Organization and Activities in Texas Prior o the Civil War,
master’s thesis, 1969, call no. B4139K in the Texas A&l University
Library, Taftsville, Texas. This is an extremely interesting treatment of
the Knights, the result of several years of independent study. See also
‘Morrow, Curtis Hugh, Politico-Military Secret Societies of the Northwest,
1860-1865, dissertation for Ckirk University, Worcester, Massachusetts,
1929, p. 6.

Alexander Hamil-
ton (right), founder
of the American sys-
tem of ecomomics,
took personal re-
spomsibility for the
defense of the nahion
by opposing the
schemes of Aaron
Burr (lef.

Burr killed Hamilton July 11, 1804, as depicted by the illustrator Hooper. Burr
- fled south to plan the dismemberment of the country, then resumed his Vice-
Presidential duties.




Phato: New-York Historical Society.

]oslma Hett Smith’s house (above) near West Pmnt He kosted BenadzctAnwld
‘and hid Major André; the upper lefi-hand window was their lookowut post. Smith
fled to London and the patronage ofthdktfmb relatives.

i
i
:

. MfS Mmgafet (“Peggy”) Sh:ppen Amold (above left), Aaﬂm Bm'r's step—s;ster
was counseled af the climax of her husband's treason by Burr and b:sﬁam:ée
Mys. Theodosia Prevost. Sketch drawn by Major André. .

Monyment b Jo}m André (right), erected by Cyrus Field at the gallows szte
i Tappan, N.'Y., in 1880, 100th anniversary of André's hanging.
slone wasplawd . v a cifizen of the states against which hefought
Menofﬂwsebeﬂerfeekngswhwhhawszmewutedtwomﬁom onemmce,
lmrgmgumdreimon

On Washinglon’s blrthday 1882, the monument was defacéd, soon afler
bombadwzthmb'ogbcm In 1885, after repairs, the base and pedestal were
blown up with dynamite, thcstamnmammgewaﬁermmmd. The mon-
menhsnowomdbya prmmatwnsxw@"ﬂmmdbyRockefeuerFmdy
and Associales.

- Robert Livingsion (top lefl) became
Masonic Grand Master of New York
.- State under British army sponsorship.
. His brother, Depuly Grand Master Ed-
- ward Livingston (right), a disciple of

Jeremy Bentham, moved to Louisiana

- to aid Aayron Burr's secession project.
. He and Burr were both financed by
John Jacob Astor (botom left), trea-

‘surer of the New York Grand Lodge.

- Astor's opium profits were converted

. intoe Manhattan real estate with his
~lawyey Aaron Bury's help; he created

. the New York system of slum housing.
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- The proposal by British military
- intelligence officer James Work-
.- man for the Brilish conguest of

the western. hemisphere.- Work-

.man went to New Orleans, worked

with Burr in the attempl to break
off the U. .S, wesfern states from
the Union, (Pamphlet in the New
York Public Library)




. William Petty, Earl of Shelbure
- -Acenter left), was the chief orches-

trator of the British-Swiss secret
~ service unlil his death in 1805,

Aaron Burr and Albert Gallaiin
" tere among his agents for the re-
- conquest of America. The Baring
:. Brothers (above) financed anti-
" American operations and the far
" eastern opium traffic. The left-
_mostfigire is Sir Francis Baring,
- who was also chairman aftheEast
. Indza Company

Albert Gallatin (below left), from
Switzerland's anti-republican oli-
garchy, became Jefferson’s Trea-
sury Secretary. He wielded “cost
effectiveness” and “fiscal conserv-
atism” against Hamiltonian plans
for a strong U, S. defense.

_Enemy commami structure in the United States the “Essaxjunto " was led by
- George Cabot (above left), chairman of the Northern-secessionist Hartford Con-
“vention, and Judge John Lowell (above right), founder of the Tory Bank of
“Boston. John Lowell, [r. (below right) was the chief pamphlieleer against the
U.S. war effort, 1812-1815. (Lower left) A slave held captive in a net sils on
the Congo shore, awatting sale and shipment. The Cabot family sold slaves in
- parinership with the Perkins and Forbes families until at least 1780. The firm

cof ].-and T. H. Perkins istrucled the captain of the ship, Wiling Quaker,
“always keep your men Slaves in irons . . . if you can get $50 a head you may
dispose of the whole.”




" They're Still In Business.

December 16, 1773: Pa.tnot “Indians” dump 390 000 of tea in Boston harbor
(above). In the 1780s. Lowells and Cabots, representing the owners of that tea
and other banished Tories, established what became knoun as the Bank of
Boston for the use of their Boston Concern (se¢ syndicate chart p. 132-133);
Concern joined the British in the criminal Asia opium traffic. Death in China:
(below) the North Taku forts immediately after Brifish capture August 21, "1860,
in the Second Opium War. Thomas Jefferson Coolidge IIT (below left), 4th
generation syndicate millionaire, mid-twenticth century Chairman of United
Fruit Company, Vice-President, Bank of Boston. Mafiosa Meyer Lansky (center
left) was backed by the Bank of Boston in mob takeovers of Hdtbrwood studios,
-and s the 19605 establishment of drug money Iaundenng faalmes n the Car-
ibbean, first inttiated by the Bank.

. Thomas Handasyd Perkins (top)
- organized the Boston crimina op-

“ium syndicate. His brother James
Pertins (center) married the sis-
ter of the British Apothecary-geén-
eral, established the Boston-

* Turkey-Chitna opium connection,

W Ping-Chien, “Hougua” (be-
low), mandarin security manager
Jor the Bntish opium racketeers
and their American junior pari-
ners.
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. LONDON :
- !anng Brothers & Lo, ——-
CANTON . T BHANGHAE

Russell &fo. - Russell & do.
CALCUTTA & - BOMBAY

Gishorne & Co.- --— J’arbca &do. —
Book-keeper. -
. CEO0.B. AGER.

18505 poster of the China

_ Mutual Insurance Co. of

Boston, Among the directors
listed, participating in the
crimingl opium traffic to

‘China, are members of the
.Bates, Coolidge, Dana,

Forbes, - Gardner, . Hemen-
way, Minot, Peabody, Per-
kins, Sturgis, Tappan and
Train families. Baring
Brothers ran the London fi-
nancial end. {(Below) A
Chinese drawsng of the Can-
ton River. about 1830,
showing the lrading zone of

the EastIndia Company and

ather foreign merchants to
the left center.

jolm Murray F. orbes opmm smugglef business agent and secretary of Houqua
' (1830-37), and pariner in Russell and Company, which bought out Perkins.
- Forbes, backed by the Cabots, was the longtime financial sponsor of transcen-
“dental poet and anti-republican leader Ralph Waldo Emerson. (Below) Ruins
of the old “Factory” (foreign merchants) site in Canton, torched by the Chinese
in 1856. {(Above) The Forbes family house “The Laun” in Shwwghat later the

_Shanghaz Country Club.




A pm-Ameman bmﬂch of fmemasonn originally organized by Benjamin
Franklin, greeted freemason Gén. Lafayéte's 1824-25 return visit to America;
notice the masonic emblem at the top of the poem-broadside. The Franklin
networks were targeted by Scottish Rile subversives including (left, top) John
Mitchell of Philadelphia, a witness for Benedict Arnold; (vbper right) Frederick
Dalcho of South Caroling, editor of the Tory Charleston Courier; and (below
left Augustine Prevost of Geneva, Switzerland, British southern commander
during the Revolutionary War. ’

.]olm James Joseph Gourgas DuPan deRengm (righd), Swiss “Sovereign Gmnd
. Commander” of the Scotfish Rite, northern branch, for the first half of the
- aineteenth century. TheSouthembmnchwasthcommndcenteroﬂheSouthem

-sSecessiontst movement. Above, their fan. 3, 1830 warrant lo New Yorker John

Albert Pike (left) Satanist fmm Newbunpon‘ Massachusetis orgamzed the
 Scottish Rite southern Supreme Council in the late 1850s, coordinaled the
reectionary machinery leading into the Civil War, and put himself in charge
0 .creaimglndzan uprisings as a Confedemte General.

A Quitman to set up a Consisiory of Sublinte Princes of the Rayal Secret in

 Mississippi. Quitman plotted secession and war throvughout the hemisphere, was

arrested by President Zachary Taylor (next page}—ioho died immedialely there-
after.




William Henry Hamson (top right), first Wh:gParty president, who died from
myslerious causes a month after his maugumtwn Zachary Taylor (bottom right),
second Whig Parly President, who died in the second year of his term from
“stomach distress.” Winfield Scolt ran for president as @ Whig in 1852, but with
“Horace Greeley (lef}) as his campaign manager, he failed and the Whig Party
collapsed.

Antonio Priuli (below left), Doge of Venice 1618-1623, ancestor of the Venetian
pro-feudalist fumily renamed Prioleau, who organized the South Caroling co-
lomial aristocracy. (Above) DeSaussure College at the University of South Car-
olina, and a bust of Swiss citizen Henry William DeSaussure. Brifish revolutionist
Thomas Cooper (below right), hired by DeSaussure io be President of South
Carolina College, was the first to call for southerners to revelt against “northern
oppression.”. Cooper's Nullification movement, backed by Gallatin's free trade
‘mm;ementaqh north; forced an end to the Henyy Clay-John Q. Adams pmtectmmst
ttmﬁs of the 1820s.




-Boston Brahmin Caleb Cushing (below) planned the Mexican War and directed
key events of the 18505 which led to the collapse of the Union. Though an
cutspoken friend of slavery, Caleb Cushing tutored his Newburyport neighbor
and employee, the young William Lioyd Garrison (above), creating his “radical
abolitionist” career. Garrison and Cushing then worked from opposite ends of
the spectrum for national destruction.

The Caleb Cushing house ( battom), Newbw:yport, Massachusetts Here Cushmg'
in 1852 with John A. Quitman: and Jefferson Davis, to plan the ngeing of
Franklin Piercé’s nomination and presidential election. Cushing, appointed
Attorney General, and Quitman’s Scottish Rite deploved insurrectionary forces
during the Pierce administration. Lucius Quintus Cincinnatus Lamay, Jr. (top
oft), wrote the secession resolution that pulled Mississippi owt of the Union in
1860. His family managed a treasomous political machine from London to New
ork to Texas. He was appointed Interior Secretary and U.S. Supreme Court
Justice by President Grover Cleveland. L.Q.C. Lamar's great uncle Howell J.
Cobb (top night), as U.S. Treasury Secretary dominated the Buchanan cabinet,

Albert Pike's Scottish Rite Supreme Council.




John Slidell (above), aNew
Yorker trained by Aaron
Burr's political machine,
directed Loutsiana’s seces-
" sign from the Union. Op-
tum addict Congressman
John Randolph of Roanake
(below) was a step-child of
the British Empire Tucker
Jamily. Randolph and the
Tuckers wrested Virginia,
the former bastion of re-
publicanism, from the
American Union.
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and in all the large cities of the South, It was a matter of
newspaper notoriety both in this country and in Europe.”?
By the time the Civil War started, the Knights of the Golden
Circle claimed at least 65,000 armed and drilled recruits in the
deep South—and in the area of the nation’s capital (this made
the successful inauguration of President Abraham Lincoln a tricky
business). The order gradually stepped up its molding of South-
rn “public opinion” toward the necessity of secession from the
Union. At the point secession was being resolved upon, it was
of great value to the leaders of the insurrection to have an armed
secret organization numbering in the thousands, to enforce
“unanimous” public support for their actions.
After Lincoln unexpectedly ordered a national mobilization to
crush the rebellion, the Knights of the Golden Circle engaged
in paramilitary and espionage operations in the North, along with

- parallel and successor groups under different names—none,

however, publicly carried its proper name: Ancient and Accepted
Scottish Rite of Freemasonry. :

The Bleeding bf Kansas

Before the republic could be overthrown, the general population
had to be convinced that a North-South conflict was inevitable,
or “irrepressible,” as New York's Senator Seward had gleefully
put it when Henry Clay’s compromise seemed defeated in 1850.
President Pierce had promised his administration would look
to domestic tranquility and security, above all else. But virtually
the first order of congressional business during the Cushing-
Pierce administration was the introduction of the Kansas-Ne-
braska Act. Drawn up by Stephen Douglas after conferring with
Caleb Cushing, the act repealed the Missouri Compromise of
1820, which had prohibited the establishment of slave states
above the southern border of Missouri, apart from that state

" itself. The Kansas-Nebraska Act directed that what was then

17. Milton, George Fort, Abraham Lincoin and the Fifth Column, The Van-

‘. guard Press, New York, 1942, p. 68.
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mlled the Nebraska Territory would be divided into. the Ter-
ritories of Kansas and Nebraska, and that whether slavery was
to be permitted there would be left to the “résidents” to decide.

~ Attorney General Caleb Cushing now wrenched from every
member of the Pierce cabinet support for the bill, and he wrote
articles making its support the crucial test of the loyaity of
Democrats to the President.'® The administration had the po-
litical muscle to pass the bill, and Pierce signed it May 30, 1854.

A month before passage of the act, the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts had issued a charter to the Massachusetts Em-
igrant Aid Company “for the purpose of assisting emigrants to
settle in the West.” Horace Greeley’s New York Tribune trum-
peted the Company’s plan as the means to bring 20,000 aboli-
tionists storming into Kansas. A “Platte County Self-Defensive
Assod_aﬁonf’ was organized in Missouri with the avowed aim of

removmgany and all emigrants who go [to Kansas] under the
auspices of-Northern Emigrant Aid Societies.”

- -Just after House passage of the act, William Seward exclaimed
before the Senate: “Come on then, Gentlemen of the Slave
States, since there is no escaping your cha!lenge L. accept it in
behalf -of the cause of freedom. We will engage in compeétition

for the virgin soil of Kansas, and God glve the victory to the

side which is stronger in numbers as it is in right.”®®
: "Border Ruffians” now poured mto Kansas from Missouri,

and fighting abo]momsts poured in from New England. The

outrages of miirder and arson, committed’ ‘mostly by the pro-
slavery Missourians, and the savage cold-blooded murders com-

mitted by white abolitionist John Brown, are familiar in outline

- to all history- minded Americans. The overseer of this carnage
is not so familiar as he should be. U.S. Attorney General Caleb
Cushing approved all the fraudulent elections held by the thugs
who moved in to steal ‘the territory for slavery Cushmg made

18. Fuess, Life of Caleh Cushing, Vol I, pp. 147149,
19. Potter, David M., The Impending Crisis, pp. 202-203,
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" no attempt to stop the mobs from raging up and down the area,

wrecking-and burning towns. He couldn’t “catch” John Brown.
George Cabot, leader of the Essex Junto, had written a half-
century before on the subject of what the United States would

- have to be put through to be successfully disunited and de-

stroyed—the end to which the Junto was dedicated:
“The essential alterations . . . will be the consequences only
of a great suffering, or the immediate effects of violence .

- Separation will be unavoidable, when our loyalty to the union is
generally perceived to be the instrument of debasement and

impoverishment. If a separation should, by and by, be produced
by suffering, 1 think it might be accompanied by important amel-
ioration of our theories.”®

On May 24, 1856, John Brown, four of his sons, and three
other followers went in the middle of the night to the cabin of
a pro-slavery Kansas settler named James Doyle. While Mrs.
Doyle pleaded for mercy, Brown dragged Mr. Doyle and two
of his sons outside, shot the father, split open the skulls of the
sons, and hacked all their bodies to pieces. This, he announced,
was. done in the name of the Army of the North.

Then they went to the house of Allen Wilkenson, a pro-siavery
member of the legislature, and hacked open his skull in front of -
his wife. Finally, they went to another pro-slavery settler's
house, -dragged the man’s house guest outside, split his skull,
slashed open his side, and chopped off his hand.

Brown’s deeds that night, known as the Pottawatomie Mas-
sacre, were actually defended by abolitionist newspapers.

John Brown was not, in fact, his own man. His actions were
always closely controlled by his financial sponsors: feeding and
arming followers' whose only business is murder depends en-
tirely on a constant resupply of money, and requires well-su-
pervised security for transportation and hiding places.
Brown’s first financial angel was Gerrit Smith of upstate New
York, beginning in the late 1840s. Smith was by that time well

20. Documents Relating to New England Federalism, p. 349,
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established as a bankroller of radicals. When his father, John
Jacob Astor’s original business partner, had died in 1837, Astor
loaned Gerrit Smith $250,000 without even a signed contract.
Smith then owned a million acres of land inherited from the days
of the Astor partnership, on which John Brown came to live in
1848. Smith ultimately gave away $8, 000,000 to radical causes,
according to his admiring biographers. (This Astor-affiliated
funding of assassins, starting with John Jacob Astor’s financing
of the escape of Aaron Burr after his killing of Alexander Ham-
ilton, .continued into the twentieth-century Astor family backing

of the pro-Nazi movement within England, based in their house

“Cliveden.”)

As the Kansas violence was increasing, “Samuel Cabot [grand
nephew of George Cabot and grandson of opium syndicate foun-
der Thomas H. Perkins] and Amos A. Lawrence, a principal
stockholder in the Emigrant Aid Society, sent $4,000 worth of
Sharp rifles into Kansas.” The exact nature of John Brown's
direct Cabot connection may never be known, because all but
one of his sponsors burned their papers. But this much is certain—
when-Brown failed at an earlier attempt to establish himself as
a wool merchant, Perkins syndicate member John Murray Forbes
donated :a chunk of cash to keep Brown going; and the Cabot
Bank loaned Broun $57,000,;% how or whether this was repaid
is -unknown.

But the most determined backer of John Brown, and later his
controller, was Thomas Wentworth Higginson of Newburyport,
Massachusetts, whom we encountered earlier.

In January, 1857, after James Buchanan was elected President
to replace the disreputable Franklin Pierce; John Brown went
to Boston and met with Higginson, fellow Newburyporter Wil-
liam L. Garrison, and several of their friends. Their Massachu-
setts State Kansas Committee made Brown its official agent,
and one of them gave Brown $1,300 for 200 revolvers. In New

21. Oates, Stephen B., To Purge This Land With Blood: A Biography of John
Brown, Harper and Row, New York, 1970, p. 158.
22, ibid., p. 66. .
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York, the National Kansas Committee, meeting in the Astor
House, transferred all their guns to the Massachusetts Com-
mittee for Brown, and pledged additional supplies for 100 men
and $5,000.%

Back in Boston, Brown met with Transcendentalist author
Ralph Waldo Emerson. A Young America supporter, Emerson
praised Brown as “a true idealist with no ends of his own,” and
gushed: “A shepherd and herdsman, he learned the manners of
animals and knew the secret signals by which animals com-
municate.” Brown also met with nature-loving writer Henry
David Thoreau. A sometime family employee of the Swiss grand
master of the Scottish Rite, J. J. J. Gourgas,?* Thoreau called
Brown a man of “rare common sense.” Both authors gave Brown
money.

Meanwhile, on Jan. 15, 1857, Thomas Wentworth nggmson
convened the Massachusetts State Disunion Convention (sic).
He was determined to complete the several-generations-long
project: terminating the American republic which was so hateful
to his embittered family, It was at this Disunion Convention that
the ingredients for the disastrous Harper’s Ferry raid were put
together.

While many children in America grow up thinking they might
like to become the President, some children only want to kill

 the President. Higginson, whose family had fought the United

States as “irregulars” with the British Secret Service since
sometime before 1800, was such a child. This flaming radical
“leftist,” Thomas W. Higginson, in his biography of his grand-

23. ibid., p. 193. _
24, Information from an interview with the Gourgas family. Thoreau worked
for the Gourgases as a gardener. Francis R. Gourgas (1811-1853) was
a wealthy nephew and political co-thinker of J.J.}. Gourgas, whose family
seat at Weston, Mass., J.J.]. Gourgas kept as his home-base. Francis R.
- Gourgas was the financial backer of the Social Circle in Concord, the elite
group to which Emerson and other transcendentalists belonged. See
Memoirs of Members of the Social Circle in Concord, The Riverside Press,
Cambridge, 1888,
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the sword for the right, and thrown away the scabbard,

father, “rightist” leader Stephen Higginson, describes that Es- e rl
- _ and I will revolutionize the world. (Loud applause.)

sex Junto member as follows:

[He] wished for cordial alliance with Great Britain; _in a
word, [he] was a thorough-going, uncompromising, ardent,
steadfast Federalist, and as such a zealous and devoted
patnot in every fibre of his frame. .

His fireside . . . was a centre of earnest discussion of
the great practlcal controversies of the day, and without

in the least comprehending the full import of their meaning,

my boyish ears drank in and my boyish heart and imagination
retained political impressions, which remained unaltered till
the widening experiences of life . . . gradually modified
them. . . . On the whole, it was a healthful stimulation to
a child’s intellectual power of discernment, honorable feel-
ing, and patriotic devotion:to great practical principles in-
culcated by such men as my grandfather and George Cabot
and Henry Lee and many men of mark whom [grandfather]
gathered around him as guests; and as all my relatives on
my father’s side, as well as on my mother’s, were zealous
and uncompromising Federalists, my whole form of thought

and fee]mg took from the ﬁrst a hlghly conservat:lve ‘and
aristocratic form.

“ These practical associations and convictions, which un-
consciously framed . . . my character, were rounded out
and completed by the social influences spread around me

by my grandmother—an English woman by birth and breed- '

ing, married to my grandfather in his widowhood. .

Thomas Wentworth Pﬁgginson told his_ Disunion Convention:

But give me a convention of ten men who have drawn

25. Higginson, Thomas Wentworth, Life and Times of Stephen Higginson,

Houghton, Mifflin Co., Boston and New York, 1907, pp. 279-281.

You say, we are “traitors,” “fanatics.” That is what we
came here to be. That is a clear compliment. You say we
are “weak,” “powerless.” Are we? Give us five years, and
let us see. . . all we ask is, Open the doors of your powder
magazine, and let us try!. .

I tell you . .. that there are men on this platform to
whom these thoughts that are new to many of us to-day,
have been the deliberate purpose of years!. . ., . How many
years is it since, in the city of Boston, the action of half a
dozen men lined the streets with bayonets from Court
Square to Long Wharf, and brought the country to the very

- verge of civil war? Unprepared, unpremeditated, unprac-

ticed, half a dozen men [i.e. abolition-activists] did that;
and there has not been a fugitive slave case in Boston since.
Give us another one, another chance to come face to face
with the United States government, on such an occasion
as that, and see if we have not learned something by the
failure. . . . Talk of treason! Why, I have been trying for
ten years to get the opportumty to commit treason and
have not found it yet. . :

No, sir! disunion is not a deS|re merely' itisa destmy :
It is in vain.to talk of difficulties in effecting the process.
The laws of human nature are taking care of those difficulties -
very rapidly. If our calculations are correct, it wxll be easier
to hasten it than to postpone it. . .. I tell you, let another
war come in Kansas, and no- power on earth can prevent
a border war between Missouri and Towa. The line will be
drawn for us soon enough by the passions of men. The
calm deliberations of conventions ke these, only prepare
the way for it. If we cannot bring it about peaceably, it will
come forcibly, that is all. The great forces of nature are
sufficient. The vast antagonistic powers are brought into
collision—the earthquake comes—and all we disunionists
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say is, if it is coming, in God’s name, let it come quickly!
(Applause. )*

Higginson had invited to his convention a British soldier of
fortune, Hugh Forbes, who had served in Garibaldi’s forces and
was now editor of the Italian-language newspaper The European.
Forbes and Brown were introduced, and Forbes set out for
Mount Tabor, lIowa, where he set up a military training school
to drill John Brown’s private army.?

When Higginson later had doubts about John Brown’s will-
ingness to go the lengths required, Higginson was reassured
by Franklin Sanborne, an associate of Higginson and Gerrit Smith
in managing the Brown project:

Brown. . . is as ready for a revolution as any other man
. . . I believe he is the best Disunion champion you can
find, and with his hundred men, when he is put where he
can use them and drill them, (and he has an expert drill
officer with him) will do more to split the union than a list
of 5,000 names for your convention—good as that is.?

John Brown and about 20 followers attacked and temporarily
captured the United States Arsenal at Harper’s Ferry, Virginia,
on Oct. 16, 1859. During this insane raid, Brown's men first
killed a free black porter who did not “halt” on command because
he had never heard the word; they also killed the mayor of the
town, whose slaves were then freed by a clause in the man’s
will. These were the only slaves freed in the raid, though Brown’s
announced objective had been a widespread slave insurrection.

Brown was captured, many people died, many were injured,

and disunionists, North and South, were ecstatic. During his

26. Proceedings of the State Disunion Convention; held at Worcester, Mas-
sachusetts, January 15, 1857, Boston; printed for the Committee, 1857,
pp. 29-31.

27. Qates, To Purge This Land With Blood, pp. 200-201.

28. ibid., p. 216. it
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trial and after his hanging, Brown was celebrated as an heroic
martyr by the Boston Brahmins and by their poets and politi-
cians. The secessionist Southern newspapers then played the
“Northern sympathy for Brown” and “hatred for the South” to
-a Southern population whose pro-Union element was already
beginning to despair. '

‘How Secession Was Run

American society, in 1859, was demoralized and disoriented. The
abandonment of American System economics—the Free Trade,
no-tariff, no-national-bank policies of the Young America Dem-
ocrats— had set up the economy for a crash in 1857, a repeat
of the panic and business depression that had brought mass
poverty and hunger in 1837. By the time the next President,
Abraham Lincoln, was inaugurated in 1861, the United States
Treasury was literally bankrupt—the salaries of congressmen
could not be paid. Pro-Confederate plunder by the Buchanan
administration, and an economic program fostering speculative
_ paper empires, were both to blame. '

The nation was politically split, despite strong pro-Union sen-
timent remaining alongside disunionism in South and North. And
in 1861, an armed insurrection began, an insurrectionary army
‘eventually totaling a million men was put into the field, and the
United States was nearly destroyed.

But no “demoralization,” no mere “political sentiments”can
put a million men into the field. Disunionism was translated into
armed insurrection, and the historian must answer the question,
“By whom was this done?”

-Answering this question involves great difficulties—which is
not to excuse the academic historians, who have never tried to
do so. The investigator faces two principal problems: '

1) Treason, armed rebellion per se, being a capital offense,
its practitioners have a strong interest in preventing evidence
of their acts from being available to the curious;

2) The traitors, and their Northern and foreign controllers,
later came back to dominate American political life—we are
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speaking here of the administrations of Presidents Grover Cleve-
land, Theodore Roosevelt, and Woodrow Wilson, the Dulles
family and others; the powerful do not appreciate people snoop-
ing in their bloody closets.

By and large, the men the public identifies w1th the Southern
Rebellion had little or nothing to do with originating the insur-
rection; they were front men, like Jefferson Davis and Robert
E. Lee, who were left with the horror and the tragedy to deal
with when the rebellion was challenged and successfully put
down.

While the Knights of the Golden Circle, the mzhtmy pre-
organization of the Confederacy, was being organized under the
control of the Scottish Rite’s Northern chief, the Swiss J. J. .
Gourgas, and his lieutenant Killian Henry Van Rensselaer, the
Southern Jurisdiction of the Rite was organizing the political
leadership for the secession itself. The man in charge of this
project was Albert Pike of Newburyport, Massachusetts.

‘Pike had been a life-long friend and a decades-long protégé
of his townsman Caleb Cushing. On March 20, 1853, two weeks
after Cushing rose to power as the attorney general of the United
States, the Rite's Southern Secretary General Albert Gallatin
Mackey conferred the Rite's exalted degrees upon Albert Pike
at a cereinbny in Charleston, South-Carolina. As Pike com-
mented in his last speech as grand commander in 1890 “Inever
heard of the Scottish Rite until 1853.”#

“Albert Pike® is one of the most physically and morally re-
pulswe individuals in American history. Horribly obese—easily
300 Ibs. or ‘more—Pike was known in his adopted state of
Arkansas as a practitioner of Satanism. His reported sexual
proclivities included sitting astride a phallic throne in the woods,
accompanied by a gang of prostitutes. He would bring to his

29, Harris, Southern Supreme Council, p. 244. :

30. See Duncan, Robert Lipscomb, Reluctant General: The Life and Times
of Albert Pike, E.P. Dutton and Co., New York, 1961. This is the closest
thing to a serious blography of Albert Pike yet written. Itis a sharneless,
ludicrous apology.
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revels one or more wagon-loads of food and Lquor, most of
which he would consume over a period of perhaps 48 hours,

- until he passed into a stupor.

Pike was thrilled at the chance he got to kill Spanish-Americans
in the Mexican War; he pushed himself forward in Arkansas

- politics with noisy anti-Negro and pro-slavery rhetoric; and in
.- the 1850s he became the leading Southern organizer and boss

of the American Party or “Know-Nothings”—the third-party
grouping based on hatred and fear of immigrants.

In 1858 Albert Pike and 11 of his collaborators issued a circular
calling for the expulsion of free Negroes and mulattoes from

- Arkansas, citing “the laziness and bestiality of a degraded race,”

their “immorality, filth and laziness,” and calling the Negro “so
worthless and depraved an animal. "3

In 1859, Albert Pike was called upon to become the grand
commander of the Southern Scottish Rite. The activities of
Pike’s South Carolina-based organization are, of course, as closed
to public scrutiny as were the minutes of Hitler’s cabinet meet-
ings. But the Scottish Rite’s official histories have glven us some
names to reckon with.

The gap Pike was to fill came from the sudden death', in 1858,
of Mississippi secessionist and Scottish Rite leader John A.
Quitman. Over the next two years—auntil the records suddenly
stop a week before Fort Sumter—Pike set up a Scottish Rite
Supreme Councﬂ extending for the first time over the entire
South.

In March, 1860, Howell Cobb of Georgia was made a sov-
ereign grand inspector general and an active member of the

~ Supreme Council.#® Cobb was at that time Secretary of the Trea-

sury of the United States, and the most powerful member of the
Cabinet. A close friend of President Buchanan, Cobb was to be
the leader of the secessionists in Georgia and the chairman of

31. ibid., p. 162.
32. Harris, Southern Supreme Council, p. 283.
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the -Convention which organized the Confederacy in Montgo-
mery, Alabama.

John C. Breckinridge of Kentucky became a sovereign grand
inspector general and an active member of the Supreme Council
in September, 1859.% Breckinridge was at that time Vice-Pres-
ident of the United States. To better understand his significance
in this business, we must return to the checkered career of the
Boston Brahmins' agent Caleb Cushing. -

The 1860 national convention of the Democratic Party was
held at Charleston, South Carolina. Caleb Cushing, who held no
particular national office at that time, was selected as convention

- Under the supervision of Chairman Cushing, the Gulf States
delegations staged a walkout in supposed reaction to a platform
decision by the convention. Following the walkout, Cushing then
ruled that no candidate could be chosen without the consent of

two-thirds of the original delegates. Stephen Douglas and his
northern backers were amazed and furious, and the convention
broke up thhout choosing a condidate.

The extremist Southern delegates, whooping it up-in “this
dress, rehearsal for Secession, now set up their own Conven-
'txon—and Caleb Cushing of Massachusetts presided. The seces-
sionists nominated Vice-President Breckinridge as their candidate
for President, while Stephen Douglas was nominated by the
remnants of the party. Yet another slate, headed by John Bell
of Termessee, was nominated by quasi-Democrat Unionists call-
ing themselves the Constitutional Union Party.

From then until the election of Republican Abraham Lincoln,
the Breckinridge “election campaign” had its unofficial head-

quarters in the Wlute House, and its commander was the cel-
ebrated-Caleb Cushing of Massachusetts. The purpose of this
arrangement, as we shall see, was no mere minority candidacy.

33, ibid., p. 271

EASTERN ESTABLISHMENT RAN SOUTHERN SECESSION 237

The. Ur_lion’s armed forces were imprisoned, while the insur-
rectionists were armed by Northemners, foreigners and by the
federal government itself.

What Secession Was—And Wasn’t

We shall present here a compressed record of the 1861 insur-
rection: the creation of the Southern Confederacy, state by
state, and the arming of the insurrectionary forces. It is an
aspect of American history for which the academic historians
have had peculiarly little curiosity. They have offered us accounts
of the events which have lamely reproduced the insurrectionists’
own testimony, or some other explanations which somehow
transform an armed attack on the United States into a “geo-
graphical” problem.

South Carolina

The 1860 election results are themselves somewhat annoying
to the purely “sectional” view of the ensuing conflict. Republican
Abraham Lincoln was elected President with 1,867,000 popular
votes, to 1,379,000 for Democrat Stephen Douglas, 854,000
for secessionist candidate Breckinridge and 591,000 for Con-
stitutional Union candidate Bell. The secessionist Breckinridge
received only 45 percent of the vote within the slave states,
115,000 less than Douglas and Bell combined, while Lincoln was
routinely excluded from the ballot.

South Carolina, the Scottish Rite’s Southern headquarters,
completing 30 years of attempts to destroy the American Union,
began the secession process immediately after Lincoln’s elec-
tion. The state’s governor, William Gist, like the three who
were to succeed him during the war, had been trained in politics
under the British revolutionary import, Dr. Thomas Cooper, at
South Carolina College.

.Gist’s own family background was appropriate to his actions.
His grandfather of the same name had been a loyalist captain




238 TREASON IN AMERICA

with the British forces during the American Revolution, serving
under General Augustine Prevost.*

The South Carolina legislature called a convention which met
on Dec. 20, 1860, and passed an Ordinance of Secession, an-
nouncing that the state’s ratification of the U.S. Constitution
was “repealed.” :

Interestingly enough, it was the great-grand-uncle of our pres-
ent-day AFL-CIO President Lane Kirkland, South Carolina’s
Senator James Chesnut, who first officially proposed the seces-
sion action. In his speech to the legislature he promised the
insurrection would come off so smoothly that he would “drink
all the biood that will be spilied.” Chesnut was later to order
the commencement of firing on Fort Sumter, which began the
Civil War. Mr. Kirkland has defended his family’s actions by
asserting that “Northern aggression” was responsible for the
war. ,

Utilizing an atmosphere of hysteria, which had been increasing
from John Brown’s raid on Harper’s Ferry to the Lincoln election,
‘the insurrectiohists proposed elections to state conventions
throughout the South, which would adopt secession ordinances
as South Carolina had done. (It should be noted that South
Carolina held no popular election for President in 1860, and none
for the commencement of the insurrection. ®)

Mississippi -

Mississippi, whose secessionist organization had been created
by the recently deceased Scottish Rite leader from New York,
John A. Quitman, acted first after South Carolina. While Jefferson
Davis called for delay, the “Young America” leaders in the state

34. Gist family geneological records at the South Carolina Historical Society,
Charleston. .

35. See Wooster, Ralph A., The Secession Conventions of the South, Princeton
University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1962, pp. 14-15. An “election”
for delegates to the South Carolina secession convention took place amid
secession-mania mob scenes, involved virtually no discussion, in many
parishes offered only one candidate, and published no returns.
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called for a convention against his counsels. In an election held
Dec. 20, 1860, secessionist delegates were said to have received
16,800 votes to 12,200 for their opponents.*

The Mississippi Ordinance of Secession was drawn up by
L.Q:C. Lamar, nephew of the second President of the Texas
Republic Mirabeau Lamar. The Lamars were a banking family
based in Georgia and New York; Gazaway Bugg Lamar was the
founder of the Bank of the Republic in New York City, and the
leading partner in a massive transatlantic financial trust involving
the cream of the British, Swiss, and “Yankee” oligarchs. We
shall look more closely at the crucial New York arrangements
in Chapter 15.

On the same day as the Mississippi secession was decided,
Dec. 20, 1860, the U.S. Secretary of War, John Floyd, who
had been the “favorite pupil” of the British revolutionist Thomas
Cooper, ordered the Allegheny arsenal at Pittsburgh to send
113 heavy columbiad cannons and 11 32-pounder cannons to the
unfinished, undefended U.S. forts at Ship Island, Mississippi and
Galveston, Texas, where they could be seized by the insur-
rectionists. ¥

Florida

- Florida held an election December 22, 1860, in which a tiny

scattered vote favored secessionist delegates by approximately
3 to 2. That state’s leading secessionist, Senator David Yulee,
was a prominent spokesman for the Mazziniite “Young America”
movement. '

36, Potter, David M. The Impending Crisis, p. 505: “about 41,000 votes
were cast, of which some 12,000 were for candidates whose positions
were not specified or are now unknown, but of the remaining 29,000,
some 16,800 were for secessionists and 12,218 for cooperationists.”

37. Swanberg, W. A., First Blood: The Story of Fort Sumter, Charles Scrib-
ner's Sons, New York, 1957, p. 67,
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Alabama

In Alabama’s election, Dec. 24, 1860, the secessionists received
35,000 to 28,000 for the opposition.® A sizeable portion of the
state attempted to break off and form a new state, loyal to the
Union, but their resistance was crushed. The leader of the
Alabama secessionists, Wiliam Lowndes Yancey, had led the
walkout from the Democratic National Convention in Charleston
under Caleb Cushing’s supervision.

Yancey, formerly a South Carolina politician, had appeared to
be a strong Unionist until the 1840s, when he suddenly arose
as the most dramatic “fire-eating” mouthpiece for Southern de-
fiance of the Union. No biographer has yet bothered to pose an
explanation of this curious switch-over in outlook. Certain facts,
however, might help clear up the mystery.

William Lowndes Yancey's father died when he was an infant
in Georgia. His mother remarried a Presbyterian minister and
accompanied her new husband, Nathaniel Beman, up to Troy,
New York. Beman was a radical abolitionist and raised his step-
son Yancey in an atmosphere of wild crusades and intrigues
against the moderate churchmen, rising to become moderator
of the Presbyterian Church. From 1845 through 1865, Beman
was president of the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, under
the close control of the Van Rensselaer family.* Patroon Killian
Henry Van Rensselaer, as we have seen, was the Northern Scot-
tish Rite leader who personally set up the Knights of the Golden

38. Potter, David M. The Impending Crisis, p. 505 (Florida and Alabama
results).

39. VanRensselaer family privately printed material cited in footnote 15 above,
establishes: .

1) that the Van Rensselaer family, the virtual feudal lords of the area
around Albany until the 1840s, exercised close personal control over the
affairs of the school during the long period of Nathaniel Beman's presi-
dency; Patroon Stephen Van Rensselaer, who founded the school in 1824,
had earlier revived the moribund Scottish Rite in the Albany area;

2) that Beman was a raving kook; as Yancey's stepfather he was
someone to be kept out of the sanitized versions of Southern secession
history.
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Circle in the United States. It was the Knights who provided
the military backbone and the thuggish enforcement for the
Confederate insurrection—particularly in the Gulf South from
Texas to Alabama.

. Two other Alabama secession leaders are of interest to the
historical investigator—although they do not seem to have
aroused any interest within the “history profession.”

Caleb Huse was the leader of the Alabama militia, training his
troops at the University of Alabama. At the beginning of the
Civil War, Huse was immediately sent to England to begin ac-
quiring arms for the insurrection. He was credited by James D.
- Bulloch, the Confederacy's European Secret Service chief, with
being the “unsung hero” of the arms procurement effort, bring-
~ ing back from Europe hundreds of thousands of rifles with which
to kill Americans.* Caleb Huse was a Northerner—from New-
buryport, Massachusetts. His family owned the Newburyport
" Herald— the same paper that Caleb Cushing and William Lloyd
Garrison had worked on. The Huse family published a special
memorial volume in tribute to Caleb Cushing in the 1870s, which
included a gushing speech by Albert Pike about his lifelong friend
Cushing.** _ . _

John William Mallet was another visiting insurrectionist at
the University of Alabama. A British chemist, in the international
spy family into which Aaron Burr married, Mallet was appointed
head of the Confederate Ordinance Laboratories—heading up
i~ the effort to devise bombs, torpedoes, poisons, etc. Mallet
1. never bothered to give up his British citizenship, and after the
: Civil War he was a founder of the American Chemical Society

and got off scot free.
Both Caleb Huse and John William Mallet were chemistry

40. Bulloch, James D., The Secret Service of the Confederate Siates in Europe;
or, How the Cruisers Were Equipped, G.P. Putnam’s Sons, New York,
1884, pp. 52-53. :

41. The Cushing memorial volume is shelved in the Cushing House, maintained

«. as a museum by the Historical Society of Old Newbury, at 98 High St.,
Newburyport, Mass.
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teachers at the University of Alabama. Yet a third chemistry
teacher there, Frederick A. P. Barnard, went on to a bizarre
career of secession and subversion in Mississippi and New York.
Huse and Barnard were from Massachusetts, Mallet was British.
Alabamians should be interested to inquire, what was being
brewed in the university chemistry lab? ' _

Georgia T

Georgia's leading secessionists were the Scottish Rite Supreme
Council member Howell Cobb, Albert Pike's dearest friend Rob-
ert Toombs (later a Supreme Council member), and the pre-
viously described Lamar family. Georgia held elections for a
secession convention on January 2, 1861, in which the seces-
sionists claimed victory by a 44,000 to 41,000 margin. There
is some evidence that the anti-secessionists actually achieved
a'shm majority.* ) g :

Louisiana - _

John Slideli was the political boss of Louisiana, the leader of the
state’s secessionists and the single most powerful backer of the
1856 election of president James Buchanan. Shdell was born and
raised in-New York City, entirely a product of Aaron Buir's
political machine. His father was the president of the Mechanics
Bank of New York, a partner therein with Matthew Davis, Burr's

42. Potter, David M., The Impending Crisis, p. 506; Georgia “Governor
Joseph E. Brown . . . declared that ‘the delegates to the convention who
voted for the ordinance of secession were elected by a clear majority . . .
50,243 for:secession and 37,123 against secession’. . . Brown did not say
that 50,243 votes were cast for candidates pledged to secession . . . [but]
for candidates who later voted for secession . . . many delegates who
had voted against immediate secession on preliminary votes decided on
the final vote to acquiesce in the will of the secessionists. . . ." .. .

Potter quotes the new research of Michael P. Johnson, “A New Look
at the Popular Vote for Delegates to the Georgia Secession Convention,”
in Georgia Historical Quarterly, LVI (1972), pp. 259-275: “. . . the most

- generous estimate that is probably more accurate places the majority for
cooperation” Le. against immediate secession at-just over 50% of the
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lifelong henchman and executor. Slidell was trained and placed
in Louisiana politics by Edward Livingston, Burr's indicted co-
conspirator in the 1807 secession attempt. Little more than this
is known about Slidell in New York— he burned all his papers
and letters, and every personal effect from which his history
might be accurately reconstructed:’

Two other powerful Louisiana secessionists were the state’s
U.S: senators, Pierre Soulé and-Judah Benjamin. We have de-
scribed Soule, the French, Jesuit-trained revolutionist, in the
context of his Young America mtngues under the Cushing-Pierce
administration. . -

Judah Benjamin,-a Bntlsh sub]ect from the West Indies, was
hired as a law clerk by John Slidell. He later became Confederate
secretary of state and aclose advisor-to Confederate President
Jefferson Davis, and- after the Civil War managed to escape to
a luxurious life in England as a Queen’s Barrister.

Though he undoubtedly played a role in the British Secret
ServmspostwaroperahonsmtheU S. (Klu Klux Klan, etc.),
Judah Benjamin has been been posthumously promoted into
some sort of super-conspirator of the Civil War. When his actual
biography is compared to the treasonous activities of socially
prominent, Anglo-Saxon leaders in Boston and New York, and
to Swiss, Dutch and Venetian geritlemen who would prefer to
remain anonymous, it would seem that Benjamin—born a Jew-—
is supposed to take the rap for the bluer-blooded elites. (An
Ohio senator, -attacking Benjamin's extreme pro- slavery rhet-
oric, called him “a Hebrew with Egyptian principles.”)

Louisiana’s secessionists held an election for a state conven-
tion on January 7, 1861. The secessionist delegate-candidates
received 20,000 votes to 18,000 for their opponents.*

Texas

Sam Houston, chief of staff of the victorious army of Texas in
their revolution against Mexico, was governor of Texas when

43. ibid, p. 506.
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Lincoln was elected President. Secessionists—including the
powerful Lamar family, backed by thousands of armed para-
military Knights of the Golden Circle—called for a Texas seces-
siont convention. Sam Houston said no. He ruled, as governor,
that all efforts to pull his state out of the union were illegal, and
refused to call a special session of the legislature to set up a

. convention.

The secessionists simply pulled a coup, deposing Governor
Houston and calling a rump “election.” Their announcement that

. seccesionists delegate-candidates received 40,000 votes, to

10,000 for their opponents, must be matched against the state’s
official 600,000 population at that time.

That, in fact, constitutes the entirety of “popular support” for
the Insurrection of 1861. With only the elections just described,
the secessionists controliing the state governments of South
Carolina, Mississippi, Florida, Georgia, Alabama, Louisiana, and
Texas met at Montgomery, Alabama, under the chairmanship
of Scottish Rite Supreme Council member Howell Cobb. They
announced the establishment of the Southern “Confederacy,”

- and designated Jefferson Davis of Mississippt as President of

their rump nation. He made fairly good window-dressing for

" their insurrection, being both a Southerner and an American.

-Lincoln’s presidential inauguration was still a month away, in
March 1861. Secessionists attempted to compel each of the
other slave states to join the “Confederacy,” and failed in every
case. Opponents to secession won clear-cut victories in the
elections held in Virginia, North Carolina, Tennessee and Ar-
kansas.* The secessionists were defeated as well in Missouri,
Kentucky, Maryland, and Delaware.

44. Wooster, The Secession Conventions of the South.The Arkansas vote for
convention delegates was 23,626 for Unionists to 17,927 for secessionists
(Wooster, p. 157);

" North Carolina voters rejected even holding a convention to discuss
secession, but the secessionists got the state government to declare
secession (Wooster, pp. 193-195;

Virginia voters elected 120 anti-secessionists to 32 secessionists as
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The Arkansas convention was a personal embarrassment for
the enormous Scottish Rite leader, Albert Pike. When he heard
that the convention in Little Rock was likely to vote Unionist,
Pike made a hurried trip out west to personally harangue the
delegates: “Things have gone so far that you have -only one
choice in the matter. You must go out voluntarily, or be kicked
out or dragged out. South Carolina is going to drag you out, or
the government is going to drag you out by calling on you for
troops. . ."* The Arkansas delegates refused to be intimidated,
and voted to stay with the Union.

Having voted to stay in the Union, North Carolina, Virginia,
Tennessee and Arkansas were, indeed, eventually “dragged
out.” After the insurrection’s headquarters in South Carolina
started the war, those four states were unceremoniously de-
clared to be out of the Union and part of the Southern Confed-
eracy.

Virginia :

Virginia's pro-Union vote reflected the state’s proud history of
American leadership—George Washington, Thomas Jefferson,
John Marshall, James Madison, James Monroe, Henry Clay,
William H. Harrison, Zachary Taylor, Winfield Scott and Sam
Houston were its native sons. When the insurrectionists even-
tually seized control, a portion of the state holding to that tra-
dition broke away and declared itself the separate, loyal state

delegates (Wooster, p. 142);

Tennessee cast 91,803 votes for Unionist delegates against 24, 749 for
secessionists, and at the same time rejected even holding a convention
to discuss it by 69,675 to 57,795 (Wooster, p. 180). After the attack on
Fort Sumter began the Civil War, the Tennessee state government simply
declared secession, then held a referendum under war conditions, won
by secessionists. The state was occupied by the Confederate army to
control the pro-Union urrest.

- . The reader should keep in mind the crucial historical difference between
the origin of secessionism, which we are discussing here, and the popular
feeling in the South after the outbreak of the Civil War, supporting what
most Southerners viewed as a defensive struggle. :

45. Duncan, Reluctant Generai, p. 167.
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of West Virginia. But there was another, non-American tradition
in Virginia, which ultimately overpowered the patriotic impulse
in that state. ’

In the early nineteenth century, the U.S. Congress was fre-
quently the scene of vulgar antics by one of its Virginia members,
a drunkard and drug addict styling himself “John Randolph of
Roanoke.” Randolph’s acid tongue and bitter polemics were
constantly directed against Northerners and the North in gen-
eral, frequently doing battle against the South-hating Congress-
man Josiah Quincy, who was later to be president of Harvard
for a quarter-century. One may still find, in the surviving cor-
respondence between these two gentlemen, evidence of their
deliberate collaboration to produce Union-splitting tension and

_ rancor between North and South.

There was something quite substantial behind this stage show.
Mr. Randolph had, it seems, a stepfather by the name of St.
George Tucker* (1752-1827), who had become the sole guard-
ian of John Randolph after his mother died. Mr. Tucker’s nephew,
Henry St. George Tucker (1771-1852), was the chairman of the
British East India Company, a wild colonial racialist who spent”
six months in prison for “attempted rape.” Another Tucker

* 46. For the Tucker family, see Hess, Stephen, America’s Political Dynasties:

Jrom Adams lo Kennedy, Doubleday, Garden City, New York, 1966, pp.
367-392 and pp. 641-642; and Brugger, Robert ]., Beverley Tucker: Heart
?90;; Head in the Old South, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore,

~ 47. Henry St. George Tucker, or “India Henry,” was the private secretary

to Sir William Jones, the great British philologist whose study of Sanskrit
language and Hindu culture gave Britain great power to manipulate and
grab the subcontinent. See The tria! of Henry St. George Tucker, esq.,
fo'ran assault, with intent to commit a rape, on the person of Mrs. Dorothea
Simpson; held in the Supreme court of judicature, at Fort William, in
Bengal, published by J. F. Hughes, London, 1810, in the Library of
Congress. In 1834 Tucker became the chairman of the British East India
Compa_ny and remained so until 1851, calling publicly for: the-Banning of
all public education in India as “dangerous,” and for total press censorship.
Henry St. George Tucker wrote from East India“House, London, to
.‘lohn Randolph's step-brother, Nathaniel Beverly Tucker, onJan. 29, 1847,
“We had the pleasure of seeing a good deal of your relative, Mr. Randolph,
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nephew (and Randolph cousin) was British Admiral Thomas
Tudor Tucker (1775-1852), who was wounded battling the U.S.S.
Essex during the War of 1812, while Congressmen Randolph
and Quincy stridently denounced the American war effort.
St. George Tucker, and his two sons Henry St. George and
Nathaniel Beverly, completely dominated the legal profession
- and the writing and teaching of laws in the State of Virginia.
Henry Wise, the Virginia governor who gleefully used John
Brown’s raid on the Harper’s Ferry arsenal to prod his state
toward secession, had been the Tuckers’ pupil at the University
of Virginia. _
Judge Nathaniel Beverly Tucker (1784-1851) was, aside from
Englishman Thomas Cooper, the most radical Southern dis-
unionist and “states-rights” advocate from the 1820s on.*® His

when he, on different occasions, visited this country—we admired his
talents, but could not always keep pace with his Enthusiasm.” Before
Randolph’s death in 1831, cousin “India Henry” was not yet Chairman,
but a powerful, rising Director of the East India Company during Ran-
dolph’s visits.

48. The following letter, marked “1806 Fall” on the upper right-hand corner,

was addressed to and was received by Nathaniel Beverly Tucker and is

in the Tucker-Coleman Collection in the Swem Library, William and Mary
College, Williamsburg, Va.:
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Letter

The execution of our project is postponed till December, want of water
in the Ohio rendered [crossed out: “delay expedient”] movement that
way impracticable. Other reasons rendered delay expedient. The [“op-
eration” ?} is enlarged and comprises all that Wilkinson could wish. Con-
“fidence limited to a few.

[signed] A. BURR
J. Dayton
Letter
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- nephew, Nathaniel Beverly Tucker (1820-1890), served as the

U.S. consul in Liverpool from 1857 until 1861.® With his British
family in high military, intelligence, and colonial positions, he
was in an ideal position to begin the Confederate navy-buslding
efforts, which were then carried out at Liverpool entirely under

= 5n=ﬂ;; y;é:e:su;ﬁ:te: g}e=# = ,j—_—-”,';gd;= [i.e. a scribbled code]
name o, yesses
and the following list: » N B. Tucker, Esq.
Gill . 23
Bo (indecipherable] .................. 22
Heald.........covviiiiiiiinnnn., 25
CLWells...ooovvviiiiiiiinnnn. 32
Shaler. ....coocoiiiiii i 22
Bailey.......ccooovvvinnann reerenas 20
[adding to] 145 i
1|1 o S 132 (sl
75
) [adding to] 352
4101171 29
Gu [indecipherable] ................... 11
[adding to] 393

In 1806, Aaron Burr floated a mercenary army down the Ohi
Mississippi Rivers towards New Orleans, there to fake as much ttieur?'ltznrg
fro.n:x the United States and Mexico as he could to create for himself a
Bntlsh—supported empire. The above letter from Burr is addressed on
|t§ face to Jonathan Dayton of New Jersey, later an indicted co-conspirator
with Burr, and addressed on its back to Nathaniel Beverly Tucker, ane
of those “few” in whom Burr seems to have reposed “confidence.”

This letter is in the New York Historical Society published microfilm
of Burr Papers._but not identified in any way, in the microfilm, with the
name of Nathaniel Beverly Tucker—it is only listed as Burr to Jonathan
Dayton—except that the microfilm gives the letter’s physical location as
the Tucker-Coleman (i.e. Tucker Family) collection at William and Mary.

"I‘he secession movement in pre-Civil War Virginia was first built around
this N.B. _'I‘ucker (1784-1851) at the College of William and Mary, where
il‘u_cker, like his f?thel' before him, was a law professor. In the very
intimate Tuclge}' circle at the College was John Tyler (U.S. President
1841-1845, Clyll War-era secessionist; see Chitwood, Oliver Perry, fohn
Tyler: Champion of the Old South, D. Appleton-Century Company, New

- York‘ and Lonflon, 1939, p. 152, 197-198). The school served as a sub-
versive base in }ﬁrginia, as did South Carolina College and Harvard in
!:hgn' states. William and Mary was, before the Tuckers began to dominate
it in the 179(_)5, the seat of great classical learning, led by Plato-disciple
and Declaration of Independence signer George Wythe, N.B. Tucker’s
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the direction of Theodore Roosevelt's uncle James D. Bulloch, the
director of the Confederate Secret Service in Europe. The ships
contracted for at Liverpool and built at Birkenhead caused dev-
astating loss of American life and swept more than half of the
American merchant fleet from the seas.

father St. George Tucker replaced Wythe in the Law and Police chair,
after opposing the adoption of the U.S. Constitution, and began preaching
“states rights,” Adam Smith and British law; George Wythe, whom he
replaced, was an ardent Unionist and had written the rules of procedure
for the Consitutional Convention in Philadelphia.

John Randolph wrote to Aaron Burr (April 16, 1802, Burr Papers),
speaking of himself in the third person, as would a queen: “John Randolph

: despairs; utterly, of gettmg away [from Congress] before the middle

of next week. He is not vain enough to suppose that Col. B. will postpone
his ‘departure ‘on’ that: account:—but he shall be highly gratified by any
cause of detentlon not disagreeable to Col. B. which shall give J.R. the
pleasure of accompanying him thro Virginia.” Nathaniel Beverly Tucker’s
most recent biographer, Robert J. Brugger, expressed the following view,
in a private interview with the present author: “John Randolph probably
told Beverly Tucker what he knew about Burr's plans for his Western
expedition: . . . Randolph may well have made himself acquamted w1th

it . .there was such strong anti-Jefferson feeling at that time.

When Burr was arrested, John Randolph. was his loudest supporter in
*the Congress, full of sarcastic venom against President Jefferson. It is
perhaps not only a fascinating coincidence that John Randolph somehow
became the foreman of the grand jury which was to indict Aaron Burr for
treason in Richmond, Virginia. In the furious struggle that occured in the
jury room and in the Richmond political arena surrounding the trial, Ran-
. dolph strained to shift the spotlight of incrimination onto prosecutlon
witness General Wilkinson, thereby to call into question the government's
-whole case against Burr. Randolph failed to indict Wilkinson; but his efforts
must have contributed somewhat to the overall process of the trial, in
which Burr escaped conviction. Randolph’s (and Bury’s) focus on Wilkinson
as the real villain was. picked up by Henry Adams in his famous histories
of the period, helping to make Burr’s guilt vaguely questionable for pos-
terity. At this time, the Treasurer of the United States—the man who
ran the day-to-day business affairs of the Treasury, under the Secretary
of the Treasury, Albert Gallatin, was Thomas Tudor Fucker, brother to

" St George Tucker and uncle to Nathame! Beverly Tucker, to John Ran-
dolph and to “India Henry” Tucker. Thomas Tudor Tucker was Treasurer
- throughout and-well beyond Gallatin’s reign at Treasury, serving from
‘1801 to 1828. Thus the kiiown Burr-Tucker communications run the garnut
~ from the high plane of polite functioning—Thomas Tucker transmitting
reports on War Department finances, and other official messages from
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During the Civil War, Nathaniel Beverly Tucker was one of
the four leading members of the “Canadian Cabinet”—the cross-
border Confederate spy ring which tried to burn American cities
and ran the draft riots in New York. He was indicted after the
war, along with George Sanders and others, for allegedly helping
to plan the assassination of Abraham Lincoln, but he got the
charges dropped. -In 1872 he quietly returned to the U.S. and
served as an official lobbyist for the Pennsylvania railroad. His
brother, John Randolph Tucker (1823-1897), was president- of
the American Bar Association, and his son and grandchildren
were bishops of the Episcopal Church.

William Seward and the Arming
of the Insurrection

Two weeks before the 1860 presidential election, the U.S. sec-
retary of war, John Floyd, quietly concluded an agreement with
South Carolina’s governor William Gist to sell 10,000 U.S. gov-
ernment rifles to his state, which had by this time been whipped
into a frenzy by anti-American revolutionists. After Lincoln’s

“election to the presidency was announced—four months before

his inauguration—the South Carolina insurrectionists began a
military buildup aimed at seizing the set of United States for-
tifications in the Charleston harbor. The American commander,
Major Robert Anderson, was determined not to yield the forts,
but could not hold them mdeﬁmtely unless his position was
reinforced with men and supplies.

Governor. Gist informed President Buchanan that his state
was “likely” to secede, and it could be accomplished quietly and

the Treasury to Vice-President Burr (presiding over the Senate)—to
conversations more in the nation’s “back alleyways,” so to speak.

- 49. This Tucker's brother David was married to the daughter of George

Mifflin Dallas; from 1856 to 1861, Mr. Dallas was the United States
Ambassador to England. He had previously been the private secretary
_ to Albert Gallatin, sent by London to mediate Gallatin’s communications
. with “Lord Castlereagh, Count Lieven [anti-American Russian Ambas-
sador to England] and Mr. Baring” according to the Déiary of James Gallatin
entry of Oct. 24, 1813, p. 12.
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bloodlessly if the government would promise not to send re-
inforcements. Gist’s plea for the government’s acquiescence in
the destruction of the Union was taken in hand by Treasury
Secretary and Scottish Rite Supreme Council member Howell
Cobb, who stiffened. the .will of the somewhat more nervous
traitor, War Secretary Floyd. Cobb and Floyd received backing
from a remarkable source: New York Sen. William Seward,

otherwise known as the leader of the radical- abolitionist wing
of the new Republican Party. With this combination behind him,
President Buchanan felt safe in assuring the insurrectionists that
he would not interfere. :

Over the period before the March 4, 1861, meoln tnaugu-
ration, the secessionists ‘built powerful batteries around the
harbor. On Dec. 26, 1860, U.S. Major Robert Anderson—acting
on his own initiative—moved his men and equipment from an
onshore installation out to the more defensible Fort Sumter,
which lay on an island in the harbor. Fort Sumter now became
the focus of strategic concern for the nation; the failure of the
government to send reinforcements symbolized to enraged pa-
triots the manifold treason of the Buchanan administration.

When Abe Lincoln came to Washington to assume the pres-
idency, the armed Knights of the Golden Circle were prepared
to assassinate the new President and seize the capital. But
General Winfield Scott, who had'moved the headquarters of the
U.S. Army out of Washington, D.C, when Franklin Pierce was
elected President in 1852, had other ideas. .

Scott deployed thousands of troops, bomb experts, and special
pohce to every.conceivable assassmatlon vantage point, On hear-
ing that secessionists planned. ,t,"pt the official counting of
the electoral college ballots in. the Capitol, Genera] Scott an-
nounced “that any man who attempted by force. . . to obstruct
or interfere with the lawful count of the electoral vote . should
be lashed to the muzzle of a tweive-pounder gun and fired out
of a'window of the Capitol. I would manure the hills of Arlington
with fragments of his body, were he a senator or chief magistrate
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of my native state! It is my duty to suppress insurrection—my
duty!”®

Lincoln’s inauguration was quiet.

The new President was strongly advised by Wllham Seward,
whom he had appointed his secretary of state (in a politically
“balanced” cabinet), that he must not reinforce Fort Sumter.
Better let the extremist Southerners secede, said Seward—
“they will come back to the Union in two or three years.”

Rather than stand up to South Carolina, Seward proposed,
Lincoin should immediately send sharp notes-to.Spam and France.
If no satisfactory replies were given, war should he commenced
with those nations which would “divert the attention” of the
nation from its sectional struggles!™

President Lincoln, however, knowing that every department
of the federal government was riddled with traitors, sent his
own personal agents into South Carolina for some first-hand
political intelligence. His friends confirmed what he had sus-
pected, that South Carolina was not acting from rage or re-
sentments, but from “decades of a false political economy”; that

 its leaders had completely crushed out Unionist elements in the

state, and would never come back to the Union unless compelled
to-do so. _
Lincoln determined to send reinforcements to Fort Sumter;

' at the same time, Seward began a series of meetings with agents

of the South Carolina_ secessionists whom he assured, directly

50. Swanberg, First Biood, p. 199.

51. Seward is quoted in Nicolay, John G., and Hay, John, Abraham Lincoln:
A History, The Century Co., New York, 1917, Vol. III, p. 446: “I would
demand explanations from Spain and France, categorically, at once. [
would seek explanations from Great Britain and Russm, and send agents
into Canada, Mexico, and Central America, to rouse a vigorous continental
spirit of independence on this continent against European intervention.
And, if satisfactory explanations are not received from Spam and France,

. would convene Congress and declare war against them.”
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contrary to Lincolw’s policy, that their steady preparations for
aggression would not be resisted™. _ :
When Lincoln arranged for a squadron of gunships and troop-
ships to be sent to reinforce Sumter, Sgward seaeﬂy arranged
for the gunships to be diverted to Florida. Whep meokn found
out about this, he ordered Seward to reverse }us mterfere_nce.
Seward stalled long enough so that the guns_lups were al-reqdy
steaming southward, and their commander, mistakenly believing
he was going to Florida on Lincoln’s order, r‘efused to turn back
on Seward’s mid-course directive. The remforcemenfc troops
arrived off Charleston harbor, and waited and watched in agony
as the insurrectionists started pouring their murderous fire onto
Fort Sumter: without the gunships, the troops Fould not get
into the harbor. After 36 hours of sustaining this terror, the
heroic Anderson surrendered Fort Sumter. o
- The new governor of South Caro]in:‘i, Eranas Pickens, yet
another student of the British revolutionist Tho.mas" Cooper,
exulted at this humiliation of national power, crowing We have
made the proud flag of the stars and stripes, that never was
lowered before to any people on this earth—we have lowered
iﬂnsg IR L .

President Abraham Lincoln had been prevented from crushing
the insurrection while the secession was still confined to the
Jower South, and possibly preventing the trag_ed.y that was to
occur. Still advised to compromise by the majority of hlS'O.WIl
cabinet, criticized for taking the “narrow view” that the rebellion
was the work of a small minority of conspira?ors rather than the
broad expression of sectional sentiment, Lincoln nevertheless
assumed personal responsibility for saving the nation.

Though faced with a fait accompli, he acted as he was never
expected to act. He immediately called fo_r .75,00Q volunte;ers
to put down the insurrection, and the bloodles_..t war in American
‘history had begun. For the next four years, Lincoln invoked the

52. Swanberg, First Biood, pp. 226-232.
53. ibid., p. 324.
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full powers of the presidency: he called into existence massive
productive powers—creating the steel industry from scratch
and starting the world’s greatest railroad system; and he grad-
ually forged an unbeatable military machine. By the war's end,
the United States armed forces were the largest and toughest
in the world; and the continuing productive momentum of Lin-
coln’s restored Hamiltonian policies were to give the U.S. the
world’s largest industrial economy within less than two decades.

Lincoln and Juarez

- The American Civil War, like the American Revolution, was an

international conflict upon whose outcome the fate of civilization
rested—and it was fought on both sides of the U.S.-Mexican
border. We will briefly sketch here the outline of a struggle
which pitted the presidents of the United States and of Mexico
as allies against their common foreign enemies.

At about the same time as Abraham Lincoln took over the
U.S. presdency, Benito Juirez assumed that office in Mexico.
Judrez was a full-blooded Indian, a former physics professor,
and a terrifying threat to his opponents because he was a thor-
oughly honest man. He had been trained in political economy
by neo-Platonic teachers, and had spent several years of his
ascendency toward power in exile in New Orleans, Louisiana.

During the 1850s a Swiss banker, Jean-Baptiste ] ecker, had
carried out a series of swindles and depredations against Mexico,
operating from the office of his firm Jecker and Torre in Mexico
City. Along with the Crocker Bank and other Boston-linked
financial interests in California, Jecker had financed attempted
landings of anti-Mexican mercenary armies in the West, part of
the wave of Young America imperialism under the Cushing-
Pierce administration. '

Jecker had also concluded a wildly fraudulent loan with. the
corrupt Mexican leader General Miguel Miramén: Jecker agreed
to pay $750,000 into the Mexican treasury, and received in
return bonds worth $15 million, and the rights to all the silver
that could be found in the states of Sonora and Baja California!
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General Miramoén absconded with 600,000 pesos and fled to
Cuba, and Benito Juirez became Mexico’s President. Judrez and
the Mexican Congress declared a two-year moratorium on for-
eign debt payments, and Judrez announced that the fraudulent
Jecker loan could never be honored.

When the Southern Confederacy began its insurrection against
the United States, the colonial powers of Europe contrived to
use the “injustice” done to the Swiss banker Jecker—who had
since emigrated to France—as a pretext to invade the Western
Hemisphere. The governments of Great Britain, France and
. Spain concluded an agreement in the fall of 1861, arrangements
for which had been made by the diplomatic efforts of Britain’s
special envoy, Louis Mallet.

The plan was the particular brainchild of America’s greatest
enemy in continental Europe, King Leopold I of Belgium.> He
was the head of the Saxe-Coburg house and the uncle of Britain's
Queen Victoria and of her husband Prince Albert; Leopold’s
family members would take over more and more European
kingdoms as the nineteenth century progressed.

Leopold I of Belgium was the only European monarch to
- openly advocate the recognition of the Confederacy; the Young
America plotters had earlier issued the Ostend Manifesto from

within his kingdom, calling for the conquest and permanent en-
slavement of Cuba: His son, Leopold I, was to carry this racialist
experimentation to new limits as the founder and ruler of the
Belgian Congo, whose Leopoldville was named for him.

The colonial powers of Europe agreed to send the Hapsburg
Prince Maximilian to be the Emperor of Mexico as their rep-
resentative. Maximilian's wife Carlotta was Leopold’s daughter,
and through her the Belgian Coburg would have a direct man-
agmg hand in the conquest.

54 ‘I‘he standard (apologetic) account {i.e. the one the Belglan consulate in
New York keeps in their library) of Leopold and the invasion is O'Connor,
Richard, The Cactus Throne: The Tragedy of Maximilian and Carlotia,
New York, G. P. Putnam's Sons, 1971.
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President Abraham Lincoln had from the very first assured
President Benito Juirez of all possible U.S. support against
‘European intervention. Juirez’' envoy to Washington Matias
Romero had traveled out to Lincoln’s home in Springfield, Ili-
nois, to meet with the newly elected President and to avoid
having to deal with the Secretary of State-designate, William
Seward, whom he thoroughly distrusted. Lincoln and Judrez
maintained their alliance on this personal basis for the rest of
the war.

Despite Lincoln’s warnings to the Europeans that the Union
would prevail, that the Monroe Doctrine would eventually be
enforced, the armed forces of Britain, France, Spain, Austria
and Belgium invaded Mexico in 1862; “Emperor Maximilian I
of Mexico” and “Empress Carlotta” came in behind the troops.
During the few years of this bloody adventure, Maximilian signed
and the largely French army enforced the so-called Black De-
cree, ordering the execution of all persons belonging to “un
authorized societies . . . regardless of character.”

Juirez and the Mexican patriots were compelled to fight a
guerrilla war, gradually weakening but never completely de-
stroying the invading imperial forces. But when the Union Army
finished its cruel work against the Southern Rebellion, its gen-
erals were ordered to proceed to the Mexican border, where
they began openly supplying the Juirez forces with arms and
equipment. President Lincoln resisted the advice that the United
States ought to send troops into Mexico “to help Juarez,” and

. President Andrew Johnson, taking over for the murdered Lin-

coln, held to the same policy. It would be enough to pressure

.the foreign army to leave Mexico, then “Juérez and the Mexicans
- can take care of Maximilian.”

At the end of the American Civil War, a large group of Con-

federate officials fled to Mexico and joined the war of Maximilian

against the people of Mexico. Prominent among them were
Confederate diplomat Pierre Soulé, formerly the Mazzini-allied
U.S. ambassador to Spain under the Cushing-Pierce adminis-




258 TREASON IN AMERICA

tration; Nathaniel Beverly Tucker, Virginia’s Confederate spy
and cousin of the East India Company chairman®; and Confed-
erate General Sterling Price, who had been governor of Missouri
during the Kansas-Missouri border war of the 1850s, was the
leading Westem controller of the Knights of the Golden Circle,
and had created a Confederate terrorist organization known as
the Corps de Belgique “in honor of the Belgian Consul in St.
Louis.”

The hundreds of Confederate émigrés were given a million
acres by Maximilian upon which they set up the “Carlotta Colony,”
hoping to luxuriate in a tropical empire though they had lost the
northern war.

But the imperialist army withdrew to France in March of
1867, and Maximilian's regime fell soon after. Maximilian was
executed by the Mexicans, despite the pleas of European “lib-
erals,” while the Empress Carlotta returned to Belgium, to live
out her life confined as a psychotic well into the twentieth cen-
tury. '

Most of the high-ranking Confederates in Mexico then drifted
back into the United States, where many of them simply re-
entered the mainstream of American life. In fact there was no
accounting done, no sorting out, no “Nuremberg Trials” for the
insurrection of 1861, which killed more than a half-million Amer-
icans—more than died in both of the World Wars. .

A particularly chilling example of the failure of post-Lincoln

55. Nathanie] Beverly Tucker was given, for his management and as a front-
man owner, the property of Baron Escandon and other Mexican hacienda
landlords who had invited Maximilian to seize their country. Tucker took
over their property, 1.5 million acres and 190,000 head of livestock, and
received a large cut of the proceeds. With the popularity of Juarez's
pepublican movement, backed by the U.5.A., these landlords became so
tmpopular they dared not visit their own property. As they escaped to
Europe, transfer was accomplished thru English merchant banker Davies
and Co, m Mexico. Tucker himself fled Mexico March 5, 1867, three

. = months beftite the execution of Maximilian. See Tucker, Jane Ellis, Bey-

- erléy Tucker: A Memoir by his Wife, The Frank Baptist Printing Co.,
Richmond, undated, in the State Library of Virginia, at Richmond; pp.
31-37.
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Americans to appreciate the nature of this Rebellion is the case
of Edward House. His father Thomas House was a British mer-
chant who came to the Texas province of Mexico in the 1830s
The elder House did not stick by Sam Houston when Housto:-l
foqgﬁt agamst Secession; Thomas House made a fortune as a
British national, carrying arms from Britain through the Union
blockade to Texas. After the Rebellion was defeated, Thomas
-House returned to England and educated his son Edward at
Bath. Years later, the young man returned to America to tend
his father’s cotton plantations; he despised the United States
as an enemy land, and retained a fierce loyalty to Great Britain,
This was “Colonel” House, who directed the foreign policy and
t-nuch of the domestic affairs of the United States during the admin-
istration of President Woodrow Wilson . . . the years of the World
War and the League of Nations. President Wilson was not un-
sympathetic to House’s viewpoint—his own father had been a
Confederate Army chaplain and slaveowner.
The political backgrounds of the earlier presidents, Grover
C!eveland and Theodore Roosevelt, were completely bound up
with the treason of the 1861 Insurrection. Cleveland, brought

- into politics by the Confederate spy ring in New York, % returned

the favor and made dozens of Rebel officials the top men in his
two administrations. The arch-racialist Roosevelt took office
when President Wiliam McKinley was shot to death. He led
the world to believe that the bullying, imperialist antics echoing
his uncle, Confederate Secret Service chief James Bulloch, rep-

- resented America’s natural outlook rather than the policies which

Abraham Lincoln and hundreds of thousands of Americans had

- died to defeat.

56. Grover Cleveland was recruited as a young man, wnhperha  vague
v . m

(_T.?ppeﬂxead sympathies, mto the political family of Augustus Schell, po-

lllgmlboss of the insurrectionary machine based m New York; see Chapter
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From the British East India

Company to Emerson,
Carlyle, and Marx

Treason: 1. Violation of allegiance towards one’s country
or sovereign, esp. the betrayal of one’s own country by

waging war against it or by consciously and purposely
cting to aid its enemies. '

In each mouth Satan mangled with his teeth

A sinner, each jaw moving like a brake

- So that three wretches anguished as he chewed.

= He of the front mouth less from the biting writhed
Than from the flaying of the angry claws;

His back was stripped and stripped again of flesh.
-“Yon soul above who suffers greatest pain

.Is Judas,” so my master’s voice affirmed.

Dante Alighieri, Inferno

The American Union had been rescued and re-established by
e profound mobilization of our people by President Abraham
“Lincoln from 1861 to 1865. More than 2.5 million men fought
for the Union, taken from a population, in the loyal states, of
22 million. When Eastern bankers had denied Lincoln the credit
-heeded to finance the war, the President had created a new
-national banking system, printed 400 million new greenback
‘dollars, and raised government spending by 600% to $300 million
‘per year.

+ A system of strict tariffs and preferential buying had been put

263
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into effect, so as to force new industry into existence. Gov-
ernment-sponsored railroad construction had been undertaken
with a view to opening the vast continent to industry, agriculture,
and new cities. :

At the victorious conclusion of the Civil War, the President
had been assassinated. But the spirit of national optimism—the
feeling that we could accomptlish anything necessary for national
progress, would determine the political and social developments
in the United States and much of the world for the remainder
of the nineteenth century.?

At war’s end, the United States had the largest and best army
in the world. Over the next 20 years of peace, the American
economy expanded at unbelievabie rates, until America became,
suddenly, the world’s industrial leader. Between 1866 and 1887,
operating railroads grew by 400% to 150,000 miles; American
steel output, nurtured by Lincoln’s legal framework, grew by
2000% to 340,000 tons per year. _

Having failed to terminate the American Union in the insur-
rection of 1861, the enemy British and allied oligarchs now faced
an invigorated nation, standing forth as a universal model and
guide for the potential defeat of oligarchism and backwardness.
The world had seen the U.S.A. use Hamilton's concept of na-
tional sovereignly over the economy, and the revival of Benjamin
Franklin's tradition of rationalism and alerted cifizenship, to win
unprecedented military and civil triumphs. :

Responding to this renewed threat to their existence, the old
European oligarchy created a great series of “reform” move-
ments to block America’s progress. In the course of a half-
century following the Civil War (1866-1916), these reformers
stopped our economic growth and seized control of the finances,
politics, and culture of our country. In the period since the First
World War, this “Eastern Establishment” has nearly succeeded

1. 'This was true except in the South. There Lincoln’s enemies, the old Free
Trade, “radical Republicans,” controlled Reconstruction policy to keep the
former Rebel states unindustrialized—and thus, in a profound sense, still
not back in the Union.
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in eliminating the very idea of America, and its special purpose,
from the minds of living Americans.

- We will attempt to show a sort of family history of the “re-
formers,” and the development of the anti- American machine
-they have created within the United States, If the story is
-propetly told, those who hear it will not be surprised at the
behavior of those who favor Khomeini, Qaddafi, and the Soviet
:leadership over the United States, but will be prepared to retire
them from action.

: 'I_‘reason against a republic is the greatest crime, because the

nation’s past achievements are defiled and buried, the present
strivings of its statesmen and citizens are ruined, and the future
greatness of its children may be prevented forever, their lives
thrown away. :
. Whatever may be the immediate motivation for treason, the
traitor typically approaches his acts from the standpoint of a
thoroughly criminal mind, consciously reflecting on a variety of
great crimes already committed.

This is a story of treason against the American republic, and
thus, because of America’s unique power and promise, treason
against all of humanity. We shall see a remarkable connectedness
- between the perpetrators in different times and places, and in
. what might have seemed diverse planes of activity.

- Most notable, and not at all surprising, is the fact that the
Planners and sponsors of the treason always prove to have some
. important connection to a particular massive crime—the destruc-
- Hon of the populations of Asia by the British East India Company.
. The relationship of Western European civilization to the non-
. white people of other continents, so besmirched by a record of
. enslavement and looting, will remain the central problem of our
- time—should we survive the present threat of devastation from
: the East. ' ' '

. . Britain’s Asian empire—the “nursery” for the traitors and
gangsters with whom we will deal in Part [Il—presents the
~ historical investigator with unexplored territory, in a certain
- sense. Accounts of this bloody epoch (like those of Africa and
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Ibero-America) generally fall into one of two categories: apol-
ogies written or commissioned by the guilty parties themselves;

or polemics by Marxists and others which fail to differentiate

the crimes from Western civilization itself (and thereby fail to
inquire into the peculiar nature and role of the perpetrators back
within Western society).

" But crimes against the Indians and Chinese were also treason
against England itself—a betrayal of the Mediterranean Ren-
aissance civilization which England had further developed and
in some ways still represented; a betrayal wh1ch could potentially
be punished and corrected.

This is a story of corruption on a scale unimaginable up to
that time, the controllers and benefactors of which then turmed
for plunder to the United States, while clamoring for an end to
the “corruption” of those who stood in their way.

The British East India Company was begun in 1600, when
Queen Elizabeth granted a charter to certain London-based mer-
chants to trade in the East, following the defeat of the Spanish
Armada in 1588. Over the years this private company was given
monopoly privileges with respect to trade in India, in retumn for
which the oligarch-adventurers paid millions of pounds sterling
(a fraction of their revenues) into the public treasury back home.

In the first two centuries the ‘British competed with other
European traders throughout Asia (among the competitors, the
Dutch were the most notorious for cruelty and-disregard for
human life, as reflected by Jonathan Swift’s treatment of the
Dutch sea captain, more bestial than animals, in Gulliver’s
Travels).

The Company established trading strongho%ds in certain coastal
areas of India, building up a private army which contested with
French forces and native armies in the latter 1700s for “trading
rights” and political power over coastal regions.

Methods: of -control and looting were learned-first in the con-
solidation of the Company’s hold over Bengal, in the northwest,
later to be ‘applied to the entire subcontinent. '

Mir Jafar was established as the puppet Nawab of Bengal in
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57. In return for this favor, and the continued support of the
Company’s army, Mir Jafar agreed to give £1,000,000 out of
e province's taxes to the East India Company, £500,000 to
e English inhabitants of Calcutta, and “large gifts” to various
officials of the company.

" A British Parliamentary committee? estimated that £1,238,575
in gifts were distributed, and that British military commander
Robert Clive had received £31,500 and an estate worth £27,000
per year. Clive, whose army had conquered the province against
50,000 native defenders, reported to the committee that “the
Nabob’s generosity made my fortune easy.” Clive received a
total of at least £234,000 from Mir Jafar.3

i Three years later, in 1760, Mir Jafar was deposed and replaced
by Mir Kasim, who rewarded his sponsors with £200,000 in
gifts, including £58,333 to the Company’s Bengal Governor,
Henry Vansittart, and contributed £50,000 to the Company’s
wars in South India.

In 1763, Mir Jafar was reinstated, paying £500,165 for the
prmlege He died two years later, and his lllegltamate son be-
came “ruler,” distributing £230,356 in gifts.

. The typical Company official, who might survive opium addic-
t_ion, drunkenness, and venereal disease, weuld return to Eng-
land as a massively wealthy individual. Former East India men-
were known as “nabobs, ” who paraded their plunder and openly
bought seats in Parliament.

 The Company had come to India with the announced purpose
of buying and selling merchandise. But the great fortunes of
Company officials and stockholders were secured by theft—
forced sale or purchase, and outright “tax collectmg ”

- The Company itself, as well as its officials acting in their own
private capacities, made themselves middlemen for most com-

2. Reports of the Commitiee of Secrecy Appointed by the House of Commons on
the State of the East India Company, 1773.

3. Gardner, Brian, The East India Company, McCall Publishing Co., New
York, 1972. Clive died as an opium addrct and probable suicide (Gardner,
p. 102).
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mercial transactions in Bengal-—and later all of India. Indian
weavers were forced to sell their wares to the East India men.
The competition was gradually wiped out, as native merchants
were compelled to purchase their stocks of goods from the
English. “Various and innumerable” were the methods of com-
pulsion “practiced by the Company’s agents . . . su_ch as by
fines, imprisonments, floggings. . . .™ _

The tax collectors for the once-powerful Mughal emperors
were given contracts for the collection of taxes payable to tt}e
Company, which came from the small landholding peasants in
the form of an ever-larger share of their crops. As the Bengali
peasants fell behind in their crop payments, their land wquld be
confiscated and sold at auction, or, as a last resort, their seed
grains would be taken from them.

The figures in the accompanying chart® show that the Amer-
ican colonists were not the only ones suffering under the oppres-
sion-of Bnitish taxation at this time. -

LAND REVENUE TAXES IN THE PROVINCE OF BENGAL

Collection
Fiscal Year Regime : ©
1762-63 Mir Kasim -~ 646,000
1763-64 _ Mir Jafar 762,000
1764-65 Mir Jafar 818,000
© 1765-66 . Dual Government 1,470,000
| (1770: famine kills third of inhabitants)
1771-72 Dual Government 2,341,941
1772-79 Company Direct Rule 2,577,078
(avg.)

1790-91 Company Direct Rule 2,680,000

R.C. Dutt describes the consequences of these policies on
the exhausted population:

4. Bolts, William, Consideration on Indian Affairs, London, 1772.
5. Mukherjee, Ramkristma, The Rise and Fail of the East India Company,
Monthly Review Press, London and New York, 1974, p. 359.
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Early in 1769 high prices gave an indication of an ap-
proaching famine, but the land-tax was more rigorously
. collected than ever. .. . Late in the year the periodical
‘rains ceased prematurely, and the Calcutta Council in their
- letter of the 23rd November to the Court of Directors
anticipated a falling off of the revenues, but specified no
- relief measures to be undertaken. On the 9th May 1770
 they wrote: ‘The famine which has ensued, the mortality,

the beggary, exceed all description. . . .” On the 11th Sep-

tember they wrote: ‘It is scarcely possible that any de-

- scription could be an exaggeration of the misery the

. inhabitants . . . have encountered with. It is not then to

‘be wondered that this calamity has had its influence on the

collections; but we are happy to remark that they have

fallen less short than we supposed they would.’ ” -

. The official British estimate was that one third of the people
of Bengal under their control, or 10 million out of the 30 million
inhabitants, died in the famine of 1770.%

R.C. Dutt quotes Warren Hastings, the Governor of Calcutta,

in a letter to the East India Company Directors in November
1772:

Notwithstanding the loss of at least one-third of the in-
habitants of the province, and the consequent decrease of
the cultivation,  the net collections of the year 1771 ex-
ceeded even those of 1768. . . . It was naturally to be -
expected that the diminution of the revenue should have
kept an equal pace with other consequences of so great a
calamity. That it did not was owing to its bemg violently
[sic] kept up to its former standard.?

Warren Hastings is called “a firm and wise péaceeﬁme ad-

6. Dutt, Romesh Chunder, The Economsic History of India under Early British
Rule, Kegan Paul, Trench, Trubner & Co., London, 1902, pp. 51-52.
7. Dutt, Economic History of India, p. 53.
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ministrator” by author Brian Gardner in The East India Com-
pany.®

There had been famines in India from time to time, over the
centuries of invasions of the subcontinent since the higher Indian
culture collapsed in the first millennium of the Christian era.
But under British rule, the systematic withdrawal of resources
and, as we shall see, the systematic and calculated destruction
of native Indian manufacturing capabilities, inevitably resulted
in uncontrollable, persisting famines and proneness to disease—
a condition that continued until the independent Indians were
able to organize their own production in the 1960s and 1970s.

Toward the end of the American War for Independence, the
political circles associated with the British East India Company
took nearly complete control over British political affairs. A new
government was headed by Prime Minister William Petty, the
Earl of Shelburne, who negotiated the peace treaty with the
United States, and directed the British intelligence services in
complex worldwide tasks of conquest and subversion. .

A Board of Control for the Affairs of India was set up in
London. Henry Dundas, political boss of Scotland and Shel-
burne’s “dirty operations” chief, was officially President of the
Board from 1793 to 1801. Unofficially, Dundas controlled Indian
operations almost entirely for 30 years, from the time in 1787
when he. proposed that Indian opium be poured into China as
an instrument of war and looting. Dundas is also to be remem-
bered for his role as the “Satan-ritualist” intelligence official to
whom the two famous spies, Aaron Burr and Francisco Miranda,
reported in England. -

The British now geared up for a military offensive throughout
Asia. Lord Cornwallis, who had surrendered to George Wash-
ington at Yorktown, was appomted Commander in Chief and
Governor General of India.

- But it was not until the military campaigns of 1797 to 1803
under the leadership of the brothers Richard, Henry, and Arthur

8. Gardner, East India Company, p. 111.
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Wellesley, that the British East India Company finally subdued
and controlled the entire subcontinent of India. Based on this’
exploit, Arthur Wellesley was created the Duke of Wellington
and later gained fame for the defeat of Napoleon.

By the 1820s, the East India Company had a standing army
of over a quarter-million troops, and a navy patrolling the seas
from the Southwestern Pacific to the Persian Gulf. This was
the largest armed force in the world. Between 1803 and 1857,
this army engaged in a series of wars against restive Indians
and neighboring Asian people, with casualties in the millions.

Among these conflicts the apologetic Brian Gardner names
the following: Second Anglo-Maratha War (1803-1805); Anglo-
Nepalese War (1814-1816); Pindari and Maratha Wars (1816-
1818); First Anglo-Burmese War (1824-1826); First Anglo-Af-
ghan War (1839-1842); Sind War (1843); Second Anglo-Sikh

7 War (1848-1849); Second Anglo-Burmese War (1852-1853) .°

In addition, the British fought the French in India from 1804
to 1815, sent troops to China to crush resistance to the sale of
opium in 1841, and waged barbarous warfare against a revolt
of nearly all of India in 1857.

A new mode of looting followed necessarily upon the conquest
of the Indian subcontinent—the old methods would be insuffi-
cient to finance the cost of the military adventures on such a
scale, Tariffs were imposed against the import of Indian textiles
and garments into Great Britain, ranging from 70% up to 400%
of the price of the products At the same time, British auﬂiont:les
held the tariffs in India to a nominal 2%2%.

The Indian manufacturing sector—chiefly fine cotton and silk
goods, was swiftly destroyed. From 1818 to 1836 the export

of cotton twists from Great Britain to India rose 5,200 times.

The export of British muslins to India went from 1 million to 64
million yards between 1824 and 1837. Whereas in 1813, Calcutta
had exported to London £2,000,000 in cotton goods, in 1830
Calcutta imported £2,000,000 in British cotton goods and ceased

9. Gardner, East India Company.
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exporting. By 1850, total exports from Great Britain and Ireland
to India were £8,024,000, of which cotton goods amounted to
£2,220,000.

Indian weavers, who had once supplied Europe and Asia with
the finest cloths, now disappeared from world commerce.

To pay for the imports, the British developed vast opium
plantations in India, and, largely under expert Scotch supervi-
sion, smuggled the illegal, poison drug into China. The East
India Company sold licenses for the export of opium, the rev-
enues for which rose from £728,517 in fiscal 1834-35, to
£4.137,975 in 1850-51.1 Meanwhile, the tax collections had
been extended to bear down upon the entire subcontinent.

In Bombay (where the family of John Foster and Allen Dulles
made its fortune in plunder with the East India Company), Gov-
ermnor Mountstuart Elphinstone explained his land revenue pol-

icy:

The general principle is to take half of the money pro-
duced by the sale of the crops, and leave the rest to the
Ryot [peasant]. . . . In the Ahmedabad [district], the num-
ber of villages that have been let to the highest bidder
[rented to “tax-farmers” or private collectors], the con-
sequent detection of all sources of revenue . ., . have a
tendency to strain the revenue to the highest pitch . . . If

- 1 were to decide on the present condition of the people in
this collectorship, I should pronounce it to be very much
depressed. The Ryots seem to be ill-clothed and ill-lodged.

The Bombay Administrative Report, published later in the
century, was more graphic:

* “From the outset it was found impossible to collect any-

10. Maukherjee, Rise and Fall, pp. 405-406.

11, Gardner, East India Company, pp. 206 and 306.

12. Minutes of August 15, 1821, and of {month and day unknown), 1821,
quoted in Mukherjee, Rise and Fall, p. 375.
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thing approaching to the full revenue. In some Districts not
one-half could be realised. . . . Every effort, lawful or un-
lawful, was made to get the most out of the wretched
peasantry, who were subjected to torture, in some in-
. - stances cruel and revolting beyond all description, if they
- would not or could not yield what was demanded. Numbers
abandoned their homes, and fled into the neighbouring Na-
tive States. Large tracts of land were thrown out of cul-
tivation, and in some Districts no more than a third of the
cultivable area remained in occupation. *?

Other reports tell of cultivators fleeing from the tax collectors
mto the jungle, being rounded up by British soldiers and flogged
and tortured to get them back to work.'* In the Bombay revenue
district, tax collections increased from £868,000 in 1817 to

-£1,818,000 in 1821.%

“As the native Indian cotton disappeared from the market, with
the devastation of its cultivators, the British textile exporters
could depend on a different source of cheap raw material—
American slave cotton.

An important lesson from the British oligarchs’ experience in

' India was the maipulation of popular culture in support of the

planned destruction of the economy. The object of the Com-
pany’s cultural warfare was to prevent at all costs the importation
of Western values and ideals into India. Later, the conquerors
of India would strive to eliminate Western values from the Amer-
ican republic, while imposing “reforms” that would reverse
American economic and cultural achievements.

The Company simply adopted the most outrageously decadent

“aspects of surviving Indian religious orthodoxy, patronized them,

and through the selection of religious leaders and laws, made
British-run “Hinduism” and “Islam” into the state religions for
the Company’s subjects.

13. Bombay Administrative Report, 1872, quoted in ibid., p. 376.
14. Dutt, Economic History, Vol 1, p. 62, 149,
15. Mukheriee, Rise and Fall, p. 376.




274 TREASON IN AMERICA

This was no “visitors’ acceptance of the ways of the host.”
Nothing of positive value, that still remained from earlier Indian
civilization—or from substantial modernizing initiatives of recent
Indian leaders—was selected by the British to continue func-
tioning. Reservoirs, canals, and sluices which had irrigated much
of ancient Asia, still continued to operate in parts of southern
India which the British had yet to conquer in the early 1800s,

But for the two centuries of British rule, the areas they
controlled were subjected to droughts and floods, leading to
epidemics and famines, because the British chose not to keep
up the ancient Indian system of water management.

No, other projects were more important.

Warren Hastings, Governor of Bengal (1772-1774) and Gov-
ernor General of India (1774-1786), selected certain “Brahmin
pandits from different parts of . . . Bengal [who] were brought
to Calcutta where they were employed for two years in order
to prepare a compendium of Hindu laws in Sanskrit. . . . The
manuscript was then translated into Persian and from Persian
into English . . . presented . . . to the Court of Directors of
the East India Company and pubtished in 1776. "¢ This Company
creation became the Gentoo Code—the law for Hindus.

Exactly the same process was followed for the Moslems:
Hastings hired certain amenable “learned professors of the Ma-
homedan Law,” who translated material from Arabic to Persian,
establishing for India a compendium of law (for Moslems only)
called Hedaya."” '

And who was to enforce thls new “orthodoxy”? Of course,
theologians would ‘be necessary.

The Company “took under their management a large number
of Hindu temples. They advanced money for rebuilding important
shrines and for repairing others, and paid the salaries of the
temple -officials, even-down to the courtesans, which were a

17 Warren Hastmgs letter-to the Directors of the Company, Feb. 21 1784,
quoted in Muir, Ramsay, The Making of British India: 1756-1858, Manch-
ester University Press, 1917. '
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normal feature of the great temples of the South. They granted
. large sums of money for sacrifices and festivals and for the

feeding of Brahmans. . . . Even cruel and immoral rites, such

- as hqok swin.ging, practised in the worship of the gods, and the
- burning of widows, were carried out under British supervision.

In order to pay for all these things a pilgrim tax was im-
posed. . . ."8

Lord Wﬂham Bentinck, Governor General from 1828 to 1835,
“reformed” the law to allow for prosecution of persons who
“used violence” to recapture widows who escaped from the
funeral pyre where they were supposed to be burned with their
husbands’ bodies. *

If widows escaped this slaughter, they were not allowed to
remarry—an especially cruel law because 1) from one-third to
one-half of Indian women were married before the age of ten;
and 2) powerful Brahmins were allowed to marry ten or hundreds
of wives, whom they visited in rounds. The British outlawed
child mamage in 1929, and the Republic of India outlawed poly-
gamy in 1955.

Meanwhile, under British control, new tribes were brought
under Hindu law and converted to Hinduism;? at the same time,

“the Company successfully prevented Christian missionaries from

entering India until well into the nineteenth century.

To administer this horror and carnage, the British East India
pompany felt the need for a new species of employee, trained
in a new type of “economics,” who by his training could be relied
upon to commit murder on an unprecedented scale without pity
and without remorse. This kind of training would have to involve
the selection of candidates with criminal propensities, and in-
culcation with the most degraded concepts of racialism and ir-
rationalism.

To this end the Company founded two colleges in Engiand.

18. Farquhar J. N., Modern Religious Movemenis in India, Macmillan, Mun-
shiram Manoharial Publishers Pvt. Ltd., New Dehli, 1977, p. 9.

19, Gardner, East India Company, pp. 200-201

20. Mukherjee, Rise and Fall, p. 333.
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Its military school at Addiscombe trained 3,600 for India be-
tween 1809 and 1861. One of its most illustrious graduates was
Field Marshal Baron Robert Napier of Magdala, whose family
would later use the proceeds of his shocking crimes to “reform”
American laws and finances.

" The theoretical justifications for the Asian adventures were
developed at the Company’s Hailybury College near Hertford.
It was here that the East India Company's professor of eco-
nomics and modern history, Thomas R. Malthus, wrote and
published most of his infamous works on the necessity for pop-
ulation reduction, and the mevitablility of poverty and suffering,
during his tenure from 1806 to 1834,

The headquarters for the Company was the East India House
in London. James Mill (1773-1836), economist and disciple of
radical hedonist spymaster Jeremy Bentham, was Examiner of
Correspondence for the Company for 18 years. His son, John
Stuart Mill (1806-1873), rose after 34 years with the Company
to the same position as his father. He was a key policy-making
official of the Company, and was the central organizer of the
Radical Party which planned the policies of Great Britain (and,
they hoped, the United States) in the nineteenth century.

‘In 1857, the people of hidia rose in rebellion against the
Company’s rule. The slaughter and torture imposed on the “mu
tmeers” by the Company’s troops rank with the vilest of all acts
in human history.  Drunken, insane soldiers looted, raped,
maimed, murdered, and bumed their way across India.

“The world was outraged. Queen Victoria took the adminis-
tration of India away from the East India Company, which was
dissolved several years later. John Stuart Mill wrote the Com-
pany’s final, futile plea to the Parliament that the Company be
allowed to keep India, on the grounds that its administration
had cost the government nothing, that “private enterprise” would
keep India’s affairs out of party politics!?! '

John Stuart Mill became the leading spokesman for Classical

21. Gardner, Eqst India Company, p. 289.
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*. Economics, or “free enterprise” theory. As the chief intelligence
officer for the greatest single criminal organization on earth,
_“which had succeeded in “freeing” India from nearly all traces of
--economic enterprise, Mill now turned in the final years of his
:,hfe to apply the lessons of India to the conquest of America.

',Phe Conception and Birth of ‘Reform’:
. Emerson, Carlyle, Engels

Here are you set down, scholars and idealists, as in a
“barbarous age: amidst insanity to calm and guide it; amidst
fools and blind, to see the right done; among violent pro-

~ prietors, to check self-interest. . . amongangry politicians
. swelling with self-esteem, pledged to parties . . . under
~bad governments to force on them, by your persistence,

- good laws. Around that immovable persistency of yours,
statesmen, leglslamres, must revolve denying you, but not '

“less foroed to obey.Z

-—Ralph Waldo Emerson

" Harvard College;'1867

' Ralph Waldo Emerson {1803-1882) may be thought of as the
 founder of American Reform and its original guru. He gathered
-around himself and led the “transcendentalists,” such as Henry
- David Thoreau and Margaret Fuller, and edited their journal,
" The Dial. With his reputation as a rebel against established
authonty in the church, the government, and industry, Emer-
son’s writings and speeches inspired abolitionists, vegetarians,

g prohibltlomsts atheists, socialists, civil service reformers, free
enterprise advocates—and later movements such as the hippies
of the 1960s and the greenies of the 1970s.

‘In the 1867 address quoted above, Emerson as an elder
statesman is seen passing the torch to the new generation of
reformers in all fields. These later reformers battled the au-

22. Quoted in Miller, Lawrence, Dimensions of MugwumpThowught, disser-
tation, 1968, University of Iinojs; pp. 56-57. ™ .
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thorities in American culture and displaced them from power.
The history books tell a story of greed and exploitation being
reversed or controlled by public-spirited men and women, in-
spired by the courageous democratic souls—true-blue Ameri-
cans typified-by Ralph Waldo Emerson. _

The real story is entirely opposite to this tradition. We have
described in eatlier chapters the ugly role played by abolitionists
in the creation of the Civil War, and how the insincere sponsors
of that movement deliberately blocked the transformation of the
South promoted by “moderate” American System advocates
such as Henry Clay and Abraham Lincoln. .

Emerson was no democrat. He had no sympathy for the nation
of Washington and Lincoln. He was rather a lieutenant in a small
army of foreign agents, representing the imperial ambitions of
Great Britain and the horrible commercial appetites of certain
Scots and their “old European” allies. = -

The Boston community into which Emerson was born was a
tightly knit little social island of British-connected merchants and
Unitarian ministers. Since the middle 1790s the leading families
(Cabot, Lowell, Forbes, Higginson) of this pro-Tory set had
been in a state of rebellion against the United States government,
against the nation’s new-won independence, against republican-
ism in general. : S '

Harvard College, the intellectual centei of the treason, was -

run as a family affair by the Boston secessionist leaders. Har-
vard's President John T. Kirkland had greeted Aaron Burr when
that disguised fugitive from justice had snuck back into the
country in May 1812. Kirkland had given Burr a check drawn
on the Harvard treasury to help him get back to New York.
 Emerson, the son of a Unitarian minister, entered Harvard
as the personal servant, janitor, and family tutor for President
Kirkland. That he was a good candidate for the job of organizer
for the British Party, may be seen by a glimpse into some of
his early diary entries. _ - _
These words were written when he was 19 years old:
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I believe that nobody now regards the maxim that “a]]
.men are !)orn equal,” as anything more than a convenient
: Pypothes:s or an extravagant declamation. For the reverse
s trge——that all men are born unequal in personal powers
_ ~and in those essential circumstances, of time, parentage

country, fortune. The least knowledge of the natural histor;r
-of man adds another important particular to these; namely

whz?t class of men he belongs to—European, Moor, Tartar"

African? Because nature has plainly assigned different de:
grees of mtellect to these different races, and the barriers
between are insurmountable.

- This inequality is an indication of the design of Providence
- that some should lead, and some should serve. For when
z t:bffltleclt1 elgvariably tai(es place from causes which Heaven

shed, we surely say with s i
“designed that result. -y ’ ety that Providence
-~ Throughout Society there is therefore not only the direct
-and acknowledged relation of king & subject, master &
“servant, but a secret dependence quite as universal, of one
man upon another, which sway habits, opinions, con-
duct. . . . the same pleasure and confidence which the dog
and hor§e feel when they rely upon the superior intelligence
of man is felt by the lower parts of our own species with
-reference to the higher.

R Isa\_vten, twenty, a hundred large lipped lowbrowed
- 'black men in the streets who, except in the mere matter
- ofr language, did not exceed the sagacity of the ele-
< phant. . . . the: African degenerates to a likeness of the
©‘beast. . . . are they not an upper order of inferior animals?®

_‘ In a subseql-lent. entry, Er_nerson opines that slavery is blas-
phemnous and illegitimate. But the racial and caste viewpoints

# Joel Porte, ed., Emerson in His Journals, Harvard Universi
bridge, Massachusetts, 1980, pp. 19-22. niversiy Press, Cam-
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expressed in the quotation above remained the foundation of
Emerson’s thinking throughout his life, in coexistence with
“democratic” views expedient for various social-action proj-
- ects—such as the promotion of secession and civil war,

As late as 1838 he defended the slave trade in a letter to his
wife: “To such as she these crucifixions do not come. They come
to the obtuse and barbarous to whom they are not horrid, but
only a little worse than the old sufferings. They exchange a
cannibal war for the stench of the hold. They have gratifications
which would be none for the civilized girl.”

But as a college graduate Emerson, was not yet “invented.”
After a brief, depressing teaching career, he was equally un-
impressive as yet another Unitarian minister. For years he was
a drifting, bored, purposeless liberal preacher. In September
1832, at the age of 29, Emerson quit his pastorate, choosing
what he called “Socratic paganism” over “an effete superan-
nuated Christianity,” and took a boat for Europe. After a tour
of Italy and France, he arrived in England. -

At East India House, Emerson met with John Stuart Mill,
who gave him a letter of introduction to a young Scettish literary
protégé of his, Thomas Carlyle. After an extended visit with
Carlyle and his wife Jane, Emerson became Carlyle’s business
representative, partner, disciple, and lifelong friend. Emerson
published and promoted Carlyle’s books in the United States;
Carlyle did the same for Emerson in Great Britain. Emerson

wrote to Carlyle calling him “my general” and referring to himself
- as “your lieutenant.” o
Upon his return home Emerson married a new wife (his first

had died before the trip) and gathered an entirely new circle of
friends around him—the transcendentalists. He began an en-
tirely new career as the famous “rebel” leader on the lecture
- circuit, the darting of the Brahmins of Boston. While attacking
the “corruption” in America’s commitment to material progress,
Emerson preached a new morality of romantic selfishness—
“self-reliance”: : :
“A political victory, a rise of rents, the recovery of your sick,
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~ or the return of your absent friend, or some other quite external
event, raises your spirits, and you think good days are preparing
for you. Do not believe it. . . . Nothing can bring you peace but

yourself. Nothing can bring you peace but the triumph of prin-
ciples.” : '

- The new creed of quietude, of estrangement from “corrupt
society,” was embellished with translations and interpretation
g of certaiq existentialist Eastern writings (Persian, Indian). But

the pecuha.r Transcendentalist atmosphere of neurosis, of heavy
‘g‘s_ensmvity” flirting with homosexuality, is-a replication of the
;- worst of the German romantic genre which Emerson imported

. under the tutelage of that movement's interpreter in Britain,

" "Thomas Carlyle.
'. '.‘The creation of Ralph Waldo Emerson’s reputation as a deeply
wise, sincere advocate of the oppressed, etc., now became the
- project of the leading Brahmin families. James Elliot Cabot was
to be his editor and executive arm; John Murray Forbes would
L “be his financial angel.

}-How Carlyle Was'Assembled

- The Oracles are dumm,
~ No voice or hideous humm
~Runs through the arched roof in words deceiving.
-Apolio from his shrine
- Can no more divine,
- With hollow shriek the steep of Deiphos leaving.
_ _No nightly trance, or breathed spell, Inspires the pale-
" ey'd Priest from the prophetic cell.
.. . and sullen Moloch fled
Hath left in shadows dred
“His burning Idol all of blackest hue;
“. . : The brutish gods of Nile as fast,
Is:s and Orus, and the Dog Anubis has.

24. Emerson, Ralph Waldo, The Essay on Self Reliance. The R
- East Aurora, New York, 1908, p. 59. 4 sl oycrofters,
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Nor is Ostris seen. .
I vain with Tlmbrel’d Anthems dark =
The sable-stoled Sorcerers bear his worshlped Ark
He feels from Juda's Land
The dredded Infant’s hand,
. Our Babe to shew his- godhead true,
Can in hls swadlmg bands contrmll the: damned CTew.

--The pagan gods—and thelr earthly sponsors—are put to
rout in John Milton’s On the Morning of Chnist's Nativity.

The famous Scottish fascist Thomas Carlyle (1795- 1881),
whose disciple Ralph Waldo Emerson became after their first
meeting in 1833, was the son of a Calvinist carpenter, descended
from workingmen and farmers. His career as a prophet of feu-
dalism owed little to family or early friends. We shall briefly
describe the small circle of British strategic planners who adopted
Carlyle and put his rage against humanity to work. _

Henry Brougham, later known as Baron Brougham and Vaux,
told the House of Commons on April 9, 1816:

After the cramped state m which the enemy’s measures
and our own retaliation . . . had kept our trade for same
years . . . a'rage for exportmg goods of every kind burst
forth. . . . Everything that could be shipped was sent off;
all the capital that could be laid hold of was embarked. . . .
It was well worth while to incur a loss upon the first ex-
portation in order by the glut to stifle in the cradle those
rising manufactures in'the United States which the war [of
1812] had forced into existence contrary to the usual course
of things.?

25. Parliamentary Debales, Hansard, Vol. XXX, pp. 1098-1099, proceeding
of the House of Commons on April 9, 1816; also in Edinburgh Review,
no. LII, june, 1816; quoted by Stanwood, Edward, American Tariff Con-
troversies in the Nmeteenth Century, originally published by Houghton
Mifflin, Boston, 1903, reprinted by Garland Publlshmg ‘Inc., New York
and London, 1974, pp. 167-168.
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Between 1816 and 1820, the flood of British imports had
indeed crippled American production. The resulting depression

-lasted until the middle 1820s, when the American System. po-

litical movement— created by Mathew Carey and led by Henry

~ Clay and John Quincy Adams—utilized the government’s powers

to direct a vigorous industrial expansion.

The frank admission of the aims of British trade war, quoted
above, caused a sensation when American nationalists publicized
it in the United States. The speech had been reprinted in the

June, 1816 issue of the Edinburgh Review, a journal whose

creation had been sponsored by Lord Brougham. Henry
Brougham, it seems, was a new type of “liberal”—a reformer
in the new style of Lord Shelburne’s Seottish-Swiss mtelhgence
chque. .

The Edinburgh Review was to be an instrument of cultural
warfare for these new lords of British (and Asian) society. The

" Review was founded on the suggestion of Sydney Smith, a the-
“ologian who led the movement to prohibit the introduction of

Christianity into India. After Smith edited the first few issues,
the editorship was entrusted to Smith’s friend Francis Jeffrey.
It was Lord Brougham who first brought the struggling Scot-

“tish author James Mill into public view by arranging for him to
" begin writing articles for the Edinburgh Review in 1808. In that

year Mill met and surrendered himself to the anti-Christian .
gospels of Jeremy Bentham. Mill, Wlth his young son John Stuart,

--henceforth lived with Bentham, as his worshippers and tenants

(Mill said “Bentham will have a disciple able and anxious to
devote his whole life to ‘the propagation of the system’ ”).
~ James Mill completed his book The History of India in 1818.
The following year he was hired by the East India Company for
its intelligence department, of which he became the chief in
1830,

It was his duty as Examiner of Correspondence to recetve and

analyze field reports from Asia, develop continuing strategies for

“the Company’s overall management, and to draft orders for its
. military and civilian officials which were submitted to the Di-
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rector and Chairman for their signatures. As the Company’s
public spokesman he defended its right to continue ruling India-
in interrogations before Parliament in 1831 and 1832, declaring
that the Indians were not fit people for self-rule.*

James Mill brought his friend David Ricardo to publish hlS
work on political economy and to enter Parliament, while Mill
trained son John Stuart to follow in his own footsteps.

When Ralph Waldo Emerson arrived at the East India House
in 1833, the younger Mill was already a 10-year veteran in the
intelligence department headed by his father. Over the next
quarter century he rose in power in the Company, until in 1856
he assumed his father's old command post. John Stuart Mill was
thus. the day-to-day superintendent of the holocaust in which
the British put down the 1857 Indian rebellion.

Thomas Carlyle, in his early thirties, had achieved no literary
career. After attending Edinburgh University, Carlyle had writ-
ten a life of Friedrich Schiller, published in 1825, Three years
later ‘the publisher sold 600 unbought copies back to the frus-
trated author. -

But beginning in 1827, Edmburgh Review edltor Francis Jef-
frey began opening doors for Thomas Carlyle. Readers may
remember Jeffrey from Chapter 8 of this book: he made a daring
trip to the enemy U.S.A. during the War of 1812, conferring
- there with John Lowell (“The!Rebel”), leader of the Boston anti-
wat crusade. Arrested and briefly held by American authorities
as an enemy alien, he had been summoned before Secretary of

{

26. Mill's relation to the Company is presented quite baldly in Willson, Beckles,
Ledger and Sword, or, The Honourable Company of Merchants of England
Trading to the East Indies (1599-1874), Longmans, Green and Co.; Lon-
don, 1903, Vol II, p. 425: -

“Itwasattlustlmethatthegreatconﬂlctbetween Pariiament and the
Cotmipany came on, the Company struggling not merely for its principles,
but for its very existence. . . . Chief of {the Company's supporters] was
James Mill. For the mnebemgMjllwasahmstmhlmselfﬂle Company.

" Between 1831 and 1834 he was repeatedly emmmed by Parhamentary
committees through numerous weary sittings.” -
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State James Monroe on the quite logical assumption that he was
a representative of the British government.

- Jeffrey introduced his new, quaintly accented asset into all
the right circles; he bought and published Carlyle's literary of-
ferings even when he thought them of inferior quahty‘ he lent
Carlyle money to get established.

When Emerson met with him, Carlyle was nudway through
a 10-year testing period by the East India nabobs and their
Radical Party. When Carlyle’s autobiographical fiction Sartor
Resartus was published in Boston through Emerson’s mediation,
the author was as yet (1837) virtually unknown to the public.

- The final assembly of Thomas Carlyle was up to “the boss.”
John Stuart Mill brought Carlyle reference materials for the
construction of a history of the French Revolution. The first
volume being completed with great effort, Carlyle turned over
- the manuscript to Mill. After it was perused by Mill and his
mistress, the manuscript—which Mill said he thought “defi-
cient”—was conveniently thrown in the fire by the maid. Mill
* gave the horror-stricken author £100 to try again, and the three-
- volume study in historical myth-making was at length satisfactory
and ready for publication.

- This is how John Stuart Mill explained his course of action to
ensure that Carlyle would now be made a celebrity: “[It was]
a book so strange & incomprehensible to the greater part of
- the public, that whether it should succeed or fail seemed to
depend upon the turn of a die—but I got the first work, blew
the trumpet before it at its first coming out & by claiming for
. it the honour of the highest genius frightened the small fry of
- critics from pronouncing a hasty condemnauon, got fair play for

it & then its success was sure.” -

~ Mill wrote and published his shameless puffery in the London

and Westminster Review, a publication under his entire super-

* vision, dated July 1837:

: Th.is is not so much a history, as an epic poem; and
“notwithstanding, or éven in consequence of this, the truest
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of histories. It is the history of the French Revolution, and
the poetry of it, both in one; and on the whole no work of
greater genius, either historical or poetical, has been pro-
nounced in this country for many vears. It is a book . . .
of distinguished originality ... of surpassing excel-
lence. . . . what is it, in the fictitious subjects which poets
usually treat, that makes those subjects poetical? Surely
not the dry, mechanical fects which compose the story; but
the feelings . . . which the story, or the manner of relating
it, awakens in our minds.*

The book, The French Revolution, was an international suc-
cess and made Thomas Carlyle a famous man. It does not con-
cern itself with “the dry, mechanical facts.” The following excerpt
purports to describe the events in Paris following King Louis
XVT's dismissal of Swiss banker Jacques Necker from the post
of Finance Minister, after Necker had repeatedly sabotaged and
subverted the administration for-its failure to cut the national
budget:

Hark! a human voice reporting articulately the Job's-
news: Necker, People’s Minister, Savior of France, is dis-
missed—Impossible, incredible! . . . Necker is gone. Necker
hies northward incessantly, in cbedient secrecy, since yés-
ternight. We have a new ministry; Broglie the War-god;
Aristocrat Breteuil; Foulon who said the people might eat
grass! .

Rumour, therefore, shall arise. . . . Paleness sits on
every face; confused tremor and fremescence; waxing into
thunderpeals of Fury stirred on by Fear.

‘But see Camille Desmoulins, from the Cafe de Fay,
rushing out, sybylline in face, his hair streaming, in each
hand a pistol! He springs to a table: the Police satellites

27. Reprinted in Gibbs, J. W. M., editor, The Early Essays by Jokn Stuart
Mill, George'Bell and Sons, London, 1897, pp. 271-278.
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- are eyeing_ hlm, alive they shall not take him. . . . Friends!
-shall we die like hunted hares? like sheep . . . bleating for

mercy. . . . The hour is come . . . when Oppressors are
to try conclusions with Oppressed; and the word is, swift
Death, or Deliverance forever. . . . Us, meseems, one cry

only befits: to Arms! Let Universal Paris. . . as with the
throat of the whirlwind, sound only: to arms! “To arms”
yell responsive the innumerable voices; kike one great voice,
as of a demon yelling from the air; for all faces wax fire-
eyed, all hearts burn up into madness. In such, or fitter
words, does Camille evoke the Elemental Powers. . . .

The wax-bust of Necker, the wax-bust of [the Ducld’Or-
leans, heipers of France: these covered with crape . . . a
mixed multitude bears off. . . . '

In th.lS manner march they . . . armed with axes, staves
- - - grm, many-sounding through the streets. Be all the-
atres shut; let all dancing . . . cease! Instead of a Christian .
Sabbath . . . it shall be a Sorcerers Sabbath; and Paris,
gone rabid, dance-—with the Fiend for Piper!®

Thls is ti_le “historical method” of the fascist movement—
with J. S. Mill for piper. The people are possessed, says Carlyle,
b!.lt not by Necker, d’Orleans, Bentham, and Shelburne, as the
historical record would show. The people must have revenge
must purge themselves with blood. - '

- - Carlyle’s next famous work was On Heroes, Hero-Worshsp
and the Herow in History. Here Carlyle openly calls for a revival
of paganism and the surrender of all mankind to totalitarian rule,
He retells the myths of the Norse gods (Thor, Odin) and con-
~ nects them to what was, in his view, the racially superior Nordic
stock 'of men. These rude biological ancestors of many Britons,
he claims, constitute the heritage of England—not the prophets
_of the Bible, Jesus Christ, and the Mediterranean Renaissance

28. Carlyle, Thomas, The French Revolution, A History, Oxford University
Press, London, 1928, Vol. I, pp. 183-185. fm:v : w
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civilization. The cultural inheritance that fell to Shakespeare is

of no account—Shakespeare was great, says Carlyle, because

he was completely unconscious when he wrote, as in a reverie!
And on what should modern man build his faith?

Now if worship even of a star had some meaning in it,
how much more might that of a Hero!. . . I say there is,
at bottom, nothing else admirable! No nobler feeling than
this of admiration for one higher than himself dwells in the
breast of man. It is to this hour, and at all hours, the vivifying
influence in man's life. Religions I find stand on it; not
Paganism only, but far higher and truer religions,—all re-
ligion hitherto known. Hero-worship, heartfelt prostrate
admiration, submission, burning, boundless, for a noblest
godlike Form of Man.®

After the publication of this piece in 1841, Ralph Waldo Emer-
son, Carlyle’s American representative, began retailing this theme
in his own public lecture series, retitling it On Represeniative

" Man.

Edgar Allan Poe commented, “The next work of Carlyle will
be entitled Bow Wow, and the title-page will have a motto from
the opening chapter of the Koran: ‘There is no error in this
tm ry

Carlyle wrote Occaszonal Discourse on the Nigger Question in
1849, describing the emancipated blacks in the British West
Indies “sitting yonder with their beautiful muzzles up to their
ears in pumpkins, imbibing sweet pulps and juices; the grinder
and incisor teeth ready for ever new work, and the pumpkins
cheapasgmssmthosenchchmates whilethesugarcropsrot
around them uncut. .

He calls for laws forcmg the blacks to work for their former
masters, wages or no, for life terms. He says there is only “one

29. Carlyle, Thoias, [On] Heroes and Hero Worship, W. B. Conkey Com-
pany, Chicago, 1900, pp. 17-18.
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intolerable sort of slavery. . . . It is the slavery of the strong
. to the weak. . . . [with] Folly, all ‘emancipated’. . . armed with
ballot boxes, universal suffrages . . . statistics, Constitutional
Philosophies, and other Fool Gospels. . . .”®
- Carlyle’s way was in these later years made considerably
- easier by the patronage of the Baring family. The Second Lord
- Ashburton, head of the family in the middle 1800s, hosted Carlyle
. and his wife in royal fashion at the Baring Castle; Lord and Lady
. Ashburton became the most intimate confidantes of Thomas
- Carlyle. Lord Ashburton was the grandson of Francis Baring,
- who had been chairman of the East India Company and founder
of the Baring bank. The Barings from Francis on financed all
the Company’s trade, and that of the Boston merchants who
. cooperated with the British in Asia.
Carlyle’s own house became the main British base of oper-
ations for “Third Rome” anarchist leader Giuseppe Mazzini; Jane
Carlyle was Mazzini's dearest friend. And in his old age, Carlyle
acquired two worshipful disciples: John Ruskin and William T..
Stead, feudalist founders of the British Round Table (Mr. Stead
- will play a role in our story later on, as an espionage agent
- against the United States in the 1890s).
- It was in the prime of his career, in 1843, that Carlyle published
a book on the oppression of workingmen by industries and in-
dustrialists—Past and Present. The next year he was greeted
in the public prints with the praise—and imitation—of a disciple
of a new type, a new Englishman, in fact.

‘Communism as a Weapon of Feudalism

So much is certain: comparative physiology gives one a
withering contempl for the idealistic exaltation of man over
the other animals. At every step one bumps up against the
most complete uniformity of structure with the rest of the
mammals, and in its main features this uniformity extends

30. Carlyle, Thomas, Occaszom!D:scoursesmtheMggerQuesbon in Critical
and Miscellaneous Essays, Chapman and Hall, London, 1872, Vol VI,
po. 81, 89; {first published in Fraser's Magaxinte, December, 1849].
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to all vertebrates and even . . . to insects, crustaceans,
tapeworis, etc.

These lines were written in the summer of 1858 by a British
cotton manufacturer. For four years he had been a member of
the Board of Directors of the Manchester Cotton Exchange,
delegated to represent the interests of those manufacturers,
like his family’s firm, who bought slave cotton from the American
South; worked up the cotton with virtual slave laborers in filthy
Manchester mills; and sold their product at the point of a gun
in British India, where it was traded for opium to be forced on
the Chinese. :

It was a time of feverish activity for these gentlemen. Their
American source was being agitated by insurrectionists pre-
paring secession and war against the U.S. government. Na-
thaniel Beverly Tucker of Virginia, the treasonous American
consul in Liverpool, was making final arrangements with his
friends and relatives for the exchange of cotton for raiding ships
and guns (his cousin Henry St. George Tucker had been Chair-
man of the East India Company). -

Manchester was the industrial center of the world-spanning
slave-labor textile empire. It was also the birthplace and polstical
center of the international “free trade” faction, whose goal was
to reduce the rest of the world to rural raw-material suppliers
and finished-product buyers, on the model of Alabama and India.

The author of the lines quoted above, typical of these gentle-
men in his “withering contempt” for mankind, is without question
the most famous British manufacturer in history. .

He hunted foxes as a member of all the “smart” clubs. His
personal profit share from the family thread and yarn mills ran
as high as £4,000 per year, in addition to his £1,000 per year
salary as manager of the Manchester plant employing 800 op-
eratives. :

_ But his fame rests on a political project with which he was
entrusted. He was Frederick Engels, founder of “Marxism,”
author of its doctrines and personal controller of Karl Marx.
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Man;imy—the communist movement—was one of a number
of weapons created by British strategists to counter the spread
of American System political ideas and nationalist economic or-

¥ ganization to the European continent.

The young Engels, who paid homage to feudalist hero Thomas

Carlyle in 1844, was born in Germany’s Rhineland, in 1820. His
g father, Frederick Engels, Sr., owned a textile mill in the Wupper
- valley—an area of strong British influence known as “Little
- England”; the twin towns of Barmen and Elberfeld were called

“Little Manchester.” The elder Engels was the first manufac-
turer in the area to introduce English machinery into his plant.

. In 1837, Engels, Sr., accepted the offer of Peter and Godfrey
. Ermen, British-based manufacturers from a Dutch noble family,
. to form a partnership incorporating his factory with the ones
~ they owned in Cologne and Manchester. -

©  Itis the political significance of the Engels family affiliations-—
. the choosing of sides—rather than the strictly commercial as-
- pects, which were of greatest significance. For Germany was
- at that time locked in a growing struggle between the republican
~allies of the American System, advocating national unification
- and rapid German industrial development, as against the “free

trade” allies of the British nabobs, who sought a continuation

..of Germany’s division into largely rural, petty principalities.

. - The leader of Germany’s republican party was Friedrich List.

.He had been elected president of the 6,000-member.Getman
" industrialists’ association in 1819. His proposal for a customs

union (Zoliverein) had challenged the reactionary order imposed
- on Europe by the British and the Hapsburgs’ Count Metternich

at the Congress of Vienna. - :
- Upon the invitation of the Marquis de Lafayette, with the

. encouragement of John Quincy Adams’ State Department, List
: took r_efuge in the United States from Metternich’s persecution.
" He joined Lafayette’s triumphal American tour in 1825 as 2

translator for the General, and was introduced to Benjamin

 Franklin’s old revolutionary employee Mathew Carey.

With Carey and his friends in Pennsylvania, Friedrich 'Eist
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studied the nation-building precepts of Alexander Hamilton; he
participated with Carey and Henry Clay in the successful fight
for stronger tariffs and government-directed industrial growth;
he developed coal mines in northeastern Pennsylvania and built
an early pre-steam railroad to carry the coalprobably the first
railroad in the United States.

List returned to Europe in 1830 as the American consul in
Paris, one of the world’s foremost economic and political think-
ers. He moved on to Germany, serving in three cities as Amer-
ican consul. Under his renewed leadership the German
republicans successfully created the Zollverein on Jan. 1, 1834,
lowering the tariffs between the principalities and erecting tariff
barriers against British dumping of cheap imports. -

As List explained the républicans’ outlook, “Government, sir,
has not only the right, but it is its duty, to promote everyting
which may increase the wealth and power of the nation. .

So the shipping interest and commerce must be supported by
breakwaters—agriculture and every other industry by turn-

pikes, bridges, canals, and rail-roads—new inventions by patent
laws——so manufactures must be raised by protecting them if
_ forelgn capital and skill prevent mdmduals from  undertaking
them.”

The Zollverein was seen as a step toward a great commercial
and industrial alliance of continental Europe and America to break
Britain’s stranglehold on world development:

European nations . . . must commence with the devel-
opment of their own mternal manufacturing powers. .
Should they be hindered in these endeavors by England’
manufacturing, commercial, and naval supremacy, in the
union of their powers lies the only means of reducing such
unreasonable pretensions. . ., . Every war which the pow-
ers of the continent have waged against one another [in
the last century] has had for its invanable result to increase
the industry, the wealth, the navigation, the colonial pos-
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sessions, and the power of the insular supremacy [of Bnt-
am]Sl

In his book, The National System of Political Economy List
gives the rationale for national independence, in opposition to
the world-view of the East India Company:

The present state of the nations is the result of the
" accumulation of all discoveries, inventions, improvements,
- perfections, and exertions of all generations which have
lived before us . . . and every separate nation is productive
_only in the proportion in which it has known how to ap-
‘propriate these attainments of former generations and to
increase them by its own aoquirements .2

+ 'In 1835, List began publication of a journal whose: t1tle trans-
lates as “The Railroad Journal or National Magazine of Inven-
tions, Discoveries and Progress in Commerce, Industry, Public
Undertakings and Public Institutions, and of Statistics of National
Economy and Finance.” Within the government of Prussia, dom-
inant among the German states, List’s journal was “received
favorably by the Minister of War, Witzleben, and by Aflexander]
Humboldt [pro-American scientist]. Its influence spread rapidly
throughout Europe. By the end of 1835, Prince .Metternich
outlawed this journal in Austria. . . . Metternich said List was
‘the most active, wary, and inﬂuential of the German revolu-
tionaries.” "3
- Since the repubtican program for national unification and eco-
nomic development had overwhelming public support, the Brit-
ish and their princely allies had to create self-styled “liberal”
and “radical” movements to stem the tide. Among these was

'_ e Friedrich, The National System of Political Economy, Augustus M.
. Kelley, New York, 1966, p. 421. a

33. Carol Clcary unpublished manuscnpt, “The Battle to Contam Llst and
- his Policies,” April 1979. .
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the Young Germany movement, set up in Switzerland in 1831
by British foreign minister Henry Palmerston, its thousands of
refugee members and operatives ranging back and forth from
its Swiss base. This was the training ground for the young
Frederick Engels. As Engels later put it, “Young Germany was
obliged. . . to take up social questions. While the middle classes
of Germany kill their time . . . making it their chief business to
effect some very little, aimost invisible, good-for-nothing reform
. the working people of our country read and digest the
writings of the greatest German Philosophers. . . ."* As we
will see momentarily, Engels’ own course of study was not
conﬁned to the “greatest German philosophers.” .

The political and diplomatic offensive thrown into gear by the
British against the American System in Europe in the 1830s and
1840s would be reapplied, with considerable soplnstlcauon,
agamst the continuation of Abraham Lincoln’s economic program
in the United States after the Civil War. S

. The secret British war against the German repubhcans was
1mder the immediate guidance of Dr. John Bowring (1792-1872)
and his colleague, the Manchester textile manufacturer Richard
Cobden (1804-1865).

Bowring had been the personal secretary of Jeremy Bentham
and was the executor of his will. When Bentham had set up the
radical Westminster Review in 1824, he had offered its editorship
to James Mill, who-declined it because of his duties with the
East India Company; Bowring became its editor. Bowring had
" otherise been arrested and banished from France on charges of
espionage and jailbreak conspiracy; he was the semi-official rep-
resentative of the spy-base island of Malta in the Bntlsh Par-
liament; and in the 1850s he would be ambassador to China and
Commander in Chief of British Forces in the Far East, where
he ordered the attacks begmmng the Second Opium War against
the Chinese. :

34. Frederick Engels, “Young Germany in Switzerland, ” 1845, KarlMarx&

Frederick Engels, Collected Works, Vol. IV, IntemahonalPubhshers, New
York, 1975. -
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In 1838 Bowring, then an official in Palmerston’s Foreign
Office, began organizing more forceful measures to deal with
the prqblem of the Zollverein. He dispatched Richard Cobden
on an intelligence-gathering tour of Germany. On September
10, 1838, Bowring held a meeting in Manchester where he
described the threat posed by the Zoliverein. He claimed that
the Gemans did not really want to develop independent man-
u£actunng, but were being induced to do so largely because of the
British Corn Laws, which restricted imports into England of
foreign agricwltural products.

B0w1_‘ing then sent Archibald Prentice, editor of the Manch-
ester Times, to explain to the Manchester manufacturers the
need for a new organization that would seek a battle-policy of
“free trade,” based on the repeal of the Corn Laws, so that
German industrial development might be halted. The following
month the Anti-Corn Law League was formed by Bowring, the
- Manchester manufacturers, and Cobden, who had returned from
. Germany with an account of the strategic weaknesses of the
Zollverein,

John Bowring was officially deputized by Palmerston in 1839
to negotiate with Prussia to bring about the reduction of tariffs
on English goods. The Prussian junker nobility then occupied,
in British strategic planmng, a similar position to that of the
planter aristocracy in South Carofina: in exchange for British
agricultural markets, they were expected to sabotage their own
. country’s industrial development.

With this oligarchical alliance under construction, Bowring

- submitted to Parliament the proposal for tariff changes which,

: ;1;:3 several years of struggle, were put into effect later in the
S, :

_ -We may now look at the position of Frederick Engels within

. this “struggle” being developed in England under the control of

Palmerston, Mill, and the radical imperialists.
 Engels graduated from the Elberfeld Gymnasium in 1837, the
- year his father entered his partnership with the Ermen brothers
in Manchester. His first major piece of jouralism, Letters from
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Wuppertal, appeared early in 1839 in the Hamburg organ of
Young Gem:lagny, Telegraph fiir Deutschland. In this s:arcastic
attack on his home town, Engels blamed poverty, .sx:kness,
illiteracy, superstition, drunkenness, and general ugliness, not
on the low level of industrial and scientific development, but on
“factory work” itself. He also calls for atheism as a means of
freeing popular consciousness.

Early in 1841 Engels wrote the libretto for an opera on the
tragedy of Rienzi. This is the story of the foprteenth—century
Italian knight who liberates the people and tries to recreate a
Roman Empire to conquer the world. Engels’s libretto was not
published in his lifetime. But Richard Wagner’s opera on the
same theme, based on Englishman Edward Bulwer-Lytton’s cult
novel, The Last of the Tribunes, hadits first German performance
in 1842 and established Wagner’s fame. '

That he was no friend of the pro-American List’s republican
movement may be seen in Engels’ Reports from Brgmen—, ]:.)l'lb-
lished in August 1841: “It is the German [emigrants] in the cities
- who have taught the Americans their deplorable contempt for
our nation. The German merchant makes it a point of honor to
discard his Germanness and become a complete Yankee ape. . . .
When he returns to Germany he acts the Yankee more than
ever.”®

Engels spent a year in the Prussian military service, simul-

taneously immersing himself in the Young Hegelian movement.
In 1842 5lrle metrst{lmt;:gradical democrat Karl Marx (1818-1883),
who was then editing the Rheinische Zeitung and looking for
some new doctrine out of the orbit of Hegel and Young Germany

Though Engels made little impression on Marx’s thinking at
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- first, he was to supply that new doctrine after he himself received
- his British “finishing.” :

Frederick Engels, Sr. sent his son to Engiand in 1842, to

- work his way up to the position of overall manager of the family’s

Manchester textile mill. The staged “revolutionary” process
which greeted the young gentleman, and in which he now joined,

- was described later by Engels himself: '

Toward the end of 1838, some of the leading Manchester
manufacturers founded an anti-Corn Law association, which
soon spread in the neighborhood and in other factory dis-
tricts, adopted the name of Anti-Corn Law League, started
a subscription fund, founded a journal (the An#i-Bread-Tax
Circular), sent paid speakers from place to place and set
in motion al} the means of agitation customary in England
for achieving its aim. . . . When . . . at the beginning of
1842, the business slump turned into a downright com-
mercial crisis which threw the working class into the most
atrocious poverty, the Anti-Corn Law League became def-
initely revolutionary. '

It took as its motto the saying of Jeremiah: “They that
be slain with the sword are better than they that be slain
with hunger.’ Its journal in clear language called on the
people to revolt and threatened the landowners with the
‘pick-axe and the torch.’ Its itinerant agitators ranged the
whole country.. . . meeting after meeting was held, petition
after petition to Parliament was circulated. . , .”

When, in spite of afl this, [Prime Minister Robert] Peel

failed to abolish the Corn Laws, but only modified them,

the Congress [of League Representatives] declared, “The
people has nothing more to expect from the government;
it must rely only on itself; the wheels of the government
machinery must be halted at once and on the spot; the time
for talking is over, the time has come for action. It is to
be hoped that the people will no longer be willing to starve
for the benefit of an aristocracy living in hixury.’ ”
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. The great means in the hands of the manufacturers
. . . to raise an insurrection against the Corn Laws, con-
sisted in closing down their factories. . . . When an increase
_in wages was to be expected owing to the improvement in
business, a manufacturer . . . suddenly reduced the wages
of his workers, thereby compelling them to strike. . .
The workers, to whom the signal for an insurrection was
thus given, brought all the factories in [Stalybridge] to a
standstill, which was easy for them to do since the man-
ufacturers (all members of the Anti-Corn Law League),
contrary to their custom, offered no resistance at all. The
workers held meetings presided over by the manufacturers
themselves, who tried to draw the people’s attention to
the Corn Laws. . . . The insurrection spread to all the
factory districts; nowhere did the urban authorities . . .
who were all members of the Anti-Corn Law League, offer

any resistance. . . .%

When the project went awry because the workers demanded
a restoration of their wages, Engels explained, the League cre-
ated a special army to put down its dupes, who were quickly
suppressed. Engels portrays this vast experiment in social ma-
nipulation as a fight for the interests of the middle c]ass as
against the workers and the landed nobihty

Nowhere is the guldmg hand of Bowring or the Foreign Office
ever mentioned; imperialist ohgarchs who own factories are
described in the liberation dogma as “the middle class,” the new
enemy of which his German readers are warned to beware—
those who own factories, or would build them.

Frederick Engels’ first work on economics was written in
England in 1843—the Outlines of a Critique of Political Econ-
omy-—and published in Germany Here Engels attacks Christi-

anity, and like oppressors, But he takes care to dlrect his readers ‘7 |

36. Frederick Engels, The History of the Corn Laws, Marx-Engels Collected
Works, Vol TV:
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on the free-trade-versus-protectionist battle raging in Germany:
#“Modern liberal economics cannot comprehend [allow] the res-
toration of the mercantile system by List. . . . On all points
where it is a question of deciding which is the shortest road to
wealth— i.e,. in all strictly economic controversies—the pro-
tagonists of free trade have right on their side.”¥

:--But Engels was not “invented” until, in 1844, the Deutsche-
Franzisische Jarbiicher printed his homage to Thomas Carlyle,
a review of Carlyle’s book Past and Present. From the radical
Jarbiicher, co-edited by Karl Marx and Palmerston agent Arnold
Ruge, Engels’ fame was immediately spread throughout Ger-
many by the British-aligned press. As he said in a letter to Marx,
“It is ridiculous that my article about Carlyle should have won
me a terrific fame with the ‘mass,” while naturally only very few
have read the article about economy.”*

~.- Engels’ Carlyle review, never published in English until 1975,
displays the common origin of the communist and fascist move-

ments: “Of all the . . . books . . . which have appeared in Eng-
land in the past vear . . . [Past and Present] is the only one
which is worth reading. . . . Carlyle’s book is the only one which

strikes a human chord, presents human relations and shows
traces of a human point of view.”

: . The review, like the Carlyle book, is an attack on the fraud -
of free institutions (in case the Germans might wish them for
themselves): “The debates in the Houses of Parliament, the
free press, the tumultuous popular meetings, the elections, the
jury system . . . [have] not made independent men of the En-
glish. . The educated English are the most despicable slaves
under the sun. .

. “Only the workers the pariahs of England the poor, are
really respectable, for all their roughness and for all their moral
- _degradation. It is from them that England’s salvation will come,

37. Engels, Friedrich, Outlines of a Critique of Political Economy, in Marx
and Engels, Collected Works, Vol. III, p. 421.

38. Engels to Marx, October 1844, Selecied Correspondence, Progress Pub-
kishers, Moscow, 1965.
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they still comprise flexible material; they have no education, but
no prejudices either, they still have the strength for a great
national deed. . . .” . S .
- Engels praises Carlyle's “efforts to make German literature
accesible to the English”-—curious comment on the author of
Hero-Worship, the sponsor of Romantic obscurantism as against
Schiller and the republicans, the man who called German poet
Heinrich Heine “a dirty blaspheming Jew.” : -
. Engels quotes Carlyle on the ultimate solution to man’s
oppression: Work! Work will make men free: “ ‘Who art thou
that complainest of thy life of toil? Complain not. To thee Heaven,
though severe, is not unkind; Heaven is kind--as a noble Mother;
as that Spartan Mother, saying while she gave her son his shield,
“With it, my son, or upon it!” Complain not; the very Spartans
did not complain.” ” , o - o
- Engels gently chides Carlyle’s pantheism for not entirely abol-
ishing religion. But he is “a theoretician of the German type. . ."”
whose “book is ten thousand times more worth translating into
German than all the legions of English novels which every day
and every hour are imported into Germany. . : ."®

« It-was now to be Frederick Engels’ job to “translate” Carlyle’s
viewpoint, dressing up feudalism in -Hegelian clothes for the
edification of German revolutionaries. Thus armed, equipped
with a reputation, he now returned to the Continent for a time,
meeting Marx in Paris and fastening upon his as a useful in-
strument for the propagation of a new doctrine. Marx, the young
revolutionary in exile from Germany, was overwhelmed by the
economic erudition of Engels’s Critigue. When Engels then pub-
lished The Condition of the Working Class in England in 1844,
Marx was wholly won over to what should rightfully be called
“Engelsism.” SR - : :
.- As the Cnitigue was the foundation of the Engels-Marx eco-
nomic theories, the ‘Condition of the Working Class” was the
39.- Engels, Friedrich, review of Thomas Carlyle’s Past and Present, in Marx

and Engels, Collecled Works, Vol. IIL, p. 467; the Carlyle review is pp.
444-468. '
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first important expression of their “social” theory. The book
_Wams German readers about the horrors in store for them if
“industry is allowed to develop, and incidentally praises the pro-
feudal noble lords of England who are “sincerely” fighting the
horrors of industrialism— especially that “Germano-Englishman
Thomas Carlyle,” the truest champion of the working class.
“Marx was now pressed into the active service of the British
-nabobs. At Engels’s urging and under his tutelege, Marx pro-
‘duced a crude attack on Friedrich List’s book The National
System of Political Economy. He calls List a plagiarist, a corrupt
defender of special interests (German manufacturers), 3 liar.
. The article was so ugly that it went long unpublished and only
appeared in English in 1975. For example, List is quoted, “The
force cz.ipable of creating wealth is infinitely more important than
wealth itself.” By this List was speaking of the need to pay good
wages, provide education, and so forth. But Marx rejoins, “It
is afine recognition of man that degrades him to'a force’ capable
of creating wealth! The bourgeois sees in the proletarian not a
human being, but a force . . .” and so forth. : :
: M0§t pathetic, in the light of Engels’ own recounting of the
conspiracies of the Anti-Corn Law League, is Marx’s attack on
List's “conspiracy theory”: “Since his own work conceals a
secret aim, he suspects secret aims everywhere, Being a true
German philistine, Herr List, instead of studying real history,
looks for the secret, bad aims of individuals, and, owing to his
cunning, he is very well able to discover them . . . making [his
enemy] an object of suspicion. . . . Herr List casts aspersions
on the English and French economists and retails gossip about
them »4] ) . . . .
- The middle 1840s saw an intense struggle over the future of

40. Engels, Friedrich, The Condition of the Working Class in England in

éBt:nf-i,ordtranslaU .ted and P;i;tsedsby W. O. Henderson and W. H. Chaloner,
niversity , Stanford, California, 1958, pp. 104-105, 107,

: a i}:lzxand Engels’ footnote on p. 331, P 1
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7 Collected Works, Vol IV 4, pp. 267.266 7 axand Engeks
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Germany, and over the personal leadership of Friedrich List.
The slanders, the secret police operations, the “revolutionary”
_ opposition to List’s position, finally drew List to England, where
he was psychologically broken; according to legend, he com-
mitted suicide in 1846.

Engels was on the battle lines in Germany, a central figure
in bringing about this result. We have the record of two speeches
he made in Elberfeld in February 1845. On February 15 Engels
warned his audience—consisting of manufacturers and public
officials and no workers—of the consequences if Germany were
to follow List to challenge England’s industrial supremacy:

Herr List has brought the wishes of our capitalists into
a system. . .. [He] proposes gradually increasing protec-
tive tariffs which are finally to become high enough to guar-
- antee the home market for the manufacturers. . . . Let us
assume for a moment that this planis adopted. ... . Industry
will expand, idle capital will rush into industrial undertak-
ings, the demand for workers will increase and so will wages
with it, the poor-houses will empty, and to all appearances
everything will be in a most flourishing state. . . . But.
then.. . . tariffs are reduced [so that] Enghsh mdustry can
' [agam} compete with our own in the German market. Herr
_ List himself wishes this. But what will be the result of all
_ this? ... . The English will throw the whole of their surplus
stocks on the German market . .-, and so transform the
‘German Customs Union into their ‘second hand shop’ once
more. Then English industry will rise again, because it has
the whole world for its market, because the whole world
cannot do without it, while. German industry is not indis-
pensable even for its own market. . . .
 Let us now assume that [the protective tariffs] are not
reduced. . . . As soon as German industry is in a position
to supply the German market completely it will stand still
[having reached its limit}.
[But suppose] we Germans will be able owing to pro-
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tective tariffs to bring our industry to a point at which it
can compete with the English without protection. . . . A
life-and-death struggle will arise . . . they will muster all
their strength. . . . And withall the means at their disposal, -
with all the advantages of a hundred-year-old industry, they
will succeed in defeatingus. . . . We shall remain stationary,
the English will stride forward, and our industry, in view
of its unavoidable decay, will not be in a position to feed
the proletariat it will have artificially created—the social
revolution begins. :

The rest of the speech is a forecast of the bloody, merciless
horrors which this "aruﬁcxally created proletariat” (led, of course

- by the famous communist speaker) will unleash on these
- bourgeoisie if they dare to challenge the British.

In 1848, Karl Marx rewrote as the “Communist Manifesto”
an _earlier Engels piece entitled “Confessions of a Communist.”
This was to be the pattern; the Cotton Prince would write a
draft, or simply make a suggestion for the appropriate theme
of a work, and pass it along to Marx to put it in “good revo-

~ lutionary form.”

This subservience was enforced by Marx's slavelike existence

following his move to England, where all his “mature” work was
* done. The Engels-Marx correspondence shows that while Marx’s

family was starving (two children died of malnutrition) Engels
gave Marx between £10 and £70 per year to support him; yet
Engels’s profits from the family firm ranged from £1,000 to
£4,000 per year. '

Engels’ “contributions” served usually as Marx’s only source
ofincome. Marx never held a regular job; he at one time received
a pound or two per piece for a series of articles, which Engels
actually wrote, for the New York Tribune; he wrote another

_ sertes of articles, for pennies, for the Bentham-trained Foreign
- Office official David Urquhart.

42. Inibid., Vol. IV, pp. 258-260.
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As the American secessionists geared up their preparations
for action throughout 1859 and 1860, Cotton Exchange director
Frederick Engels took responsibility for organizing and fitting
out a regiment of the British army, and directed its deployment
into position against what he wammned was a threatened invasion
of England by France.

During the American Civil War Engels made repeated sug-
gestions to Marx that the American Union was lost, and was
not-after all worth saving. Marx respectfully declined to share
his sponsor’s “pessimism,” refusing to adopt a stance so far
removed from the logic of Revolution as to acquiesce in the
perpetuation of slavery.

The revolutions which swept Europe in 1848 confused and
blasted many of the hopes of republicans in Germany and else-
where; full-scale German unification and industrialization was
not to come before Bismarck’s reign later in the century, and
then not in the form of List's grand design linking the nations
of Europe.

In the 1860s and 1870s, the very same British oligarchs who
turned loose the radical movements against America’s emulators
in Europe, turned their attention to the problem of “reforming”
an uncontrolled United States of America. '

~14-

‘Currency Reform’

' Some Words of Caution
- God says in the First Commandment, Thou shalt have no other

gods before me.

" The Un}ted States Constitution gives our government the
power to issue money and to regulate both money and com-
merce. '
~ We should give a gentle warning here to those readers who
_have nervous problems with either of the above. If you have
_somehov? mentally attached divine characteristics to money, or
if you believe that only Unseen Forces, rather than constitutional

. governments, should create credit and control markets, you

Lnay have trouble following the rather simple material we present
ere.

This applies as welt to those who unduly concern themselves

~ with mere monetary symbols, as, for example, the silly hocus-

pocus of the pyramid with the eyeball on our one-dollar hill. W
a g e
shall detail here some of the means by which European oligarchs

. took control of the substance of America’s sovereign financial

powers.
At issue in these enemy operations was the overall strategic

- orientation of the United States, not any particular weapon the

U.S.A. used to protect its national independence. High tariffs

.-are not always appropriate instruments for the defense of do-

305
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ent transcended the immediate currency issue; the apparatus
oyed in the 1860s and 1870s would be used to press for
er incursions in cultural and general political matters as well
the strictly economic.

mestic industry, nor is gold backmg for currency necessarily
inappropriate.

President Abraham Lincoln had applied Hamiltonian econom-
ics to the task of winning a war, and the continued full use of
sovereign power was transforming the postwar United States or this analysis we must return briefly to Great Britain, to
into the world’s greatest industrial country. This our enemies ew the busy preparations of the Lords of the Asian empire
were determined to stop, by contracting U.S. currency and jm- iew overseas adventures.
credit, by lowering U.S. tariffs, and by replacing industry-build-
ers with foreign agents in the seats of economic and political -

wer.
pO'I‘he government had created over. $400 million in new green-
backs during the Civil War, declaring it legal tender for all debts.
Following the war, British and allied forces demanded that the -
payment of gold, or “specie,” be resumed, that the expansive -
credit policies of the Lincoln era be terminated. The issue was
only settled after more than a decade of fierce political struggle
when specie resumption finally took effect in 1879.

A decisive factor was the application of barely concealed black-
mail by a syndicate of international bankers—Morton Bliss and -
Co., August Belmont representing the Rothschilds, the Selig-
man Brothers, and Drexel-Morgan representing Junius Morgan. -
‘These firms had contracts for the refinancing of U.S. govern- *
ment debt, and warned the administrations of Presidents Ulysses :
S. Grant and Rutherford B. Hayes to proceed without inter- :
ruption to specie resumption or face a credit boycott, as well .
as a syndicate-advised dumping of American stocks by European
investors.’ :

In support of these rougher tactics, a barrage of hard money
propaganda together with attacks on the “corruption” of Amer-
ican manufacturers, appearedi in the press and arose from certain
pulpits and colleges.

_We will describe here the origin of this clamor for an end to |
America’s financial sovereignty. The importance of this move-

er British Mothers of American Reform

e first of the British mother-organizations for redirecting the
ayward colonies was the National Association for the Pro-
otion of Social Science, created in 1857 under the presidency
E Henry Peter Brougham, Baron Brougham and Vaux.

' This was the same Lord Brougham who had sponsored the
launching of the Edmburgh Review; who had discovered James
and started his career; who had declared Britain's trade
war in 1816, “to stifle in the cradle those rising manufactures
the United States which the war {of 1812] had forced into

istence contrary to the usual course of things.”
Lord Brougham, at age 78, would need powerful help for the
lopment of this new project. Among the political backers
sustained the National Association from its inception were
Britain’s Foreign Ministér, Lord John Russell; and Anthony Ash-
, Cooper Earl of Shaftesbury, who guided the political training
ex-American George Peabody, founder of the Morgan financial
pire. Russell and Shaftesbury both served as Association
-presidents.

Lord Napier and Etrick was preSJdent of the National Asso-
tion when the Amierican specie resumption fight climaxed in
870s.2 The Napier family was quite familiar with reforming
gn countries: Charles Napier had personally instigated the
East India Company’s Sind War in 1843, slaughtering thousands
tives resnstmg conquest and taking for himself hundreds of

1 Unger, Irwin, The Greenback Eva: A Soaa! and Political History of Amer-
tcan Finance, 1865-1879, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New
Jersey, 1964, pp. 352-353, 356, 361, 366, 370. :

2. Report of the American Assocnatlon for the Advancement of Soaal Saence,
Boston, 1873, p. 182.
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thousands of dollars in loot as Indian cities burned. Field Marshal
Baron Robert Napier of Magdala was chief engineer in Britain’
suppression of the 1857 Indian revolt, with responsibilities in
cluding blowing up Indian structures.

The principal philosopher for the National - Association was .
Herbert Spencer (1820-1903), whose works the Association :
widely promoted. Spencer’s moral standpoint was entirely con-
sistent with the Association's objectives, as he expressed it in
his Secial Statics: '

.“Thousands of people in the Hakka tribe in K ' i
ere _co_nvertgd to a form of mock-ProtestantwégfissltiI;;'):;lEe
owring's regional espionage chief, a Prussian missionary name:;
Karl Gutzlaff, and his staff.®* An army was assembled, which
oceeded outward from Kwangsi in an insurrection aga;nst the
ese Emperor, .gaining new thousands of recruits for what
called the Taiping Rebellion. Converts recited the Ten
0 dments, shared their worldly goods, and allowed them-
vesn’tsoafrfﬁ pennl;a;llgltljt;ly separated into celibate men’s and
or es, while the maximum i-
mglotajged ic, whil the m leader, Hung Hsui-Chuan,
-Combined British and French expeditio
ok over the assault on the Em;eP::; Wll‘lllili'ly lflglc-icﬁzei:r ilanlliauy
té:d b){ Bowring’s irregulars. o
. meg's responsibility for the National Associati
Promotion of Social Science, until his death of mhgzs ci); 3112
ea.of trade policy—tariffs and related matters such as gold
currency. We will describe below the National Association’s
k in the ‘United States, after considering the other main
sh organization for the reform of America, the Cobden Club.

.. the continuance of the old predatory instinct . . .
has subserved civilization by clearing the earth of inferior
races of men. The forces which are working out the great
scheme of perfect happiness, taking no account of incidental

 suffering, exterminate such sections of mankind as stand

in their way, with the same stermness that they exterminate

beasts of prey and herds of useless ruminants.®

The president of the trade section of the National Association.
was Sir John Bowring.* Since his earlier career as organizer of
the Foreign Office’s war against Friedrich List and pro-American
republicans in Germany, ‘Bowring had served as ambassador
plenipotentiary to China, governor and commander-in-chief of

Hong Kong, and superintendant of trade_with China. In these

capacities he oversaw the smuggling of opium, and began the

shelling which led to the second Opium War when the Chinese

again put up resistance to the drug. L

'As the publisher and executor for Jererny Bentham, Bowring
was the most radical of Lord Palmerston’s diplomatic “reform:-
ers.” The Communist experiment which had been thrown against

Germany was modified for use in China under Bowring's expert

band, ,

3. Spencer, Herbert, Social Statics; or, The Conditions Essential to Human
Happiness Specified, and the First of them Developed, D. Appleton and
Company, New York, 1866, pp. 454-455. - S

4. Report of American . . . Social Science, 1873, p. 183..

wiss Spooks and the Cult of Free Trade -

%bhn-Bowr.ing’s earlier partner in the anti-Corn Law League

arade, Rl(_;hard Cobden, gerformed one more notable service

- the Radical Party later in life. Cobden negotiated a treaty

with French Emperor Napoleon ITI in 1860 which lowered tariffs
_'tliv;r]ien England and France.

two nations thus ailied stepped up the ongoi i

_ S -allie 1 TZOINZ War a st

, forcing Chplese capitulation to the opening of the g?tlilre

country to dope imports-and looting in the name of trade. In

thy b;rogumnna the g‘rfhnch- were given a free hand by the British

1, and the two empires again joi i
53 impasin of Mosion p gain joined forf:es in the
The treaty that Cobden negotiated was written by Louis Mal-

See Beeching, Jack, The Chinese Opisem Wars, pp. 179197 f
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pensable help saved their national existence, they are now
exhorted to withhold the price [i.e. repay in greenbacks
rather than goid], at the cost of national honor.

_ let, a British government functionary with whose Swiss family -
we have frequently made acquaintance. His grandfather was .
Jacques Mallet du Pan, British spymaster in France who pro-
moted the free trade treaty which destroyed the French econ- -
omy and led to the French Revolution.

Richard Cobden died in 1865; Louis Mallet quickly organized
the Cobden Club in honor of the departed “apostle of free trade.”
Its mission: to remove the influence of Lincoln’s dirigist eco
nomics from U.S. politics and government.

Within two months after the Cobden Club’s first meeting in
May 1866, its 145 members included 83 members of Parliament;
soon all but one of the British cabinet ministers were members
of Mallet’s club.® Mallet was later rewarded by appointment as
Permanent Undersecretary of State for India; he served in this
capacity from 1874 to 1883, a period of massive growth in the
cultivation of Indian opium for export. _

The Cobden Club’s executive committee, led by John Stuart -
Mill, was responsible for selecting new members—most im-
portantly American members. The British wanted Lincoln’s
greenbacks called in and burned, the foreign-owned U.S. bonds '
paid off in gold, and the government’s right to print money .
replaced by the exclusive right of any gold-rich banker to issue
private notes; of course British bankers such as the Morgans -
controlled the largest hoards of gold. , _

John Stuart Mill complained about the Civil War bonds in a
letter reprinted in Englishman Edwin Godkin's Nation magazine
in New York: ,

It was somewhat extravagant, of course, for the British to
lecture Americans on “national honor,” having supplied the guns
nmunition, ships and crews for the recent Southern Rebellion
inst the United States.
‘The accompanying chart gives the names of prominent Amer-
ms who were recruited as official members of the Cobden
, traveling back and forth to the erstwhile Mother Country
‘confer on the effort to subdue the defiant Americans.
ong the most important of the American members were
Adams brothers, Henry, John Quincy I and Charles Francis
ns, Jr., the corrupted grandsons of President John Quincy
s. Henry Adams’ desperate hatred for Americans and the
rican republic would later be transmitted to two of his stu-
its at Harvard, Henry Cabot Lodge and Theodore Roosevelt.
In his exciting historical exposé, The Civil War and the Amer-
System—America’s Battle with Britain, 1860-1876, histo-
) Allen Salisbury reports on a warning about the Cobden Club
h was read on the floor of the U.S. Congress in the summer
866. It was a message from the U.S. Consul in Liverpool,
: d to the late President Lincoln's economic strategist,
C. Carey:

| '.Ihey are making great efforts on this side to repeal our
tianff and admit British goods free of duty. If effort and
money can accomplish it, you 'may rest assured it will be
done. The work is done through the agents of foreign
[G(_m_unercia] or banking] houses in Boston and New York.
u Thelr plan is to agitate in the western States, and to form
¢’ free-trade associations all over the country.”

_The United States obtained these sums of money, in
théig'!_ extreme necessity, at an interest (all things consid-
ered), not very much exceeding the high value of capital
in a new country compels them to pay in ordinary times;
and after having reaped the benefit, having by that indis-

6. Lists of early members published with the yearly reports of the Cobden

Chub of London. The Library of Congress carries the reports in pamphlet

lisbury, Allen, The Civil War and the American System: America’s Battle
Britain, 1860-1876, Campaigner Publications, New York, .1978.
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- I'must frankly confess to a feeling of embarassment, . . .
recognize that there is yet so much of the old, selfish,
pagan principle accepted on the other side of the Atlantic
t:; ;. that the very coming together [at this dinner] to cel-
—ebrate the continued progress of commercial and interna-
tional freedom . . . is sure to be interpreted by not a few
~of my countrymen, including some . . . who claim to the
itle of economists and philanthropists, as constituting in
. itself sufficient evidence of a conspiracy and a reward for
- the betrayal of their industrial interests. -

The whole aim and object of this school of economists
:.has been to engraft upon the country a sort of Chinese
policy of prohibition and exclusion; and their great leader
-and teacher, Henry C. Carey of Philadelphia, has not hes-
tated to express his opinion that the very best thing that
‘could happen to the United States would be to have the
: ocean . . . converted into a sea of fire [totally] impassable
-« . +.[he] has expressed the opinion that the death of Richard
~Cobden was one of the crowning mercies . . . Carey at-
- tacked trade as piracy. :

.+ . . there is a conspiracy alleged, on the part of the Free
Traders in the United States and England, to undermine
~and destroy the manufacturing of the former country, and
‘make her people industrially dependent on Europe . . . [but
‘we have great] evidence of the purity of motives of the
British economists. . . .

“It seems to be a law of nature that, increase our power
- to produce and accumulate as we may, mankind as a whole
-can hope to do little more than secure the essentials of a
‘mere subsistence.” T

Consul Thomas Dudley was a fierce patriot from Camden, -
New-Jersey, who had helped orchestrate the_ capture of the -
] Republican presidential nomination for Lincoln in 1860. He was
a longtime student and devoted follower of Henry Carey_, who /8
directed the campaign for continuing Lincoin's and Hamilton’s !
policies after the war. . _

President Lincoln had sent Dudley into the heart of enemy
territory—Liverpool—where the Anglo-Confederate agents
were building warships for the attack on America_n commerce,
Largely due to Dudley’s sharp eyes and ears, and his persistence
despite threats to his life, more than 100 of the 400 Cg_)nfederate-_
related vessels (blockade-runners and British-built raiders) were .
destroyed at sea, or prevented from being launched in the first

lace.
P Salisbury’s book details the treachery of David A. V.Ve!ls,,_
whom Lincoln had appointed to the Special Revenue Commission
to plan postwar financial policies for industrial development.
year after Lincoln’s assassination, Wells was named hea«;l of the
Revenue Commission, and immediately joined with meolnfs
enemies in a campaign to overthrow the Lincoln policies; his
main ally in the government was the U.S. Treasury Secretary,
Hugh McCulloch.

In 1873, after several years of struggle, Wells and McCulloch
went to London for a special Cobden Club dinner in their honc?r.
The Club’s printed report on that splendid affair carries an in-
troduction by Sir Louis Mallet: -

M. ‘ﬂ?Ve':,lié'g,'_j like Cobden, belongs.to that rare class of
itateSihen” who devote themselves to public life not for

' ive effect
purposes of party or for the s_ake of ofﬁct.a, but to give effe
to the principles of policy which they believe to be essential
for the welfare of their country and of mankind. eport of the Proceedings at The Dinner of the Cobden Ciub, June 28, 1873.
' -Right Hon. T. Milner Gibson in the Chair. Speech of The Hon. David A.
- Wells, Being a Retrospect of the Results of Protection in the United States
" of America, With Preface by Sir. Louis Mallet, C.B., and List of Members,
Cassell, Petter, & Galpin, London, Paris, and New York, 1873

'How devoted he was to the welfare of his country, the reader
may judge from David Wells’ speech to his British hosts:
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Some American Members of the

As America’s enemies in war have done repeatedly with trea- British Cobden Club

i i the Cobden Club
nable statements by disloyal Ar.nencans,. ; .
:zprinted this Wells speech and circulated it worldwnd?, with
particular effect in Germany, in France, and among restive col-
onists in Australia. - ,

Charles Francis Adams, Jr., railroad executive

E:: Henry Adams, historian -

John Quincy Adams I, riilroad executive

;M_»artin B. Anderson, president, Rochester University
Edward Atkinson, cotton manufacturer

f:: George Bancroft, historian; President Polk’s War Secy.
o;‘d_crcd troops into Texas

i—lenry Ward Beecher, radical abolitionist minister

hn Bigelow, co-owner of fice trade organ, the New
York Post

The Boston Branch of Brougham-and-Bowring

The British Association for the Promotion of Social Sciepcé set
up shop in the United States in the fall of 1865. Estabhshed in -
Boston as the Social Science League, it was soon renamed the

ican Social Science Association. _ o
AIIzkesnlrwin Unger makes clear in his Pulitzer Prize-winning book

The Creenback Eva, the new American branch was the Boston

headquarters for the movement to outlaw :;he %rifenl;acks ell.lig ; ‘ i Yo o emescocmer of New Fose
i ctionist credit and curr
coln had issued, and to force a contra :

licy.® 3 ‘_
poAr?nouncing itself to Boston’s First Families as the agency to

i i Association was the

rerhaul American society wholesale, the e
?:eeﬁng place for the academic, govgr;unenta_ﬂ and commercial
members of the Cobden Club and their immediate coﬂab%aa}}(:rs. ;
As of 1869, David Wells, Arthur L. Perry and Amasa er;:

7 ican branch made little’
he Greenback Era, pp. 136-1%4!‘ The American bra itte,
> ::J::agtgr’nszto independence from the British mother; that is, it g.a%;tmégﬁ.:
forwardly a British feudalist lobbying group on Amencins soil. 1 efor -
stitution, Address, and List of Mm tl}e t;,‘lem;m _soc;atwnaf o for the
7 Social Science . . . Minutes of the actions . ‘
Pcmhan'rmml;{ 1866, reproduced theil_'f Addrgsz oi_ Nt:t\afAsf.-.mberSo‘:ia;tiloilsl_ﬁiSI.1 Credt
“Tt is now eight years since the formation of an 0 Great:
ritain, i i The British Association, |
~Britain, for the romononofSoaalSaence..._. sh
l?lready a}ludedor It'o, was founded by a few glwn’earmest‘Wllz_:ﬂl:ta;’:;r&s ls;etl[:e ﬁ(‘:aoglseﬂle‘
L s A bk 3 i Brml s :
humanity, under the lead of Lord who has been | the
ginning i ident. . . . In 1862, an International Association . . . was "
o d ti;smir;s};den. - This Association grew ot of that in Great Britain, arles Sumner, Massachusetts senator; radical abolitionist
forme daded memix;.rs of the latter among its own members. Our own k d econstructionist i
aAnds Umc-lagm'l, in the same way, traces its origin to the British I’tlah_onal b dham G. Sumner, leading Harvard economist
Azsociaﬁon; from which we have taken the idea and the gem?ral &n:n?geli: _ codore Roosevelt, hisconm: 1 5 b,
O o o d Locd Broughan Cognesgon tﬁaldmgmm and Sir 3 vid A. Wells, Lincoln appointee to the Revenue
of the American branch included Lord Brougham, John ) mimission, who betrayed the murdered President

John Bowring.

Cyrus Field, laid Atlantic Cable; built monument to Major
BAndré at site of hanging; brother of David Dudley Field
David Dudley Field, attorney commissioned by British ro
rite the laws of the world :

nes A. Garfield, later a U.S. president, assassinated afier
ouncing British economics

enry Wadsworth Longfellow, author

ngh McCulloch, U s. Treasury Secretary, 1865-1869
red Pell, Jr., British-based insurance executive; set up

diimerican Free Trade League :

dArthur Latham Perry, prominent lecturer for Free Trade

cague

hlon Sands, organizer for the Free Trade League

1 Schurz, German revolutionary emigré; board member

rthwestern Mutual Life Ins. Co.: U.S, Interior Secy. 1877-
,\editor New York Post

Date
Selected

1868
1873
1869
1872
1869
1870

1869
1866

1869
1869
1868
1869
1869
1869

1870
1871
1871

1870

1870
1872

1873
1880
1870
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all Cobden Clubbers, were three of the four executive board
members of the Association, while Charles Francis Adams, Jr.,
was Association treasurer.
From the meetings in Boston, Association members fanned
out through the northeastern United States and into the Mid,
west, moving churchmen, editors and politicians behind the “new
conservatism” of hard money, free trade and civil service reform -
(or the breakup of constituency-based political machines, which
will be reviewed in our next chapter). :
Franklin Sanborne was the General Secretary—the internal

: movement to crush Lincoln's economic legacy, and to
te America once again to European will. None of these
as terribly famous in his day, and no real biography of
them has been written. But John Murray Forbes of Boston,
le Low of Brooklyn and Lyman . Gage of Chicago were
powers behind the throne” (or, representing the throne)
theéir time.

ohn M. Forbes was the actual founder and the permanent
ptroller of the American branch of the British National As-

affairs organizer—of the Social Science Association. Sanborne - iized and sponsored the Reform League of Boston, and
had earlier immortalized himself as a principal “insider” con- - ued to provide the basic financial support and transatlantic
trolling the terrorist expeditions of John Brown in the 1850s ctions for Boston radicalism in line with his earlier projects

Sanborne had burned his incriminating papers after the Harpers - : bolitionism of John Brown and the Transcendentalism o’f

Ferry attack, but he had been arrested on orders of the U.S
Congress. Freed by a mob, Sanborne had fled to Canada.

The Civil War saved many radical abolitionists, as it had now
become a. national duty to shoot Southerners; apparently San- -
borne’s offenses were forgotten. - y

. The most outspoken and most quoted partisan of hard money
deployed by the Social Science Association was Edward Atkin-
son, a textile manufacturer and Cobden Club member. He had
spent the last years of the Civil War trying to convince the-
government to open up full-scale wartime trade with the Rebel
South for cotton, for his own factories and for the cotton-starved
British. Late in the war he had initiated a business venture with -
his mentor, backer and political chief, John Murray Forbes, for
the purchase at auction of confiscated southern plantations, pro-
posing to -work freed negro slaves at $7.00 per month in the
cotton:fields:**

In the two decades following the Civil War, there v were three
men whose substantial activities appear to have molded the

:A. Low, the president of the New York Chamber of Com-
rce from 1863 to 1866, was the undeviating hard rock upon
‘the New York “hard money” reformers were based; he
i ored their meetings, arranged for their opponents to be
cally removed, and appeared in the newspapers as the
peatest of the respectable merchants in the movement.
yman J. Gage was the treasurer and active leader of the
est Money League of the Northwest, the propaganda agency
spec:e resumption in the pivotal Chicago battleground: he
esident of the American Bankers Association in the 1880s;
planned and shaped the Chicago World’s Fair of 1893, an
mns tlonal celebration of the ‘end of American cultural and
ial independence; and he organized the National Civic Fed--
n, the grandfather group to today’s anti-American political
rt_lmns such as the Council on Foreign Relations and the
eral Commission. Gage was also United States Treasury
_etar{t under Presidents William McKinley and Theodore
ve!
‘met with John M. Forbes earlier in our story. The Forbes
, along with the Cabots, had remained with Thomas H.
s when he switched their joint enterprise from slave-

10, Willarmson, Harold Francis [Harvard economics instructor), Edward At
kinson, The Biography of an Amevican Liberal, 1827-1905, Boston, Old
Corner Bookstore, 1934 pp. 14-19; see also Forbes, Letiers and Rec-
ollections.
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trading to dope-smuggling after the 1793 slave insurrection in
the Caribbean. As a young man, John M. Forbes attained to a

crucial position with the Perkins opium-trading syndicate in Chna:

personal secretary and confidential agent for Wu Ping Ch'ien,
or “Houqua,”" the Mandarin head of security for the British East
India Company in China, who performed the identical role of

native gang leader and intercessor for the American criminals

as he had for the British.

Hougqua treated Forbes as his adopted son, allowing him to

acquire vast wealth from Houqua’s donations in addition to Forbes’
accretions from trading as a partner of the Perkins firm. On one
occasion Hougua gave Forbes $500,000 to hold and invest for
him in American stocks. :

After converting the China fortune into U.S. railroad holdings,

Forbes capitalized on his China connection in a rather spectacular
fashion. The 1857 crash and depression flattened business for-
tunes throughout the United States, but Forbes retained his

holdings with 2 $2 million personal loan from the Baring Brothers -
 bank, British financiers of the East Indian empire.'” The mag- -

11,

12.

-+'me his entire ¢onfidence. All his foreign letters, some of which were of .
. - almost natianal importance, were handed to me to read, and to prepare

Adamms, Russell B., Jr., The Bosion Money Tree, pp. 105-6, 125-6. See -
also Forbes, John Murray, Letlers and Recollections, edited by Sarah
. Forbes Hughes, orig. published 1900, reprinted by Amo Press, New

York, 1981. .
Forbes, Letters and Recollections, Vol. 1, pp. 62-63:

“Houqua [Mandarin broket and chief of security for the British East
India Company and British-allied Bostonians operating in Canton], who "
never did anything by halves, at once took me as Mr. Cushing’s successor,

and that of my brother Tom, who had been his intimate friend, and gave

such answers as he indicated. . . . it was not uncommon for him to order
me to charter one or more entire ships at a time, and load them. The
invoices were made out in my name . . . and at one time [ had as much

as half a million. dollars thus afloat, bringing me into very close corre- ¥

spondence with Baring Brothers & Co., and other great houses.”

p. 145; “Early in the fall of 1855 the Barings (acting as it seemed, for
Lm:isNapoleon,mwghthiswasneveracknowbdged)begantofeelﬂae .
way toward the purchases of wheat and flour which later in the year were
undertaken for their account by J.M. Forbes & Co. This appears from
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mitude of this bailout in present-day equivalents is 'so high as to
beggar the imagination. _ '

: -Forbes’ dominant American financial position was thus assured
‘with the same type of direct British patronage as had set up
* Boston China trader George Peabody twenty years earlier. Pea-
:_b,ody was operating a London banking house in 1837 when he
“was .wamed in advance by his British friends of their decision
to withdraw credit from worldwide markets and thereby depress
commercial values; so he was fully liquid and ready to pounce
‘on the American properties rendered bargains by the British
‘move. Thus established, Peabody built the transatlantic banking
‘concern which, with the inclusion of Junius Morgan and his son
J.P. Morgan, became the overlord of American finance in the
|ate nineteenth century. : '
A.A. Low’s uncle, William Henry Low, was the senior partner
charge of Russell and Company, the firm which bought out
rand e‘xpanded the Perkins syndicate and brought the Boston
rahmins’ opium trade to its greatest heights. When John Mur-
y Forbes returned to Boston, A.A. Low took over Forbes’
b as personal secretary and confidential agent for Houqua, and
s likewise treated as his adopted son.

:One day in February, 1841, A.A. Low’s uncle, William, sat
the deck of the British warship Calliope. He was the guest
;British plenipotentiary Charles Elliot, watching the action
lliot hgd started in Canton Bay to compel the Chinese to accept
mports.

The Bntish unloaded their troops on South Wantung Island,
ithen bombarded the North Wantung forts and took them.. William
w went ashore to look at the forts. In the words of a family

{a] Ie;tter of Sept. 22, 1855, from my father [John Murray Forbes] to his
- (3&01{1:5111:, Mr. Russell Sturgis, who was then a partner in Baring Brothers
o. '
* Article, “Forbes, John Murray,” in The National Cyclopaedia of Amer-
mbgmphJ_;, 1949, Vol. XXXV, p. 331: “In the financial depression of
18_57_ he obtained a credit of $2,000,000 from Baring Bros. and [his]
Michigan Central rode safely through the storm.”
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a sealed mystery. All biographical sketches about him are de-
;mrt_ed from the scanty material provided by Gage’s memoirs
‘which appear to have been written by his third wife sometime
k. late in his life.

- -According to this legend, Gage moved out to Chicago from
;:upstate New York, an ambitious lad with no particular connec-
-tions. He rose through the ranks of Chicago’s First National
Bank to become its president and the leading Chicago financier,
‘all without wealthy sponsors, Eastern patrons or the like. For
-no reason other than his own internal logic, the story goes, this
rmer bank clerk decided that America’s republican sovereignty
‘over credit had to go, and he elected to become a great figure
in Britain’s international game. - :

We shall say little, for the moment, about this rags-to-riches
tory, other than to bring up one curious element in the oth-
se flat autobiographical account in the Gage memoirs.
-‘Gag_e tells his readers that he has, for “more than 40 years,”
n mt.ere_:sted in spinitualism and related matters. He dates
e beginning of this interest from the time he happened to
ttend a seance, during which his recently deceased wife ap-
‘peared to him and warned that his still living, healthy daughter
uld die. The terrified man was soon overwhelmed when his
Hittle girl suddenly developed a fever and died. From that time
on, Gag_e' explains, he toured the country participating in re-
search into psychic phenomena, conversing with dead people
W, after all, seemed to have demonstrated superior knowledge
that of the living.¢

Lyman Gage was at the center of a political movement which
k the American Midwest a